HUMAN TUMOR-DERIVED P53 MUTANTS: A GROWING FAMILY OF ONCOPROTEINS

EDITED BY: Ygal Haupt and Giovanni Blandino PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Oncology





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2016 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-961-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-961-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

HUMAN TUMOR-DERIVED P53 MUTANTS: A GROWING FAMILY OF ONCOPROTEINS

Topic Editors:

Ygal Haupt, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre & The University of Melbourne & Monash University, Australia Giovanni Blandino, Italian National Cancer Institute Regina Elena, Italy & McMaster University, Canada

Citation: Haupt, Y., Blandino, G., eds. (2016). Human Tumor-Derived p53 Mutants: A Growing Family of Oncoproteins. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-961-7

Table of Contents

04	Editorial: Human Tumor-Derived p53 Mutants: A Growing Family of Oncoproteins						
	Ygal Haupt and Giovanni Blandino						
	Section 1: Mutant p53 from mouse models to human disease						
07	<i>Mutant p53: Multiple Mechanisms Define Biologic Activity in Cancer</i> Michael Paul Kim, Yun Zhang and Guillermina Lozano						
13	<i>Mutant p53: One, No One, and One Hundred Thousand</i> Dawid Walerych, Kamil Lisek and Giannino Del Sal						
	Section 2: Gain of functions: regulation and mechanisms						
20	The Contrived Mutant p53 Oncogene – Beyond Loss of Functions Kanaga Sabapathy						
28	Regulation of Mutant p53 Protein Expression						
	Reshma Vijayakumaran, Kah Hin Tan, Panimaya Jeffreena Miranda, Sue Haupt and Ygal Haupt						
36	Alterations in Mitochondrial and Endoplasmic Reticulum Signaling by p53 Mutants						
	Carlotta Giorgi, Massimo Bonora, Sonia Missiroli, Claudia Morganti, Giampaolo Morciano, Mariusz R. Wieckowski and Paolo Pinton						
43	Oncogenic Intra-p53 Family Member Interactions in Human Cancers						
	Maria Ferraiuolo, Silvia Di Agostino, Giovanni Blandino and Sabrina Strano						
53	<i>Mutant p53 Drives Cancer by Subverting Multiple Tumor Suppression Pathways</i> Sue Haupt, Dinesh Raghu and Ygal Haupt						
60	Mutant p53 and ETS2, a Tale of Reciprocity						
	Luis Alfonso Martinez						
<i>66</i>	Che-1/AATF: A Critical Cofactor for Both Wild-Type- and Mutant-p53 Proteins						
	Tiziana Bruno, Simona lezzi and Maurizio Fanciulli						
	Section 3: Mutant p53 therapies						
71	Targeting Oncogenic Mutant p53 for Cancer Therapy						
	Alejandro Parrales and Tomoo Iwakuma						
84	Targeting of Mutant p53 and the Cellular Redox Balance by APR-246 as a Strategy for Efficient Cancer Therapy						
	Vladimir J. N. Bykov, Qiang Zhang, Meiqiongzi Zhang, Sophia Ceder, Lars Abrahmsen and Klas G. Wiman						
91	Clinical Overview of MDM2/X-Targeted Therapies						
	Andrew Burgess, Kee Ming Chia, Sue Haupt, David Thomas, Ygal Haupt and Elgene Lim						





Editorial: Human Tumor-Derived p53 Mutants: A Growing Family of Oncoproteins

Ygal Haupt^{1,2,3,4*} and Giovanni Blandino^{5,6}

¹ Tumour Suppression Laboratory, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ² Sir Peter MacCallum Department of Oncology, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ³ Sir Peter MacCallum Department of Pathology, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ⁴ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Monash University, Clayton, VIC, Australia, ⁵ Oncogenomic and Epigenetic Unit, Italian National Cancer Institute Regina Elena, Rome, Italy, ⁶ Department of Oncology, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Keywords: mRNA, p53, gain-of-function, microRNAs, cancers

The Editorial on the Research Topic

Human Tumor-Derived p53 Mutants: A Growing Family of Oncoproteins

Mutations in the tumor suppressor *p53* gene are collectively the most common event in human cancers. These do not merely reflect a loss of the tumor suppressive function of wild type (wt) p53 but are also selected during tumorigenesis for their acquired gain-of-function (GOF), together contributing to multiple hallmarks of cancer. Over 30 years of extensive study into wt p53 provided a wealth of information about its regulation, functions, and contribution to cancer prevention. Albeit, with a significant delay, the interest in mutant p53 has been growing fast over the past decade with the realization that most cancer patients present tumors with mutant p53, and these particularly manifest in aggressive and metastatic diseases. The growing understanding of mutant p53 exposes attractive therapeutic opportunities with wide clinical applications, which coincidently raise many challenging questions concerning associated complexities. In this research topic, we assembled 12 reviews exposing some critical issues and discussing prospect development in this field.

One of the most commonly used mouse models for cancer is the p53 knockout mouse. However, this model of p53 deficiency does not represent the majority of human cancers. A major leap in the understanding of mutant p53 regulation and GOF was derived from mouse genetics (1, 2). The group of Lozano, which led the mouse models for mutant p53, highlighted the GOF learned from the comparison between p53 deficient mice and mutant p53 knock-in mice, primarily the contribution of mutant p53 to tumor metastasis (Kim et al.). The Lozano group also emphasized the biological and biochemical differences between different mutants, even between different substitutions of the same amino acid, such as p53R172H versus p53R172P. Hence, not all p53 mutants are equal. While the abovementioned mouse models for inherited p53 mutations (the Li-Fraumeni model), this represents a small fraction of p53 mutations in human cancers. This key point was discussed by the Lozano group highlighting the limitations of the current mouse models for sporadic p53 mutations in cancer. They discuss the problems with the current conditional mutant p53 models in which all cells are heterozygous for p53 from conception and hence do not faithfully mimic the role of mutant p53 in sporadic tumor development. These models lack the challenging context of the cells with wt p53 that normally comprise the tumor microenvironment and its inherent immune cells. There is a clear need for more sophisticated mouse models to better define the distinct roles of mutant p53 in these compartments. The Del Sal group (Walerych et al.) discussed the difference between the mouse and human mutant p53 exemplified by the p53R249S mutation, which exhibits GOF in human cells, but this had not been recapitulated in the relevant mouse model. A comprehensive list summarizing

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and Reviewed by: Carlotta Giorgi, University of Ferrara, Italy

***Correspondence:** Ygal Haupt ygal.haupt@petermac.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> **Received:** 20 June 2016 **Accepted:** 01 July 2016 **Published:** 12 July 2016

Citation:

Haupt Y and Blandino G (2016) Editorial: Human Tumor-Derived p53 Mutants: A Growing Family of Oncoproteins. Front. Oncol. 6:170. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00170 studies from the last decade is provided in the Del Sal review outlining which mutants GOF effects have been validated and the associated information.

Mutant p53 GOF requires the accumulation of the mutant protein and that, at least initially, it acts dominantly over the wt protein. Sabapathy discussed this important point in detail, emphasizing the timing and conditions under which dominant negative (DN) effects of mutant p53 occur, and when and how this would impact on tumorigenesis. His conclusion from the literature is that stress, whether acute (e.g., genotoxic stress) or chronic (activated oncogene), accumulates mutant p53; however, it is under the latter conditions that mutant p53 promotes tumorigenesis. Further complexity to this is the tissue specificity of the DN effect as learned from the KI heterozygote mouse models (Sabapathy). In the wake of the DN effect, there is often a loss of heterozygosity (LOH) of the wt allele. However, Walerych et al. discussed that LOH is also tissue specific, as exemplified by the work of Rotter and coworkers demonstrating that, in the embryonic stem cells of the KI mutant p53 mice, the LOH can be of either wt or mutant p53 alleles, potentially acting to control cell fate checkpoint (3). This reflects the opposing effects of wt and mutant p53 on stem cell survival and plasticity (Sabapathy).

A major requirement for GOF by mutant p53 is a constant stabilization of the mutant p53 protein, unlike the temporal accumulation of wt p53. The review by Vijayakumaran et al. summarizes the differences and similarities in the regulation of wt and mutant p53. While both wt and mutant p53 are inherently labile proteins and accumulate in response to stress, only the mutant form remains stable. Intriguingly, wt and mutant p53 share many of their regulatory mechanisms. However, the loss of the key negative autoregulatory loops due to mutation in p53 result in the sustained accumulation of mutant p53 following stress conditions or exposure to oncogenic stress in cancer cells. This, together with a loss of specificity of additional E3 ligases toward mutant p53, provides an explanation for the accumulation of mutant p53. The additional complexity of p53 regulation, both wt and mutant p53, by microRNA (miRNA) is presented Vijayakumaran et al. This reveals the ways by which p53 can be deregulated in cancer but, at the same time, may define potential new therapeutic targets.

Understanding the mechanisms by which mutant p53 gains its oncogenic functions are the subject of intensive research. While most of wt p53 activities are mediated through the transcriptional activation of target genes, the apoptotic activity of p53 also involves transcriptional independent activities. Giorgi et al. discussed the cytoplasmic apoptotic activities of wt p53, and the loss of these activities by mutations in p53. To date, there is no evidence for a GOF of mutant p53 directly regulating these activities (Giorgi et al.). On the other hand, it was reported that mutant p53 proteins can aberrantly cooperate with known transcription factors by leading to disregulated gene expression. This results in increased proliferation, invasion, genomic instability, and chemoresistance. The interaction of mutant p53 with p53 family members p63 and p73 is key to some of its GOF. Ferraiuolo et al. review the intricate relationship between mutant p53 and p63 or p73. Mutant p53 proteins can also hamper tumor suppression transcriptional programs by binding to and displacing the p53 family members p73 and p63 from their consensus of target gene promoters (4). Collectively, the intra-p53 family protein complexes with their oncogenic activity may represent druggable targets, which hold therapeutic potential.

Beyond p53 family members, Haupt et al. reviewed the major tumor suppressive pathways, which are subverted by mutant p53, including PTEN, PLK2, and PML, which control the cell cycle and the latter also the circadian clock. Intriguingly, mutant p53 deregulates cellular metabolism including glucose, lipid, and nucleotide metabolism, ensuring the sufficient supply of building blocks to support tumor growth (Haupt et al.). How are these plethora of activities achieved by mutant p53? At least two major mechanisms have been reviewed in this series. First, is by controlling gene expression through the alteration of specificity of certain transcription factors. Second, is by affecting chromatin remodeling through SWI/SNF and MLLs/MOZ (Haupt et al.). The effect of mutant p53 on MLLs/MOZ is achieved through ETS2, as reviewed in detail by Martinez. He discusses the mechanism by which mutant p53 protects ETS2 from degradation, and how this, in turn, affects the overall transcriptional effects of the ETS family and contributes to the oncogenic phenotype of mutant p53, such as increased nucleotide metabolic genes (Martinez). Bruno et al. reviewed the relationship of p53 with the cofactor Che-1/AATF. This provides an interesting example of a factor that acts as an activator and protector of both wt and mutant p53. In response to DNA damage, Che-1 induces the expression of wt and mutant p53, but activates wt p53 to induce growth arrest genes. In the case of mutant p53, it induces its expression and consequently the sequestration of p73 from apoptotic target genes, hence promotes survival (Bruno et al.).

A major consequence of mutant p53 GOFs is the acquired dependence of cancer cells on the expression of mutant p53. This dependence, which has been termed oncogenic addiction to mutant p53 has been discussed by multiple contributors to this series, highlighting its importance. Evidence for this addiction has been discussed by the Lozano, Sabapathy, and Del Sal groups. This addiction defines an Achilles Heal with important clinical implications. Parrales and Iwakuma highlighted the potential exploitation of heterozygosity, during which mutant p53 acts as a DN over wt p53, hence targeting mutant p53 eliminates its oncogenic driver and concurrently restores the tumor suppressive capacity of wt p53. Parrales and Iwakuma provided a comprehensive review of mutant p53 as a druggable target. They discuss the different classes of mutant p53 drugs, including compounds that restore wt p53 activity in cells expressing mutant p53, with the leading drug APR-246 (see below); compounds that deplete mutant p53 expression, where HSP90, in particular Ganetespib, is the most advanced drug currently in phase III clinical trial; and explore other approaches, which are currently used for other oncogenes, including knockdown and read-through of premature termination (Parrales and Iwakuma). This review was complemented by two focused reviews on mutant p53 therapeutics. The first by Bykov et al., which focused on the mechanism of action by APR-246, including the refolding of mutant p53, the impact on mutant isoforms of p53 family members p63 and p73 and the effect on the cellular redox regulators, primarily glutathione and thioredoxin, to enhance oxidative stress. The

potential of APR-246 as a single agent and in combination with DNA damaging agents is discussed, and the current clinical status of APR-246 and prospects are outlined (Bykov et al.). The second therapeutic review by Burgess et al. focused on MDM2/MDMX targeted therapies. This review provides a thorough overview of the current drugs and approaches to target p53 *via* MDM2 and MDMX pathways. They outline the clinical development of current MDM2 targeting compounds. Importantly, they discuss the major hurdle in this approach, which is severe cytopenias. Although, this approach has not been designed to target mutant p53, the relevance of mutant p53 to this therapeutic approach and the availability of appropriate biomarkers were discussed (Burgess et al.).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Overall, this series of reviews on mutant p53 expose the pivotal role of mutant p53 as an oncogenic driver and outline the fast advancement in our understanding of its regulation and oncogenic activities. Our deeper understanding of mutant p53 also highlights clear limitations, such as the differences between mutants p53 proteins and between mouse and human mutant p53. The lack of appropriate mouse models for somatic p53 mutations, which represents the most common event in human

REFERENCES

- Lang GA, Iwakuma T, Suh YA, Liu G, Rao VA, Parant JM, et al. Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Cell* (2004) 119(6):861–72. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.11.006
- Olive KP, Tuveson DA, Ruhe ZC, Yin B, Willis NA, Bronson RT, et al. Mutant p53 gain of function in two mouse models of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Cell* (2004) 119(6):847–60. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.11.004
- Shetzer Y, Kagan S, Koifman G, Sarig R, Kogan-Sakin I, Charni M, et al. The onset of p53 loss of heterozygosity is differentially induced in various stem cell types and may involve the loss of either allele. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21(9):1419–31. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.57
- 4. Strano S, Fontemaggi G, Costanzo A, Rizzo MG, Monti O, Baccarini A, et al. Physical interaction with human tumor-derived p53 mutants inhibits

cancer is a major hurdle to our understanding of mutant p53 to the cancer cell versus the microenvironment. The series also reflects the excitement around the clinical opportunities and current clinical development but highlights the need of potent molecules to specifically target mutant p53, given its prevalence in human cancers. It has also been increasingly clear that mutant p53 proteins are not a single entity, but they behave as a family of oncoproteins whose deciphering and therapeutic tackling might impact enormously on the success of threatening the vast majority of human cancers.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed, have made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Sue Haupt for her comments on the editorial. The work in YH lab is supported by NHMRC project grants (1063389) by a grant from CCV (1085154) and by NBCF (IN-16-042); work in GB lab is supported by the Italian Association for Cancer Research (AIRC) (Grant n.14455) and from Epigenomics Flagship Project (EPIGEN; sub-project 7.6).

p63 activities. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(21):18817–26. doi:10.1074/jbc.M201 405200

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Haupt and Blandino. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mutant p53: Multiple Mechanisms Define Biologic Activity in Cancer

Michael Paul Kim^{1,2}, Yun Zhang² and Guillermina Lozano^{2*}

¹ Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA, ² Department of Genetics, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

The functional importance of p53 as a tumor suppressor gene is evident through its pervasiveness in cancer biology. The p53 gene is the most commonly altered gene in human cancer; however, not all genetic alterations are biologically equivalent. The majority of alterations involve p53 missense mutations that result in the production of mutant p53 proteins. Such mutant p53 proteins lack normal p53 function and may concomitantly gain novel functions, often with deleterious effects. Here, we review characterized mechanisms of mutant p53 gain of function in various model systems. In addition, we review mutant p53 addiction as emerging evidence suggests that tumors may depend on sustained mutant p53 activity for continued growth. We also discuss the role of p53 in stromal elements and their contribution to tumor initiation and progression. Lastly, current genetic mouse models of mutant p53 in various organ systems are reviewed and their limitations discussed.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giovanni Blandino, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Italy

Reviewed by:

Alessandro Rimessi, University of Ferrara, Italy Sabrina Maria Strano, Regina Elena Cancer Institute, Italy

> *Correspondence: Guillermina Lozano gglozano@mdanderson.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 13 September 2015 Accepted: 19 October 2015 Published: 11 November 2015

Citation:

Kim MP, Zhang Y and Lozano G (2015) Mutant p53: Multiple Mechanisms Define Biologic Activity in Cancer. Front. Oncol. 5:249. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00249 Keywords: mutant proteins, p53 mutation, gain of function, stroma, mouse models of cancer, TP53, cancer

MUTANT p53, THE ELEPHANT IN THE ROOM

Cancer is a complex disease that kills millions of people annually. Alterations in genetic and epigenetic cellular programs derail cellular controls normally responsible for maintaining homeostasis. Sequencing of human cancer genomes has identified a myriad of genomic alterations found in human cancers. Alterations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene stand out as the most common alteration in many cancers: 96% in ovarian serous carcinoma (1), 54% in invasive breast carcinomas (2), 86% in small cell lung cancer (3), and 75% in pancreas cancer (4), to name a few. Although p53activity may be abrogated or lost through multiple mechanisms, the majority of these changes involve p53 missense mutations that result in single amino acid substitutions and expression of mutant proteins. Common mutations in the p53 gene, or "hotspots," are present; for example, approximately 86% of mutations correspond to the DNA-binding sequence of p53 between codons 125 and 300. The predominance of mutant p53 protein expression in human cancers over the simple loss of p53activity, in turn, suggests an inherent biologic advantage (5–7).

p53 BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITIES IN TUMOR SUPPRESSION

The p53 gene encodes a transcription factor that contains a potent transcriptional activation domain, a sequence-specific DNA-binding domain, and a tetramerization domain (8). In normal cells, p53 activity is low, but in response to DNA damage and numerous other stress signals, p53 levels rise dramatically and result in the activation and transcription of hundreds of genes with important roles in cell cycle arrest, senescence, apoptosis, metabolism, and differentiation (9). The sum of these activities is to ensure that an abnormal cell fails to proliferate. Thus, tumors arise upon depletion

7

Mutant p53: Gain of Function

of p53 activity through various mechanisms, including deletion or mutation of the p53 gene itself, overproduction of the p53inhibitors, Mdm2 and Mdm4, and viral inactivation (10–12). Regardless of the mechanism of p53 loss, the downstream consequences are profound and likely due to the vast, fundamental spectrum of biologic activities in which p53 normally participates. Moreover, the loss of normal p53 function is likely coupled with the adoption of new biologic functions exerted by mutant p53proteins with additional, deleterious effects.

GAIN-OF-FUNCTION ACTIVITIES OF MUTANT *p53*

Single amino acid changes in the *p53* gene may result in profound changes to its function. In human cancers, missense mutations comprise approximately 75% of all *p53* alterations (7, 13, 14). This is in contrast to many other tumor suppressor genes that undergo deletion through the course of tumor initiation or development, such as *PTEN*, *BRCA1*, and *Rb*. Five arginine residues in the *p53* gene are considered mutational "hotspots"; resultant mutant proteins fail to bind to sequence-specific DNA sites and therefore drastically alter the spectrum of transcriptional activity (15). Such signature mutations in the *p53* gene may arise through environmental exposure to ultraviolet light or chemical carcinogens such as aflatoxins, smoking, and so on (7, 16).

The fact that most p53 alterations in tumors are missense mutations suggests that cells expressing mutant p53 have an advantage over cells lacking p53 (17). Numerous experiments have tested this hypothesis. For example, various tumor-derived human p53 mutants introduced into p53-null H1299 lung adenocarcinoma cells conferred upon tumor cells a selective survival advantage during etoposide or cisplatin treatments (18). In addition, several p53 mutants when overexpressed in Saos-2 cells, an immortalized tumor cell line that lacks p53, yielded tumors in nude mice, while the parental Saos-2 cell line did not (19). Cells expressing the most common p53 mutants, in contrast to cells lacking p53, also show increased metastatic potential and invasiveness (20, 21). Mutant p53 proteins also render some cell types more resistant to killing by therapeutic drugs such as doxorubicin, etoposide, and cisplatin (22). In Li-Fraumeni syndrome (LFS), individuals with *p53* missense mutations show a higher cancer incidence and an earlier age of tumor onset (9-15 years earlier depending on the study) than individuals with other kinds of mutations (23). These novel activities of mutant p53 are referred to as gain of function (GOF).

The generation of p53 knockin alleles in mice provided direct *in vivo* evidence for the GOF activities of mutant p53. Knockin mouse models that express mutant $p53^{R172H}$ and $p53^{R270H}$ proteins, which mimic hot spot mutations that correspond to amino acids 175 and 273 in human cancers, respectively, develop tumors that exhibit a GOF phenotype *in vivo*, with high metastatic capacity compared to tumors in mice inheriting a *p53*-null allele (24, 25). Additionally, using autochthonous mouse models of pancreatic cancer that incorporate oncogenic K-ras, Morton et al. (26) found no metastatic burden in mice that had undergone genetic deletion of a normal *p53* allele relative to a high (65%) incidence of metastasis in mice expressing a single, mutant *p53* allele

(26). However, other groups that have studied identical mouse models of pancreatic cancer have found cells of pancreatic origin in the bloodstream of mice that have undergone monoallelic or biallelic deletion of p53 in the pancreas, without the presence of mutant p53 (27–29). These data suggest that mutant p53 GOF activities may serve to enhance the metastatic potential and/or promote the survival and productivity of metastatic tumor cells at distant sites (26). Taken together, these studies suggest that stable mutant p53 proteins have additional activities that fuel tumor cell proliferation and metastases that are not yet fully understood.

Interestingly, the characterization of animal models containing mutant p53 alleles have demonstrated that tumor-specific events were required for the stabilization of mutant p53 in addition to its simple expression. Numerous tissues derived from mouse models with germline mutant p53 alleles failed to demonstrate detectable mutant p53 proteins, and, in some cases, tumors failed to express detectable mutant p53. Investigation into this phenomenon concluded that normal tissues failed to stabilize mutant p53 due to the presence of Mdm2 and p16^{INK4a}. Upon loss of Mdm2 or p16^{INK4a}, mutant p53 is stabilized and mice show decreased survival and increased metastases relative to mice with intact Mdm2 or p16^{INK4a} alleles (30). A recent analysis of pancreatic cancer specimens demonstrated a strong correlation between p53 mutation and its stabilization through positive staining by immunohistochemistry for p53 protein expression. Such data again indicate that in patients with pancreatic cancer, mutant p53 proteins are expressed, stabilized, and play an important role in tumor development and progression (31). The GOF activity of mutant p53 therefore depends largely on multiple signals for its stabilization that may vary among normal cells and even among tumor cells.

MECHANISMS OF MUTANT p53 GOF

Several mechanisms have now been identified that contribute to mutant p53 GOF activities. The first such mechanism discovered showed that mutant p53 proteins abrogate the tumor-suppressive activities of the p53 family members p63 and p73 (24, 25, 32–34). In addition, TGF- β and EGFR/integrin signaling pathways stabilized mutant p53 ($p53^{R175H}$ and $p53^{R273H}$ introduced into p53-null H1299 cells) and inhibited the function of p63, properties that were essential for the invasive nature of these cells (35, 36). These studies strengthened the evidence that mutant p53 proteins bind and disrupt p63 activities. However, p63 expression is limited to epithelial cells and its inhibition may therefore not explain mutant p53 GOF in tumors of mesenchymal origin. Moreover, mutant p53 was found to regulate gene expression independently of p63 and p73 in some tumors (37–40).

Using cell lines derived from these same pancreatic cancer models with *Ras* and *p53* mutations, mutant *p53* was found to drive metastasis through induction of platelet-derived growth factor receptor β (*PDGFR\beta*). Mutant *p53*-dependent sequestration of *p73* from an *NF-Y* complex permits this transcriptional complex to function at the platelet-derived growth factor β promoter, resulting in expression of *PDGFR\beta* and a prometastatic phenotype (41).

Chromatin ImmunoPrecipitation (ChIP)-on-chip experiments and expression arrays using SKBR3 breast cancer cells with the p53^{R175H} mutation identified mutant p53 complexes with the vitamin D receptor which augmented expression of survival genes and dampened expression of proapoptotic genes (42). Importantly, in these experiments, an intact transcriptional activation domain was required. Using expression arrays of MDA-MB-468 (p53^{R273H}) breast cancer cells, Freed-Pastor et al. (43) identified increased expression of genes encoding several enzymes of the mevalonate pathway. Mutant p53 bound SREBP proteins and disrupted the acinar architecture of breast epithelial cells when grown as spheroids. In our studies, we compared primary osteosarcomas that had metastasized from p53^{R172H/+} mice to $p53^{+/-}$ tumors that lacked metastases and identified a unique set of transcriptional changes (39). In this system, mutant p53 bound the transcription factor Ets2 and enhanced expression of a phospholipase, Pla2g16, which induced migration and invasion in culture (39). Lastly, ChIP-seq experiments using LFS fibroblasts with the $p53^{R248W}$ mutation identified numerous promoters that contain mutant p53 (42, 44). More recently, Zhu et al. showed that p53 mutants, not wild-type (WT) p53, bind to and upregulate chromatin regulatory genes, including the methyltransferase MLL1, MLL2, and acetyltransferase MOZ, resulting in genomewide increases of histone methylation and acetylation. Furthermore, upregulation of MLL1, MLL2, and MOZ was found in human tumors with p53 mutants, but not in WT p53 or p53null tumors (45). In summary, these data suggest that multiple pathways contribute to the GOF phenotypes of cells with mutant *p*53. The emerging themes by which mutant *p*53 exhibits its GOF are (1) through formation of mutant p53 complexes with other proteins that modify their activities (e.g., *p63* and *p73*) and (2) by

interaction of mutant p53 with other transcription factors (e.g., *SREBP* and *Ets2*) that bring a potent transcriptional activation domain to promoters not normally regulated WT p53 (**Figure 1**). These mechanisms are not necessarily mutually exclusive in the genesis of different cancers and may be context dependent (46, 47).

DISTINCT BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITIES OF DIFFERENT *p*53 MUTANTS

In addition to exhibiting GOF phenotypes, mutant p53 proteins exhibit intrinsic differences. Some are classified as structural mutants (e.g., p53R172H) as the mutation alters the structure of the DNA-binding domain while others are classified as DNAbinding mutants (e.g., p53R245W and p53R270H) because they alter an arginine that directly interacts with DNA. Other mutants show partial defects. For example, the *p53R172P* mutation, albeit rare, is able to activate the cell cycle arrest but not apoptotic programs of p53 (48). In vivo, differences in tumor spectrum were observed between $p53^{R172H}$ and $p53^{R270H}$ mice (24, 25). In addition, in humanized mutant p53 knockin models, p53^{R248Q/-} and $p53^{R248Q/Q}$, but not $p53^{G245S/-}$ and $p53^{G245S/S}$, mice show an acceleration of tumor development and shorter survival as compared to $p53^{-/-}$ mice (49). Lastly, different human tumor types show different spectra of p53 mutations. For example, based on cBioPortal, mutations at the codon 248 of p53 are most prevalently observed in human pancreatic tumors, whereas in breast tumors, codons 275 and 175 are most frequently mutated, respectively (5, 6), further suggesting that different p53 mutations impart unique activities to drive development of different tumor types.



THE IMPORTANCE OF STROMA IN TUMOR SUPPRESSION

The discussion has thus far focused on p53 mutations within tumor cells and has ignored a possible role of surrounding tissue on tumor evolution. Tumors are complex tissues that consist of two components: a parenchyma and stroma. The parenchyma consists of tumor cells while the stroma consists of blood and lymphatic vessels, fibroblasts, and inflammatory and immune cells (50). The importance of stromal elements in cancer development has been supported by extensive clinical and experimental evidence (51-55). The injection of human breast tumors into nude mice and subsequent analyses of copy number variations indicated that stromal cells evolved additional changes not found in the original tumor (56). In another study of human breast cancer, gene expression differences in the stroma were a better predictor of response to chemotherapy (57). Mouse models have now clearly implicated the importance of stromal alterations in tumor development. Deletion of PTEN in stromal fibroblasts accelerated initiation, progression, and malignant transformation of ErbB2/neu-driven mammary epithelial tumors, implicating a tumor-suppressive role of PTEN in stroma (58). Global gene expression profiling of stroma lacking PTEN revealed changes in the expression of genes regulating extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition, wound healing, and chronic inflammation, which were validated by staining with various markers. Lujambio and colleagues selectively deleted p53 in hepatic stellate cells, resulting in modifications to the tumor microenvironment (TME) and enhanced malignant transformation of epithelial cells (59). Mutations in p53 have also been found in the stromal component of some primary breast tumors and in carcinoma-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) (51, 60-63). Additionally, MCF7 breast tumor cells formed more aggressive tumors with shorter latency after injection into $p53^{-/-}$ SCID mice as compared to injection into $p53^{+/+}$ SCID hosts (64). Hill et al. (65) further showed that prostate tumor cells can promote the selection and expansion of p53-deficient stromal fibroblasts through paracrine mechanisms. Highly proliferative, p53-deficient stromal cells were subsequently found to promote epithelial tumor growth and progression despite retention of WT p53. These data clearly show that changes in stroma occur and that they directly impact tumor development.

MUTANT p53 ADDICTION

In addition to the observations that mutant *p*53 proteins exhibit GOF activities, a growing body of evidence suggests that tumor cells may be addicted to mutant *p*53 expression. Experiments using siRNA knockdown of mutant *p*53 in cancer cell lines showed a higher apoptotic response to drug treatment in cells with knockdown of mutant *p*53 (47, 66). Additional mutant *p*53 depletion experiments show decreases in cell growth rate, viability, replication, and clonogenicity. Constitutive inhibition of mutant *p*53 reduced tumor growth in nude mice and showed reduced stromal invasion and angiogenesis (67). In addition, Prives and colleagues showed that mutant *p*53 depletion in breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231 cells with *p*53^{R280K} and MDA-MB-468 with *p*53^{R273H}) in 3D culture leads to phenotypic reversion to more

normal, differentiated structures with hollow lumens (43). More recently, using a conditional mutant p53 mouse model expressing a $p53^{R248Q}$ hotspot mutation, Moll and colleagues showed that mutant p53 ablation restrained growth of allotransplanted and autochthonous tumors and extended animal survival, indicating that these tumors depend on sustained mutant p53 expression (68). In summary, these data suggest that tumor cells with mutant p53 may be addicted to the GOF activities of mutant p53. Tumor regression and dependence on mutant p53 is likely context dependent and the extent to which elimination of mutant p53, genetically or through pharmacologic inhibition of downstream mediators, as a viable therapy remains to be seen (69).

MOUSE MODELS FOR SPORADIC *p53* MUTATIONS IN CANCER

Knock-in mice with germline mutations in *p53* that mimic those found in LFS have more aggressive, metastatic tumors as compared to mice lacking p53 and provided convincing evidence for p53 GOF activities (24, 25). Yet germline mutations in p53 are rare in humans, and the vast majority of human cancers evolve from somatic alterations of p53. Consequently, current animal models at our disposal to study the role of p53 missense mutations in the genesis of somatic tumors are inadequate. Some involve expression of mutant p53 in breast epithelial cells using mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV) or whey acidic protein (WAP) promoters which are hormonally regulated and therefore do not simulate expression of mutant p53 from the endogenous locus (70, 71). Currently, conditional mutant p53 alleles are only active following cre-mediated removal of a DNA "STOP" cassette flanked by LoxP sites (LSL = Lox - STOP - Lox) (25). The STOP sequence maintains the downstream gene in an unexpressed or null state in all animal cells until the STOP cassette is selectively removed and mutant p53 is expressed. Importantly, tumors in this model initiate from cells heterozygous for p53 since animal conception. Moreover, tumors under these conditions initiate and progress within a tumor microenvironment (TME) replete with p53-heterozygous stromal elements. CAFs, macrophages, T cells, neutrophils, endothelial cells, and so on remain heterozygous for p53 following conception (due to the presence of the STOP cassette) with undefined effects on tumor biology. Stroma is a requisite component of tumor initiation and growth, and as mentioned earlier, prostate tumor epithelium selects for *p53*-null stromal fibroblasts in $p53^{\pm}$ mice, yielding a highly proliferative stroma that contributes to tumor progression. Given the powerful roles of p53 in cellular plasticity and embryonic stem cell differentiation, tumors that develop from and under conditions of p53 heterozygosity may differ in unappreciated ways from human tumors that initiate from WT p53 cells. A model that more closely mimics the events in sporadic tumorigenesis is sorely needed.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Mouse models of mutant p53 carry the potential to inform us of essential mechanisms of cancer initiation and metastasis translatable to therapeutics in humans. However, many genetic mouse models used to study mutant p53 in vivo incorporate germline mutant p53 alleles that may alter normal and cancer biology in

ways that compromise its relevance to human cancer. Innovation in genetic mouse models of mutant *p53* is mandatory to more closely model human biology and to serve as translational biologic platforms to better evaluate and develop novel therapeutic agents in human cancers. Moreover, given the importance of the TME in cancer development and metastasis, mouse models that preserve the complex regulatory and tumor–stromal interactions are mandatory to the development of effective, translational biologic platforms to target the TME toward therapeutic ends.

REFERENCES

- 1. The Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. (2011)
- Shah SP, Roth A, Goya R, Oloumi A, Ha G, Zhao Y, et al. The clonal and mutational evolution spectrum of primary triple-negative breast cancers. *Nature* (2012) 486(7403):395–9. doi:10.1038/nature10933
- Rudin CM, Durinck S, Stawiski EW, Poirier JT, Modrusan Z, Shames DS, et al. Comprehensive genomic analysis identifies SOX2 as a frequently amplified gene in small-cell lung cancer. *Nat Genet* (2012) 44(10):1111–6. doi:10.1038/ng.2405
- Yachida S, White CM, Naito Y, Zhong Y, Brosnan JA, Macgregor-Das AM, et al. Clinical significance of the genetic landscape of pancreatic cancer and implications for identification of potential long-term survivors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(22):6339–47. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1215
- Cerami E, Gao J, Dogrusoz U, Gross BE, Sumer SO, Aksoy BA, et al. The cBio cancer genomics portal: an open platform for exploring multidimensional cancer genomics data. *Cancer Discov* (2012) 2:401–4. doi:10.1158/2159-8290. CD-12-0095
- Gao J, Aksoy BA, Dogrusoz U, Dresdner G, Gross B, Sumer SO, et al. Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cBioPortal. *Sci Signal* (2013) 6:11. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2004088
- Olivier M, Hollstein M, Hainaut P. TP53 mutations in human cancers: origins, consequences, and clinical use. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2010) 2:a001008. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a001008
- Bullock AN, Fersht AR. Rescuing the function of mutant p53. Nat Rev Cancer (2001) 1(1):68–76. doi:10.1038/35094077
- Vousden KH, Prives C. Blinded by the Light: The Growing Complexity of p53. *Cell* (2009) 137(3):413–31. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.037
- Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ. Surfing the p53 network. *Nature* (2000) 408(6810):307–10. doi:10.1038/35042675
- 11. Toledo F, Wahl GM. Regulating the p53 pathway: in vitro hypotheses, in vivo veritas. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2006) **6**(12):909–23. doi:10.1038/nrc2012
- 12. Wasylishen A, Lozano G. Attenuating the p53 pathway in human cancers: Many means to the same end. In: Lozano G, Levine AJ, editors. *The p53 Protein: From Cell Regulation to Cancer*. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: CSH Press (in press).
- Hamroun D, Kato S, Ishioka C, Claustres M, Beroud C, Soussi T. The UMD TP53 database and website: update and revisions. *Hum Mutat* (2006) 27:14–20. doi:10.1002/humu.20269
- Soussi T, Lozano G. p53 mutation heterogeneity in cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun (2005) 331:834–42. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.03.190
- Cho Y, Gorina S, Jeffrey PD, Pavletich NP. Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations. *Science* (1994) 265:346–55. doi:10.1126/science.8023157
- Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. Carcinogens leave fingerprints. Nature (1992) 355:209–10. doi:10.1038/355209a0
- 17. Brosh R, Rotter V. When mutants gain new powers: news from the mutant p53 field. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2009) **9**(10):701–13.
- Blandino G, Levine AJ, Oren M. Mutant p53 gain of function: differential effects of different p53 mutants on resistance of cultured cells to chemotherapy. *Oncogene* (1999) 18:477–85. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1202314
- Dittmer D, Pati S, Zambetti G, Chu S, Teresky AK, Moore M, et al. Gain of function mutations in p53. *Nat Genet* (1993) 4:42–6. doi:10.1038/ng0593-42
- Crook T, Vousden KH. Properties of p53 mutations detected in primary and secondary cervical cancers suggest mechanisms of metastasis and involvement of environmental carcinogens. *EMBO J* (1992) 11:3935–40.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MK, YZ, and GL wrote and edited the manuscript. MK and YZ generated the figure.

FUNDING

This work is supported, in part, by grant CA082577 from the National Cancer Institute.

- Hsiao M, Low J, Dorn E, Ku D, Pattengale P, Yeargin J, et al. Gain-of-function mutations of the p53 gene induce lymphohematopoietic metastatic potential and tissue invasiveness. *Am J Pathol* (1994) 145:702–14.
- Li R, Sutphin PD, Schwartz D, Matas D, Almog N, Wolkowicz R, et al. Mutant p53 protein expression interferes with p53-independent apoptotic pathways. *Oncogene* (1998) 16:3269–77. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1201867
- Birch JM, Blair V, Kelsey AM, Evans DG, Harris M, Tricker KJ, et al. Cancer phenotype correlates with constitutional TP53 genotype in families with the Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Oncogene (1998) 17:1061–8. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1202033
- Lang GA, Iwakuma T, Suh YA, Liu G, Rao VA, Parant JM, et al. Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Cell* (2004) 119:861–72. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.11.006
- Olive KP, Tuveson DA, Ruhe ZC, Yin B, Willis NA, Bronson RT, et al. Mutant p53 gain of function in two mouse models of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Cell* (2004) 119:847–60. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.11.004
- Morton JP, Timpson P, Karim SA, Ridgway RA, Athineos D, Doyle B, et al. Mutant p53 drives metastasis and overcomes growth arrest/senescence in pancreatic cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:246–51. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0908428107
- Rhim AD, Mirek ET, Aiello NM, Maitra A, Bailey JM, McAllister F, et al. EMT and dissemination precede pancreatic tumor formation. *Cell* (2012) 148(1-2):349-61. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.11.025
- Yu M, Ting DT, Stott SL, Wittner BS, Ozsolak F, Paul S. RNA sequencing of pancreatic circulating tumour cells implicates WNT signalling in metastasis. *Nature* (2012) 487(7408):510–3. doi:10.1038/nature11217
- Ting DT, Wittner BS, Ligorio M, Vincent Jordan N, Shah AM, Miyamoto DT, et al. Single-cell RNA sequencing identifies extracellular matrix gene expression by pancreatic circulating tumor cells. *Cell Rep* (2014) 8(6):1905–18. doi:10.1016/ j.celrep.2014.08.029
- Terzian T, Suh YA, Iwakuma T, Post SM, Neumann M, Lang GA, et al. The inherent instability of mutant p53 is alleviated by Mdm2 or p16INK4a loss. *Genes Dev* (2008) 22:1337–44. doi:10.1101/gad.1662908
- Witkiewicz AK, McMillan EA, Balaji U, Baek G, Lin WC, Mansour J, et al. Whole-exome sequencing of pancreatic cancer defines genetic diversity and therapeutic targets. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:6744. doi:10.1038/ncomms7744
- 32. Gaiddon C, Lokshin M, Ahn J, Zhang T, Prives C. A subset of tumor-derived mutant forms of p53 down-regulate p63 and p73 through a direct interaction with the p53 core domain. *Mol Cell Biol* (2001) 21:1874–87. doi:10.1128/MCB. 21.5.1874-1887.2001
- Marin MC, Jost CA, Brooks LA, Irwin MS, O'Nions J, Tidy JA, et al. A common polymorphism acts as an intragenic modifier of mutant p53 behaviour. *Nat Genet* (2000) 25:47–54. doi:10.1038/75586
- 34. Strano S, Munarriz E, Rossi M, Cristofanelli B, Shaul Y, Castagnoli L, et al. Physical and functional interaction between p53 mutants and different isoforms of p73. *J Biol Chem* (2000) **275**:29503–12. doi:10.1074/jbc.M003360200
- Adorno M, Cordenonsi M, Montagner M, Dupont S, Wong C, Hann B, et al. A mutant-p53/Smad complex opposes p63 to empower TGFbeta-induced metastasis. *Cell* (2009) 137:87–98. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.039
- Muller PA, Caswell PT, Doyle B, Iwanicki MP, Tan EH, Karim S, et al. Mutant p53 drives invasion by promoting integrin recycling. *Cell* (2009) 139:1327–41. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.11.026
- 37. Scian MJ, Stagliano KE, Ellis MA, Hassan S, Bowman M, Miles MF, et al. Modulation of gene expression by tumor-derived p53 mutants. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(20):7447–54. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1568

- Weisz L, Zalcenstein A, Stambolsky P, Cohen Y, Goldfinger N, Oren M, et al. Transactivation of the EGR1 gene contributes to mutant p53 gain of function. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(22):8318–27. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1145
- 39. Xiong S, Tu H, Kollareddy M, Pant V, Li Q, Zhang Y, et al. Pla2g16 phospholipase mediates gain-of-function activities of mutant p53. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(30):11145–50. doi:10.1073/pnas.1404139111
- Zalcenstein A, Stambolsky P, Weisz L, Muller M, Wallach D, Goncharov TM, et al. Mutant p53 gain of function: repression of CD95(Fas/APO-1) gene expression by tumor-associated p53 mutants. *Oncogene* (2003) 22(36):5667–76. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1206724
- Weissmueller S, Manchado E, Saborowski M, Morris JPT, Wagenblast E, Davis CA, et al. Mutant p53 drives pancreatic cancer metastasis through cellautonomous PDGF receptor beta signaling. *Cell* (2014) 157:382–94. doi:10. 1016/j.cell.2014.01.066
- Stambolsky P, Tabach Y, Fontemaggi G, Weisz L, Maor-Aloni R, Siegfried Z, et al. Modulation of the vitamin D3 response by cancer-associated mutant p53. *Cancer Cell* (2010) 17:273–85. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.11.025
- Freed-Pastor WA, Mizuno H, Zhao X, Langerod A, Moon SH, Rodriguez-Barrueco R, et al. Mutant p53 disrupts mammary tissue architecture via the mevalonate pathway. *Cell* (2012) 148:244–58. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.12. 017
- 44. Do PM, Varanasi L, Fan S, Li C, Kubacka I, Newman V, et al. Mutant p53 cooperates with ETS2 to promote etoposide resistance. *Genes Dev* (2012) 26:830–45. doi:10.1101/gad.181685.111
- 45. Zhu J, Sammons MA, Donahue G, Dou Z, Vedadi M, Getlik M, et al. Gainof-function p53 mutants co-opt chromatin pathways to drive cancer growth. *Nature* (2015) 525:206–11. doi:10.1038/nature15251
- Jackson JG, Post SM, Lozano G. Regulation of tissue- and stimulus-specific cell fate decisions by p53 in vivo. *J Pathol* (2011) 223:127–36. doi:10.1002/path. 2783
- Oren M, Rotter V. Mutant p53 gain-of-function in cancer. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2010) 2:a001107. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a001107
- 48. Liu G, Parant JM, Lang G, Chau P, Chavez-Reyes A, El-Naggar AK, et al. Chromosome stability, in the absence of apoptosis, is critical for suppression of tumorigenesis in Trp53 mutant mice. *Nat Genet* (2004) 36(1):63–8. doi:10. 1038/ng1282
- Hanel W, Marchenko N, Xu S, Yu SX, Weng W, Moll U. Two hot spot mutant p53 mouse models display differential gain of function in tumorigenesis. *Cell Death Differ* (2013) 20(7):898–909. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.17
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* (2011) 144:646–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Allinen M, Beroukhim R, Cai L, Brennan C, Lahti-Domenici J, Huang H, et al. Molecular characterization of the tumor microenvironment in breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* (2004) 6:17–32. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2004.06.010
- Bhowmick NA, Neilson EG, Moses HL. Stromal fibroblasts in cancer initiation and progression. *Nature* (2004) 432:332–7. doi:10.1038/nature03096
- Hu M, Polyak K. Microenvironmental regulation of cancer development. Curr Opin Genet Dev (2008) 18:27–34. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2007.12.006
- 54. Orimo A, Gupta PB, Sgroi DC, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Delaunay T, Naeem R, et al. Stromal fibroblasts present in invasive human breast carcinomas promote tumor growth and angiogenesis through elevated SDF-1/CXCL12 secretion. *Cell* (2005) **121**:335–48. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.034
- 55. Polyak K, Kalluri R. The role of the microenvironment in mammary gland development and cancer. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2010) **2**:a003244. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a003244
- Pelham RJ, Rodgers L, Hall I, Lucito R, Nguyen KC, Navin N, et al. Identification of alterations in DNA copy number in host stromal cells during tumor progression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103:19848–53. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0609635104

- Finak G, Bertos N, Pepin F, Sadekova S, Souleimanova M, Zhao H, et al. Stromal gene expression predicts clinical outcome in breast cancer. *Nat Med* (2008) 14:518–27. doi:10.1038/nm1764
- Trimboli AJ, Cantemir-Stone CZ, Li F, Wallace JA, Merchant A, Creasap N, et al. Pten in stromal fibroblasts suppresses mammary epithelial tumours. *Nature* (2009) 461:1084–91. doi:10.1038/nature08486
- Lujambio A, Akkari L, Simon J, Grace D, Tschaharganeh DF, Bolden JE, et al. Non-cell-autonomous tumor suppression by p53. *Cell* (2013) 153:449–60. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.03.020
- Kurose K, Gilley K, Matsumoto S, Watson PH, Zhou XP, Eng C. Frequent somatic mutations in PTEN and TP53 are mutually exclusive in the stroma of breast carcinomas. *Nat Genet* (2002) 32:355–7. doi:10.1038/ng1013
- Patocs A, Zhang L, Xu Y, Weber F, Caldes T, Mutter GL, et al. Breast-cancer stromal cells with TP53 mutations and nodal metastases. *N Engl J Med* (2007) 357:2543–51. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa071825
- Polyak K, Haviv I, Campbell IG. Co-evolution of tumor cells and their microenvironment. *Trends Genet* (2009) 25:30–8. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2008.10.012
- Qiu W, Hu M, Sridhar A, Opeskin K, Fox S, Shipitsin M, et al. No evidence of clonal somatic genetic alterations in cancer-associated fibroblasts from human breast and ovarian carcinomas. *Nat Genet* (2008) 40:650–5. doi:10.1038/ng.117
- Kiaris H, Chatzistamou I, Trimis G, Frangou-Plemmenou M, Pafiti-Kondi A, Kalofoutis A. Evidence for nonautonomous effect of p53 tumor suppressor in carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:1627–30. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3791
- Hill R, Song Y, Cardiff RD, Van Dyke T. Selective evolution of stromal mesenchyme with p53 loss in response to epithelial tumorigenesis. *Cell* (2005) 123(6):1001–11. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.09.030
- 66. Bossi G, Lapi E, Strano S, Rinaldo C, Blandino G, Sacchi A. Mutant p53 gain of function: reduction of tumor malignancy of human cancer cell lines through abrogation of mutant p53 expression. *Oncogene* (2006) 25:304–9. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1209026
- Bossi G, Marampon F, Maor-Aloni R, Zani B, Rotter V, Oren M, et al. Conditional RNA interference in vivo to study mutant p53 oncogenic gain of function on tumor malignancy. *Cell Cycle* (2008) 7:1870–9. doi:10.4161/cc.7.12.6161
- Alexandrova EM, Yallowitz AR, Li D, Xu S, Schulz R, Proia DA, et al. Improving survival by exploiting tumour dependence on stabilized mutant p53 for treatment. *Nature* (2015) 523:352–6. doi:10.1038/nature14430
- 69. Rivlin N, Katz S, Doody M, Sheffer M, Horesh S, Molchadsky A, et al. Rescue of embryonic stem cells from cellular transformation by proteomic stabilization of mutant p53 and conversion into WT conformation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111:7006–11. doi:10.1073/pnas.1320428111
- 70. Li B, Greenberg N, Stephens LC, Meyn R, Medina D, Rosen JM. Preferential overexpression of a 172Arg – >Leu mutant p53 in the mammary gland of transgenic mice results in altered lobuloalveolar development. *Cell Growth Differ* (1994) 5:711–21.
- Li B, Murphy KL, Laucirica R, Kittrell F, Medina D, Rosen JM. A transgenic mouse model for mammary carcinogenesis. *Oncogene* (1998) 16:997–1007. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1201621

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Kim, Zhang and Lozano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mutant p53: One, No One, and One Hundred Thousand

Dawid Walerych¹, Kamil Lisek^{1,2} and Giannino Del Sal^{1,2*}

¹ Laboratorio Nazionale CIB, Area Science Park Padriciano, Trieste, Italy, ² Dipartimento di Scienze della Vita, Università degli Studi di Trieste, Trieste, Italy

Encoded by the mutated variants of the *TP53* tumor suppressor gene, mutant p53 proteins are getting an increased experimental support as active oncoproteins promoting tumor growth and metastasis. p53 missense mutant proteins are losing their wild-type tumor suppressor activity and acquire oncogenic potential, possessing diverse transforming abilities in cell and mouse models. Whether various mutant p53s differ in their oncogenic potential has been a matter of debate. Recent discoveries are starting to uncover the existence of mutant p53 downstream programs that are common to different mutant p53 variants. In this review, we discuss a number of studies on mutant p53, underlining the advantages and disadvantages of alternative experimental approaches that have been used to describe the numerous mutant p53 gain-of-function activities. Therapeutic possibilities are also discussed, taking into account targeting either individual or multiple mutant p53 proteins in human cancer.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ygal Haupt, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Australia

Reviewed by:

Alessandro Rimessi, University of Ferrara, Italy Christian Stock, University of Muenster, Germany

> *Correspondence: Giannino Del Sal delsal@lncib.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 19 October 2015 Accepted: 07 December 2015 Published: 21 December 2015

Citation:

Walerych D, Lisek K and Del Sal G (2015) Mutant p53: One, No One, and One Hundred Thousand. Front. Oncol. 5:289. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00289 Keywords: p53 mutation, gain-of-function, cancer, drug therapy, combination, oncogenes, tumor suppressor proteins

p53 MUTANTS – ACTIVE ONCOPROTEINS

Mutations in the *TP53* gene occur in almost every type of cancer, with frequencies that vary between 10% (hematopoietic malignancies) and 96% (high grade ovarian serous carcinoma) (1). Cancer genome sequencing studies confirm that *TP53* is the most commonly mutated tumor suppressor gene in human cancers (2). The majority of studies indicate that the presence of mutated *TP53* is associated with bad prognosis in various cancer types (3). *TP53* mutations are known first and foremost to inactivate the oncosuppressive properties of the wild-type p53 protein as a transcription factor (loss-of-function – LOF). However, since p53 acts as a tetramer, expressed *TP53* mutant variants can also exert a dominant negative (DN) effect over their wild-type counterpart, and additionally they can arm cancer cells with novel oncogenic gain-of-function (GOF) activities (4–6).

In over 70% of cases, the *TP53* mutations are missense, most frequently within the region encoding the core domain of the p53 protein, which is responsible for binding DNA (7). Although the spectrum of the *TP53* missense mutations is vast – counting about 1,800 different amino-acid changes (8) – several hotspot p53 mutants, in particular, affecting residues R273, R248, R175, and G245 of the p53 protein, are present with a higher frequency both in sporadic tumors (together over 21% of total missense mutations) and in individuals with the Li–Fraumeni syndrome (LFS), a genetic disorder caused by inherited *TP53* mutations that predispose carriers to an early-onset development of various cancers (9).

The hotspot changes in p53 are traditionally classified as "conformational" or "DNA contact" mutations. This notion comes from the biophysical observation that the former group disturbs the

proper folding of the core domain of p53, thus depriving it of the ability to bind the DNA and transactivate its target genes, while the latter group is composed of mutations in residues that are responsible for directly binding DNA, with a near-native core domain structure (10, 11). In the LFS, a wild-type *TP53* allele is usually present, whereas in LFS tumors, it is often (in the 40–60% of cases) subjected to inactivation (loss of heterozygosity – LOH) – a process that is observed both in mouse LFS models (12) and in humans (13), involving various mechanisms of wild-type *TP53* inactivation (14). Interestingly, it has been recently noted that in the embryonic stem cells from LFS mice the lost allele is often the mutant one, suggesting that a bi-directional *TP53* LOH process may function as a cell-fate checkpoint and that there exists a selective pressure against the heterozygous *TP53* state (15).

p53 mutant proteins are stabilized and protected from degradation in a tumor microenvironment by various oncogenic signaling pathways (16, 17), and several studies in mutant p53 knock-in (KI) mice showed that the presence of p53 mutants promotes tumor growth with higher metastasis rate and different tissue spectrum than the absence of wild-type p53 (12, 18). These *in vivo* proofs of mutant p53 GOF came as confirmation of the initial observations in cell models that mutant p53 missense variants may actively support cell transformation (19, 20).

Even though the oncogenic activity related to GOF p53 mutants has been described many times in the last 25 years of research on p53, there are still doubts concerning its significance. Current approaches are only starting to resolve whether missense p53 mutants can be regarded as essentially one oncoprotein endowed with a conserved tumorigenic activity, or they represent a population of different oncoproteins, each exerting its unique oncogenic potential. Mutant p53 is still not used in standard clinical practice as a target of anti-cancer therapies. We discuss these issues in the following sections of this review.

ONE OR MANY – "MUTANT p53" vs. "p53 MUTANTS"

The rising importance of the GOF of p53 mutants in cancer has led to numerous studies describing their mechanisms of action and a brought forward question how much the obtained results can be generalized across different mutant p53 variants and cellular or cancer backgrounds.

A minority of these studies is based on mutant p53 KI mouse models and led to a number of discoveries in the field, including (i) the inhibitory role of mutant p53 on MRE11 protein and the induction of genomic instability (human *TP53* KI "HupKI" mouse model) (21), (ii) the transcription-based activation of PDGFR β signaling in pancreatic cancer model (22), (ii) the transcriptional activation of oncogenic Pla2g16 phospholipase (23), and (iv) the confirmation of prior cell-based reports on a mutant p53-mediated inhibition of the p63/p73 oncosuppressive activity (12, 18). The LFS mouse-model-based studies underlined differences between GOF properties of different p53 mutants and among the consequences of *TP53* mutations in human and in mouse. Comparative studies of the R270H and R172H variants in KI mice showed different tumor spectra confirming the notion that the GOF of p53 mutants may differ (12). These spectra, however, turned out to be different also from the spectra caused by human counterparts of these mutant p53 variants – R273H and R175H – in patients with LFS (e.g., lack of mammary carcinomas in mice – frequent in humans) (9). On the other hand, the investigation in KI mice of the R246S p53 mutant, corresponding to the human R249S p53 hotspot mutant, showed no clear indication of GOF (24), whereas in human cell-based experiments, this variant was demonstrated to induce growth, chemoresistance, and a specific mutant p53 transcriptional program in several studies (25–27). Altogether these results indicate that mouse models – albeit very informative – may have their limitations and require careful confirmation of their significance in human systems.

Most of the human cell line-based studies on mutant p53 are based on initial phenotype-related experiments or large scale analysis, such as gene expression microarray or ChIP sequencing, leading to discovery of mechanisms/targets associated with a particular mutant variant in its endogenous background. In most cases, validation in other mutant p53 variants/backgrounds is also reported. Such studies have led to describing important roles of mutant p53 in direct inhibition of the p63/ p73-mediated tumor suppression (28, 29), activation of the cell cycle drivers, such as Cyclins (30, 31), the vitamin D3 receptor signaling (32), steroid synthesis (mevalonate pathway) (33), the ID4-mediated angiogenesis (34), or nucleotide homeostasis (26), to name a few. A comprehensive list of these studies published since 2005 - with the indication of the initially tested mutant p53 variant(s) and p53 mutants used for validation - is shown in Table 1.

Mutant p53 activities have been described both in the cell's cytoplasm and in the nucleus. The reported cytoplasm-specific activities include the DAB2IP protein regulation affecting TNFadependent signaling (36) and the regulation of PARP localization and activity (38). Nuclear activities are related to more general influence on the chromatin function (the example of the abovementioned MRE11 regulation) but, in most cases, are related to a specific transcriptional regulation. The available mutant p53 ChIP-sequencing data and other DNA-interaction data have not defined a mutant p53 target site analogous to that of wild-type p53, and currently the main hypothesis is that mutant p53 transactivation takes place through interaction with several transcription factors - among them NFY complex, SREBP 1 and 2, or ETS2 (Table 1). In most cases, mutant p53 proteins boost basic properties of these transcription factors, leading to the aberrant activation of their downstream programs and to the intersection with other key oncogenic pathways, as shown for the mutant p53-SREBP or NFY causing activation of the YAP/TAZ pathway (46, 47).

Even though experimental approaches using single initial *in vivo* and *in vitro* models led to the discovery of numerous pathways controlled by mutant p53, it is unclear whether these pathways have the same central role in diverse cellular contexts.

In an attempt to fill this gap, studies have been conducted involving the overexpression of multiple mutant p53 variants in a p53-null or wild-type background (**Table 1**). Investigation in the p53-null background of non-small lung carcinoma H1299 cells TABLE 1 | Selected mutant p53 gain-of-function effects, mediators, and related therapeutic opportunities, published since 2005.

Mutant p53 discovered	Mutant p53 validated	Pathway(s)	Mediator(s)	Downstream proteins/genes	Leading model(s)	Mutant p53-related phenotype	Suggested treatment	Reference
R248W	R273H, R175H	DNA damage response	MRE11	AKT	HUPKI mice/MEFs	Genomic instability	-	(21)
	R175H, R280K, L194F, R273L, R249S, R248Q, C242F	DNA damage response	ETS2 ^a	TDP2ª	Li-Fraumeni-derived cell line	Chemoresistance	Etoposide	(35)
	R273L, R249S, R280K, R175H	Nucleotide homeostasis	ETS2 ^a	Nucleotide metabolism genes ^a	Li–Fraumeni and breast cancer cells	Cell proliferation	-	(26)
R175H	L194F, R273H	IL-8 and GRO-α signaling	NFYAª	Cyclin A, B, E, CDK1, CDC25Cª	Breast cancer cell lines	Cell proliferation	-	(30)
	R273H, R280K R273H	Interleukin signaling, VDR signaling	ID4 VDRª	IL-8, GRO-α IGFBP3, CYP24A1ª	Breast cancer cell lines Breast cancer cell lines	Angiogenesis Reduced apoptosis	– Vitamin D3 restriction?	(34) (32)
	R273H, R280K	PDGF receptor β signaling	p73ª, NFY complexª	PDGFRβ ^a	Pancreatic cancer mouse model and cell lines	Metastasis	Imatinib	(22)
	H179R, G245S, R248Q, R249S R273H	Phospholipid metabolism	ETS2 ^a	Pla2g16ª	Kl mouse model, osteosarcoma cell line	Tumor growth and metastasis	-	(23)
R280K	R273H	Cell cycle, cell movement	Pin1	Cyclin E2, BUB1, DEPDC1ª	Breast cancer cell lines	Cell proliferation, migration	Pin1 inhibitors?	(31)
	R175H	TGFβ-induced migration/invasion	SMAD/p63ª	SHARP-1, Cyclin G2	Breast cancer cell lines	Metastasis	-	(29)
	R175H, R273H, M237I	TNFα-driven inflammation	DAB2IP	JNK, NF-κB, and their targets	Breast cancer cell lines	Cancer-related inflammation	-	(36)
R273H	R280K	Steroid synthesis	SREBP1/2ª	MVK, FDFT1, TM7SF2, NSDHLª	Breast cancer cell lines	Tumor growth	Statins	(33)
	– R280K, L194F	HB-EGF signaling DNA replication, PARP signaling	NRD1 -	– PARP, MCM4, PCNA	p53 null lung carcinoma Breast cancer cell lines	Invasion Cell proliferation	– PARP inhibitors?	(37) (38)
R175H, R273H (overexpressed)	R280K	EGFR/integrin signaling	p63	$\alpha 5\beta 1$ integrin, EGFR	p53 null lung carcinoma, breast cancer cell lines	Cell motility, invasion	-	(39)
R175H, R273H, D281G (overexpressed)	-	NF - κB signaling	-	NFKB2 ^a	p53 null lung carcinoma	Chemoresistance	Etoposide	(40)
R175H, R248Q, R273H (overexpressed)	R175H, R273H	Glucose metabolism, Warburg effect	RhoA/ROCK	GLUT1	p53 null lung carcinoma, MEFs, breast cancer cell lines	Tumor growth	-	(41)
R175H, R248Q, R248W, R249S, R273H, R282W (overexpressed)	R273H, R280K	Membrane and secreted signaling factors	p63ª	DKK1, METTL7B, TFPI2ª	p53 null lung carcinoma, breast cancer cell lines	Invasion	-	(42)
V143A, R175H, R248W, R249S, R273H, R282W (overexpressed)	R175H, R248Q, R273C	Cell cycle, apoptosis	TopBP1ª, p63/ p73ª, NFYª	Cyclin A, B, E, CDK1, CDC25C, BAX, NOXAª	p53 null lung carcinoma, breast cancer cell lines	Proliferation	Calcein	(43, 44)
R175H, H179R, G245S, R248Q,R273H (overexpressed)	R175H, R273H	Ras-mediated signaling	BTG2, NF-κBª	CXCL1, IL1B and MMP3 ^a	Human lung fibroblasts WI-38	-	_	(45)
R248Q, R249S, R273H (endogenous)	R175H, R248W	Chromatin epigenetic modification	ETS2ª	MLL1, MLL2, MOZ ^a	Breast cancer cell lines, MEFs, Li–Fraumeni cell lines	Proliferation and tumor growth	COMPASS complex inhibitors	(27)

5

Frontiers in Oncology | www.frontiersin.org

Walerych et al.

^aTranscription-related mediators and transcriptionally regulated downstream mutant p53 targets.

led to discovering the role of mutant p53 in integrin recycling (39), in the NF- κ B signaling (40), and in the Warburg effect (41) as well as a role of TopBP1 in the upstream regulation of mutant p53 (43). These studies largely confirmed that the mutant p53 GOF is exerted indirectly at the level of transcription by cooperation with transcription factors. Neilsen et al. showed that genes activated by mutant p53 largely overlap between mutant variants overexpressed in H1299 cells, but interestingly also frequently share promoter sequences with p63 and wild-type p53 (42). This indicates that the mutant p53-mediated promoter activation may be an aberrant representation of the interaction of wild-type p53 with transcription factors in normal cells. Other mutant p53 overexpression studies led to uncovering regulation of the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) phenotype by mutant p53 upon wild-type TP53 silencing in MCF10A mammary epithelium cells (48) as well as the cooperation of mutant p53 with the Ras oncogenic program in WI-38 human embryonic lung fibroblasts (45). Much of this evidence, however, still awaits confirmation in experimental settings in which mutant p53 variants are endogenously expressed. During the course of transformation, cell lines carrying endogenous TP53 mutations become addicted to the mutant p53 GOF - as often their growth or migration/invasion abilities are compromised upon mutant p53 knock-down (27, 31, 36, 49). Conversely, p53-null and wildtype p53 cell lines survive and proliferate without mutant p53, suggesting that very likely the GOF program observed under such conditions only partially resembles the cancer-related one. Therefore, the lack of the cellular context in which p53 mutants are naturally embedded and background-associated effects represent relevant weaknesses of the studies in a p53-null or p53 wild-type background.

A solution to these limitations may be represented by studies that include an initial analysis using different p53 mutants in their endogenous backgrounds. Analyzing downstream programs - both at the phenotypic and the molecular level - may help to understand to what extent p53 mutants possess a "core" oncogenic program, and whether some mutants display specific features. A recent study by Zhu et al. focuses on the common DNA interaction pattern of three distinct p53 mutants, in their endogenous context of breast cancer cell lines, using as term of comparison the pattern obtained from two cell lines bearing wild-type p53 (27). As a highlight of this multi-mutant p53-DNA interaction pattern, the group identified the chromatin regulatory genes that are activated by the transcription factor ETS2, a previously known mutant p53 interactor (23, 26, 35). The relevance of a mutant p53/ETS2 cooperation has been confirmed as a general feature in several mutant p53 expressing cell lines and thanks to the transcriptional program perturbed, as a critical modulator of the chromatin modification (27).

Even with these many studies published this is apparently only the beginning of a deeper understanding of both specificity and general picture of mutant p53 GOF in cancer. Multiple cellular/cancer models have to be studied simultaneously in unbiased, large-scale manner, by comparing more mutant p53 variants, including non-hotspot mutations. Another important issue is how these discoveries could be transferred into clinical applications.

TARGETING MUTANT p53 IN CANCER

The issue regarding how widely the GOF effects are shared between multiple mutant p53 variants extends to the experimental targeted therapies based on the presence of mutant p53. Since *TP53* is one of the most frequently mutated genes in cancer, reactivation of the wild-type p53 oncosuppressive properties and eliminating the mutant p53 GOF are potentially instrumental in personalized treatment of hundreds of thousands cancer patients worldwide. In this context, the possibility to distinguish mutant p53-specific processes from those shared by at least hotspot mutant p53 variants seems of relevance in order to develop and test drugs targeting properties and/or downstream pathways that are common to as many mutant p53 variants as possible.

Research on widely acting molecules targeting mutant p53 began over two decades ago. Some of the first approaches included inhibitors of Hsp90, a molecular chaperone that participates in a multiprotein complex stabilizing GOF p53 mutants with distorted DNA-binding domain structure (50). Hsp90 inhibitor geldanamycin was shown to lower levels and nuclear translocation of mutant p53 (51, 52). The interest toward Hsp90 inhibitors remains high, as the recent study by Alexandrova et al. describes significantly increased survival of mutant p53 KI mice treated with the geldanamycin derivative 17-DMAG or with a new generation Hsp90 inhibitor – ganetespib (53). Other drugs – such as the histone deacetylase inhibitor SAHA (Vorinostat) (54) and sodium butyrate (NaB) (55) – have been also shown to downregulate the levels of mutant p53 variants.

Different suggested strategies involve blocking the mutant p53 activation by targeting proteins, such as Pin1 (31) or TopBP1 (43). Inhibitor of TopBP1 - Calcein (44) - and experimental inhibitors of Pin1 (56) are examples of molecules targeting specific upstream activators of mutant p53. Among compounds that have been shown to efficiently directly target mutant p53 are small peptides (57-59). None of them, however, is so advanced in experimentation as small molecules that directly modify mutant p53 promoting its transition into a wild-type like form, capable of activating the tumor suppressive wild-type p53 transcriptional targets. The first described micromolecule targeting mutant p53 was CP-31398 (60) that, despite turning out not to directly interact with mutant p53 but rather with its target DNA sequences (58), is still considered as a promising drug candidate (61, 62). Most studies were, however, performed on the PRIMA-1 molecule (63) and later on its more potent and less toxic derivative PRIMA-1MET/APR-246 (64). Experiments showed that this molecule is able to directly bind and modify thiol residues in mutant p53 transforming it into a wild-type-like protein (65), thus becoming able to activate wild-type p53 targets, such as GADD45B, NOXA, or CDKN1A (p21), and induce in vitro and in vivo cell cycle arrest or apoptosis (66, 67).

In the case of drugs targeting mutant p53, most studied molecules, as those mentioned above, target several mutant p53 missense variants, while drug candidates focusing on particular mutants are rare. NSC319726 is one such these compounds. Identified by screening studies, NSC319726 possesses specific activity toward the R175H mutant p53 and induces apoptosis



in human cells (68). Two other studies led to discovering PhiKan083 (69) and PK7088 (70) as molecules that specifically target and reactivate mutant p53 hotspot variant Y220C, which is found at a relatively high frequency in breast cancer (5). The low number of such studies and the fact that other mutant p53 reactivating compounds target various mutant p53 variants may suggest that the classic distinction of contact and structural p53 mutants may not be decisive and these mutant types may, in fact, represent structural extremes of a spectrum of distortions in the DNA-binding domain, leading to similar GOF effects.

Another important strategy to mutant p53 targeting is based on the treatment with drugs that downregulate oncogenic pathways activated by the means of mutant p53 GOF (listed in **Table 1**). This activation in general leads to two types of therapeutically relevant outcome – chemoresistance and chemosensitization (**Figure 1**). In the first case, the sensitivity to either specific or broad activity anti-cancer compounds, including doxorubicin, cisplatin, or etoposide, is dampened in the presence of mutant p53 (35, 49). In the latter case, a number of pathway targeting drugs – such as statins that inhibit the mevalonate pathway (33), imatinib inhibiting PDGFR β (22), or COMAPSS complex inhibitors (27) – can cause increased cell death in mutant p53 vs. wildtype p53-bearing cancer cells. The performance of these drugs is often promising, but their drawback is the limited number of mutant p53/cell backgrounds tested.

A big issue of the mutant p53-oriented therapies is their slow progress toward the clinics, most of them being still at an early stage of development (71). The only drug directly targeting mutant p53 that has reached the clinical stage is PRIMA-1MET/ APR-246. This compound successfully went through phase I/II clinical trial in hematological malignancies and prostate cancer that included mutant p53 patients (72). An approach targeting triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) cells with p53 deficiency or mutant status using Chk1 inhibitors showed promising results in *in vitro* and mouse tests (73, 74), while it failed to show significant improvement in human patients (75). At the same time, many of the drugs that could be beneficial for mutant p53 patients – Hsp90

inhibitors, HDAC inhibitors, or statins – are undergoing clinical trials in cancer in which the mutant p53 status is not considered or even known (76–78).

The combination of drugs directly targeting mutant p53 with drugs inhibiting mutant p53-related pathways is surprisingly avoided (**Figure 1**), although it might favor the decrease of compensatory responses and dosage toxicity, and thus an increase in the therapeutic efficacy. This notion is supported by a number of experiments showing that the combination of PRIMA-1 and PRIMA1-MET/APR-246 with cisplatin (CDDP) results in synergistic effects in cancer cells and xenografts (79–81). Taking into account that mutant p53 is known to increase chemoresistance to cisplatin (49), it is not surprising that targeting the cause of this chemoresistance opens the window to more effective treatments. This combinational approach may suggest that other compounds are worth being tested together with mutant p53 targeting drugs, such as PRIMA-1MET/APR-246 (**Figure 1**).

Even though *TP53* is one of the most frequently mutated genes in human cancer and mutant p53 emerges as a major oncoprotein controlling an exceptionally vast network of tumorpromoting activities, it still possesses underused potential as a drug target and much effort is needed to bring it to a prominent position on the map of personalized therapeutic solutions for cancer patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DW, KL, and GS wrote the paper.

FUNDING

The authors thank A. Testa for discussing and reading the manuscript. This work was supported by the Italian Health Ministry and Italian Association for Cancer Research (AIRC) Special Program Molecular Clinical Oncology "5 per mille" (Grant no. 10016), to GS; DW was a recipient of the FEBS postdoctoral fellowship.

REFERENCES

- Rivlin N, Brosh R, Oren M, Rotter V. Mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene: important milestones at the various steps of tumorigenesis. *Genes Cancer* (2011) 2:466–74. doi:10.1177/1947601911408889
- Kandoth C, McLellan MD, Vandin F, Ye K, Niu B, Lu C, et al. Mutational landscape and significance across 12 major cancer types. *Nature* (2013) 502:333–9. doi:10.1038/nature12634
- Brosh R, Rotter V. When mutants gain new powers: news from the mutant p53 field. Nat Rev Cancer (2009) 9:701–13. doi:10.1038/nrc2693
- Freed-Pastor WA, Prives C. Mutant p53: one name, many proteins. *Genes Dev* (2012) 26:1268–86. doi:10.1101/gad.190678.112
- Walerych D, Napoli M, Collavin L, Del Sal G. The rebel angel: mutant p53 as the driving oncogene in breast cancer. *Carcinogenesis* (2012) 33:2007–17. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgs232
- Muller PA, Vousden KH. Mutant p53 in cancer: new functions and therapeutic opportunities. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 25:304–17. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2014.01.021
- Petitjean A, Mathe E, Kato S, Ishioka C, Tavtigian SV, Hainaut P, et al. Impact of mutant p53 functional properties on TP53 mutation patterns and tumor phenotype: lessons from recent developments in the IARC TP53 database. *Hum Mutat* (2007) 28:622–9. doi:10.1002/humu.20495
- Soussi T. TP53 mutations in human cancer: database reassessment and prospects for the next decade. *Adv Cancer Res* (2011) 110:107–39. doi:10.1016/ B978-0-12-386469-7.00005-0
- Malkin D. Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Genes Cancer (2011) 2:475–84. doi:10.1177/1947601911413466
- Cho Y, Gorina S, Jeffrey PD, Pavletich NP. Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations. *Science* (1994) 265:346–55. doi:10.1126/science.8023157
- Bullock AN, Henckel J, Fersht AR. Quantitative analysis of residual folding and DNA binding in mutant p53 core domain: definition of mutant states for rescue in cancer therapy. *Oncogene* (2000) 19:1245–56. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1203434
- Olive KP, Tuveson DA, Ruhe ZC, Yin B, Willis NA, Bronson RT, et al. Mutant p53 gain of function in two mouse models of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Cell* (2004) 119:847–60. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.11.004
- Varley JM, Thorncroft M, McGown G, Appleby J, Kelsey AM, Tricker KJ, et al. A detailed study of loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 17 in tumours from Li-Fraumeni patients carrying a mutation to the TP53 gene. *Oncogene* (1997) 14:865–71. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1201041
- Schlegelberger B, Kreipe H, Lehmann U, Steinemann D, Ripperger T, Gohring G, et al. A child with Li-Fraumeni syndrome: modes to inactivate the second allele of TP53 in three different malignancies. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* (2015) 62:1481–4. doi:10.1002/pbc.25486
- Shetzer Y, Kagan S, Koifman G, Sarig R, Kogan-Sakin I, Charni M, et al. The onset of p53 loss of heterozygosity is differentially induced in various stem cell types and may involve the loss of either allele. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21:1419–31. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.57
- Terzian T, Suh YA, Iwakuma T, Post SM, Neumann M, Lang GA, et al. The inherent instability of mutant p53 is alleviated by Mdm2 or p16INK4a loss. *Genes Dev* (2008) 22:1337–44. doi:10.1101/gad.1662908
- Suh YA, Post SM, Elizondo-Fraire AC, Maccio DR, Jackson JG, El-Naggar AK, et al. Multiple stress signals activate mutant p53 in vivo. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:7168–75. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0459
- Lang GA, Iwakuma T, Suh YA, Liu G, Rao VA, Parant JM, et al. Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Cell* (2004) 119:861–72. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.11.006
- Halevy O, Michalovitz D, Oren M. Different tumor-derived p53 mutants exhibit distinct biological activities. *Science* (1990) 250:113–6. doi:10.1126/ science.2218501
- Dittmer D, Pati S, Zambetti G, Chu S, Teresky AK, Moore M, et al. Gain of function mutations in p53. Nat Genet (1993) 4:42–6. doi:10.1038/ng0593-42
- Song H, Hollstein M, Xu Y. p53 gain-of-function cancer mutants induce genetic instability by inactivating ATM. *Nat Cell Biol* (2007) 9:573–80. doi:10.1038/ncb1571
- 22. Weissmueller S, Manchado E, Saborowski M, Morris JPT, Wagenblast E, Davis CA, et al. Mutant p53 drives pancreatic cancer metastasis through

cell-autonomous PDGF receptor beta signaling. Cell (2014) 157:382-94. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.01.066

- Xiong S, Tu H, Kollareddy M, Pant V, Li Q, Zhang Y, et al. Pla2g16 phospholipase mediates gain-of-function activities of mutant p53. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111:11145–50. doi:10.1073/pnas.1404139111
- Lee MK, Teoh WW, Phang BH, Tong WM, Wang ZQ, Sabapathy K. Cell-type, dose, and mutation-type specificity dictate mutant p53 functions in vivo. *Cancer Cell* (2012) 22:751–64. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2012.10.022
- Yan W, Chen X. Characterization of functional domains necessary for mutant p53 gain of function. J Biol Chem (2010) 285:14229–38. doi:10.1074/jbc. M109.097253
- Kollareddy M, Dimitrova E, Vallabhaneni KC, Chan A, Le T, Chauhan KM, et al. Regulation of nucleotide metabolism by mutant p53 contributes to its gain-of-function activities. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:7389. doi:10.1038/ ncomms8389
- Zhu J, Sammons MA, Donahue G, Dou Z, Vedadi M, Getlik M, et al. Gainof-function p53 mutants co-opt chromatin pathways to drive cancer growth. *Nature* (2015) 525:206–11. doi:10.1038/nature15251
- Di Agostino S, Cortese G, Monti O, Dell'Orso S, Sacchi A, Eisenstein M, et al. The disruption of the protein complex mutantp53/p73 increases selectively the response of tumor cells to anticancer drugs. *Cell Cycle* (2008) 7:3440–7. doi:10.4161/cc.7.21.6995
- Adorno M, Cordenonsi M, Montagner M, Dupont S, Wong C, Hann B, et al. A mutant-p53/Smad complex opposes p63 to empower TGFbeta-induced metastasis. *Cell* (2009) 137:87–98. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.039
- Di Agostino S, Strano S, Emiliozzi V, Zerbini V, Mottolese M, Sacchi A, et al. Gain of function of mutant p53: the mutant p53/NF-Y protein complex reveals an aberrant transcriptional mechanism of cell cycle regulation. *Cancer Cell* (2006) 10:191–202. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2006.08.013
- Girardini JE, Napoli M, Piazza S, Rustighi A, Marotta C, Radaelli E, et al. A pin1/mutant p53 axis promotes aggressiveness in breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* (2011) 20:79–91. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.06.004
- Stambolsky P, Tabach Y, Fontemaggi G, Weisz L, Maor-Aloni R, Siegfried Z, et al. Modulation of the vitamin D3 response by cancer-associated mutant p53. *Cancer Cell* (2010) 17:273–85. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.11.025
- Freed-Pastor WA, Mizuno H, Zhao X, Langerod A, Moon SH, Rodriguez-Barrueco R, et al. Mutant p53 disrupts mammary tissue architecture via the mevalonate pathway. *Cell* (2012) 148:244–58. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.12.017
- Fontemaggi G, Dell'Orso S, Trisciuoglio D, Shay T, Melucci E, Fazi F, et al. The execution of the transcriptional axis mutant p53, E2F1 and ID4 promotes tumor neo-angiogenesis. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2009) 16:1086–93. doi:10.1038/ nsmb.1669
- Do PM, Varanasi L, Fan S, Li C, Kubacka I, Newman V, et al. Mutant p53 cooperates with ETS2 to promote etoposide resistance. *Genes Dev* (2012) 26:830–45. doi:10.1101/gad.181685.111
- 36. Di Minin G, Bellazzo A, Dal Ferro M, Chiaruttini G, Nuzzo S, Bicciato S, et al. Mutant p53 reprograms TNF signaling in cancer cells through interaction with the tumor suppressor DAB2IP. *Mol Cell* (2014) 56:617–29. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2014.10.013
- 37. Coffill CR, Muller PA, Oh HK, Neo SP, Hogue KA, Cheok CF, et al. Mutant p53 interactome identifies nardilysin as a p53R273H-specific binding partner that promotes invasion. *EMBO Rep* (2012) **13**:638–44. doi:10.1038/embor.2012.74
- Polotskaia A, Xiao G, Reynoso K, Martin C, Qiu WG, Hendrickson RC, et al. Proteome-wide analysis of mutant p53 targets in breast cancer identifies new levels of gain-of-function that influence PARP, PCNA, and MCM4. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) **112**(11):E1220–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1416318112
- Muller PA, Caswell PT, Doyle B, Iwanicki MP, Tan EH, Karim S, et al. Mutant p53 drives invasion by promoting integrin recycling. *Cell* (2009) 139:1327–41. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.11.026
- Scian MJ, Stagliano KE, Anderson MA, Hassan S, Bowman M, Miles MF, et al. Tumor-derived p53 mutants induce NF-kappaB2 gene expression. *Mol Cell Biol* (2005) 25:10097–110. doi:10.1128/MCB.25.22.10097-10110.2005
- Zhang C, Liu J, Liang Y, Wu R, Zhao Y, Hong X, et al. Tumour-associated mutant p53 drives the Warburg effect. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:2935. doi:10.1038/ncomms3935
- Neilsen PM, Noll JE, Suetani RJ, Schulz RB, Al-Ejeh F, Evdokiou A, et al. Mutant p53 uses p63 as a molecular chaperone to alter gene expression

and induce a pro-invasive secretome. Oncotarget (2011) 2(12):1203-17. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.382

- Liu K, Ling S, Lin WC. TopBP1 mediates mutant p53 gain of function through NF-Y and p63/p73. *Mol Cell Biol* (2011) 31:4464–81. doi:10.1128/ MCB.05574-11
- Chowdhury P, Lin GE, Liu K, Song Y, Lin FT, Lin WC. Targeting TopBP1 at a convergent point of multiple oncogenic pathways for cancer therapy. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:5476. doi:10.1038/ncomms6476
- Solomon H, Buganim Y, Kogan-Sakin I, Pomeraniec L, Assia Y, Madar S, et al. Various p53 mutant proteins differently regulate the Ras circuit to induce a cancer-related gene signature. J Cell Sci (2012) 125:3144–52. doi:10.1242/ jcs.099663
- Sorrentino G, Ruggeri N, Specchia V, Cordenonsi M, Mano M, Dupont S, et al. Metabolic control of YAP and TAZ by the mevalonate pathway. *Nat Cell Biol* (2014) 16:357–66. doi:10.1038/ncb2936
- Di Agostino S, Sorrentino G, Ingallina E, Valenti F, Ferraiuolo M, Bicciato S, et al. YAP enhances the pro-proliferative transcriptional activity of mutant p53 proteins. *EMBO Rep* (2015).
- Zhang Y, Yan W, Chen X. Mutant p53 disrupts MCF-10A cell polarity in three-dimensional culture via epithelial-to-mesenchymal transitions. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:16218–28. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.214585
- Bossi G, Lapi E, Strano S, Rinaldo C, Blandino G, Sacchi A. Mutant p53 gain of function: reduction of tumor malignancy of human cancer cell lines through abrogation of mutant p53 expression. *Oncogene* (2006) 25:304–9. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1209026
- Blagosklonny MV, Toretsky J, Bohen S, Neckers L. Mutant conformation of p53 translated in vitro or in vivo requires functional HSP90. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1996) 93:8379–83. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.16.8379
- 51. Blagosklonny MV, Toretsky J, Neckers L. Geldanamycin selectively destabilizes and conformationally alters mutated p53. *Oncogene* (1995) **11**:933–9.
- Dasgupta G, Momand J. Geldanamycin prevents nuclear translocation of mutant p53. *Exp Cell Res* (1997) 237:29–37. doi:10.1006/excr.1997.3766
- Alexandrova EM, Yallowitz AR, Li D, Xu S, Schulz R, Proia DA, et al. Improving survival by exploiting tumour dependence on stabilized mutant p53 for treatment. *Nature* (2015) 523:352–6. doi:10.1038/nature14430
- Li D, Marchenko ND, Moll UM. SAHA shows preferential cytotoxicity in mutant p53 cancer cells by destabilizing mutant p53 through inhibition of the HDAC6-Hsp90 chaperone axis. *Cell Death Differ* (2011) 18(12):1904–13. doi:10.1038/cdd.2011.71
- Yan W, Liu S, Xu E, Zhang J, Zhang Y, Chen X. Histone deacetylase inhibitors suppress mutant p53 transcription via histone deacetylase 8. Oncogene (2013) 32:599–609. doi:10.1038/onc.2012.81
- Wei S, Kozono S, Kats L, Nechama M, Li W, Guarnerio J, et al. Active Pin1 is a key target of all-trans retinoic acid in acute promyelocytic leukemia and breast cancer. *Nat Med* (2015) 21:457–66. doi:10.1038/nm.3839
- Selivanova G, Iotsova V, Okan I, Fritsche M, Strom M, Groner B, et al. Restoration of the growth suppression function of mutant p53 by a synthetic peptide derived from the p53 C-terminal domain. *Nat Med* (1997) 3:632–8. doi:10.1038/nm0697-632
- Friedler A, Hansson LO, Veprintsev DB, Freund SM, Rippin TM, Nikolova PV, et al. A peptide that binds and stabilizes p53 core domain: chaperone strategy for rescue of oncogenic mutants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) **99**:937–42. doi:10.1073/pnas.241629998
- Guida E, Bisso A, Fenollar-Ferrer C, Napoli M, Anselmi C, Girardini JE, et al. Peptide aptamers targeting mutant p53 induce apoptosis in tumor cells. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68:6550–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0137
- Foster BA, Coffey HA, Morin MJ, Rastinejad F. Pharmacological rescue of mutant p53 conformation and function. *Science* (1999) 286:2507–10. doi:10.1126/science.286.5449.2507
- He X, Kong X, Yan J, Zhang Y, Wu Q, Chang Y, et al. CP-31398 prevents the growth of p53-mutated colorectal cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. *Tumour Biol* (2015) 36:1437–44. doi:10.1007/s13277-014-2389-8
- Li P, Zhao M, Parris AB, Feng X, Yang X. p53 is required for metformin-induced growth inhibition, senescence and apoptosis in breast cancer cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2015) 464:1267–74. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.07.117
- Bykov VJ, Issaeva N, Shilov A, Hultcrantz M, Pugacheva E, Chumakov P, et al. Restoration of the tumor suppressor function to mutant p53 by a low-molecular-weight compound. *Nat Med* (2002) 8:282–8. doi:10.1038/nm0302-282

- Bykov VJ, Wiman KG. Mutant p53 reactivation by small molecules makes its way to the clinic. *FEBS Lett* (2014) 588:2622-7. doi:10.1016/j. febslet.2014.04.017
- Lambert JM, Gorzov P, Veprintsev DB, Soderqvist M, Segerback D, Bergman J, et al. PRIMA-1 reactivates mutant p53 by covalent binding to the core domain. *Cancer Cell* (2009) 15:376–88. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.03.003
- Zache N, Lambert JM, Wiman KG, Bykov VJ. PRIMA-1MET inhibits growth of mouse tumors carrying mutant p53. *Cell Oncol* (2008) 30:411–8. doi:10.3233/CLO-2008-0440
- Lambert JM, Moshfegh A, Hainaut P, Wiman KG, Bykov VJ. Mutant p53 reactivation by PRIMA-1MET induces multiple signaling pathways converging on apoptosis. Oncogene (2010) 29:1329–38. doi:10.1038/onc.2009.425
- Yu X, Vazquez A, Levine AJ, Carpizo DR. Allele-specific p53 mutant reactivation. *Cancer Cell* (2012) 21:614–25. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2012.03.042
- Boeckler FM, Joerger AC, Jaggi G, Rutherford TJ, Veprintsev DB, Fersht AR. Targeted rescue of a destabilized mutant of p53 by an in silico screened drug. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:10360–5. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0805326105
- Liu X, Wilcken R, Joerger AC, Chuckowree IS, Amin J, Spencer J, et al. Small molecule induced reactivation of mutant p53 in cancer cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2013) 41:6034–44. doi:10.1093/nar/gkt305
- Girardini JE, Marotta C, Del Sal G. Disarming mutant p53 oncogenic function. *Pharmacol Res* (2014) 79:75–87. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2013.11.003
- Lehmann S, Bykov VJ, Ali D, Andren O, Cherif H, Tidefelt U, et al. Targeting p53 in vivo: a first-in-human study with p53-targeting compound APR-246 in refractory hematologic malignancies and prostate cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2012) 30:3633–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.40.7783
- Ma CX, Cai S, Li S, Ryan CE, Guo Z, Schaiff WT, et al. Targeting Chk1 in p53-deficient triple-negative breast cancer is therapeutically beneficial in human-in-mouse tumor models. J Clin Invest (2012) 122:1541–52. doi:10.1172/JCI58765
- Origanti S, Cai SR, Munir AZ, White LS, Piwnica-Worms H. Synthetic lethality of Chk1 inhibition combined with p53 and/or p21 loss during a DNA damage response in normal and tumor cells. *Oncogene* (2013) 32:577–88. doi:10.1038/ onc.2012.84
- Ma CX, Ellis MJ, Petroni GR, Guo Z, Cai SR, Ryan CE, et al. A phase II study of UCN-01 in combination with irinotecan in patients with metastatic triple negative breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2013) 137:483–92. doi:10.1007/ s10549-012-2378-9
- Gonyeau MJ. The spectrum of statin therapy in cancer patients: is there a need for further investigation? *Curr Atheroscler Rep* (2014) 16:383. doi:10.1007/ s11883-013-0383-z
- Sidera K, Patsavoudi E. HSP90 inhibitors: current development and potential in cancer therapy. *Recent Pat Anticancer Drug Discov* (2014) 9:1–20. doi:10.2 174/15748928113089990031
- West AC, Johnstone RW. New and emerging HDAC inhibitors for cancer treatment. J Clin Invest (2014) 124:30–9. doi:10.1172/JCI69738
- Bykov VJ, Zache N, Stridh H, Westman J, Bergman J, Selivanova G, et al. PRIMA-1(MET) synergizes with cisplatin to induce tumor cell apoptosis. Oncogene (2005) 24:3484–91. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208419
- Messina RL, Sanfilippo M, Vella V, Pandini G, Vigneri P, Nicolosi ML, et al. Reactivation of p53 mutants by prima-1 [corrected] in thyroid cancer cells. *Int J Cancer* (2012) 130:2259–70. doi:10.1002/ijc.26228
- Kobayashi N, Abedini M, Sakuragi N, Tsang BK. PRIMA-1 increases cisplatin sensitivity in chemoresistant ovarian cancer cells with p53 mutation: a requirement for Akt down-regulation. J Ovarian Res (2013) 6:7. doi:10.1186/1757-2215-6-7

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Walerych, Lisek and Del Sal. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Contrived Mutant p53 Oncogene – Beyond Loss of Functions

Kanaga Sabapathy^{1,2,3,4*}

¹Division of Cellular and Molecular Research, National Cancer Centre Singapore, Humphrey Oei Institute of Cancer Research, Singapore, ²Cancer and Stem Cell Biology Program, Duke-NUS Graduate Medical School, Singapore, ³Institute of Molecular and Cellular Biology, Singapore, ⁴Department of Biochemistry, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore

Mutations in *p53* are almost synonymous with cancer – be it susceptibility to the disease or response to treatment – and therefore, are a critical determinant of overall survival. As most of these mutations occur in the DNA-binding domain of p53, many of the clinical correlations with mutant p53 have been initially relegated to the loss of its transcription-dependent activities as a tumor suppressor. However, significant efforts over the last two decades have led to the vast knowledge on the potential functions of the mutated p53 protein, which have been attributed to the physical presence of the mutant protein rather than the loss of its wild-type (WT) functions. Beyond the inhibitory effects of mutant p53 on the remaining WT protein that leads to the dominant-negative effect in the heterozygous state, mutant p53's presence has also been significantly attributed to novel gain-of-functions that lead to addiction of cancer cells to its presence for survival, as well as for their ability to invade and metastasize, elevating it to a contrived oncogene that drives the cancer cells forward. This review will summarize the functional consequences of the presence of mutant p53 protein on cellular and organismal physiology.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ygal Haupt, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Australia

Reviewed by:

Alexandre Arcaro, University of Bern, Switzerland Giannino Del Sal, Laboratorio Nazionale Consorzio Interuniversitario Biotecnologie (LNCIB), Italy

*Correspondence:

Kanaga Sabapathy cmrksb@nccs.com.sg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 11 September 2015 Accepted: 24 November 2015 Published: 10 December 2015

Citation:

Sabapathy K (2015) The Contrived Mutant p53 Oncogene – Beyond Loss of Functions. Front. Oncol. 5:276. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00276 Keywords: dominant-negative effect, gain-of-functions, mutant p53-addiction, oncogene, p53, tumor-suppressor

MUTANT p53

p53, one of the earliest identified tumor suppressors, has been overwhelmingly confirmed to be the most mutated gene across all cancer types through the recent avalanche of cancer genome sequencing efforts (1). Mutations in p53 occur in about 90% of the cases in its central DNA-binding domain (DBD), thereby leading to loss of its transactivation properties that are often associated with its tumor-suppressor functions [reviewed in Ref. (2)]. During the course of the evolution of the transformed cell, mutant p53 derived from the mutated allele co-exists with the wild-type (WT) p53 from the other allele for varying time periods, till the WT allele is generally lost through loss-ofheterozygozity (LOH), resulting in the sole existence of only the mutant p53 (**Figure 1**). Like most of the tumor suppressors that have a direct impact on tumor growth upon their loss of function – thus qualifying them as tumor suppressors – mutations in p53 were also thought to lead to loss of most of its tumor-suppressor functions that regulate almost all aspects of cellular physiology. Interestingly, during the co-existence phase of both the WT and mutant p53 proteins, haploinsufficiency leads to propensity for increased tumor development, as has been demonstrated in Li–Fraumeni patients



as well as in a large number of model organisms expressing the mutant p53 allele (3, 4). However, in contrast to most tumor suppressors, mutant p53 is unique in the sense that it has not only lost its tumor-suppressor functions, but evidence accumulating over the last two decades has assigned a wide variety of advantages to the cancer cell of having the mutant p53 protein. In short, the advantages of having a mutant p53 to the growth and survival of the tumor cells can be classified as a mirror image of the tumorsuppressor functions of WT p53 (Figure 2). Of interest is the fact that no other tumor suppressor has acquired such a wide array of novel functions as p53 when mutated, thereby elevating p53 to the status of a "contrived" oncogene, entirely on the basis that its functions as a tumor suppressor are turned on its head when the gene gets mutated. In this review, I will discuss the novel and acquired functions of mutant p53, specifically focusing on the DBD mutations.

DOMINANT-NEGATIVE FUNCTIONS OF MUTANT p53 – AT THE EARLY STAGES

Generally, in the early phases of cancer development, mutated *p53* co-exists with the WT allele until the latter is lost due to LOH. In this co-existence phase, haploinsufficiency is a generally observed phenomenon associated with tumor development (5). However, effects of the mutant p53 over the WT's regular functions – in a dominant-negative (DN) manner – have also been noted. Several early studies indirectly illustrated this DN effect, especially through the overexpression of the mutant p53 in WT p53 expressing cells, or vice versa. However, direct evidence for the DN effect of the mutant p53 protein on the WT p53 was shown in co-overexpression studies, demonstrating the quenching of WT p53's ability to affect cellular transformation and transactivation of target genes, especially in transformed cell lines (6,



7). Co-expression of WT p53 with mutant p53 was also shown to affect the conformation of the former into a mutant conformation due to co-translation with the mutant form (8). Moreover, WT p53 was suggested to be inactivated through oligomerization with mutant p53 (9), and by inhibition of WT p53's ability to bind to target gene promoters in a specific manner (6, 10). Concomitant to the effects on target gene activation, DN effects were noted on WT p53's ability to induce cell death (11) and ras-induced senescence (12). Consequently, large efforts to analyze the DN effects of tumor-derived p53 mutants on the activation of several target genes have been undertaken in a systematic way using the yeast model, which was able to classify mutations as either dominant or recessive (13), and has also led to the cataloging of p53 mutations based on the ability to regulate a large number of p53-target genes (14).

Although the DN phenomenon has been well demonstrated in a large series of studies, the question that remained was its relevance when mutant p53 is expressed from its endogenous locus. This was resolved with the generation of the p53 mutant knock-in mouse models, whereby several groups confirmed the DN effects using p53^{mutant/+} mice in various primary cell types, including thymocytes, splenocytes, and embryonic stem cells, by comparing it with the p53^{-/+} cohorts (15–18). Interestingly, while the DN effects were seen in some tissues, both on target gene activation and on cell survival, this was not the case in other cell types, as in primary fibroblasts in their growth, suggesting that the DN effect might be cell type, and possible stimulus dependent (18).

An interesting observation that emerges from all these studies with primary and transformed cells is that the DN effects on target gene activation and cell death are generally seen when cells are exposed to stress stimuli, including exposure to DNAdamaging agents, when p53 is activated and stabilized (15, 16, 18). By contrast, DN effect is not normally observed at baseline conditions, as there were no growth advantages to primary cells from p53^{mutant/+} mice, or with respect to spontaneous tumor development, both of which mirrors the p53^{-/+} cells and mice (18, 19). Furthermore, although the DN effect can lead to almost complete ablation of target gene activation when observed, all p53^{mutant/+} mice generated so far have not been able to rescue the embryonic lethality due to the absence of Mdm2 (15, 18). Thus, these data collectively surmise that the DN effect of mutant p53 is exhibited when the levels of the mutant p53 is elevated in acute stress conditions, and thus, may have a significant consequence when patients are treated with chemotherapy and radiotherapy. However, a noteworthy point is that DN effects are not seen with respect to susceptibility to tumor formation, even in the case when p53^{mutant/+} mice have been irradiated, supporting the notion that DN effects observed upon acute activation of p53 that affects short-term apoptotic response do not have a contributory role to the long-term tumorigenic effects (18). Thus, acute p53 activation and DN effects of mutant p53 can be decoupled from the longterm effects of p53 in regulating tumor susceptibility.

In this respect, early reports have suggested that at least three molecules of mutant p53 are required to impose a DN effect on one molecule of WT p53 (7, 20). Interestingly, although mutant

p53 protein has been shown to have a much longer-half life than WT p53, especially in tumor cell lines and in transfection studies, primary cells and tissues from p53^{mutant/+} mice do not exhibit elevated steady-state levels of the mutant p53 protein (18, 19). However, mutant p53 appears to be more abundant in tumor tissues from these mice, further alluding to the requirement of stress and/or oncogenic signals for mutant p53 stabilization (18, 19). Given that stress signals are also able to further stabilize mutant p53, it is not unexpected that the ratio of mutant p53 to WT is significantly high, thereby leading to the observed DN effects. In supporting this theory, reduction of the endogenous mutant p53 levels - using an hypomorphic mutant p53 knock-in mouse model - was indeed shown to alleviate the DN effects, both on target gene activation and cell death upon irradiation (18). Similarly, reduction of the WT p53 levels in a p53^{mutant/+} mice strain also led to exhibition of the DN effect in tumors (21). Thus, these observations consolidate the case for the requirement of a significant increase in mutant p53 levels - as seen in tumor cells, or in primary cells upon exposure to stress stimuli - for the manifestation of the DN effects, which could be ameliorated by reducing the mutant protein levels. This implies that in a clinical setting, strategies that would reduce mutant p53 protein levels without an effect on WT p53 during therapy would lead to better efficacy of treatment and would be a future prospect that should be followed up.

Mechanistically, there are a few modes of operation of the DN effect. The mutant p53, which itself is unable to specifically bind to the p53-response elements, binds to the WT p53, thereby quenching it away from target gene promoters (6, 10). Alternatively, mutant p53 quenches away co-factors that are required for transactivation by the WT p53 bound to the promoter, thereby reducing the potency of the WT protein (22). In addition, mutant p53 has been suggested to form aggregates, akin to those seen in protein misfolding diseases. Herein, it has been suggested that the WT p53 protein is engulfed into mutant p53 fibrillar and granular aggregates, whereby the misfolded mutant protein sequesters the WT form, thus leading to inactivation of the WT function (23). Whatever the mechanism may be, the underlying concept is that the ability of mutant p53 to bind to wild-p53 when in excess is causal to the DN effect, which could thus offer an avenue for exploitation for therapeutic benefit. While there are currently no known ways of overcoming the DN effect, potential strategies that lead to the degradation of mutant p53 specifically without affecting the WT protein will be the way forward in ameliorating the DN effect.

AFTER LOH – THE MUTANT p53-ADDICITON PHENOMENON

While the phenomenon of addiction to oncogenes has been well established (24), mutated tumor suppressors have never been earlier reported to provide a survival advantage to tumor cells due to any novel acquired functions. However, two reports in the mid-2000s showed for the first time that silencing the expression of endogenous mutant p53 can lead to increased apoptosis (25), and reduced tumor growth *in vivo* (26), formally demonstrating

the phenomenon of addiction of tumor cells to mutant p53's presence. In addition, indirect evidence for the requirement for mutant p53 for survival of cells in a phospholipase D-dependent manner was also noted (27). This phenomenon is now well established in a large number of subsequent studies. However, the causal mechanisms are still relatively elusive. In earlier studies, a role for transactivation by mutant p53 of cell growth regulation genes was suggested, as the transactivation deficient DBD p53 mutants were unable to provide a growth advantage (28). In the other studies, mutant p53-mediated suppression of canonical p53-target genes was suggested to be the mechanism, which was ameliorated upon the silencing of mutant p53 expression, leading to cell death. In this latter case, hypomethylation appeared to be involved, as trichostatin A - a HDAC inhibitor - was found to relief the mutant p53-dependent suppression (25). Other recent studies have confirmed this possibility, using other HDAC inhibitors, such as SAHA (29) and sodium butyrate (30).

Recent in vivo work in mice has also confirmed that destabilization of mutant p53 expression leads to apoptosis and reduction of tumor growth (31). In this case, mutant p53 was destabilized through the inhibition of the HSP90/HDAC6 chaperone machinery that is often upregulated in cancers, collectively highlighting the mutant p53-addiction phenomenon, and that degradation of mutant p53 can indeed enhance tumor cell death and improve therapy. While addiction to mutant p53 appears to be critical for the survival of the cancer cell, the exact point at which they get addicted to mutant p53 is not understood. While the transformed cells could be expected to become addicted to the presence of mutant p53 at the point in time of loss of the remaining WT p53 allele, it is likely that further events are required for this phenomenon to occur. Moreover, whether addiction to mutant p53 is a universal phenomenon in all cell types also requires further systematic analyses.

ROLE REVERSAL FROM TUMOR SUPPRESSOR TO ONCOGENE: GAIN OF NOVEL FUNCTIONS

Similar to mutant p53 addiction, the direct advantages conferred by the presence of the mutant p53 protein have been understood primarily through cell culture studies where isogenic cell lines without p53 expression have been used to analyze the effects of the overexpressed mutant p53. These have resulted in the uncovering of a plethora of gain-of-function (GOF) effects, almost all of which provide survival/growth advantage to the cell. First direct evidence came from the overexpression of several human (e.g., R175H, R248W, R273H, and R281G) and mouse mutants in p53 null cell lines that lead to increased cellular growth in soft agar and increased tumorigenicity in immunocompromised mice (32). While this was the first case of evaluating the effects of the mutant version of the natural tumor suppressor, earlier studies using a mutant p53 - at that time thought to be the natural existing form prior to the knowledge that p53 is actually a tumor suppressor - also showed growth advantage due to its overexpression (33). In addition, there are multiple other parameters associated with genomic instability that were noted due to the

overexpression of mutant p53, including gene and centrosome amplification and disruption of spindle checkpoint (34–37). Consistently, overexpression of mutant p53 also led to resistance to death induced by a variety of chemotherapeutic drugs and DNA-damaging agents (38–41), as well as by anoikis (42). More recently, expression of mutant p53 was also shown to enhance the Warburg effect on cancer cells, promoting GLUT1 translocation to the plasma membrane, and thus enhancing glucose uptake (43).

Not unexpectedly, many studies have also evaluated if the expression of mutant p53 would enhance cellular invasion and migration and found that to be the case in a variety of 2D and 3D cellular systems (18, 44–46). Furthermore, a role for mutant p53 in promoting cellular reprograming was also demonstrated (47), suggesting that mutant p53's presence would lead to the survival and replenishment of the potential cancer stem cells, leading to their ability to colonize the adjacent territory.

At the organismal level where mutant p53 is expressed from its own locus - reflecting the status in human cancer conditions - GOF properties were also noted with the generation of the p53 mutant knock-in mice. The initial data demonstrated that the p53^{R172H} mice (equivalent to human R175H) were more tumor prone with more carcinomas - reflecting a change in tumor spectrum. They also had increased metastasis compared to the p53 null mice, in the absence of Mdm2, which leads to increased mutant p53 levels (15, 16). Further studies have cemented these findings, where the presence of the R172H mutant p53 protein conferred significant growth and metastatic propensity to tumors compared to the loss of p53, in several oncogene-induced models, including Ras and APC, in a variety of tumor types such as lung and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinomas (46, 48, 49). Similar observations were also noted with other mutations, such as the R270H and R273H in breast and lung cancer models (50, 51). These data mooted the idea that all mutant p53 would have GOF properties, and that this may depend on the stabilization of the mutant p53 in the cancer cell context, as normal untransformed tissues from the mutant p53 bearing mice did not have significant growth advantage and did not display increased steady-state levels of the mutant protein (19). However, this theory came under challenge through the analyses of another hot-spot p53 mutant knock-in mouse strain (the R246S, equivalent to human R249S). In this case, the R246S mutant mice did not display any tumor latency difference or metastatic advantage even in the absence of Mdm2 (18). Similar results were also seen with other hot-spot mutant knock-in mice strains, in which the R248Q had a strong GOF phenotype in contrast to the G245S mutant (52), collectively alluding the fact that GOF may not be a universal phenomenon, and that elevation of mutant p53 levels may not be sufficient for their exhibition.

Nonetheless, as observed in the cell culture-based studies, there was a propensity to have more hematopoitic or mesenchymal stem cells in the R248Q mutant p53 knock-in mice, indicative of an effect of mutant p53 on the plasticity of the stem cell population (52). Besides the effects on tumor metastasis and aggressiveness, the effects of mutant p53 on several other aspects of physiology have been noted using the knock-in mice strains. For instance, there was increased inflammation and tissue damage, primarily

due to upregulation of inflammatory cytokines that were induced by mutant p53-mediated prolonged activation of NFKB signaling (53). Angiogenesis was also shown to be enhanced due to mutant p53 expression, through the activation of ID4 expression in cell culture studies (54). These studies collectively indicate that expression of mutant p53 in tumor cells, as seen in the case with human cancers, as well as in normal tissues as analyzed from animal studies, has far-reaching consequences on organimsal physiology.

While enormous amounts of data from cellular systems and animal models highlight the existence of GOFs of mutant p53, albeit to varying degrees perhaps depending on several contextual factors, the main question is the relevance of this phenomenon in humans. A noteworthy point is that humans generally do not carry a mutant p53 allele in non-transformed tissues, except in the case of the Li-Fraumeni patients. Thus, the GOF properties would be of relevance in the large majority of tumors that eventually retain only the mutant allele. On the other hand, the Li-Fraumeni patients would be expected to have one allele that is WT in all untransformed tissues, except in cases where LOH would result in or occur with other transforming events that lead to tumorigenesis. In this context, transcriptomic analyses of p53^{-/-} vs. p53^{mutant/mutant} primary tissues (e.g., thymus) from the knock-in mice remarkably did not reveal any significant changes (18), highlighting that GOF is generally not observed in untransformed cellular contexts. Thus, even in the Li-Fraumeni group, the GOFs and addiction to mutant p53 would be a phenomenon that would be of relevance primarily in the cancer cell context. This has been exemplified in a large number of studies that have evaluated the role of mutant p53 in response to chemotherapy, which have generally shown poor prognosis associated with the presence of mutant p53 (55). This, however, could either be due to the DN effect or the GOF functions, as many of these reports have not teased out the status of the other allele in the patient samples. Thus, the presence of mutant p53 in human tumors does indeed exert a negative effect in response to therapy, warranting in-depth investigations into the mechanisms of actions of mutant p53.

MECHANISMS AND MEDIATORS OF MUTANT p53 GAIN-OF-FUNCTIONS

Since the demonstration of GOF of mutant p53, extensive efforts have gone on to examine the mechanistic basis of this phenomenon [reviewed in Ref. (56)]. At least four inter-related categories of actions have emerged: novel target gene activation through direct DNA binding; enhancement of target gene activation due to co-factor binding to mutant p53; co-operation with other transcription factors to activate other transcriptomes; and binding to factors that indirectly result in activation of other pathways.

In the first instance, while DBD-mutant p53 has lost its abilities to bind to canonical p53-responsive elements on target gene promoters, several studies have alluded to the ability of mutant p53 to bind to novel target gene promoters to activate them. It has been proposed that mutant p53 interacts with matrix-attachment regions (MARs), thereby recognizing structures rather than sequences (57). This results in the activation or repression of mutant p53-target genes, the list of which has been steadily growing. In brief, the targets can be categorized into either genes that are upregulated or down-regulated by the presence of mutant p53, including both coding and non-coding genes involved in promoting proliferation, inhibiting cell death, promoting migration, and inflammation. In the former category exists a large array of genes, including growth factors/receptors, such as bFgF, Egfr, Igf1, Igf1r, IL6, and TNF α ; cell death/survival genes, such as bcl-xl, procaspase 3; oncogenes and transcription factors, such as c-fos; c-Myc, Egr1, Nfkb, Ras, and Egr1; metastasis regulators, such as twist-1; microRNAs, such as mir 155 and mir128-2; and many others [reviewed in Ref. (2)]. The second category of suppressed genes includes Fas, Mst-1/msp, mir130b, mir27a, mir 223, and also a large array of the canonical p53-target genes that appear to be suppressed by the presence of mutant p53 (25).

Next, regulation of target genes by mutant p53 can be facilitated by co-operative binding and post-translational modifications of the mutant p53 protein. For instance, mutant p53's activity has been shown to be enhanced by binding with PML and Pin1 (58, 59). In addition, mutant p53 has also been shown to co-operate with other transcription factors, such as NF-Y, VDR, Sp1, and SREBP, to enhance the activation of their target genes (60–63). Conversely, mutant p53 has also been shown to bind to p63 and p73 to inhibit the activation of the latter groups' targets (64). Finally, an indirect role for mutant p53 in activation of various pathways has emerged. For example, mutant p53 has been shown to bind to p63, thereby negating the latter's inhibitory effects on the $\alpha 5\beta 1/RCP$ complex, which leads to enhanced cellular motility (46). Similarly, mutant p53 has been shown to bind to proteins in the DNA-repair pathway, such as MRE11, thereby affecting their functions, which leads to increased genomic instability (65).

The diversity in mechanisms and mediators of mutant p53's GOF function allude to the fact that these may be dependent and

REFERENCES

- Lawrence MS, Stojanov P, Mermel CH, Robinson JT, Garraway LA, Golub TR, et al. Discovery and saturation analysis of cancer genes across 21 tumour types. *Nature* (2014) 23:495–501. doi:10.1038/nature12912
- Freed-Pastor WA, Prives C. Mutant p53: one name, many proteins. *Genes Dev* (2012) 15:1268–86. doi:10.1101/gad.190678.112
- Donehower LA. Insights into wild-type and mutant p53 functions provided by genetically engineered mice. *Hum Mutat* (2014) 35:715–27. doi:10.1002/ humu.22507
- Merino D, Malkin D. p53 and hereditary cancer. Subcell Biochem (2014) 85:1-16. doi:10.1007/978-94-017-9211-0_1
- Payne SR, Kemp CJ. Tumor suppressor genetics. Carcinogenesis (2005) 26:2031–45. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgi223
- Kern SE, Pietenpol JA, Thiagalingam S, Seymour A, Kinzler KW, Vogelstien B. Oncogenic forms of p53 inhibits p53-regulated gene expression. *Science* (1992) 265:827–30.
- Sun Y, Dong Z, Nakamura K, Colburn NH. Dosage-dependent dominance over wild-type p53 of a mutant p53 isolated from nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *FASEB J* (1993) 7:944–50.
- Milner J, Medcalf EA. Cotranslation of activated mutant p53 with wild type drives the wild-type p53 protein into the mutant conformation. *Cell* (1991) 65:765–74.
- 9. Kraiss S, Quaiser A, Oren M, Montenarh M. Oligomerization of oncoprotein p53. *J Virol* (1988) **62**:4737–44.

vary according to the cell type, the mutation type or the stimuli. Furthermore, GOFs would also likely be temporally dictated during the evolution of the transformed cell. Hence, efforts aimed at targeting mutant p53 would have to take into account these factors that have to be elucidated and characterized.

FUTURE OF MUTANT p53

One can envisage that all the years of work on mutant p53 and its functions will now put the research community in good stead in trying to target its functions for clinical benefit, and the current status of these efforts is reviewed in the adjoining chapters. Nonetheless, important considerations have yet to be worked out. These include several questions, such as how can the DN effect be mitigated when treating patients whose tumors retain the WT allele; what is the effect of the DN phenomenon in the daily lives of LF patients, especially when they are exposed to a variety of signals that may have an acute effect on p53 activation; precisely when and where is GOF manifested and addiction to mutant p53 occur; and what is the trigger point for GOF of mutant p53. Thus, while general targeting strategies are being worked out, more work is required to realize the dream of targeting all types of mutant p53 that are different, and thus, likely require specific molecules/dugs to counter them.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KS planned and wrote the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the National Medical Research Council of Singapore for funding KS' research on p53.

- Shaulian E, Zauberman A, Ginsberg D, Oren M. Identification of a minimal transforming domain of p53: negative dominance through abrogation of sequence-specific DNA binding. *Mol Cell Biol* (1992) 12:5581–92.
- Gottlieb E, Haffner R, von Rüden T, Wagner EF, Oren M. Down-regulation of wild-type p53 activity interferes with apoptosis of IL-3-dependent hematopoietic cells following IL-3 withdrawal. *EMBO J* (1994) 15:1368–74.
- Serrano M, Lin AW, McCurrach ME, Beach D, Lowe SW. Oncogenic ras provokes premature cell senescence associated with accumulation of p53 and p16INK4a. *Cell* (1997) 88:593–602.
- Inga A, Cresta S, Monti P, Aprile A, Scott G, Abbondandolo A, et al. Simple identification of dominant p53 mutants by a yeast functional assay. *Carcinogenesis* (1997) 18:2019–21.
- Dearth LR, Qian H, Wang T, Baroni TE, Zeng J, Chen SW, et al. Inactive full-length p53 mutants lacking dominant wild-type p53 inhibition highlight loss of heterozygosity as an important aspect of p53 status in human cancers. *Carcinogenesis* (2007) 28:289–98. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgl132
- Lang GA, Iwakuma T, Suh YA, Liu G, Rao VA, Parant JM, et al. Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Cell* (2004) 17:861–72. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.11.006
- Olive KP, Tuveson DA, Ruhe ZC, Yin B, Willis NA, Bronson RT, et al. Mutant p53 gain of function in two mouse models of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Cell* (2004) 119:847–60. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.11.004
- Lee MK, Sabapathy K. The R246S hot-spot p53 mutant exerts dominant-negative effects in embryonic stem cells in vitro and in vivo. J Cell Sci (2008) 121:1899–906. doi:10.1242/jcs.022822

- Lee MK, Teoh WW, Phang BH, Tong WM, Wang ZQ, Sabapathy K. Cell-type, dose, and mutation-type specificity dictate mutant p53 functions in vivo. *Cancer Cell* (2012) 22:751–64. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2012.10.022
- Terzian T, Suh YA, Iwakuma T, Post SM, Neumann M, Lang GA, et al. The inherent instability of mutant p53 is alleviated by Mdm2 or p16INK4a loss. *Genes Dev* (2008) 15:1337–44. doi:10.1101/gad.1662908
- Chan WM, Siu WY, Lau A, Poon RY. How many mutant p53 molecules are needed to inactivate a tetramer? *Mol Cell Biol* (2004) 8:3536–51. doi:10.1128/ MCB.24.8.3536-3551.2004
- Wang Y, Suh YA, Fuller MY, Jackson JG, Xiong S, Terzian T, et al. Restoring expression of wild-type p53 suppresses tumor growth but does not cause tumor regression in mice with a p53 missense mutation. *J Clin Invest* (2011) 121:893–904. doi:10.1172/JCI44504
- Blagosklonny MV. p53 from complexity to simplicity: mutant p53 stabilization, gain-of-function, and dominant-negative effect. *FASEB J* (2000) 14:1901–7. doi:10.1096/fj.99-1078rev
- Silva JL, Rangel LP, Costa DC, Cordeiro Y, De Moura Gallo CV. Expanding the prion concept to cancer biology: dominant-negative effect of aggregates of mutant p53 tumour suppressor. *Biosci Rep* (2013) 33:593–603. doi:10.1042/ BSR20130065
- Weinstein IB, Joe A. Oncogene addiction. Cancer Res (2008) 68:3077–80. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-3293
- Vikhanskaya F, Lee MK, Mazzoletti M, Broggini M, Sabapathy K. Cancerderived p53 mutants suppress p53-target gene expression – potential mechanism for gain of function of mutant p53. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2007) 35:2093–104. doi:10.1093/nar/gkm099
- Bossi G, Lapi E, Strano S, Rinaldo C, Blandino G, Sacchi A. Mutant p53 gain of function: reduction of tumor malignancy of human cancer cell lines through abrogation of mutant p53 expression. *Oncogene* (2006) 25:304–9. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1209026
- Hui L, Zheng Y, Yan Y, Bargonetti J, Foster DA. Mutant p53 in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells is stabilized by elevated phospholipase D activity and contributes to survival signals generated by phospholipase D. Oncogene (2006) 25:7305–10. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209735
- Scian MJ, Stagliano KE, Ellis MA, Hassan S, Bowman M, Miles MF, et al. Modulation of gene expression by tumor-derived p53 mutants. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:7447–54. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1568
- Li D, Marchenko ND, Moll UM. SAHA shows preferential cytotoxicity in mutant p53 cancer cells by destabilizing mutant p53 through inhibition of the HDAC6-Hsp90 chaperone axis. *Cell Death Differ* (2011) 18:1904–13. doi:10.1038/cdd.2011.71
- Yan W, Liu S, Xu E, Zhang J, Zhang Y, Chen X, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors suppress mutant p53 transcription via histone deacetylase 8. Oncogene (2013) 32:599–609. doi:10.1038/onc.2012.81
- Alexandrova EM, Yallowitz AR, Li D, Xu S, Schulz R, Proia DA, et al. Improving survival by exploiting tumour dependence on stabilized mutant p53 for treatment. *Nature* (2015) 523:352–6. doi:10.1038/nature14430
- 32. Dittmer D, Pati S, Zambetti G, Chu S, Teresky AK, Moore M, et al. Gain of function mutations in p53. *Nat Genet* (1993) 4:42–6.
- Wolf D, Harris N, Rotter V. Reconstitution of p53 expression in a nonproducer Ab-MuLV-transformed cell line by transfection of a functional p53 gene. *Cell* (1984) 38:119–26.
- 34. Gualberto A, Aldape K, Kozakiewicz K, Tlsty TD. An oncogenic form of p53 confers a dominant, gain-of-function phenotype that disrupts spindle checkpoint control. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) **95**:5166–71.
- Wang XJ, Greenhalgh DA, Jiang A, He D, Zhong L, Medina D, et al. Expression of a p53 mutant in the epidermis of transgenic mice accelerates chemical carcinogenesis. *Oncogene* (1998) 17:35–45.
- El-Hizawi S, Lagowski JP, Kulesz-Martin M, Albor A. Induction of gene amplification as a gain-of-function phenotype of mutant p53 proteins. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62:3264–70.
- Noll JE, Jeffery J, Al-Ejeh F, Kumar R, Khanna KK, Callen DF, et al. Mutant p53 drives multinucleation and invasion through a process that is suppressed by ANKRD11. Oncogene (2012) 7:2836–48. doi:10.1038/onc.2011.456
- Blandino G, Levine AJ, Oren M. Mutant p53 gain of function: differential effects of different p53 mutants on resistance of cultured cells to chemotherapy. Oncogene (1999) 18:477–85.
- Bristow RG, Peacock J, Jang A, Kim J, Hill RP, Benchimol S. Resistance to DNA-damaging agents is discordant from experimental metastatic capacity in

MEF ras-transformants-expressing gain of function MTp53. Oncogene (2003) 22:2960–6. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1206405

- Scian MJ, Stagliano KE, Anderson MA, Hassan S, Bowman M, Miles MF, et al. Tumor-derived p53 mutants induce NF-kB2 gene expression. *Mol Cell Biol* (2005) 25:10097–110. doi:10.1128/MCB.25.22.10097-10110.2005
- Vikhanskaya F, Siddique MM, Kei Lee M, Broggini M, Sabapathy K. Evaluation of the combined effect of p53 codon 72 polymorphism and hotspot mutations in response to anticancer drugs. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 15:4348–56. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-1547
- 42. Tan BS, Tiong KH, Choo HL, Chung FF-L, Hii LW, Tan SH, et al. Mutant p53-R273H mediates cancer cell survival and anoikis resistance through AKT-dependent suppression of BCL2-modifying factor (BMF). *Cell Death Dis* (2015) 6:1–11. doi:10.1038/cddis.2015.191
- Zhang C, Liu J, Liang Y, Wu R, Zhao Y, Hong X, et al. Tumour-associated mutant p53 drives the Warburg effect. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:2935. doi:10.1038/ncomms3935
- 44. Hsiao M, Low J, Dorn E, Ku D, Pattengale P, Yeargin J, et al. Gain-of-function mutations of the p53 gene induce lymphohematopoietic metastatic potential and tissue invasiveness. *Am J Pathol* (1994) **145**:702–14.
- Adorno M, Cordenonsi M, Montagner M, Dupont S, Wong C, Hann B, et al. A mutant-p53/Smad complex opposes p63 to empower TGFb-induced metastasis. *Cell* (2009) 137:87–98. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.039
- Muller PA, Caswell PT, Doyle B, Iwanicki MP, Tan EH, Karim S, et al. Mutant p53 drives invasion by promoting integrin recycling. *Cell* (2009) 139:1327–41. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.11.026
- Sarig R, Rivlin N, Brosh R, Bornstein C, Kamer I, Ezra O, et al. Mutant p53 facilitates somatic cell reprogramming and augments the malignant potential of reprogrammed cells. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:2127–40. doi:10.1084/ jem.20100797
- Caulin C, Nguyen T, Lang GA, Goepfert TM, Brinkley BR, Cai WW, et al. An inducible mouse model for skin cancer reveals distinct roles for gain- and loss-of-function p53 mutations. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:1893-901. doi:10.1172/JCI31721
- Morton JP, Timpson P, Karim SA, Ridgway RA, Athineos D, Doyle B, et al. Mutant p53 drives metastasis and overcomes growth arrest/senescence in pancreatic cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:246–51. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0908428107
- Heinlein C, Krepulat F, Löhler J, Speidel D, Deppert W, Tolstonog GV. Mutant p53(R270H) gain of function phenotype in a mouse model for oncogene-induced mammary carcinogenesis. *Int J Cancer* (2008) 122:1701–9. doi:10.1002/ ijc.23317
- Duan W, Gao L, Wu X, Hade EM, Gao JX, Ding H, et al. Expression of a mutant p53 results in an age-related demographic shift in spontaneous lung tumor formation in transgenic mice. *PLoS One* (2009) 4:e5563. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0005563
- Hanel W, Marchenko N, Xu S, Yu SX, Weng W, Moll U. Two hot spot mutant p53 mouse models display differential gain of function in tumorigenesis. *Cell Death Differ* (2013) 20:898–909. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.17
- Cooks T, Pateras IS, Tarcic O, Solomon H, Schetter AJ, Wilder S, et al. Mutant p53 prolongs NF-κB activation and promotes chronic inflammation and inflammation-associated colorectal cancer. *Cancer Cell* (2013) 13:634–46. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2013.03.022
- Fontemaggi G, Dell'Orso S, Trisciuoglio D, Shay T, Melucci E, Fazi F, et al. The execution of the transcriptional axis mutant p53, E2F1 and ID4 promotes tumor neo-angiogenesis. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2009) 16:1086–93. doi:10.1038/ nsmb.1669
- Petitjean A, Achatz MI, Borresen-Dale AL, Hainaut P, Olivier M. TP53 mutations in human cancers: functional selection and impact on cancer prognosis and outcomes. *Oncogene* (2007) 26:2157–65. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210302
- Muller PA, Vousden KH. p53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol (2013) 15:2–8. doi:10.1038/ncb2641
- Will K, Warnecke G, Wiesmuller L, Deppert W. Specific interaction of mutant p53 with regions of matrix attachment region DNA elements (MARs) with a high potential for base-unpairing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95:13681-6.
- Haupt S, di Agostino S, Mizrahi I, Alsheich-Bartok O, Voorhoeve M, Damalas A, et al. Promyelocytic leukemia protein is required for gain of function by mutant p53. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:4818–26. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-08-4010

- Girardini JE, Napoli M, Piazza S, Rustighi A, Marotta C, Radaelli E, et al. A Pin1/mutant p53 axis promotes aggressiveness in breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* (2011) 20:79–91. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.06.004
- Chicas A, Molina P, Bargonetti J. Mutant p53 forms a complex with Sp1 on HIV-LTR DNA. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2000) 279:383–90. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2000.3965
- Di Agostino S, Strano S, Emiliozzi V, Zerbini V, Mottolese M, Sacchi A, et al. Gain of function of mutant p53: the mutant p53/NF-Y protein complex reveals an aberrant transcriptional mechanism of cell cycle regulation. *Cancer Cell* (2006) 10:191–202. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2006.08.013
- Stambolsky P, Tabach Y, Fontemaggi G, Weisz L, Maor-Aloni R, Siegfried Z, et al. Modulation of the vitamin D3 response by cancer-associated mutant p53. *Cancer Cell* (2010) 17:273–85. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.11.025
- Freed-Pastor WA, Mizuno H, Zhao X, Langerod A, Moon SH, Rodriguez-Barrueco R, et al. Mutant p53 disrupts mammary tissue architecture via the mevalonate pathway. *Cell* (2012) 148:244–58. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.12.017

- Li Y, Prives C. Are interactions with p63 and p73 involved in mutant p53 gain of oncogenic function? Oncogene (2007) 26:2220–5. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210311
- Song H, Hollstein M, Xu Y. p53 gain-of-function cancer mutants induce genetic instability by inactivating ATM. Nat Cell Biol (2007) 9:573–80. doi:10.1038/ncb1571

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Sabapathy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Regulation of Mutant p53 Protein Expression

Reshma Vijayakumaran¹, Kah Hin Tan¹, Panimaya Jeffreena Miranda¹, Sue Haupt¹ and Ygal Haupt^{1,2,3*}

¹ Tumour Suppression Laboratory, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ² Sir Peter MacCallum Department of Oncology and Department of Pathology, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ³ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Monash University, Clayton, VIC, Australia

For several decades, p53 has been detected in cancer biopsies by virtue of its high protein expression level which is considered indicative of mutation. Surprisingly, however, mouse genetic studies revealed that mutant p53 is inherently labile, similar to its wild type (wt) counterpart. Consistently, in response to stress conditions, both wt and mutant p53 accumulate in cells. While wt p53 returns to basal level following recovery from stress, mutant p53 remains stable. In part, this can be explained in mutant p53-expressing cells by the lack of an auto-regulatory loop with Mdm2 and other negative regulators, which are pivotal for wt p53 regulation. Further, additional protective mechanisms are acquired by mutant p53, largely mediated by the co-chaperones and their paralogs, the stress-induced heat shock proteins. Consequently, mutant p53 is accumulated in cancer cells in response to chronic stress and this accumulation is critical for its oncogenic gain of functions (GOF). Building on the extensive knowledge regarding wt p53, the regulation of mutant p53 is unraveling. In this review, we describe the current understanding on the major levels at which mutant p53 is regulated. These include the regulation of p53 protein levels by microRNA and by enzymes controlling p53 proteasomal degradation.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ala-Eddin Al Moustafa, Qatar University, Qatar; McGill University and Concordia Universities, Canada

Reviewed by:

Parvin Mehdipour, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Iran Andrew M. Chan, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong

***Correspondence:** Ygal Haupt

ygal.haupt@petermac.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 30 October 2015 Accepted: 02 December 2015 Published: 17 December 2015

Citation:

Vijayakumaran R, Tan KH, Miranda PJ, Haupt S and Haupt Y (2015) Regulation of Mutant p53 Protein Expression. Front. Oncol. 5:284. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00284 Keywords: mutant p53, Mdm2, miRNA, proteasomal degradation, cancer

INTRODUCTION

Wild type (wt) p53 is a tumor suppressor, which plays a key role in the cellular stress response. Abrogating p53 function is a key event in human cancer, leading to deregulated cell cycle, genomic instability, resistance to stress signals, and ultimately leading to cancer development (1, 2). Dysfunction of p53 occurs in half the cases of cancers by direct mutations in the gene, whereas in the remainder, p53 becomes dysfunctional through a variety of regulatory breakdowns. Mutant p53 fails to emulate the transcriptional program executed by wt p53 to provide a robust response to stress.

Most p53 mutations are missense (hotspot mutations – R175, G245, R248, R249, R273, R282) and occur at its DNA-binding domain, which accounts for the improper DNA engagement and disruption of transcriptional activity. P53 mutants also gain new oncogenic functions including resistance to chemotherapies, enhanced cell growth, metabolism, and invasion [reviewed in Ref. (3, 4)].

Surprisingly, mutant p53, like its wt counterpart, is inherently labile (5–7). Sustained degradation of wt p53 in healthy cells protects them against potent cell growth inhibition, while stress provokes p53 accumulation and activation (8). Similarly, mutant p53 accumulates in response to stress (7).

Thus, both wt and mutant p53 need to accumulate in order to execute their respective functions: wt p53 suppresses cancer while mutant p53 promotes cancer through its GOFs. It is therefore of great clinical importance to understand how wt and mutant p53 are regulated if we are to tailor treatments according to p53 status. That is, either reactivating wt p53 expression and function or counteracting mutant p53. In this review, we will outline the major levels at which mutant p53 is regulated and discuss the major players. As most of the regulation appears to occur post-transcriptionally [reviewed in Ref. (9)], this will form the major focus of this review.

REGULATION OF MUTANT p53 BY microRNA

MicroRNAs (miRNA) are the best-characterized members of the non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) family. Typically these are 18–24 nucleotide (nt) RNA molecules that are not translated into proteins, and target messenger RNA (mRNA) species, through engagement of as few as six complementary nucleotides (10). Canonically, mature miRNAs bind mRNA 3'-untranslatedregions (3'-UTRs) and promote either target degradation or translational inhibition. Through engagement of coding regions (11), 5'-UTR (12), and open reading frames (ORF) (13), miRNAs can also regulate translation. The targeting flexibility of miRNAs allows them to affect multiple targets that are pertinent to both tumor suppression and oncogenesis: gene expression, protein regulation, homeostasis, and diseases.

The expression of both wt and mutant p53 are subject to miRNA regulation directly. MiRNAs targeting *p53* mRNA are incapable of discriminating between its wt and mutant mRNAs, unless an miRNA directly targets a mutated site. MiR-125b was the first miRNA demonstrated to bind *p53* 3'-UTR mRNA causing down-regulation of p53 protein and a consequent reduction in its activity, in human neuroblastoma cells and primary human lung fibroblasts (14). Additional p53-directed miRNAs have been identified both experimentally and from *in silico* analyses (**Figure 1**).

MicroRNAs also regulate p53 protein stability indirectly, by targeting its key regulators. For instance, the E3 ubiquitin ligase Mdm2, which is the major negative regulator of p53 [reviewed in Ref. (8, 15)] is extensively targeted by miRNAs for degradation. As a consequence of Mdm2 targeting, p53 (wt or mutant) is released from Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation (**Figure 1**). Mdm4 (also known as MdmX), which is an Mdm2-related protein, is another key inhibitor of p53 transcriptional activity (16, 17) and is also targeted by miRNAs (**Figure 1**). Although miRNAs predominantly degrade mRNAs, an exceptional instance is miR-885-3p, which engages the 5'-UTR of Mdm4 mRNA and elevates Mdm4 protein levels (12).

Apart from Mdm2 and Mdm4, miRNAs also stabilize p53 through other regulatory pathways (**Figure 1**). MiR-29 activates p53 by targeting p85-alpha and CDC42 (18), miR-449 targets SIRT1 and HDAC1 (19), and miR-32 targets TSC1 and activates mTOR in human glioblastoma multiforme (20), all of which lead to the stabilization of p53. Recent study by Wang et al. demonstrated

that miR 542-3p directly targets RPS23, resulting in subsequent RPL11 up-regulation, inhibiting Mdm2 and ultimately reducing proteasomal degradation of p53 (21).

Significantly for cancer, interaction of miRNAs with wt and mutant p53 is not unidirectional, and expression levels and biogenesis of miRNAs are affected by p53. Suzuki et al. demonstrated that wt p53 enhances post-transcriptional maturation of miR-16-1, miR-143, and miR-145 in response to DNA damage, while mutant p53 attenuates miRNA processing (22). Muller et al. further demonstrated that mutant p53 modulates miRNA processing, through direct inhibition of TAp63-mediated transcriptional activation of Dicer, and also through a TAp63independent manner (23). Apart from global modulation of miRNA biogenesis, mutant p53 also affects expression of miRNAs, principally by downregulating tumor-suppressive miRNAs - miR-130b in endometrial cancer (24), miR-27a in breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-468) (25), miR-223 in breast and colon cells (26), let-7i in breast cancer and DLD1 cells (colorectal cancer) (27), and miR-205 (28), and elevating oncogenic miR-NAs: miR-128-2 (29) and miR-155 in breast cancer cells (30) to mediate its oncogenic functions.

These studies collectively suggest that intertwined regulation of miRNAs, wt, and mutant p53 is vital to cancer. Given the importance of ncRNA in the regulation of wt and mutant p53, ncRNA represents feasible therapeutic targets for the development of new approach targeting mutant p53 in cancer.

REGULATION OF MUTANT p53 PROTEIN STABILITY

Overall, wt p53 is predominantly regulated at the protein stability level, under normal and stress conditions. Extensive study has defined that p53 stability is dictated by a variety of stabilizing post-translational modifications (PTM), while its degradation is largely the consequence of ubiquitination, executed by several E3 ligases [reviewed in Ref. (31, 32)]. Despite a drastic difference between the stability of mutant versus wt p53 in cancer cells, the majority of the regulatory pathways of p53 are shared between wt and mutant p53. However, a number of key differences promote the chronic stabilization and activation of mutant p53, which drive its oncogenic GOF. Understanding the regulation of mutant p53 has direct clinical implications. In this section, we will cover the major levels of mutant p53.

REGULATION OF MUTANT p53 DEGRADATION

p53 stability is tightly controlled by ubiquitin E3 ligases, which together with the enzymatic activities of E1 and E2, and in certain cases also E4 ligases coordinate the efficient degradation of proteins through the 26S proteasome machinery (33). The temporal and spatial modulation of the degradation of p53 is achieved by PTMs described below. In this section, we will outline the major E3 ligases that have been shown to control mutant p53 stability. A paradigm shift in our understanding of mutant p53 stability



was demonstrated in the studies of mutant p53 knock-in mice (5, 34). These papers showed for the first time that mutant p53 is inherently labile *in vivo*.

In the case of wt p53, the key physiological E3 ligase is Mdm2, which maintains p53 at low levels under basal conditions, and during recovery from stress (35, 36). Similarly, Mdm2 maintains the low basal levels of mutant p53 in vivo (7). In contrast to wt p53, mutant p53 does not form a feedback loop with Mdm2, as it is incapable of inducing Mdm2 transcription (37). Therefore, following stress-induced stabilization of wt and mutant p53, only wt p53 recovers to basal levels under the influence of Mdm2 (Figure 2). This can be corrected by enforced expression of Mdm2, which is able to efficiently degrade of mutant p53 (35). Mdm2 interacts with multiple domains of p53, which allows it to bind even to conformational p53 mutants, which are missense p53 mutations that either locally or globally disrupt the structure of p53, as distinct from "DNA contact mutants" (38, 39). The overall efficiency of mutant p53 ubiquitination, however, is reduced compared with that of wt p53 (40). The ubiquitination of mutant p53 is also enhanced by the activity of other E3 ligases: CHIP and Cop1 (40). Although ubiquitination of p53 by Mdm2 is enhanced by ubiquitin-interacting protein, hHR23a, the

consequent ubiquitinated p53 accumulates but is not degraded (41). In a series of key *in vivo* studies, Terzian et al. (7) and Suh et al. (20) demonstrated that stress conditions (including oxidative stress, DNA damage) and oncogenic stress (such as the loss of p16) promote stabilization of mutant p53 and contribute to tumorigenesis. Subsequent studies have shown that multiple oncogenic effects can stabilize mutant p53 *in vivo* and drive its oncogenic functions. Interestingly, at least in the case of PML loss, the impact on mutant p53 GOF is gender-specific (42).

Degradation of mutant p53 has also been described to occur via alternative forms of autophagy. The first is: "Macroautophagy," which is triggered in response to starvation to recycle cellular contents through the lysosomes. A specific form of starvation is glucose restriction, which increases mutant p53 deacetylation, and sends it to degrade through the autophagic machinery. This degradation is Mdm2-dependent (43), but does not involve the proteasome (43, 44). A second form is: selective "chaperone-mediated autophagy" (CMA), in which specific cytosolic proteins are engaged by heat shock proteins (HSPs) and targeted to lysosomes. CMA is a normal cellular process that becomes more active in response to nutrient deprivation (43–46). Although mechanisms like autophagy seem to be less



specific than proteasomal degradation, it has been observed that ubiquitinated proteins are targeted for lysosomal degradation and could play a major role in regulating mutant p53 (47).

CHIP is a chaperone-dependent E3 ligase able to ubiquitinate misfolded proteins, a process which is assisted by the Hsp70/90 chaperone machinery. Hsp90-bound substrates are protected from ubiquitination, whereas Hsp70-bound substrates are ubiquitinated by CHIP (48). Interestingly, Hsp70 is found to partially inhibit Mdm2-mediated degradation of mutant p53. This apparent discrepancy in Hsp70 activity with respect to the two E3 ligases is not completely understood. In contrast, Hsp90 protects mutant p53 from both CHIP and Mdm2-mediated degradation (49, 50). This is because mutant p53, unlike wt p53, forms a stable complex with Hsp90 (51, 52). Inhibition of Hsp90 by 17AAG or siRNA against HSF1 (a major transcription factor for Hsp) enhances the ubiquitination and degradation of mutant p53 (Figure 2) (53, 54). Indeed, it was observed that inhibition of Hsp90 reduced the viability of mutant p53-expressing cancer cells of breast (MBA-MB-468, MDA-MB-231, T47D), prostate (DU145), and colon (SW480) (49). Similarly, inhibition of HDAC6, a positive regulator of Hsp90, destabilizes mutant p53 and is preferentially toxic to mutant p53-expressing cancer cell

lines (54, 55). Hsp90 directly, or indirectly via its transcriptional activator HSF1, is upregulated in many cancer types, which may contribute to mutant p53 stabilization (56). Mutant p53 exists in a positive forward loop with HSF1. Mutant p53 enhances HSF1 recruitment to DNA, thereby increasing the levels of HSPs, which further stabilize mutant p53 (57, 58). Indeed, treatment with Hsp90 inhibitor, 17DMAG (a derivative of 17AAG), can greatly reduce lymphoma formation and is known to improve survival in mice with mutant p53 (59). Lastly, RING domain containing E3 ligase, Pirh2, which directly ubiquitinates wt p53 (60), also interacts with and promotes the ubiquitination of mutant p53 (61, 62). Since Pirh2 is a p53 target gene, this negative feedback regulatory loop is interrupted by mutations in p53 (60). Treatment of mutant p53-expressing cells with Arsenic trioxide can induce Pirh2-mediated proteasomal degradation of mutant p53 (Figure 2) (62). The role of other E3 ligases, including ARF-BP1, which regulate wt p53, have been shown not to regulate mutant p53 [(40) and reviewed in Ref. (8)].

Countering the E3 ligases are the deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs), which cleave ubiquitin from proteins. Unlike E3 ligases, the role of DUBs in controlling mutant p53 stability is poorly explored. USP10 deubiquitinates and stabilizes both

wt and mutant p53 (63). Inhibition of USP10 by the protein spautin-1 reduces mutant p53 levels under glucose-restricted conditions (46). The USP7 DUB has a complex interplay with both wt p53 and Mdm2, and it deubiquitinates the p53 activator, Tip60 (64). To date, no correlation between USP7 and p53 status has been identified in cancers (65, 66). In wt p53-expressing cell lines, inhibition of USP7 stabilizes p53 and promotes apoptosis. But in at least one mutant p53-expressing cell line, the inhibitor had no effect (67). ABRO1 is able to deubiquitinate wt p53 and stabilize it by facilitating its interaction with USP7. However, there is no information pertaining to its ability to deubiquitinate mutant p53. Overexpression of ABRO1 in HT29 (colorectal adenocarcinoma) and BT474 (breast cancer) cells (both expressing mutant p53) results in increased cell growth, which can be correlated with mutant p53 stability (68). Another DUB, UCHL1, stabilizes wt and mutant p53 levels in breast cancer cell lines and affects cell viability by a mechanism remaining to be explored (69). USP29 can also deubiquitinate p53 in response to oxidative stress (70).

Although much of the focus in the field has been devoted to the 26S-mediated proteasomal degradation of p53 during poststress recovery, the 20S proteasome has been identified as the destination of unmodified p53 that is inherently unstable, unless protected by the NADH quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1). Specifically, inhibition of NQO1 (for example by dicoumarol) promotes p53 degradation through the 20S proteasome in an Mdm2-independent manner. Interestingly, mutant p53 interacts strongly with NQO1, rendering it resistant to NQO1 inhibitors [reviewed in Ref. (71)]. Pertinently, NQO1 is elevated in many cancers, which may contribute to stabilization of mutant p53 in these cases [reviewed in Ref. (72)].

Free ribosomal proteins are known to regulate the Mdm2/ MdmX-p53 axis and activate wt p53, thereby inhibiting tumor proliferation [reviewed in Ref. (73)]. For example, RPS27 is repressed by wt but not mutant p53, and increased expression of RPS27 stabilizes mutant p53 protein, thereby forming a feed forward loop in cancer (74). On the other hand, RPL26 not only binds to the 5'-UTR of p53 mRNA and enhances translation but also interacts with Mdm2 and protects p53 from degradation (75, 76).

POST-TRANSLATIONAL MODIFICATIONS OF MUTANT p53

The regulation of wt p53 degradation is modulated by PTMs. Wt p53 is extensively modified post-translationally in response to stress conditions, which lead to the stabilization and/or activation of p53 [reviewed in Ref. (31)]. Critically, in most of the tested cases, the PTMs of p53 are non-discriminatory between wt and mutant proteins (7, 31, 77). Some of these modifications contribute to mutant p53 stability by shielding it from degradation by Mdm2 (**Figure 2**). Specifically, phosphorylation of p53 on serine 20 and threonine 18 in response to DNA damage protects it from Mdm2 and leads to its activation and stabilization (77–79). These phosphorylations are also induced on mutant p53 in response to

stress (49, 77). Mutant p53 also escapes from Mdm2 by constitutive phosphorylation by ERK (80). Similarly, activation of SIRT1, which deacetylates mutant p53, can reduce mutant p53 levels in triple-negative breast cancer cell lines, revealing the role of acetylation in stability of the mutant protein (81, 82).

In addition to mutant p53 itself, modifications of Mdm2/ MdmX contribute to the protection of mutant p53 from these key inhibitors. In response to DNA damage, Mdm2 is phosphorylated by ATM and c-Abl, which compromises the ability of Mdm2 to degrade p53 (83, 84). ATM-mediated phosphorylation contributes also through the impaired oligomerization of Mdm2 (85). Similarly, MdmX, the key inhibitor of p53 is phosphorylated by ATM and c-Abl, which impairs its capacity to inhibit p53 (86, 87). To what extent these key phosphorylations affect mutant p53 is yet to be demonstrated. The indiscriminate modifications of wt versus mutant p53 in response to stress can contribute to mutant p53 accumulation and activation.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

While wt and mutant p53 have distinct and opposing effects on cancer cells, many aspects of their regulation are shared. The majority of the positive and negative regulators of wt p53 that have been tested have a similar regulatory effect on mutant p53. Critically, however, the tightly controlled myriad of positive and negative auto-regulatory loops, which govern wt p53 levels, is uncoupled in the context of mutant p53. In addition, mutant p53 is recognized as a misfolded protein by the heat shock protein chaperons. Together, these contribute to the protection of mutant p53 from the well-coordinated recovery from stress conditions. This results in the chronic accumulation of active mutant p53, which exerts its gain of functions. It is therefore of prime importance to screen patients for p53 mutations prior to treatments, which are known to activate and stabilize p53. The identification of mechanisms that protect mutant p53, as shown by the chaperon HSP proteins, identifies novel approaches to expose mutant p53 to its negative regulators and drive its destruction. Future studies identifying the unique protectors of mutant p53 are a rational approach to define novel approaches to target mutant p53 in cancer cells.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RV contributed to writing and editing the paper and prepared a figure. KT contributed to writing and prepared a figure. PJM contributed to writing. SH and YH contributed to writing and editing the paper.

FUNDING

The work in the authors' lab is supported by NHMRC project grants (1049179 and 1063389), NHMRC Fellowship to YH (9628426), and by a grant from CCV (1085154), by the Victoria India Doctoral Scholarship to RV, and a CTx PhD Top Up Scholarship to KT.

REFERENCES

- Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ. Surfing the p53 network. Nature (2000) 408(6810):307-10. doi:10.1038/35042675
- Petitjean A, Mathe E, Kato S, Ishioka C, Tavtigian SV, Hainaut P, et al. Impact of mutant p53 functional properties on TP53 mutation patterns and tumor phenotype: lessons from recent developments in the IARC TP53 database. *Hum Mutat* (2007) 28(6):622–9. doi:10.1002/humu.20495
- Freed-Pastor WA, Prives C. Mutant p53: one name, many proteins. *Genes Dev* (2012) 26(12):1268–86. doi:10.1101/gad.190678.112
- Muller PA, Vousden KH. Mutant p53 in cancer: new functions and therapeutic opportunities. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 25(3):304–17. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2014.01.021
- Lang GA, Iwakuma T, Suh YA, Liu G, Rao VA, Parant JM, et al. Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Cell* (2004) 119(6):861–72. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.11.006
- Olivier M, Goldgar DE, Sodha N, Ohgaki H, Kleihues P, Hainaut P, et al. Li-Fraumeni and related syndromes: correlation between tumor type, family structure, and TP53 genotype. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(20):6643–50.
- Terzian T, Suh Y-A, Iwakuma T, Post SM, Neumann M, Lang GA, et al. The inherent instability of mutant p53 is alleviated by Mdm2 or p16INK4a loss. *Genes Dev* (2008) 22(10):1337–44. doi:10.1101/gad.1662908
- Hock AK, Vousden KH. The role of ubiquitin modification in the regulation of p53. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1843(1):137–49. doi:10.1016/j. bbamcr.2013.05.022
- Saldana-Meyer R, Recillas-Targa F. Transcriptional and epigenetic regulation of the p53 tumor suppressor gene. *Epigenetics* (2011) 6(9):1068–77. doi:10.4161/epi.6.9.16683
- Ellwanger DC, Buttner FA, Mewes HW, Stumpflen V. The sufficient minimal set of miRNA seed types. *Bioinformatics* (2011) 27(10):1346–50. doi:10.1093/ bioinformatics/btr149
- Xie C, Chen W, Zhang M, Cai Q, Xu W, Li X, et al. MDM4 regulation by the let-7 miRNA family in the DNA damage response of glioma cells. *FEBS Lett* (2015) 589(15):1958–65. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2015.05.030
- Huang Y, Chuang AY, Ratovitski EA. Phospho-DeltaNp63alpha/miR-885-3p axis in tumor cell life and cell death upon cisplatin exposure. *Cell Cycle* (2011) 10(22):3938–47. doi:10.4161/cc.10.22.18107
- Mandke P, Wyatt N, Fraser J, Bates B, Berberich SJ, Markey MP. MicroRNA-34a modulates MDM4 expression via a target site in the open reading frame. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(8):e42034. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0042034
- Le MT, Teh C, Shyh-Chang N, Xie H, Zhou B, Korzh V, et al. MicroRNA-125b is a novel negative regulator of p53. *Genes Dev* (2009) 23(7):862–76. doi:10.1101/gad.1767609
- Hoffman Y, Pilpel Y, Oren M. microRNAs and Alu elements in the p53-Mdm2-Mdm4 regulatory network. J Mol Cell Biol (2014) 6(3):192–7. doi:10.1093/ jmcb/mju020
- Shvarts A, Steegenga WT, Riteco N, van Laar T, Dekker P, Bazuine M, et al. MDMX: a novel p53-binding protein with some functional properties of MDM2. *EMBO J* (1996) 15(19):5349–57.
- Shvarts A, Bazuine M, Dekker P, Ramos YF, Steegenga WT, Merckx G, et al. Isolation and identification of the human homolog of a new p53-binding protein, Mdmx. *Genomics* (1997) 43(1):34–42. doi:10.1006/geno.1997.4775
- Park SY, Lee JH, Ha M, Nam JW, Kim VN. miR-29 miRNAs activate p53 by targeting p85 alpha and CDC42. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2009) 16(1):23–9. doi:10.1038/nsmb.1533
- Bou Kheir T, Futoma-Kazmierczak E, Jacobsen A, Krogh A, Bardram L, Hother C, et al. miR-449 inhibits cell proliferation and is down-regulated in gastric cancer. *Mol Cancer* (2011) 10:29. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-10-29
- Suh SS, Yoo JY, Nuovo GJ, Jeon YJ, Kim S, Lee TJ, et al. MicroRNAs/TP53 feedback circuitry in glioblastoma multiforme. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2012) 109(14):5316–21. doi:10.1073/pnas.1202465109
- Wang Y, Huang JW, Castella M, Huntsman DG, Taniguchi T. p53 is positively regulated by miR-542-3p. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74(12):3218–27. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1706
- Suzuki HI, Yamagata K, Sugimoto K, Iwamoto T, Kato S, Miyazono K. Modulation of microRNA processing by p53. *Nature* (2009) 460(7254): 529–33. doi:10.1038/nature08199
- 23. Muller PA, Trinidad AG, Caswell PT, Norman JC, Vousden KH. Mutant p53 regulates dicer through p63-dependent and -independent mechanisms

to promote an invasive phenotype. J Biol Chem (2014) **289**(1):122–32. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.502138

- Dong P, Karaayvaz M, Jia N, Kaneuchi M, Hamada J, Watari H, et al. Mutant p53 gain-of-function induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition through modulation of the miR-130b-ZEB1 axis. *Oncogene* (2013) 32(27):3286–95. doi:10.1038/onc.2012.334
- Wang W, Cheng B, Miao L, Mei Y, Wu M. Mutant p53-R273H gains new function in sustained activation of EGFR signaling via suppressing miR-27a expression. *Cell Death Dis* (2013) 4:e574. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.97
- Masciarelli S, Fontemaggi G, Di Agostino S, Donzelli S, Carcarino E, Strano S, et al. Gain-of-function mutant p53 downregulates miR-223 contributing to chemoresistance of cultured tumor cells. *Oncogene* (2014) 33(12):1601–8. doi:10.1038/onc.2013.106
- 27. Subramanian M, Francis P, Bilke S, Li XL, Hara T, Lu X, et al. A mutant p53/let-7i-axis-regulated gene network drives cell migration, invasion and metastasis. *Oncogene* (2015) **34**(9):1094–104. doi:10.1038/onc.2014.46
- Tucci P, Agostini M, Grespi F, Markert EK, Terrinoni A, Vousden KH, et al. Loss of p63 and its microRNA-205 target results in enhanced cell migration and metastasis in prostate cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(38):15312–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1110977109
- Donzelli S, Fontemaggi G, Fazi F, Di Agostino S, Padula F, Biagioni F, et al. MicroRNA-128-2 targets the transcriptional repressor E2F5 enhancing mutant p53 gain of function. *Cell Death Differ* (2012) 19(6):1038–48. doi:10.1038/ cdd.2011.190
- Neilsen PM, Noll JE, Mattiske S, Bracken CP, Gregory PA, Schulz RB, et al. Mutant p53 drives invasion in breast tumors through up-regulation of miR-155. Oncogene (2013) 32(24):2992–3000. doi:10.1038/onc.2012.305
- Meek DW, Anderson CW. Posttranslational modification of p53: cooperative integrators of function. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2009) 1(6):a000950. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a000950
- Kruse JP, Gu W. Modes of p53 regulation. Cell (2009) 137(4):609–22. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.050
- Hershko A, Ciechanover A. The ubiquitin system. Annu Rev Biochem (1998) 67:425–79. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.67.1.425
- MacPherson D, Kim J, Kim T, Rhee BK, Van Oostrom CT, DiTullio RA, et al. Defective apoptosis and B-cell lymphomas in mice with p53 point mutation at Ser 23. *EMBO J* (2004) 23(18):3689–99. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600363
- Haupt Y, Maya R, Kazaz A, Oren M. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. *Nature* (1997) 387(6630):296–9. doi:10.1038/387296a0
- Kubbutat MH, Jones SN, Vousden KH. Regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. Nature (1997) 387(6630):299–303. doi:10.1038/387299a0
- Midgley CA, Lane DP. p53 protein stability in tumour cells is not determined by mutation but is dependent on Mdm2 binding. Oncogene (1997) 15(10):1179–89. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1201459
- Shimizu H, Burch LR, Smith AJ, Dornan D, Wallace M, Ball KL, et al. The conformationally flexible S9-S10 linker region in the core domain of p53 contains a novel MDM2 binding site whose mutation increases ubiquitination of p53 in vivo. J Biol Chem (2002) 277(32):28446–58. doi:10.1074/jbc.M202296200
- Wallace M, Worrall E, Pettersson S, Hupp TR, Ball KL. Dual-site regulation of MDM2 E3-ubiquitin ligase activity. *Mol Cell* (2006) 23(2):251–63. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2006.05.029
- Lukashchuk N, Vousden KH. Ubiquitination and degradation of mutant p53. Mol Cell Biol (2007) 27(23):8284–95. doi:10.1128/MCB.00050-07
- Brignone C, Bradley KE, Kisselev AF, Grossman SR. A post-ubiquitination role for MDM2 and hHR23A in the p53 degradation pathway. *Oncogene* (2004) 23(23):4121–9. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1207540
- Haupt S, Mitchell C, Corneille V, Shortt J, Fox S, Pandolfi PP, et al. Loss of PML cooperates with mutant p53 to drive more aggressive cancers in a gender-dependent manner. *Cell Cycle* (2013) 12(11):1722–31. doi:10.4161/cc.24805
- Morselli E, Tasdemir E, Maiuri MC, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Criollo A, et al. Mutant p53 protein localized in the cytoplasm inhibits autophagy. *Cell Cycle* (2008) 7(19):3056–61. doi:10.4161/cc.7.19.6751
- Tasdemir E, Chiara Maiuri M, Morselli E, Criollo A, D'Amelio M, Djavaheri-Mergny M, et al. A dual role of p53 in the control of autophagy. *Autophagy* (2008) 4(6):810–4. doi:10.4161/auto.6486
- Yang Z, Klionsky DJ. Mammalian autophagy: core molecular machinery and signaling regulation. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (2010) 22(2):124–31. doi:10.1016/j. ceb.2009.11.014

- Vakifahmetoglu-Norberg H, Kim M, Xia HG, Iwanicki MP, Ofengeim D, Coloff JL, et al. Chaperone-mediated autophagy degrades mutant p53. *Genes Dev* (2013) 27(15):1718–30. doi:10.1101/gad.220897.113
- Glickman MH, Ciechanover A. The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway: destruction for the sake of construction. *Physiol Rev* (2002) 82(2):373–428. doi:10.1152/physrev.00027.2001
- Pratt WB, Morishima Y, Peng HM, Osawa Y. Proposal for a role of the Hsp90/ Hsp70-based chaperone machinery in making triage decisions when proteins undergo oxidative and toxic damage. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* (2010) 235(3):278–89. doi:10.1258/ebm.2009.009250
- Li D, Marchenko ND, Schulz R, Fischer V, Velasco-Hernandez T, Talos F, et al. Functional inactivation of endogenous MDM2 and CHIP by HSP90 causes aberrant stabilization of mutant p53 in human cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Res* (2011) 9(5):577–88. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-10-0534
- Wiech M, Olszewski MB, Tracz-Gaszewska Z, Wawrzynow B, Zylicz M, Zylicz A. Molecular mechanism of mutant p53 stabilization: the role of HSP70 and MDM2. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(12):e51426. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0051426
- Blagosklonny MV, Toretsky J, Bohen S, Neckers L. Mutant conformation of p53 translated in vitro or in vivo requires functional HSP90. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1996) 93(16):8379–83. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.16.8379
- Whitesell L, Sutphin PD, Pulcini EJ, Martinez JD, Cook PH. The physical association of multiple molecular chaperone proteins with mutant p53 is altered by geldanamycin, an hsp90-binding agent. *Mol Cell Biol* (1998) 18(3):1517–24. doi:10.1128/MCB.18.3.1517
- Muller P, Hrstka R, Coomber D, Lane DP, Vojtesek B. Chaperone-dependent stabilization and degradation of p53 mutants. *Oncogene* (2008) 27(24):3371– 83. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1211010
- Li D, Marchenko ND, Moll UM. SAHA shows preferential cytotoxicity in mutant p53 cancer cells by destabilizing mutant p53 through inhibition of the HDAC6-Hsp90 chaperone axis. *Cell Death Differ* (2011) 18(12):1904–13. doi:10.1038/cdd.2011.71
- Kovacs JJ, Murphy PJ, Gaillard S, Zhao X, Wu JT, Nicchitta CV, et al. HDAC6 regulates Hsp90 acetylation and chaperone-dependent activation of glucocorticoid receptor. *Mol Cell* (2005) 18(5):601–7. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2005.04.021
- Calderwood SK, Khaleque MA, Sawyer DB, Ciocca DR. Heat shock proteins in cancer: chaperones of tumorigenesis. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2006) 31(3):164–72. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2006.01.006
- Xiao X, Zuo X, Davis AA, McMillan DR, Curry BB, Richardson JA, et al. HSF1 is required for extra-embryonic development, postnatal growth and protection during inflammatory responses in mice. *EMBO J* (1999) 18(21):5943–52. doi:10.1093/emboj/18.21.5943
- Li D, Yallowitz A, Ozog L, Marchenko N. A gain-of-function mutant p53-HSF1 feed forward circuit governs adaptation of cancer cells to proteotoxic stress. *Cell Death Dis* (2014) 5:e1194. doi:10.1038/cddis.2014.158
- Alexandrova EM, Yallowitz AR, Li D, Xu S, Schulz R, Proia DA, et al. Improving survival by exploiting tumour dependence on stabilized mutant p53 for treatment. *Nature* (2015) 523(7560):352–6. doi:10.1038/ nature14430
- Leng RP, Lin Y, Ma W, Wu H, Lemmers B, Chung S, et al. Pirh2, a p53-induced ubiquitin-protein ligase, promotes p53 degradation. *Cell* (2003) 112(6):779– 91. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00193-4
- Sheng Y, Laister RC, Lemak A, Wu B, Tai E, Duan S, et al. Molecular basis of Pirh2-mediated p53 ubiquitylation. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2008) 15(12):1334– 42. doi:10.1038/nsmb.1521
- Yan W, Jung YS, Zhang Y, Chen X. Arsenic trioxide reactivates proteasome-dependent degradation of mutant p53 protein in cancer cells in part via enhanced expression of Pirh2 E3 ligase. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(8):e103497. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0103497
- Yuan J, Luo K, Zhang L, Cheville JC, Lou Z. USP10 regulates p53 localization and stability by deubiquitinating p53. *Cell* (2010) 140(3):384–96. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2009.12.032
- Dar A, Shibata E, Dutta A. Deubiquitination of Tip60 by USP7 determines the activity of the p53-dependent apoptotic pathway. *Mol Cell Biol* (2013) 33(16):3309–20. doi:10.1128/MCB.00358-13
- Masuya D, Huang C, Liu D, Nakashima T, Yokomise H, Ueno M, et al. The HAUSP gene plays an important role in non-small cell lung carcinogenesis through p53-dependent pathways. *J Pathol* (2006) 208(5):724–32. doi:10.1002/ path.1931

- Mori S, Ito G, Usami N, Yoshioka H, Ueda Y, Kodama Y, et al. p53 apoptotic pathway molecules are frequently and simultaneously altered in nonsmall cell lung carcinoma. *Cancer* (2004) 100(8):1673–82. doi:10.1002/cncr.20164
- Fan YH, Cheng J, Vasudevan SA, Dou J, Zhang H, Patel RH, et al. USP7 inhibitor P22077 inhibits neuroblastoma growth via inducing p53-mediated apoptosis. *Cell Death Dis* (2013) 4:e867. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.400
- Zhang J, Cao M, Dong J, Li C, Xu W, Zhan Y, et al. ABRO1 suppresses tumourigenesis and regulates the DNA damage response by stabilizing p53. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:5059. doi:10.1038/ncomms6059
- 69. Xiang T, Li L, Yin X, Yuan C, Tan C, Su X, et al. The ubiquitin peptidase UCHL1 induces G0/G1 cell cycle arrest and apoptosis through stabilizing p53 and is frequently silenced in breast cancer. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(1):e29783. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0029783
- Liu J, Chung HJ, Vogt M, Jin Y, Malide D, He L, et al. JTV1 co-activates FBP to induce USP29 transcription and stabilize p53 in response to oxidative stress. *EMBO J* (2011) 30(5):846–58. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.11
- Tsvetkov P, Reuven N, Shaul Y. Ubiquitin-independent p53 proteasomal degradation. Cell Death Differ (2010) 17(1):103–8. doi:10.1038/cdd.2009.67
- Belinsky M, Jaiswal AK. NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase1 (DT-diaphorase) expression in normal and tumor tissues. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* (1993) 12(2):103–17. doi:10.1007/BF00689804
- Zhou X, Liao WJ, Liao JM, Liao P, Lu H. Ribosomal proteins: functions beyond the ribosome. J Mol Cell Biol (2015) 7(2):92–104. doi:10.1093/jmcb/mjv014
- Xiong X, Zhao Y, He H, Sun Y. Ribosomal protein S27-like and S27 interplay with p53-MDM2 axis as a target, a substrate and a regulator. *Oncogene* (2011) 30(15):1798-811. doi:10.1038/onc.2010.569
- Takagi M, Absalon MJ, McLure KG, Kastan MB. Regulation of p53 translation and induction after DNA damage by ribosomal protein L26 and nucleolin. *Cell* (2005) 123(1):49–63. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.07.034
- Zhang Y, Wang J, Yuan Y, Zhang W, Guan W, Wu Z, et al. Negative regulation of HDM2 to attenuate p53 degradation by ribosomal protein L26. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2010) 38(19):6544–54. doi:10.1093/nar/gkq536
- Alsheich-Bartok O, Haupt S, Alkalay-Snir I, Saito S, Appella E, Haupt Y. PML enhances the regulation of p53 by CK1 in response to DNA damage. *Oncogene* (2008) 27(26):3653–61. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1211036
- Unger T, Juven-Gershon T, Moallem E, Berger M, Sionov RV, Lozano G. Critical role for Ser20 of human p53 in the negative regulation of p53 by Mdm2. *EMBO J* (1999) 18(7):1805–14. doi:10.1093/emboj/18.7.1805
- Chehab NH, Malikzay A, Stavridi ES, Halazonetis TD. Phosphorylation of Ser-20 mediates stabilization of human p53 in response to DNA damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96(24):13777–82. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.24.13777
- Melnikova VO, Santamaria AB, Bolshakov SV, Ananthaswamy HN. Mutant p53 is constitutively phosphorylated at serine 15 in UV-induced mouse skin tumors: involvement of ERK1/2 MAP kinase. *Oncogene* (2003) 22(38): 5958–66. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1206595
- Yi YW, Kang HJ, Kim HJ, Kong Y, Brown ML, Bae I. Targeting mutant p53 by a SIRT1 activator YK-3-237 inhibits the proliferation of triple-negative breast cancer cells. *Oncotarget* (2013) 4(7):984–94. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.1070
- Zhang ZY, Hong D, Nam SH, Kim JM, Paik YH, Joh JW, et al. SIRT1 regulates oncogenesis via a mutant p53-dependent pathway in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol (2015) 62(1):121–30. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2014.08.007
- Khosravi R, Maya R, Gottlieb T, Oren M, Shiloh Y, Shkedy D. Rapid ATM-dependent phosphorylation of MDM2 precedes p53 accumulation in response to DNA damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96(26):14973–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.26.14973
- Goldberg Z, Sionov RV, Berger M, Zwang Y, Perets R, Van Etten RA, et al. Tyrosine phosphorylation of Mdm2 by c-Abl: implications for p53 regulation. *EMBO J* (2002) 21(14):3715–27. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdf384
- Cheng Q, Chen L, Li Z, Lane WS, Chen J. ATM activates p53 by regulating MDM2 oligomerization and E3 processivity. *EMBO J* (2009) 28(24):3857–67. doi:10.1038/emboj.2009.294
- Pereg Y, Shkedy D, de Graaf P, Meulmeester E, Edelson-Averbukh M, Salek M, et al. Phosphorylation of Hdmx mediates its Hdm2-and ATM-dependent degradation in response to DNA damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) 102(14):5056–61. doi:10.1073/pnas.0408595102
- Zuckerman V, Lenos K, Popowicz GM, Silberman I, Grossman T, Marine J-C, et al. c-Abl phosphorylates Hdmx and regulates its interaction with p53. *J Biol Chem* (2009) 284(6):4031–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M809211200

- Deng Q, Becker L, Ma X, Zhong X, Young K, Ramos K, et al. The dichotomy of p53 regulation by noncoding RNAs. J Mol Cell Biol (2014) 6(3):198–205. doi:10.1093/jmcb/mju017
- Zhang S, Zhang C, Li Y, Wang P, Yue Z, Xie S. miR-98 regulates cisplatin-induced A549 cell death by inhibiting TP53 pathway. *Biomed Pharmacother* (2011) 65(6):436–42. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2011.04.010
- Fan Y, Yin S, Hao Y, Yang J, Zhang H, Sun C, et al. miR-19b promotes tumor growth and metastasis via targeting TP53. *RNA* (2014) 20(6):765–72. doi:10.1261/rna.043026.113
- Tay Y, Tan SM, Karreth FA, Lieberman J, Pandolfi PP. Characterization of dual PTEN and p53-targeting microRNAs identifies microRNA-638/Dnm2 as a two-hit oncogenic locus. *Cell Rep* (2014) 8(3):714–22. doi:10.1016/j. celrep.2014.06.064
- Zhang C, Liu J, Wang X, Wu R, Lin M, Laddha SV, et al. MicroRNA-339-5p inhibits colorectal tumorigenesis through regulation of the MDM2/p53 signaling. Oncotarget (2014) 5(19):9106–17. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2379
- Jansson MD, Damas ND, Lees M, Jacobsen A, Lund AH. miR-339-5p regulates the p53 tumor-suppressor pathway by targeting MDM2. Oncogene (2015) 34(15):1908–18. doi:10.1038/onc.2014.130
- 94. Fortunato O, Boeri M, Moro M, Verri C, Mensah M, Conte D, et al. Mir-660 is downregulated in lung cancer patients and its replacement inhibits lung

tumorigenesis by targeting MDM2-p53 interaction. Cell Death Dis (2014) 5:e1564. doi:10.1038/cddis.2014.507

- Ren ZJ, Nong XY, Lv YR, Sun HH, An PP, Wang F, et al. Mir-509-5p joins the Mdm2/p53 feedback loop and regulates cancer cell growth. *Cell Death Dis* (2014) 5:e1387. doi:10.1038/cddis.2014.327
- Stegeman S, Moya L, Selth LA, Spurdle AB, Clements JA, Batra J. A genetic variant of MDM4 influences regulation by multiple microRNAs in prostate cancer. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2015) 22(2):265–76. doi:10.1530/ ERC-15-0013

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Vijayakumaran, Tan, Miranda, Haupt and Haupt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Alterations in Mitochondrial and Endoplasmic Reticulum Signaling by p53 Mutants

Carlotta Giorgi¹, Massimo Bonora¹, Sonia Missiroli¹, Claudia Morganti¹, Giampaolo Morciano¹, Mariusz R. Wieckowski² and Paolo Pinton^{1*}

¹ Section of Pathology, Oncology and Experimental Biology, Laboratory for Technologies of Advanced Therapies (LTTA), Department of Morphology, Surgery and Experimental Medicine, University of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy, ²Department of Biochemistry, Nencki Institute of Experimental Biology, Warsaw, Poland

The p53 protein is probably the most important tumor suppressor, acting as a nuclear transcription factor primarily through the modulation of cell death. However, currently, it is well accepted that p53 can also exert important transcription-independent pro-cell death actions. Indeed, cytosolic localization of endogenous wild-type or transactivation-deficient p53 is necessary and sufficient for the induction of apoptosis and autophagy. Here, we present the extra-nuclear activities of p53 associated with the mitochondria and the endoplasmic reticulum, highlighting the activities of the p53 mutants on these compartments. These two intracellular organelles play crucial roles in the regulation of cell death, and it is now well established that they also represent sites where p53 can accumulate.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ygal Haupt, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Australia

Reviewed by:

Enrico Vittorio Avvedimento, University of Naples "Federico II", Italy Frank Kruyt, University Medical Center Groningen, Netherlands

> *Correspondence: Paolo Pinton

pnp@unife.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 30 November 2015 Accepted: 11 February 2016 Published: 25 February 2016

Citation:

Giorgi C, Bonora M, Missiroli S, Morganti C, Morciano G, Wieckowski MR and Pinton P (2016) Alterations in Mitochondrial and Endoplasmic Reticulum Signaling by p53 Mutants. Front. Oncol. 6:42. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00042 Keywords: calcium, mitochondria, endoplasmic reticulum, apoptosis, cell death

INTRODUCTION

The p53 protein is the product of one of the most frequently mutated tumor suppressor genes in human cancer (TP53), playing a crucial role in the response of a myriad of intracellular pathways (1). Despite this master role, more than 50% of human cancers harbor somatic p53 gene mutations (2).

Unlike most tumor suppressor genes, which are predominantly inactivated by deletions or truncating mutations during cancer progression, the TP53 gene in human tumors often contains missense mutations that produce a full-length protein containing only a single amino acid substitution (called naturally occurring mutants) with a greatly prolonged half-life (3, 4).

Mutations in p53 result in both loss-of-function and gain-of-function activities (5-7).

In addition to its nuclear activity, there is much evidence to support the idea that the cytoplasmic pool of p53 plays a pivotal role in inducing apoptosis through a transactivation-independent mechanism (8) and **Table 1**.

The overexpression of a mutant p53, lacking most of the DNA-binding domain (DBD) and completely deficient in transactivation function, still triggers apoptosis (14). Moreover, the over-expression of a number of transactivation-incompetent p53 mutants efficiently induces apoptosis (16). Similarly, it was shown that p53 is able to trigger apoptosis even in the absence of a nucleus (13). However, these studies did not provide any mechanistic explanation; only several years later, a breakthrough study showed a direct role of p53 in mitochondrial apoptosis (17).

Mitochondria play a pivotal role in cell death (18), including apoptosis. In healthy cells, the inner mitochondrial membrane, the barrier between the intermembrane space (IMS) and the matrix, is nearly impermeable to all ions. Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization, e.g., through opening

36

TABLE 1 | p53 mutants localization and function.

P53 mutant	Localization	Ability to induce apoptosis	Transcription independent	Reference
L-p53	М	Yes	Yes	(9)
R273H	С	No		(10)
R175H	N, C	No		(11)
L194F	N, C	No		(10)
R280K	N, C	No		(10)
G245S	N, C	No		
R248W	N, C	No		(11)
R249S	N, C	No		(11)
R282W	Ν	No		(11)
L22Q	Ν	Yes	Yes	(12)
W23S	Ν	Yes	Yes	(12)
ΔNLS	С	Yes	Yes	(13)
dl214	N, C	Yes	Yes	(14)
N1-102	С	Yes	Yes	(13)
M246I	Ν	No		(15)

N, nucleus; M, mitochondria; C, cytosol.

of the permeability transition pore (PTP) (19), is frequently the decisive event that delineates the balance between survival and death (20, 21).

Proapoptotic signals resulting in outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) permeabilization induce the release of IMS proteins that, once in the cytosol, activate different cell death-associated pathways (22).

How p53, once at the mitochondrion, induces OMM permeabilization to trigger the release of proapoptotic factors from the IMS is described in depth in the next section.

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) can connect to and act synergistically with other membranous structures, including mitochondria, in particular at ER–mitochondria contact sites, also known as mitochondria-associated ER membranes (MAMs), which have a distance of approximately 10–25 nm between the ER and the mitochondria (23, 24). The close proximity of the ER and the OMM explains how proteins situated on the opposing membrane faces could interact and thus "tether" the two organelles (25, 26).

The ER and the mitochondria reciprocally transmit danger signals through physical contacts (24, 27). In particular, the ER–mitochondrial cross talk plays a key role in decoding Ca^{2+} -mediated apoptotic signals (28–32).

p53 AND THE MITOCHONDRIA

Moll and colleagues showed that death signals induce p53 stabilization and rapid translocation (30–60 min) to the mitochondria in primary, immortal, and transformed cells (9, 17, 33). The main evidence for a sequence-specific transactivation (SST)-independent pathway for p53-induced apoptosis comes from Mihara et al., who demonstrated that bypassing the nucleus by targeting p53 to the mitochondria (*via* fusion with a mitochondrial import leader peptide, designated L-p53) was sufficient to launch apoptosis in p53-deficient tumor cells (9) and to suppress colony growth, although not as strongly as nuclear p53.

When a portion of endogenous p53 trafficked to the mitochondria, it interacted with the Bcl-2 family members, including the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL at the OMM to block their functions (9). Interestingly, through nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy, it has been demonstrated that the p53 DBD is involved in this protein–protein interaction (34). Indeed, mutant p53-harboring breast cancer cells, such as MDA 468, SKBr3, T47D, and MDA 231 (missense p53 mutations R273H, R175H, L194F, and R280K, respectively, both structural and DNA-binding mutant types), were unable to elicit this interaction (34).

DNA-binding domain represents the central core domain of p53 structure required for sequence-specific DNA binding (residues 102–292), and it is the most highly conserved region where more than 80% of p53 mutations occur.

Moreover, trafficking wild-type (wt) p53 within the mitochondria displayed the activation of proapoptotic members, such as Bax and Bak (13, 35, 36), to induce their oligomerization by forming a pore in the OMM. As a result, the oligomerization allowed the release of cytochrome *c* into the cytoplasm, resulting in apoptosis induction (33). To gain functional insight, they were brought forward *in vitro* experiments using purified recombinant p53 proteins at increasing concentrations. Because modifications in the p53 DBD (represented by the p53 R175H and p53 R273H naturally occurring mutants) were strictly unable to promote cytochrome *c* release and the fact that p53 L194F, R280K, G245S, R248W, R249S, and R282W missense mutants destroyed any attempt to mediate OMM permeabilization (**Figure 1**), the integrity of the p53 DBD was declared essential for SST-independent apoptosis as well as for transcription-independent cell death.

In contrast, conflicting results can be seen in previously published papers, in which specific mutations that abolish the trans-activating functions of p53 (L22Q and W23S) in the amino-terminal domain (residues 1–42) or impair the p53 nuclear localization signal (p53 Δ NLS) in the C-terminal region (residues 324–393) did not fully abolish the p53 apoptogenic potential (14).

In 1995, Haupt and coworkers reported that a truncated p53 protein, containing only the first 214 residues of wt p53 (p53 dl214) and incapable of SST, appeared as a potent inducer of apoptosis. Similar experiments were conducted with a protein containing two point mutations (p53 Gln22Ser23), and in this case, the ability to induce efficient apoptotic cell death without SST properties, even though it occurred more slowly, was also confirmed (14). All of these sharply contradictory results culminated in the discovery of a p53 N1-102 truncation mutant as the minimal requirement for proapoptotic activity. This protein includes a mutated transactivation domain and an intact proline-rich region (residues 61-94 containing multiple copies of the PXXP sequence, where X is an amino acid) but lacks the central core and the C-ter previously mentioned. On the basis of these findings, p53 death signaling seems to depend on the proline-rich regulatory domain and does not require transactivation of target genes (13). Thus, as consequence, the DBD may be dispensable. The proline-rich region plays a role in p53 stability regulated by mouse double minute 2 homolog (MDM2). Indeed, p53 becomes more susceptible to degradation by MDM2 if this region is deleted (37).



To be thorough, it should be considered that p53 mutants bind their interactors also in a DNA structure-selective mode as well as in a sequence-specific manner (38). However, this topic needs to be explored by additional studies.

Recently, it has been demonstrated how wt p53 can contribute to the apoptotic process through the caspase 3 protein. First, Sayan et al. demonstrated the presence of two caspase 3 cleavage sites in wt p53 at residues Asp²¹ and Asp¹⁸⁶. Because a portion of both proteins localized to the mitochondria, these authors compared the apoptotic activities of wt p53, non-cleavable mutants (D21A and D186A), and naturally occurring p53 mutants (R248W and R249S) (39). Their results, through overexpression experiments, suggested that following caspase activation p53 gains a transcription-independent function to reinforce apoptosis, leading to the formation of a positive feedback loop in which p53 accumulation induces caspase cleavage and promotes apoptosis. Later, Frank and coworkers identified and characterized pro-caspase-3 as a mitochondrial p53-interacting protein. This finding was detectable in wt p53 cells, upon stress induction and following Adriamycin treatment, but only 1-3% of the total wt p53 had this affinity. p53 R175H and R273H stably transfected cells shown how both the mutants were able to interact with caspase-3 at levels comparable to wt p53, but conversely impaired the ability of pro-caspase-3 to be activated by upstream caspases (40).

More recently, Sorrentino showed the strong requirement of the phosphorylation-specific peptidyl-prolyl cis/trans isomerase, NIMA-interacting 1 (Pin1) in the early phases of p53-dependent apoptosis by controlling its mitochondrial accumulation, activation, and increased retention (41). Phosphorylation at Ser46 on p53 by the homeodomain-interacting protein kinase 2 (HIPK2) is a key event in promoting its monoubiquitination and translocation to the mitochondria. These findings were intimately interconnected with the results previously obtained by Mihara and Mancini regarding the p53–Bcl-2 interaction and Ser46 phosphorylation of p53 (9, 42), and those results reported by Dumont et al. on the impact of the p53 codon 72 Pro/Arg polymorphism on the direct mitochondrial activity of p53 (37). In particular, the Arg72 displayed a higher level of translocation to the mitochondria, with this variant found to have higher phosphorylation on Ser46 and to be bound to Pin1 better than the Pro72 counterpart.

A small molecule known as PRIMA-1, which activates p53 to achieve tumor suppression by restoring the capacity of mutant protein to bind DNA, has been shown to induce the death of tumor cells expressing p53 and tumor-derived mutation p53 M246I and p53 R273H in the absence of transcription (13, 43).

Finally, another functional link between p53 and mitochondria originates from reactive oxygen species (ROS). ROS may contribute as actors on the stage of mitochondria–nuclear communication, interfering with the activity of various protein kinases and phosphatases (44, 45). Changes in mitochondrial function involving alterations in ROS production could affect p53 activity and its subcellular localization. In one specific case, p53 underwent an amino acid redox modification at cysteine 277 (oxidation of Cys277) in the p53 DBD that altered its DNA-binding affinity (46). Moreover, mitochondria-generated ROS induce p53 translocation to the mitochondria and in turn stimulate oxidative stress (46, 47) in part by transcription–independent mechanisms, leading to an increase in apoptosis. p53 translocates not only to the OMM but also into the matrix, where it was able to interact with protein–manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD, **Figure 1**), leading to a reduction of its scavenging activity [Ref. (48) or Ref. (49) for an extensive review].

In the mitochondrial compartment, p53 has also been shown to accumulate following oxidative stress and ischemia, where it triggered PTP opening and necrosis (50). Thus, these results reveal a new role for p53 in activating necrotic cell death (**Figure 1**).

In the mitochondrial matrix also resides $p53\Psi$, an isoform product of an alternative 3' splice-site activation of p53 mRNA. Consistent with previous information, this protein lacks SST functions and is sufficient to promote prometastatic features in epithelial cells (51). Moreover, cells expressing $p53\Psi$ exhibited increased mitochondrial permeability and ROS production compared with cells that did not express this p53 isoform (51).

p53 AND THE ER AND MITOCHONDRIA-ASSOCIATED ER MEMBRANES

Another important subcellular localization of p53 is the ER, where it plays a critical role in the modulation of apoptosis and autophagy.

p53 regulates autophagy in a dual fashion: the pool of nuclear p53 stimulates autophagy in a transcription-dependent fashion (52, 53) and the pool of cytoplasmic p53 protein represses autophagy in a transcription-independent manner (54).

Suppression of autophagy is mediated by cytoplasmic, not nuclear p53. Indeed, Tasdemir at al. observed that p53 KO cells display higher autophagy levels compared to their wt counterpart. This effect was reverted by overexpression of wt p53, p53 with impaired nuclear localization sequence, and ER-targeted p53 (p53ER). A p53 form that was unable to exit the nucleus [using a disrupted nuclear export signal (NES)] failed to inhibit autophagy and the p53 inhibitor piftrin α was able to induce autophagy in wt cells or nucleus deprived cells (54). Interestingly, the R175H mutation, which is known to inhibit the nuclear and cytoplasmic effects of p53 (34, 55), prevented inhibition of autophagy (54).

These results indicate that p53 inhibits autophagy through a transcription-independent effect exerted from a cytoplasmic localization. In fact, cytoplasmic p53 inhibits the AMPdependent kinase, a positive regulator of autophagy, and activates mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a negative regulator of autophagy. At present, the exact molecular pathway by which autophagy-inducing stimuli, such as ER stress, cause the cytoplasmic translocation and subsequent degradation of p53 remain unknown. It is known that its sequential phosphorylation of p53 on Ser 315 and Ser 376, the nuclear export, the ubiquitination by HDM2 and its proteasome-mediated degradation is required (56, 57). Inhibiting HDM2 or the proteasome prevents degradation of p53 induced by various autophagy triggers and inhibits autophagy.

In recent years, many other tumor suppressor proteins, such as PML and PTEN, have been demonstrated to localize to the ER and MAMs, where they regulate the ER–mitochondria Ca^{2+} flux and apoptosis (58, 59). p53 localization at the ER has been previously suggested (60), but this specific ER-localization was unable to regulate cell death induced by calcium-independent apoptotic stimuli.

We demonstrated that in the cytoplasm, wt p53 localizes at the ER and MAMs to modulate Ca2+-mediated apoptosis in a transcription-independent manner (61). This non-nuclear fraction of p53 is able to modulate Ca2+ homeostasis in response to both physiological and pathological stimulation; in fact, activation and accumulation of p53 at the ER/MAMs render cells more prone to death, and the absence of p53 leads to lower steady-state levels of reticular Ca²⁺, reduced Ca²⁺ mobilization, and mitochondrial accumulation evoked by agonist stimulation (ATP) or after the oxidative apoptotic inducer H₂O₂ (Figure 1). Importantly, to exclude the possibility that these effects are independent from the transcriptional activity of p53, different experimental strategies were used: a pharmacological inhibition of the transcriptional arm of p53 through the use of RNA polymerase II inhibitor α -amanitin (62), alone or in combination with pifitrin α , and the overexpression of p53 mutants lacking nuclear localization signal (p53 Δ NLS or ER p53).

Thus, p53 controls mitochondrial Ca²⁺ homeostasis and, in turn, apoptotic sensitivity from the ER/MAMs compartments.

Various naturally occurring p53 mutants, such as p53 R175H and p53 R273H, are unable to restore ER Ca²⁺ homeostasis when overexpressed in p53 KO cells, while the wt p53 efficiently does so. Accordingly, overexpression of wt p53, but not p53 R175H and p53 R273H, increased the sensitivity of p53 KO cells to oxidative stress back to the levels of their p53^{+/+} counterparts, although there were no differences in the expression of apoptotic genes in cells expressing mutant p53. Moreover, cells harboring the p53 R273H mutation, such as MDA-MB 468 cells, did not display any significant alterations in ER Ca²⁺ levels when p53 was stabilized by adriamycin. Next, it was demonstrated that the Sarco/ER Ca²⁺-ATPase Pump (SERCA), a pump responsible for maintaining high Ca²⁺ levels in the ER lumen (63), selectively binds wt p53 on the C-terminal portion, modulating its oxidation status; however, this domain alone is not sufficient to modulate Ca²⁺ homeostasis and apoptosis, indicating that this function requires the entire protein. Interestingly, the naturally occurring p53 mutants R175H and R273H were unable to bind SERCA and its oxidation was unchanged.

Taken together, all of these data suggest that Ca²⁺-mediated apoptosis is a transcription-independent pathway regulated by p53 at ER/MAMs, through which p53 exerts its potent proapoptotic role in response to anticancer treatments.

To elucidate the relevance of these findings *in vivo*, we investigated the involvement of p53 in the control of intracellular Ca^{2+} signals and apoptosis in a 3D tumor mass in living mice (64). The use of a "skinfold chamber" installed on the back of athymic mice allowed the monitoring of tumor formation and, through a single-photon fluorescence microscope, the investigation of Ca^{2+} dynamics inside the tumor.

When detectable, the mass was stained with Fura-2, a Ca^{2+} -sensitive dye, and aluminum phtalocyanine chloride, a light-activated agent used in cancer photodynamic therapy (PDT). PDT accumulates in intracellular organelles, including ER and mitochondria, and after photo stimulation, it promotes Ca^{2+} -dependent apoptotic pathways. Through this technique, we demonstrated that p53 is able to modulate the Ca^{2+} response and that this is associated with reduced responsiveness to apoptotic

stimulation. Together, these results reveal a new mechanism by which p53 exerts its potent proapoptotic function in response to anticancer treatments.

Importantly, p53 can not only regulate cell survival through its activity at ER/MAMs sites but also alter ER functions that can control both localization and apoptotic activity of p53. It has been shown that ER stress inhibits p53-mediated apoptosis, modulating its localization and function (57). In fact, ER stress induces the cytoplasmic localization and enhances the destabilization of p53 due to phosphorylation at serine 315 and serine 376, which is mediated by glycogen synthase kinase-3- β (GSK3- β). As a result of the increased cytoplasmic localization, ER stress prevents p53 stabilization and p53-mediated apoptosis in response to DNA damage (57). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that induction of the cytoplasmic translocation and degradation of p53 by ER stress is mediated by Hdm2 (56). This could have possible important implications for treatment of tumors with dysfunctional ER, aiming at p53 stabilization through the inhibition of the p53-Hdm2-GSK3-β pathway. Overall, these findings suggest that the cross talk of p53 with the dynamic ER plays a pivotal role in the regulation of cell survival and provides important evidence on how the specific targeting of the ER by tumor suppressors could counteract tumor progression.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Despite the long-time knowledge on p53 involvement in tumorigenesis, its translation to clinical field has yet to be concluded. The studies summarized above clearly confirm that transcriptionindependent activities of p53 play an important role in the ability of the protein to activate several pathways in many circumstances. Nevertheless, many efforts still need to dissect the intricate signaling network that coordinates and couples the transcriptional

REFERENCES

- Vousden KH, Lane DP. p53 in health and disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2007) 8(4):275–83. doi:10.1038/nrm2147
- Hanel W, Moll UM. Links between mutant p53 and genomic instability. J Cell Biochem (2012) 113(2):433–9. doi:10.1002/jcb.23400
- Petitjean A, Achatz MI, Borresen-Dale AL, Hainaut P, Olivier M. TP53 mutations in human cancers: functional selection and impact on cancer prognosis and outcomes. *Oncogene* (2007) 26(15):2157–65. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210302
- Rivlin N, Brosh R, Oren M, Rotter V. Mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene: important milestones at the various steps of tumorigenesis. *Genes Cancer* (2011) 2(4):466–74. doi:10.1177/1947601911408889
- 5. Goh AM, Coffill CR, Lane DP. The role of mutant p53 in human cancer. *J Pathol* (2011) **223**(2):116–26. doi:10.1002/path.2784
- Guo L, Liew HP, Camus S, Goh AM, Chee LL, Lunny DP, et al. Ionizing radiation induces a dramatic persistence of p53 protein accumulation and DNA damage signaling in mutant p53 zebrafish. *Oncogene* (2013) 32(34):4009–16. doi:10.1038/onc.2012.409
- Tan BS, Tiong KH, Choo HL, Fei-Lei Chung F, Hii LW, Tan SH I, et al. Mutant p53-R273H mediates cancer cell survival and anoikis resistance through AKT-dependent suppression of BCL2-modifying factor (BMF). *Cell Death Dis* (2015) 6:e1826. doi:10.1038/cddis.2015.191
- Green DR, Kroemer G. Cytoplasmic functions of the tumour suppressor p53. Nature (2009) 458(7242):1127–30. doi:10.1038/nature07986

and non-transcriptional proapoptotic activities of p53. In this way, there are still various mutants to be characterized, and how naturally occurring mutations affect p53 structure and function also remains elusive, as does the role of loss of wt and gain-of-function amino acid substitutions. Moreover, p53 extra-transcription activity studies using p53 mutants' overexpression should consider possible transcription activity alteration. For instance, high concentrations of p53 are demonstrated to inhibited p53-activated transcription by squelching (65, 66). Further studies should clarify how transcription and extra-transcription effects could cooperate.

This recognition and classification that not all p53 mutants are equivalent is important not merely as a conceptual distinction but may also have practical implications.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed, have made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

PP is grateful to Camilla degli Scrovegni for continuous support. This research was supported by the Italian Association for Cancer Research (AIRC: IG-14442 to PP and MFAG-13521 to CG), local funds from the University of Ferrara to PP and CG, Telethon (GGP15219/B) to PP; the Italian Ministry of Health, the Italian Ministry of Education, University and Research (COFIN no. 20129JLHSY_002, FIRB no. RBAP11FXBC_002, and Futuro in Ricerca no. RBFR10EGVP_001) to PP and the Italian Ministry of Health to PP and CG. MW was supported by the National Science Centre, Poland (Grant # 2014/15/B/NZ1/00490), grant W100/HFSC/2011, and HFSP grant RGP0027/2011.

- Mihara M, Erster S, Zaika A, Petrenko O, Chittenden T, Pancoska P, et al. p53 has a direct apoptogenic role at the mitochondria. *Mol Cell* (2003) 11(3):577–90. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00050-9
- Morselli E, Tasdemir E, Maiuri MC, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Criollo A, et al. Mutant p53 protein localized in the cytoplasm inhibits autophagy. *Cell Cycle* (2008) 7(19):3056–61. doi:10.4161/cc.7.19.6751
- Dearth LR, Qian H, Wang T, Baroni TE, Zeng J, Chen SW, et al. Inactive full-length p53 mutants lacking dominant wild-type p53 inhibition highlight loss of heterozygosity as an important aspect of p53 status in human cancers. *Carcinogenesis* (2007) 28(2):289–98. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgl132
- Zhao LY, Liao D. Sequestration of p53 in the cytoplasm by adenovirus type 12 E1B 55-kilodalton oncoprotein is required for inhibition of p53-mediated apoptosis. *J Virol* (2003) 77(24):13171–81. doi:10.1128/ JVI.77.24.13171-13181.2003
- Chipuk JE, Maurer U, Green DR, Schuler M. Pharmacologic activation of p53 elicits Bax-dependent apoptosis in the absence of transcription. *Cancer Cell* (2003) 4(5):371–81. doi:10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00272-1
- Haupt Y, Rowan S, Shaulian E, Vousden KH, Oren M. Induction of apoptosis in HeLa cells by trans-activation-deficient p53. *Genes Dev* (1995) 9(17):2170–83. doi:10.1101/gad.9.17.2170
- Roth J, Koch P, Contente A, Dobbelstein M. Tumor-derived mutations within the DNA-binding domain of p53 that phenotypically resemble the deletion of the proline-rich domain. *Oncogene* (2000) **19**(14):1834–42. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1203500

- Kakudo Y, Shibata H, Otsuka K, Kato S, Ishioka C. Lack of correlation between p53-dependent transcriptional activity and the ability to induce apoptosis among 179 mutant p53s. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(6):2108–14. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-2935
- Marchenko ND, Zaika A, Moll UM. Death signal-induced localization of p53 protein to mitochondria. A potential role in apoptotic signaling. *J Biol Chem* (2000) 275(21):16202–12. doi:10.1074/jbc.275.21.16202
- Galluzzi L, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, Abrams JM, Adam D, et al. Essential versus accessory aspects of cell death: recommendations of the NCCD 2015. Cell Death Differ (2015) 22(1):58–73. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.137
- Morciano G, Giorgi C, Bonora M, Punzetti S, Pavasini R, Wieckowski MR, et al. Molecular identity of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore and its role in ischemia-reperfusion injury. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* (2015) 78:142–53. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.08.015
- Bonora M, Pinton P. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and cancer: molecular mechanisms involved in cell death. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:302. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00302
- Fulda S, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G. Targeting mitochondria for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2010) 9(6):447–64. doi:10.1038/nrd3137
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Brenner C. Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in cell death. *Physiol Rev* (2007) 87(1):99–163. doi:10.1152/ physrev.00013.2006
- Patergnani S, Missiroli S, Marchi S, Giorgi C. Mitochondria-associated endoplasmic reticulum membranes microenvironment: targeting autophagic and apoptotic pathways in cancer therapy. *Front Oncol* (2015) 5:173. doi:10.3389/ fonc.2015.00173
- Marchi S, Patergnani S, Pinton P. The endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria connection: one touch, multiple functions. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1837(4):461–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2013.10.015
- Giorgi C, Missiroli S, Patergnani S, Duszynski J, Wieckowski MR, Pinton P. Mitochondria-associated membranes: composition, molecular mechanisms, and physiopathological implications. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2015) 22(12):995–1019. doi:10.1089/ars.2014.6223
- Rowland AA, Voeltz GK. Endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria contacts: function of the junction. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2012) 13(10):607–25. doi:10.1038/nrm3440
- Ivanova H, Vervliet T, Missiaen L, Parys JB, De Smedt H, Bultynck G. Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor-isoform diversity in cell death and survival. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1843(10):2164–83. doi:10.1016/j. bbamcr.2014.03.007
- Akl H, Bultynck G. Altered Ca(2+) signaling in cancer cells: proto-oncogenes and tumor suppressors targeting IP3 receptors. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2013) 1835(2):180–93. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2012.12.001
- Csordas G, Renken C, Varnai P, Walter L, Weaver D, Buttle KF, et al. Structural and functional features and significance of the physical linkage between ER and mitochondria. *J Cell Biol* (2006) 174(7):915–21. doi:10.1083/ jcb.200604016
- Giorgi C, Baldassari F, Bononi A, Bonora M, De Marchi E, Marchi S, et al. Mitochondrial Ca(2+) and apoptosis. *Cell Calcium* (2012) 52(1):36–43. doi:10.1016/j.ceca.2012.02.008
- Hayashi T, Su TP. Sigma-1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion interface regulate Ca(2+) signaling and cell survival. *Cell* (2007) 131(3):596–610. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.036
- Pinton P, Giorgi C, Siviero R, Zecchini E, Rizzuto R. Calcium and apoptosis: ER-mitochondria Ca2+ transfer in the control of apoptosis. *Oncogene* (2008) 27(50):6407–18. doi:10.1038/onc.2008.308
- 33. Erster S, Mihara M, Kim RH, Petrenko O, Moll UM. In vivo mitochondrial p53 translocation triggers a rapid first wave of cell death in response to DNA damage that can precede p53 target gene activation. *Mol Cell Biol* (2004) 24(15):6728–41. doi:10.1128/MCB.24.15.6728-6741.2004
- Tomita Y, Marchenko N, Erster S, Nemajerova A, Dehner A, Klein C, et al. WT p53, but not tumor-derived mutants, bind to Bcl2 via the DNA binding domain and induce mitochondrial permeabilization. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281(13):8600–6. doi:10.1074/jbc.M507611200
- Chipuk JE, Kuwana T, Bouchier-Hayes L, Droin NM, Newmeyer DD, Schuler M, et al. Direct activation of Bax by p53 mediates mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and apoptosis. *Science* (2004) **303**(5660):1010–4. doi:10.1126/science.1092734

- Leu JI, Dumont P, Hafey M, Murphy ME, George DL. Mitochondrial p53 activates Bak and causes disruption of a Bak-Mcl1 complex. *Nat Cell Biol* (2004) 6(5):443–50. doi:10.1038/ncb1123
- Dumont P, Leu JI, Della Pietra AC III, George DL, Murphy M. The codon 72 polymorphic variants of p53 have markedly different apoptotic potential. *Nat Genet* (2003) 33(3):357–65. doi:10.1038/ng1093
- Gohler T, Jager S, Warnecke G, Yasuda H, Kim E, Deppert W. Mutant p53 proteins bind DNA in a DNA structure-selective mode. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2005) 33(3):1087–100. doi:10.1093/nar/gki252
- Sayan BS, Sayan AE, Knight RA, Melino G, Cohen GM. p53 is cleaved by caspases generating fragments localizing to mitochondria. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281(19):13566–73. doi:10.1074/jbc.M512467200
- Frank AK, Pietsch EC, Dumont P, Tao J, Murphy ME. Wild-type and mutant p53 proteins interact with mitochondrial caspase-3. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2011) 11(8):740–5. doi:10.4161/cbt.11.8.14906
- Sorrentino G, Mioni M, Giorgi C, Ruggeri N, Pinton P, Moll U, et al. The prolyl-isomerase Pin1 activates the mitochondrial death program of p53. *Cell Death Differ* (2013) 20(2):198–208. doi:10.1038/cdd.2012.112
- Mancini F, Di Conza G, Pellegrino M, Rinaldo C, Prodosmo A, Giglio S, et al. MDM4 (MDMX) localizes at the mitochondria and facilitates the p53-mediated intrinsic-apoptotic pathway. *EMBO J* (2009) 28(13):1926–39. doi:10.1038/emboj.2009.154
- Galluzzi L, Morselli E, Kepp O, Tajeddine N, Kroemer G. Targeting p53 to mitochondria for cancer therapy. *Cell Cycle* (2008)7(13):1949–55. doi:10.4161/ cc.7.13.6222
- Marchi S, Giorgi C, Suski JM, Agnoletto C, Bononi A, Bonora M, et al. Mitochondria-ros crosstalk in the control of cell death and aging. J Signal Transduct (2012) 2012:329635. doi:10.1155/2012/329635
- Storz P. Reactive oxygen species-mediated mitochondria-to-nucleus signaling: a key to aging and radical-caused diseases. *Sci STKE* (2006) 2006(332):re3. doi:10.1126/stke.3322006re3
- Buzek J, Latonen L, Kurki S, Peltonen K, Laiho M. Redox state of tumor suppressor p53 regulates its sequence-specific DNA binding in DNA-damaged cells by cysteine 277. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2002) 30(11):2340–8. doi:10.1093/ nar/30.11.2340
- Sansome C, Zaika A, Marchenko ND, Moll UM. Hypoxia death stimulus induces translocation of p53 protein to mitochondria. Detection by immunofluorescence on whole cells. *FEBS Lett* (2001) 488(3):110–5. doi:10.1016/ S0014-5793(00)02368-1
- Zhao Y, Chaiswing L, Velez JM, Batinic-Haberle I, Colburn NH, Oberley TD, et al. p53 translocation to mitochondria precedes its nuclear translocation and targets mitochondrial oxidative defense protein-manganese superoxide dismutase. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(9):3745–50. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-04-3835
- Galluzzi L, Morselli E, Kepp O, Vitale I, Pinti M, Kroemer G. Mitochondrial liaisons of p53. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2011) 15(6):1691–714. doi:10.1089/ ars.2010.3504
- Vaseva AV, Marchenko ND, Ji K, Tsirka SE, Holzmann S, Moll UM. p53 opens the mitochondrial permeability transition pore to trigger necrosis. *Cell* (2012) 149(7):1536–48. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.014
- Senturk S, Yao Z, Camiolo M, Stiles B, Rathod T, Walsh AM, et al. p53Psi is a transcriptionally inactive p53 isoform able to reprogram cells toward a metastatic-like state. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(32):E3287–96. doi:10.1073/pnas.1321640111
- Budanov AV, Karin M. p53 target genes sestrin1 and sestrin2 connect genotoxic stress and mTOR signaling. *Cell* (2008) 134(3):451–60. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2008.06.028
- Crighton D, Wilkinson S, O'Prey J, Syed N, Smith P, Harrison PR, et al. DRAM, a p53-induced modulator of autophagy, is critical for apoptosis. *Cell* (2006) 126(1):121–34. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.05.034
- Tasdemir E, Maiuri MC, Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Djavaheri-Mergny M, D'Amelio M, et al. Regulation of autophagy by cytoplasmic p53. *Nat Cell Biol* (2008) 10(6):676–87. doi:10.1038/ncb1730
- Baker SJ, Fearon ER, Nigro JM, Hamilton SR, Preisinger AC, Jessup JM, et al. Chromosome 17 deletions and p53 gene mutations in colorectal carcinomas. *Science* (1989) 244(4901):217–21. doi:10.1126/science.2649981
- Pluquet O, Qu LK, Baltzis D, Koromilas AE. Endoplasmic reticulum stress accelerates p53 degradation by the cooperative actions of Hdm2 and glycogen

synthase kinase 3beta. *Mol Cell Biol* (2005) **25**(21):9392–405. doi:10.1128/ MCB.25.21.9392-9405.2005

- 57. Qu L, Huang S, Baltzis D, Rivas-Estilla AM, Pluquet O, Hatzoglou M, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress induces p53 cytoplasmic localization and prevents p53-dependent apoptosis by a pathway involving glycogen synthase kinase-3beta. *Genes Dev* (2004) 18(3):261–77. doi:10.1101/gad.1165804
- Bononi A, Bonora M, Marchi S, Missiroli S, Poletti F, Giorgi C, et al. Identification of PTEN at the ER and MAMs and its regulation of Ca(2+) signaling and apoptosis in a protein phosphatase-dependent manner. *Cell Death Differ* (2013) 20(12):1631–43. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.77
- Giorgi C, Ito K, Lin HK, Santangelo C, Wieckowski MR, Lebiedzinska M, et al. PML regulates apoptosis at endoplasmic reticulum by modulating calcium release. *Science* (2010) 330(6008):1247–51. doi:10.1126/science.1189157
- Talos F, Petrenko O, Mena P, Moll UM. Mitochondrially targeted p53 has tumor suppressor activities in vivo. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(21):9971–81. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1084
- Giorgi C, Bonora M, Sorrentino G, Missiroli S, Poletti F, Suski JM, et al. p53 at the endoplasmic reticulum regulates apoptosis in a Ca2+-dependent manner. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112(6):1779–84. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1410723112
- Arima Y, Nitta M, Kuninaka S, Zhang D, Fujiwara T, Taya Y, et al. Transcriptional blockade induces p53-dependent apoptosis associated with translocation of p53 to mitochondria. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280(19):19166–76. doi:10.1074/jbc.M410691200

- Berridge MJ, Bootman MD, Roderick HL. Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2003) 4(7):517–29. doi:10.1038/nrm1155
- Giorgi C, Bonora M, Missiroli S, Poletti F, Ramirez FG, Morciano G, et al. Intravital imaging reveals p53-dependent cancer cell death induced by phototherapy via calcium signaling. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(3):1435–45. doi:10.18632/ oncotarget.2935
- Liu X, Berk AJ. Reversal of in vitro p53 squelching by both TFIIB and TFIID. Mol Cell Biol (1995) 15(11):6474–8. doi:10.1128/MCB.15.11.6474
- Riley T, Sontag E, Chen P, Levine A. Transcriptional control of human p53-regulated genes. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2008) 9(5):402–12. doi:10.1038/ nrm2395

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Giorgi, Bonora, Missiroli, Morganti, Morciano, Wieckowski and Pinton. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Oncogenic Intra-p53 Family Member Interactions in Human Cancers

Maria Ferraiuolo^{1,2}, Silvia Di Agostino¹, Giovanni Blandino¹ and Sabrina Strano^{2*}

¹ Translational Oncogenomics Unit, Department of Molecular Medicine, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Rome, Italy, ² Molecular Chemoprevention Unit, Department of Molecular Medicine, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Rome, Italy

The p53 gene family members p53, p73, and p63 display several isoforms derived from the presence of internal promoters and alternative splicing events. They are structural homologs but hold peculiar functional properties. p53, p73, and p63 are tumor suppressor genes that promote differentiation, senescence, and apoptosis. p53, unlike p73 and p63, is frequently mutated in cancer often displaying oncogenic "gain of function" activities correlated with the induction of proliferation, invasion, chemoresistance, and genomic instability in cancer cells. These oncogenic functions are promoted either by the aberrant transcriptional cooperation of mutant p53 (mutp53) with transcription cofactors (e.g., NF-Y, E2F1, Vitamin D Receptor, Ets-1, NF-kB and YAP) or by the interaction with the p53 family members, p73 and p63, determining their functional inactivation. The instauration of these aberrant transcriptional networks leads to increased cell growth, low activation of DNA damage response pathways (DNA damage response and DNA double-strand breaks response), enhanced invasion, and high chemoresistance to different conventional chemotherapeutic treatments. Several studies have clearly shown that different cancers harboring mutant p53 proteins exhibit a poor prognosis when compared to those carrying wild-type p53 (wt-p53) protein. The interference of mutantp53/p73 and/or mutantp53/p63 interactions, thereby restoring p53, p73, and p63 tumor suppression functions, could be among the potential therapeutic strategies for the treatment of mutant p53 human cancers.

Keywords: p53 gene family members, gain of function, homology, isoforms, protein-protein interaction, target genes, apoptosis, differentiation

INTRODUCTION

p53, p73, and p63 proteins belong to a family evolutionarily conserved in animals. They derive from an ancestral gene by duplication and consequent divergence of the original sequence. Functional and phylogenetic analyses reveal that the founding member was p63, followed by p73 and lastly p53 (1–4). In fact, at the sequence level, p63 and p73 display elevated homology to each other, more than to p53 (5–9). Generally, the protein structure consists of a central DNA-binding domain (DBD) (core domain) that binds to response elements of target genes (10–14). The N-terminal transcription-activation domain (TAD) is the binding-site for positive (e.g., p300/CBP and TAFII40/60) or negative regulators (e.g., MDM2 and MDMX) of gene transcription (15). The C-terminal oligomerization domain (OD) is subject to splicing and post-translational modifications, and it has been shown to influence DNA binding and transcriptional activity of the p53 family members (16) (**Figure 1**).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ala-Eddin Al Moustafa, Qatar University, Qatar; McGill University, Canada; Concordia University, Canada

Reviewed by:

Janice Anne Royds, University of Otago, New Zealand Nan-Shan Chang, National Cheng Kung University, Taiwan

> ***Correspondence:** Sabrina Strano strano@ifo.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 12 February 2016 Accepted: 21 March 2016 Published: 31 March 2016

Citation:

Ferraiuolo M, Di Agostino S, Blandino G and Strano S (2016) Oncogenic Intra-p53 Family Member Interactions in Human Cancers. Front. Oncol. 6:77. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00077



N-terminal transcription-activation domain (TAD) contains two subdomains (AD1 and AD2) and is the binding-site for regulators of gene transcription; in p63 and p73 proteins, the C-terminal transactivation inhibitory domain (TD) binds to the TAD preventing constitutive transcriptional activity. The Proline-rich sequence recognition domains (PRD) can recognize proline-rich motifs of interacting proteins and has been reported to be essential for the induction of apoptosis driven by p53, p73 and p63. The DNA-binding domain (DBD) is responsible for the binding to DNA consensus of target genes and the oligomerization domain (OD) enables monomers assembly in active oligomers. The sterile alpha motif domain (SAMD) of p63 and p73 is arranged in a small five-helix bundle and is involved in protein–protein interactions. The basic region (BR) in the C-terminal of p53 is involved in the control of the DNA binding affinity.

The human *TP53* gene (Chr.17p13.1) is about 20 kb, contains 11 exons and encodes for the tumor suppressor p53 protein known as "the guardian of the genome" (17–28). This protein was discovered in 1979 (29–31). p53 is not only able to act as a transcription factor but it is also involved in transcriptionindependent response, such as apoptosis (32). *TP53* is the most frequently mutated gene in human cancers (33–36). It is mostly affected by missense mutations often in the DBD of the protein (37–39). An increasing number of p53-mutated proteins can be distinct in either conformational mutants (when the mutations change the tridimensional structure of the protein) or in DNAcontact defective mutants (when the mutations affect the region designate for the binding to the DNA) (36, 40). These alterations lead to the inability of mutant p53 proteins to fully recognize the DNA consensus sequence for wt-p53 or alter the functional interaction with pro-apoptotic partners, such as WW domaincontaining oxidoreductase WOX1 (WWOX). The WWOX/ wt-p53 complex is demonstrated to induce apoptosis synergistically and WWOX is essential for p53 activation and apoptosis induction (41). Strikingly, some of the p53-mutated proteins acquire new oncogenic functions [gain of function (GOF)] that strongly contribute to increasing cell proliferation, invasion, angiogenesis, genomic instability and chemoresistance in human cancers. These functions are often promoted by the interaction with sequence-specific transcription factors and the consequent activation/repression of specific target genes diverse from those recruited by wt-p53 (15, 42–58).

The *TP73* gene (Chr.1p36.33) is about 65 kb and contains 14 exons. It was discovered in 1997 (59) and similar to its family members, plays an important role at different regulatory

checkpoints of the cell cycle (60). However, p73 shows a peculiar function in neuronal differentiation, not shared with p53 (8, 61). p73 is rarely affected by mutation in cancer progression (62, 63) but its expression is deregulated in several human tumors, such as in hepatocellular carcinoma (64), neuroblastoma (65), lung cancer (62), prostate cancer (66) and colorectal carcinoma (67). p73 shares many p53 tumor suppression functions through the activation of the p53-target genes (p21wafl, Bax, PUMA, NOXA, IGF-BP3 and Cyclin G), resulting in the control of cell proliferation, differentiation, development and induction of apoptosis (68-79). Moreover, p73, like p53, can interact with the tumor suppressor WWOX and trigger apoptosis (80, 81). Cells exposure to DNA-damaging agents (e.g., y-radiation and cisplatin) induces p73 protein activation and accumulation with consequent induction of DNA damage response (DDR), growth arrest and apoptosis (76, 82-88).

The *TP63* gene (Chr.3q27–29) is approximately 65 kb and contains 15 exons (89, 90). Like p73, p63 can activate many p53-target genes in response to oncogenic stress or DNA damage (Bax, 14-3-3 σ , p53AIP1, IGF-BP3, p21^{waf1} and cyclin G), it controls cell proliferation, apoptosis, differentiation and development, and shows a tissue-specific localization (79, 91–94). p63 knockout mice exhibit a lethal phenotype soon after birth. They suffer from epithelial abnormalities, concerning skin, glands, teeth and hair follicles (95). Mutations of p63 are extremely rare in malignancies in contrast to p53 mutations. However, alterations in p63 expression patterns play an important role in tumorigenesis (96–98).

The full-length forms of p73 and p63 can also bind to YAP protein in response to DNA-damaging agents and activate pro-apoptotic target genes, such as Bax and p53AIP1 (78, 87, 99–101). Thus, both p73 and p63 can promote p53-independent apoptosis (102).

PROTEIN STRUCTURE AND RESPECTIVE ISOFORMS OF THE p53 FAMILY GENE MEMBERS

p53 family gene members show a high degree of similarity in the exon/intron organization and share a similar modular protein structure previously described (**Figure 1**). p73 and p63 proteins display 22–29% of homology in the TAD domain, 63% in the DBD, and 42% in the OD of p53. Furthermore, critical residues in the DBD, involved in the folding and binding to target DNA sequences, are strictly conserved (22, 103–106). Moreover, p73 and p63 share a sterile alpha motif domain (SAMD) and a transactivation inhibitory domain (TID); p53, p63, and p73 contain also a proline-rich sequence recognition domain (PRD). p53 also shows an additional basic region (BR) in the C-terminal tail (16, 107, 108) (**Figure 1**).

p53 protein displays nine isoforms obtained by the presence of cryptic internal promoters and by alternative splicing. The result is the presence of potentially transcript inert isoforms N-terminal deleted (Δ N) and with various C-terminal tails (108) (**Figure 1**). The same mechanisms occur for p73 and p63: p73 displays 14 isoforms and p63 exhibits 10 isoforms (59, 90, 109–117) (**Figure 1**). The N-terminal truncated isoforms Δ Np73 and Δ Np63 are highly expressed in the development and display an oncogenic

dominant-negative function to p73 and p63 full-length (TAp73 and TAp63, respectively) and wt-p53 (39, 114, 118–124).

mutp53, p73, AND p63 PROTEIN INTERACTIONS IN CANCER

It was observed that human tumor-derived p53 mutants could bind p73α interfering with its transcriptional activity and impeding apoptosis induction (125, 126). Strano et al. (127) demonstrate that p53 mutants (p53R175H and p53D281G) associate with four p73 isoforms in vitro and in vivo (p73a, p73b, p73y and p738). The interactions occur also in physiological conditions in breast cancer cell lines (T47D and SKBR3) and require the DBD of mutp53 and the DBD and OD domains of p73 isoforms. Marin et al. (126) show that the interaction between mutp53 and $p73\alpha$ or p73 β is also governed by a polymorphism at the codon 72 of the p53 mutant proteins (e.g., mutp53R175H and mutp53V143A) that encode for Arginine (R) or Proline (P). Particularly, p53 mutants with R72 polymorphism favor binding to p73 more than the P72 polymorphism determining poor response to therapy and poor prognosis in patients (128, 129). Thus, either the type of p53 mutation and 72R/P polymorphism determine mutp53/p73 interaction (126). The mutp53/p63 interaction, in vitro and in tumor cells, is also reported (126). Gaiddon et al. (130) demonstrate that $p73\alpha$, $p73\beta$, $p73\gamma$, and $p73\delta$ can interact with overexpressed or endogenous p53 mutants (R175H, H179R, Y220C, R248W and R273H) and demonstrate that p53 mutants (R175H, Y220C and R248W) can bind to p63α and p63γ. Lowaffinity interactions are observed between mutp53R175H and $\Delta Np63\alpha$ or $\Delta Np63\gamma$. Moreover, they observe that the interaction between p73 α and p63 α or Δ Np63 α is more efficient if p73 α is mutated (R292H). Gaiddon et al. (130) confirm that p53 mutants require the DBD domain for the interaction with p73 or p63. Moreover, p53 mutants deleted in several regions, resulting in conformational changes of the DBD, are still able to bind p73 and p63. Thus, also the wild-type DBD of mutp53 can interact with p73 or p63 if it is in a mutant conformation (130, 131). It is also demonstrated that the heat shock protein HSC70 binds those p53 mutants that interact with p73 but not wt-p53 (130, 132), thus, other determinants could affect p53/p73 interaction (130). Strano et al. (46) demonstrate that, under physiological conditions, mutp53 interacts with $p63\alpha$ and $p63\gamma$ in T47D and HaCat cells and in H1299 cells overexpressing mutp53R273H or mutp53R248W. They observe direct interactions mediated by the DBDs of mutp53 and p63. Mutp53D281G displays a GOF activity, it slightly binds to p73 but does not interact with p63 (46, 126, 127, 133). Moreover, mutp53D281G mutated in the TAD loses its GOF, suggesting that the TAD exerts an important oncogenic role in the GOF of this p53 mutant (15, 134, 135). Santini et al. (136) provide biochemical evidence on the interaction between mutp53R175H and p73. They use atomic force spectroscopy (AFS) (137, 138) and surface plasmons resonance (SPR) (139, 140), identifying a high interaction force and a dissociation equilibrium constant typical for specific bounds. They do not observe any interactions between wt-p53 and p73 (136), confirming the lack of in vivo evidence for the formation of wt-p53/p73 protein

complex. Weissmueller et al. (141) confirm that mutant p53 is able to bind p73 and this interaction results in the reduction of p73/ NF-Y inhibitory complex in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. This complex displays a tumor suppressor function repressing the oncogenic platelet-derived growth factor receptor b (PDGFRb) that promotes cell invasion and metastasis. Therefore, indirectly, mutant p53 promotes PDGFRb expression disassembling the inhibitory p73/NF-Y complex. Liu et al. (142) show that TopB1 protein promotes mutp53/NF-Y and mutp53/p73/p63 complex formation, inducing chemoresistance and proliferation in cancer cells. Wang and Fersht (143) describe the aggregation kinetics of mutant p53 that co-aggregate in tetramers by trapping also wt-p53, p73, and p63 proteins in the complex. It is worth to mention the role of MDM2 in the mutp53, p63, and p73 interplay: a recent work shows that MDM2, a negative regulator of wt-p53, competes with p63 for binding to mutp53R175H and in this way p63 activity is restored; but, on the other hand, MDM2 forms a trimeric complex with p73 and mutp53R273H strongly inhibiting p73 function (144). All these are clear examples of how different mutations in p53 protein could determine distinct protein-protein interactions and cell responses.

FUNCTIONAL IMPLICATION OF mutp53/p73/p63 PROTEIN INTERACTIONS IN CANCER

Knockout mice for p53^{-/-}, p73^{-/-} and p63^{-/-} highlight the major physiological roles of these proteins (96), suggesting pivotal

functions in the development of nervous and immune systems (mediated by p73), in skin and limb development (mediated by p63) and in tumor suppression (mediated primarily by p53) (111, 145–148).

The role of p73 and p63 in tumorigenesis (p53-dependent or independent) is controversial. In many tumors, these proteins are downregulated, in others they are overexpressed or their genes are amplified. This apparent incongruence is mainly due to the different isoforms, tissue-specific localization and functions exerted by these proteins (121, 130, 149, 150). The decisive effect depends on the ratio TA/ Δ N of p73 and p63 isoforms, p73/p63 interactions and p73/p63 binding to the promoters of p53-target genes. (151–155).

The status of p53 in cancer cells is a determining factor in the response to anticancer treatments (156-159). Some of the GOF activities mediated by mutp53 are related to the interaction, and consequent inactivation, of p73 and p63 (Figure 2). For example, the increase in chemoresistance to etoposide or cisplatin might involve the mutp53-dependent inactivation of p73-induced cell death (127, 128, 160-162). Importantly, in the presence of mutant p53 is observed a marked reduction of the transcriptional activity of p73 α , p73 β , p73 γ and p73 δ on the p21^{waf1} promoter (127). Gaiddon et al. (130) show that the interaction between p73 and p53 mutants (R175H, Y220C and R283H) reduces p73 transactivation of the p21^{waf1} promoter, highlighting the correlation between the capability of p53 mutants to interact with p73 and inhibit its transcriptional activity. Similar results are obtained for those p53 mutants that bind to p63 α and p63 γ reducing p63 activation of the p21^{waf1} promoter (130). When mutp53 binds to the OD domain of p73, it causes the functional inhibition of



p73, impairing the interactions with other modulators (162). Furthermore, when mutp53 binds to the DBD of p73, it provokes a physical sequester of p73 from the consensus sequences on the target genes (127, 163, 164). Similarly, mutp53/p63 interaction results in p63 impairment of the transcriptional activation of its target genes (Bax, p21^{waf1}, Cyclin G, 14-3-3 σ and p53AIP1) (46). The formation of mutp53/p63 complex is also directly related to promoting cell invasion and metastasis in several cancer cell lines through mutp53-dependent inactivation of TAp63 tumor suppression functions (165–167).

In the past, many studies were dedicated to restoring the wildtype activity of the mutant p53 proteins (168). A great number of small molecules, aiming to restore and stabilize the original DBD conformation of p53, have been developed, such as p53 reactivation and induction of massive apoptosis (PRIMA-1) and maleimide-derived molecule MIRA-1. These compounds showed great promise when tested in cancer cell lines, demonstrating the induction of apoptotic processes (169-172). Unfortunately, the application of these molecules in the clinical practice is far off because the increased activity of p53 subjects non-cancerous cells to apoptosis induction. Further research is needed to minimize the level of cell toxicity (173). Another approach, proposed by Di Agostino et al. (174), refers to the disassembling of the mutp53/ p73 complex using short interfering mutp53 peptides (SIMPs) (10-15 residues) that compete specifically with p73 for the binding of mutp53 to the DBD. This results in releasing p73 from the complex, activating apoptosis and rescuing cells from chemosensitivity. Notably, SIMPs have no cytotoxic effects on cells carrying wt-p53 proteins (174).

PRIMA-1^{MET} (APR-246, developed by APREA), a compound very similar to PRIMA-1 but much more active at low dosage, is discovered to restore mutant p53 (R273H and R175H) activity *in vitro* and *in vivo* (170, 175). Interestingly, PRIMA-1^{MET} not only restores the pro-apoptotic function of p53 but is also involved in activating downstream target genes of the p53 family (176, 177). PRIMA-1^{MET} alone and in combination with chemotherapeutic drugs are effective to induce apoptosis in vivo (178, 179). PRIMA-1^{MET} has also successfully completed a Phase I clinical trial, showing a promising efficacy (https://www.clinicaltrials. gov/ct2/show/NCT00900614). This molecule seems to lead to the formation of covalent adducts on mutant p53R175H and p53R273H proteins, but the exact mechanism of action has yet to be fully elucidated (180). Moreover, recently it is discovered that a small molecule, NSC59984, can restores wt-p53 signaling via p73 activation and induces p73-dependent cell death in colorectal cancer cells, without evident toxicity toward normal cells (181).

REFERENCES

- Yang A, Kaghad M, Wang Y, Gillett E, Fleming MD, Dotsch V, et al. p63, a p53 homolog at 3q27-29, encodes multiple products with transactivating, death-inducing, and dominant-negative activities. *Mol Cell* (1998) 2:305–16. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80275-0
- Yang A, Schweitzer R, Sun D, Kaghad M, Walker N, Bronson RT, et al. p63 is essential for regenerative proliferation in limb, craniofacial and epithelial development. *Nature* (1999) 398:714–8. doi:10.1038/19539
- Yang A, Kaghad M, Caput D, McKeon F. On the shoulders of giants: p63, p73 and therise of p53. *Trends Genet* (2002) 18:90–5. doi:10.1016/S0168-9525(02)02595-7

CONCLUSIONS

Flores et al. (164) demonstrated that wt-p53, p73 and p63 are recruited onto regulatory regions of the p53-target genes inducing growth arrest, differentiation, senescence and apoptosis (**Figure 2**). Despite this, the DBD of mutp53, previously regarded as "dead domain" since it could not bind to the wt-p53 binding site of its target genes, acquires a new protein–protein interaction function sequestering and inactivating tumor suppression proteins, including the family members p73 and p63. This mechanism contributes to the GOF activity of mutp53 (9).

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The precise tackling of GOF activity of mutant p53 might lead to the discovery of drugs with broad anticancer effects. As far as our knowledge on the molecular mechanisms governing mutant p53 oncogenic activities advances, we have learned that mutant p53 proteins are not a single entity but a protein family with high intrinsic complexities. Since mutant p53 is a partner of oncogenic multi-protein complexes, one way to severely defeat its pro-tumorigenic activity may reside in the specific targeting of its key cooperative partners. Along this line of evidence, agents that increase p73 and/or p63 activity promoting chemosensitivity could represent a promising strategy to treat tumors harboring mutant p53 proteins (122, 182, 183) (Figure 2). It could be useful to develop and validate reagents that interfere with mutp53/p73 and mutp53/p63 interactions restoring p53, p73, and p63 tumor suppression functions. NSC59984, PRIMA-1^{MET}, SIMPs and peptide aptamers, which bind specifically to mutant p53, could be a potent strategy in cancer therapy for these tumors (174, 181, 184) (Figure 2). Undoubtedly, greater knowledge must be acquired regarding the determinants of these oncogenic multi-protein complexes in order to design and pave novel therapeutic strategies to successfully treat mutant p53 human tumors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The authors, MF and SDA, provided the structure and the writing of the article, which was integrated and supervised by SS and GB.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Tania Merlino for kindly revising the English.

- Bergholz J, Xiao ZX. Role of p63 in development, tumorigenesis and cancer progression. Cancer Microenviron (2012) 5:311–22. doi:10.1007/s12307-012-0116-9
- 5. Kaelin WG Jr. Another p53 Doppelganger? Science (1998) 281:57-8.
- Kaelin WG Jr. The emerging p53 gene family. J Natl Cancer Inst (1999) 91:594–8. doi:10.1093/jnci/91.7.594
- Kaelin WG Jr. The p53 gene family. Oncogene (1999) 18:7701-5. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1202955
- Yang A, Walker N, Bronson R, Kaghad M, Oosterwegel M, Bonnin J, et al. p73-deficient mice have neurological, pheromonal and inflammatory defects but lack spontaneous tumours. *Nature* (2000) 404:99–103. doi:10.1038/35003607

- 9. Monti O, Damalas A, Strano S, Blandino G. p73, p63 and mutant p53: members of protein complexes floating in cancer cells. 2007 ed. In: Hainaut P, Wiman KG, editors. *25 Years of p53 Research*. Dordrecht: Springer (2007). p. 223–32.
- Melino G, Lu X, Gasco M, Crook T, Knight RA. Functional regulation of p73 and p63: development and cancer. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2003) 28:663–70. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2003.10.004
- Harms K, Nozell S, Chen X. The common and distinct target genes of the p53 family transcription factors. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2004) 61:822–42. doi:10.1007/ s00018-003-3304-4
- 12. Koutsodontis G, Vasilaki E, Chou WC, Papakosta P, Kardassis D. Physical and functional interactions between members of the tumour suppressor p53 and the Sp families of transcription factors: importance for the regulation of genes involved in cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis. *Biochem J* (2005) **389**:443–55. doi:10.1042/BJ20041980
- Collavin L, Lunardi A, Del Sal G. p53-family proteins and their regulators: hubs and spokes in tumor suppression. *Cell Death Differ* (2010) 17:901–11. doi:10.1038/cdd.2010.35
- Amelio I, Melino G. The p53 family and the hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs): determinants of cancer progression. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2015) 40:425–34. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2015.04.007
- Lin J, Teresky AK, Levine AJ. Two critical hydrophobic amino acids in the N-terminal domain of the p53 protein are required for the gain of function phenotypes of human p53 mutants. *Oncogene* (1995) 10:2387–90.
- Sauer M, Bretz AC, Beinoraviciute-Kellner R, Beitzinger M, Burek C, Rosenwald A, et al. C-terminal diversity within the p53 family accounts for differences in DNA binding and transcriptional activity. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2008) 36:1900–12. doi:10.1093/nar/gkn044
- Lane DP. Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature (1992) 358:15-6. doi:10.1038/358015a0
- Soddu S, Blandino G, Scardigli R, Coen S, Marchetti A, Rizzo MG, et al. Interference with p53 protein inhibits hematopoietic and muscle differentiation. J Cell Biol (1996) 134:193–204. doi:10.1083/jcb.134.1.193
- Levine AJ. p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. *Cell* (1997) 88:323–31. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81871-1
- Giaccia AJ, Kastan MB. The complexity of p53 modulation: emerging patterns from divergent signals. *Genes Dev* (1998) 12:2973–83. doi:10.1101/ gad.12.19.2973
- Ashcroft M, Kubbutat MH, Vousden KH. Regulation of p53 function and stability by phosphorylation. *Mol Cell Biol* (1999) 19:1751–8. doi:10.1128/ MCB.19.3.1751
- Oren M. Regulation of the p53 tumor suppressor protein. J Biol Chem (1999) 274:36031–4. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.51.36031
- Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ. Surfing the p53 network. Nature (2000) 408:307-10. doi:10.1038/35042675
- Vousden KH. p53: death star. Cell (2000) 103:691-4. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)00171-9
- Toledo F, Wahl GM. Regulating the p53 pathway: in vitro hypotheses, in vivo veritas. Nat Rev Cancer (2006) 6:909–23. doi:10.1038/nrc2012
- Yang A, Zhu Z, Kapranov P, McKeon F, Church GM, Gingeras TR, et al. Relationships between p63 binding, DNA sequence, transcription activity, and biological function in human cells. *Mol Cell* (2006) 24:593–602. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2006.10.018
- Murray-Zmijewski F, Slee EA, Lu X. A complex barcode underlies the heterogeneous response of p53 to stress. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2008) 9:702–12. doi:10.1038/nrm2451
- Kruse JP, Gu W. Modes of p53 regulation. Cell (2009) 137:609–22. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.050
- Kress M, May E, Cassingena R, May P. Simian virus 40-transformed cells express new species of proteins precipitable by anti-simian virus 40 tumor serum. *J Virol* (1979) 31:472–83.
- Lane DP, Crawford LV. T antigen is bound to a host protein in SV40transformed cells. *Nature* (1979) 278:261–3. doi:10.1038/278261a0
- Linzer DI, Levine AJ. Characterization of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumor antigen present in SV40-transformed cells and uninfected embryonal carcinoma cells. *Cell* (1979) 17:43–52. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(79)90293-9
- Vousden KH, Prives C. Blinded by the light: the growing complexity of p53. Cell (2009) 137:413–31. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.037

- Greenblatt MS, Bennett WP, Hollstein M, Harris CC. Mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene: clues to cancer etiology and molecular pathogenesis. *Cancer Res* (1994) 54:4855–78.
- 34. Hainaut P, Soussi T, Shomer B, Hollstein M, Greenblatt M, Hovig E, et al. Database of p53 gene somatic mutations in human tumors and cell lines: updated compilation and future prospects. *Nucleic Acids Res* (1997) 25:151–7. doi:10.1093/nar/25.1.151
- Brosh R, Rotter V. When mutants gain new powers: news from the mutant p53 field. Nat Rev Cancer (2009) 9:701–13. doi:10.1038/nrc2693
- Freed-Pastor WA, Prives C. Mutant p53: one name, many proteins. *Genes Dev* (2012) 26:1268–86. doi:10.1101/gad.190678.112
- 37. Prives C, Hall PA. The p53 pathway. J Pathol (1999) 187:112–26. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1096-9896(199901)187:1<112::AID-PATH250>3.3.CO;2-V
- Wong KB, DeDecker BS, Freund SM, Proctor MR, Bycroft M, Fersht AR. Hot-spot mutants of p53 core domain evince characteristic local structural changes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96:8438–42. doi:10.1073/ pnas.96.15.8438
- Chan WM, Siu WY, Lau A, Poon RY. How many mutant p53 molecules are needed to inactivate a tetramer? *Mol Cell Biol* (2004) 24:3536–51. doi:10.1128/ MCB.24.8.3536-3551.2004
- Joerger AC, Fersht AR. Structural biology of the tumor suppressor p53 and cancer-associated mutants. *Adv Cancer Res* (2007) 97:1–23. doi:10.1016/ S0065-230X(06)97001-8
- Chang NS, Doherty J, Ensign A, Schultz L, Hsu LJ, Hong Q. WOX1 is essential for tumor necrosis factor-, UV light-, staurosporine-, and p53-mediated cell death, and its tyrosine 33-phosphorylated form binds and stabilizes serine 46-phosphorylated p53. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:43100–8. doi:10.1074/jbc. M505590200
- Blandino G, Levine AJ, Oren M. Mutant p53 gain of function: differential effects of different p53 mutants on resistance of cultured cells to chemotherapy. Oncogene (1999) 18:477–85. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1202314
- Murphy KL, Dennis AP, Rosen JM. A gain of function p53 mutant promotes both genomic instability and cell survival in a novel p53-null mammary epithelial cell model. *FASEB J* (2000) 14:2291–302. doi:10.1096/ fj.00-0128com
- Sigal A, Rotter V. Oncogenic mutations of the p53 tumor suppressor: the demons of the guardian of the genome. *Cancer Res* (2000) 60:6788–93.
- Matas D, Sigal A, Stambolsky P, Milyavsky M, Weisz L, Schwartz D, et al. Integrity of the N-terminal transcription domain of p53 is required for mutant p53 interference with drug-induced apoptosis. *EMBO J* (2001) 20:4163–72. doi:10.1093/emboj/20.15.4163
- 46. Strano S, Fontemaggi G, Costanzo A, Rizzo MG, Monti O, Baccarini A, et al. Physical interaction with human tumor-derived p53 mutants inhibits p63 activities. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277:18817–26. doi:10.1074/jbc. M201405200
- 47. Di Agostino S, Strano S, Emiliozzi V, Zerbini V, Mottolese M, Sacchi A, et al. Gain of function of mutant p53: the mutant p53/NF-Y protein complex reveals an aberrant transcriptional mechanism of cell cycle regulation. *Cancer Cell* (2006) **10**:191–202. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2006.08.013
- Li Y, Prives C. Are interactions with p63 and p73 involved in mutant p53 gain of oncogenic function? Oncogene (2007) 26:2220–5. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1210311
- Soussi T, Wiman KG. Shaping genetic alterations in human cancer: the p53 mutation paradigm. *Cancer Cell* (2007) 12:303–12. doi:10.1016/j. ccr.2007.10.001
- Strano S, Dell'Orso S, Di Agostino S, Fontemaggi G, Sacchi A, Blandino G. Mutant p53: an oncogenic transcription factor. *Oncogene* (2007) 26:2212–9. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210296
- Weisz L, Damalas A, Liontos M, Karakaidos P, Fontemaggi G, Maor-Aloni R, et al. Mutant p53 enhances nuclear factor kappaB activation by tumor necrosis factor alpha in cancer cells. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:2396–401. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2425
- Weisz L, Oren M, Rotter V. Transcription regulation by mutant p53. Oncogene (2007) 26:2202–11. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210294
- Fontemaggi G, Dell'Orso S, Trisciuoglio D, Shay T, Melucci E, Fazi F, et al. The execution of the transcriptional axis mutant p53, E2F1 and ID4 promotes tumor neo-angiogenesis. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2009) 16:1086–93. doi:10.1038/ nsmb.1669

- Muller PA, Caswell PT, Doyle B, Iwanicki MP, Tan EH, Karim S, et al. Mutant p53 drives invasion by promoting integrin recycling. *Cell* (2009) 139:1327–41. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.11.026
- Oren M, Rotter V. Mutant p53 gain-of-function in cancer. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2010) 2:a001107. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a001107
- Stambolsky P, Tabach Y, Fontemaggi G, Weisz L, Maor-Aloni R, Siegfried Z, et al. Modulation of the vitamin D3 response by cancer-associated mutant p53. *Cancer Cell* (2010) 17:273–85. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.11.025
- Masciarelli S, Fontemaggi G, Di Agostino S, Donzelli S, Carcarino E, Strano S, et al. Gain-of-function mutant p53 downregulates miR-223 contributing to chemoresistance of cultured tumor cells. *Oncogene* (2014) 33:1601–8. doi:10.1038/onc.2013.106
- Valenti F, Ganci F, Fontemaggi G, Sacconi A, Strano S, Blandino G, et al. Gain of function mutant p53 proteins cooperate with E2F4 to transcriptionally downregulate RAD17 and BRCA1 gene expression. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:5547–66. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2587
- Schmale H, Bamberger C. A novel protein with strong homology to the tumor suppressor p53. Oncogene (1997) 15:1363–7. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1201500
- Melino G, De Laurenzi V, Vousden KH. p73: friend or foe in tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer (2002) 2:605–15. doi:10.1038/nrc861
- Cancino GI, Miller FD, Kaplan DR. p73 haploinsufficiency causes tau hyperphosphorylation and tau kinase dysregulation in mouse models of aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* (2013) 34:387–99. doi:10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2012.04.010
- 62. Mai M, Yokomizo A, Qian C, Yang P, Tindall DJ, Smith DI, et al. Activation of p73 silent allele in lung cancer. *Cancer Res* (1998) **58**:2347–9.
- 63. Irwin MS, Kaelin WG Jr. Role of the newer p53 family proteins in malignancy. Apoptosis (2001) **6**:17–29. doi:10.1023/A:1009663809458
- Bantel H, Simon HU. DeltaNp73beta is oncogenic in hepatocellular carcinoma by blocking apoptosis signaling via death receptors and mitochondria. *Cell Cycle* (2010) 9:2710–1. doi:10.4161/cc.9.14.12592
- Casciano I, Ponzoni M, Lo Cunsolo C, Tonini GP, Romani M. Different p73 splicing variants are expressed in distinct tumour areas of a multifocal neuroblastoma. *Cell Death Differ* (1999) 6:391–3. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4400522
- Carastro LM, Lin HY, Park HY, Kim D, Radlein S, Hampton KK, et al. Role of p73 dinucleotide polymorphism in prostate cancer and p73 protein isoform balance. *Prostate Cancer* (2014) 2014:129582. doi:10.1155/2014/129582
- Lee KE, Hong YS, Kim BG, Kim NY, Lee KM, Kwak JY, et al. p73 G4C14 to A4T14 polymorphism is associated with colorectal cancer risk and survival. *World J Gastroenterol* (2010) 16:4448–54. doi:10.3748/wjg.v16.i35.4448
- Buckbinder L, Talbott R, Velasco-Miguel S, Takenaka I, Faha B, Seizinger BR, et al. Induction of the growth inhibitor IGF-binding protein 3 by p53. *Nature* (1995) 377:646–9. doi:10.1038/377646a0
- Miyashita T, Reed JC. Tumor suppressor p53 is a direct transcriptional activator of the human bax gene. *Cell* (1995) 80:293–9. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90412-3
- Jost CA, Marin MC, Kaelin WG Jr. p73 is a simian [correction of human] p53-related protein that can induce apoptosis. *Nature* (1997) 389:191–4. doi:10.1038/38298
- Kaghad M, Bonnet H, Yang A, Creancier L, Biscan JC, Valent A, et al. Monoallelically expressed gene related to p53 at 1p36, a region frequently deleted in neuroblastoma and other human cancers. *Cell* (1997) **90**:809–19. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80540-1
- Zhu J, Jiang J, Zhou W, Chen X. The potential tumor suppressor p73 differentially regulates cellular p53 target genes. *Cancer Res* (1998) 58:5061–5.
- Okamoto K, Prives C. A role of cyclin G in the process of apoptosis. Oncogene (1999) 18:4606–15. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1202821
- Zaika AI, Kovalev S, Marchenko ND, Moll UM. Overexpression of the wild type p73 gene in breast cancer tissues and cell lines. *Cancer Res* (1999) 59:3257–63.
- Fontemaggi G, Gurtner A, Strano S, Higashi Y, Sacchi A, Piaggio G, et al. The transcriptional repressor ZEB regulates p73 expression at the crossroad between proliferation and differentiation. *Mol Cell Biol* (2001) 21:8461–70. doi:10.1128/MCB.21.24.8461-8470.2001
- Fontemaggi G, Kela I, Amariglio N, Rechavi G, Krishnamurthy J, Strano S, et al. Identification of direct p73 target genes combining DNA microarray and chromatin immunoprecipitation analyses. J Biol Chem (2002) 277:43359–68. doi:10.1074/jbc.M205573200

- Strano S, Rossi M, Fontemaggi G, Munarriz E, Soddu S, Sacchi A, et al. From p63 to p53 across p73. *FEBS Lett* (2001) **490**:163–70. doi:10.1016/ S0014-5793(01)02119-6
- Strano S, Munarriz E, Rossi M, Castagnoli L, Shaul Y, Sacchi A, et al. Physical interaction with Yes-associated protein enhances p73 transcriptional activity. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276:15164–73. doi:10.1074/jbc.M010484200
- Lapi E, Iovino A, Fontemaggi G, Soliera AR, Iacovelli S, Sacchi A, et al. S100A2 gene is a direct transcriptional target of p53 homologues during keratinocyte differentiation. *Oncogene* (2006) 25:3628–37. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1209401
- Aqeilan RI, Pekarsky Y, Herrero JJ, Palamarchuk A, Letofsky J, Druck T, et al. Functional association between Wwox tumor suppressor protein and p73, a p53 homolog. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) **101**:4401–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0400805101
- Lin D, Cui Z, Kong L, Cheng F, Xu J, Lan F. p73 participates in WWOXmediated apoptosis in leukemia cells. *Int J Mol Med* (2013) 31:849–54. doi:10.3892/ijmm.2013.1289
- Agami R, Blandino G, Oren M, Shaul Y. Interaction of c-Abl and p73alpha and their collaboration to induce apoptosis. *Nature* (1999) 399:809–13. doi:10.1038/21697
- Gong JG, Costanzo A, Yang HQ, Melino G, Kaelin WG Jr, Levrero M, et al. The tyrosine kinase c-Abl regulates p73 in apoptotic response to cisplatin-induced DNA damage. *Nature* (1999) 399:806–9. doi:10.1038/21690
- White E, Prives C. DNA damage enables p73. Nature (1999) 399(734– 735):737. doi:10.1038/21544
- Yuan ZM, Shioya H, Ishiko T, Sun X, Gu J, Huang YY, et al. p73 is regulated by tyrosine kinase c-Abl in the apoptotic response to DNA damage. *Nature* (1999) **399**:814–7. doi:10.1038/21704
- Costanzo A, Merlo P, Pediconi N, Fulco M, Sartorelli V, Cole PA, et al. DNA damage-dependent acetylation of p73 dictates the selective activation of apoptotic target genes. *Mol Cell* (2002) **9**:175–86. doi:10.1016/ S1097-2765(02)00431-8
- Strano S, Monti O, Pediconi N, Baccarini A, Fontemaggi G, Lapi E, et al. The transcriptional coactivator Yes-associated protein drives p73 gene-target specificity in response to DNA damage. *Mol Cell* (2005) 18:447–59. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2005.04.008
- Cottini F, Hideshima T, Xu C, Sattler M, Dori M, Agnelli L, et al. Rescue of Hippo coactivator YAP1 triggers DNA damage-induced apoptosis in hematological cancers. *Nat Med* (2014) 20:599–606. doi:10.1038/nm.3562
- Senoo M, Seki N, Ohira M, Sugano S, Watanabe M, Inuzuka S, et al. A second p53-related protein, p73L, with high homology to p73. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1998) 248:603–7. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1998.9013
- 90. Trink B, Okami K, Wu L, Sriuranpong V, Jen J, Sidransky D. A new human p53 homologue. *Nat Med* (1998) 4:747–8. doi:10.1038/nm0798-747
- Dohn M, Zhang S, Chen X. p63alpha and DeltaNp63alpha can induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis and differentially regulate p53 target genes. *Oncogene* (2001) 20:3193–205. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1204427
- Carroll DK, Carroll JS, Leong CO, Cheng F, Brown M, Mills AA, et al. p63 regulates an adhesion programme and cell survival in epithelial cells. *Nat Cell Biol* (2006) 8:551–61. doi:10.1038/ncb1420
- Nguyen BC, Lefort K, Mandinova A, Antonini D, Devgan V, Della Gatta G, et al. Cross-regulation between Notch and p63 in keratinocyte commitment to differentiation. *Genes Dev* (2006) 20:1028–42. doi:10.1101/ gad.1406006
- 94. Xu-Monette ZY, Zhang S, Li X, Manyam GC, Wang XX, Xia Y, et al. p63 expression confers significantly better survival outcomes in high-risk diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and demonstrates p53-like and p53-independent tumor suppressor function. *Aging (Albany NY)* (2016) 8(2):345–65.
- 95. Vanbokhoven H, Melino G, Candi E, Declercq W. p63, a story of mice and men. J Invest Dermatol (2011) **131**:1196–207. doi:10.1038/jid.2011.84
- Flores ER, Sengupta S, Miller JB, Newman JJ, Bronson R, Crowley D, et al. Tumor predisposition in mice mutant for p63 and p73: evidence for broader tumor suppressor functions for the p53 family. *Cancer Cell* (2005) 7:363–73. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2005.02.019
- Keyes WM, Vogel H, Koster MI, Guo X, Qi Y, Petherbridge KM, et al. p63 heterozygous mutant mice are not prone to spontaneous or chemically induced tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103:8435–40. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0602477103

- Su X, Chakravarti D, Flores ER. p63 steps into the limelight: crucial roles in the suppression of tumorigenesis and metastasis. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2013) 13:136–43. doi:10.1038/nrc3446
- Basu S, Totty NF, Irwin MS, Sudol M, Downward J. Akt phosphorylates the Yes-associated protein, YAP, to induce interaction with 14-3-3 and attenuation of p73-mediated apoptosis. *Mol Cell* (2003) 11:11–23. doi:10.1016/ S1097-2765(02)00776-1
- 100. Lapi E, Di Agostino S, Donzelli S, Gal H, Domany E, Rechavi G, et al. PML, YAP, and p73 are components of a proapoptotic autoregulatory feedback loop. *Mol Cell* (2008) 32:803–14. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2008.11.019
- 101. Xiao Q, Qian Z, Zhang W, Liu J, Hu E, Zhang J, et al. Depletion of CABYRa/b sensitizes lung cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis through YAP/p73-mediated DR5 upregulation. *Oncotarget* (2016). doi:10.18632/ oncotarget.7069
- 102. Blandino G, Dobbelstein M. p73 and p63: why do we still need them? *Cell Cycle* (2004) 3:886–94. doi:10.4161/cc.3.7.996
- Cho Y, Gorina S, Jeffrey PD, Pavletich NP. Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations. *Science* (1994) 265:346–55. doi:10.1126/science.8023157
- 104. De Laurenzi V, Melino G. Evolution of functions within the p53/p63/p73 family. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2000) 926:90–100. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000. tb05602.x
- Marin MC, Kaelin WG Jr. p63 and p73: old members of a new family. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2000) 1470:M93–100.
- Murray-Zmijewski F, Lane DP, Bourdon JC. p53/p63/p73 isoforms: an orchestra of isoforms to harmonise cell differentiation and response to stress. *Cell Death Differ* (2006) 13:962–72. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4401914
- 107. Serber Z, Lai HC, Yang A, Ou HD, Sigal MS, Kelly AE, et al. A C-terminal inhibitory domain controls the activity of p63 by an intramolecular mechanism. *Mol Cell Biol* (2002) 22:8601–11. doi:10.1128/MCB.22.24.8601-8611.2002
- Khoury MP, Bourdon JC. The isoforms of the p53 protein. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2010) 2:a000927. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a000927
- De Laurenzi V, Costanzo A, Barcaroli D, Terrinoni A, Falco M, Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli M, et al. Two new p73 splice variants, gamma and delta, with different transcriptional activity. *J Exp Med* (1998) 188:1763–8. doi:10.1084/ jem.188.9.1763
- 110. De Laurenzi VD, Catani MV, Terrinoni A, Corazzari M, Melino G, Costanzo A, et al. Additional complexity in p73: induction by mitogens in lymphoid cells and identification of two new splicing variants epsilon and zeta. *Cell Death Differ* (1999) 6:389–90. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4400521
- 111. Pozniak CD, Radinovic S, Yang A, McKeon F, Kaplan DR, Miller FD. An anti-apoptotic role for the p53 family member, p73, during developmental neuron death. *Science* (2000) 289:304–6. doi:10.1126/science.289.5477.304
- 112. Fillippovich I, Sorokina N, Gatei M, Haupt Y, Hobson K, Moallem E, et al. Transactivation-deficient p73alpha (p73Deltaexon2) inhibits apoptosis and competes with p53. Oncogene (2001) 20:514–22. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1204118
- 113. Ishimoto O, Kawahara C, Enjo K, Obinata M, Nukiwa T, Ikawa S. Possible oncogenic potential of DeltaNp73: a newly identified isoform of human p73. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62:636–41.
- 114. Stiewe T, Theseling CC, Putzer BM. Transactivation-deficient Delta TA-p73 inhibits p53 by direct competition for DNA binding: implications for tumorigenesis. J Biol Chem (2002) 277:14177–85. doi:10.1074/jbc.M200480200
- Stiewe T, Zimmermann S, Frilling A, Esche H, Putzer BM. Transactivationdeficient DeltaTA-p73 acts as an oncogene. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62:3598–602.
- 116. Bourdon JC, Fernandes K, Murray-Zmijewski F, Liu G, Diot A, Xirodimas DP, et al. p53 isoforms can regulate p53 transcriptional activity. *Genes Dev* (2005) 19:2122–37. doi:10.1101/gad.1339905
- 117. Mangiulli M, Valletti A, Caratozzolo MF, Tullo A, Sbisa E, Pesole G, et al. Identification and functional characterization of two new transcriptional variants of the human p63 gene. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2009) 37:6092–104. doi:10.1093/nar/gkp674
- Yang A, McKeon F. P63 and P73: P53 mimics, menaces and more. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2000) 1:199–207. doi:10.1038/35044563
- 119. Senoo M, Matsumura Y, Habu S. TAp63gamma (p51A) and dNp63alpha (p73L), two major isoforms of the p63 gene, exert opposite effects on the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) gene expression. *Oncogene* (2002) 21:2455–65. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1205330

- Rocco JW, Leong CO, Kuperwasser N, DeYoung MP, Ellisen LW. p63 mediates survival in squamous cell carcinoma by suppression of p73-dependent apoptosis. *Cancer Cell* (2006) 9:45–56. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2005.12.013
- Deyoung MP, Ellisen LW. p63 and p73 in human cancer: defining the network. Oncogene (2007) 26:5169–83. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210337
- Bisso A, Collavin L, Del Sal G. p73 as a pharmaceutical target for cancer therapy. *Curr Pharm Des* (2011) 17:578–90. doi:10.2174/138161211795222667
- 123. Memmi EM, Sanarico AG, Giacobbe A, Peschiaroli A, Frezza V, Cicalese A, et al. p63 Sustains self-renewal of mammary cancer stem cells through regulation of Sonic Hedgehog signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112:3499–504. doi:10.1073/pnas.1500762112
- 124. Orzol P, Nekulova M, Holcakova J, Muller P, Votesek B, Coates PJ. DeltaNp63 regulates cell proliferation, differentiation, adhesion, and migration in the BL2 subtype of basal-like breast cancer. *Tumour Biol* (2016). doi:10.1007/ s13277-016-4880-x
- Di Como CJ, Gaiddon C, Prives C. p73 function is inhibited by tumor-derived p53 mutants in mammalian cells. *Mol Cell Biol* (1999) 19:1438–49. doi:10.1128/MCB.19.2.1438
- 126. Marin MC, Jost CA, Brooks LA, Irwin MS, O'Nions J, Tidy JA, et al. A common polymorphism acts as an intragenic modifier of mutant p53 behaviour. *Nat Genet* (2000) 25:47–54. doi:10.1038/75586
- 127. Strano S, Munarriz E, Rossi M, Cristofanelli B, Shaul Y, Castagnoli L, et al. Physical and functional interaction between p53 mutants and different isoforms of p73. J Biol Chem (2000) 275:29503–12. doi:10.1074/jbc.M003360200
- Bergamaschi D, Gasco M, Hiller L, Sullivan A, Syed N, Trigiante G, et al. p53 polymorphism influences response in cancer chemotherapy via modulation of p73-dependent apoptosis. *Cancer Cell* (2003) 3:387–402. doi:10.1016/ S1535-6108(03)00079-5
- Dumont P, Leu JI, Della Pietra AC III, George DL, Murphy M. The codon 72 polymorphic variants of p53 have markedly different apoptotic potential. *Nat Genet* (2003) 33:357–65. doi:10.1038/ng1093
- 130. Gaiddon C, Lokshin M, Ahn J, Zhang T, Prives C. A subset of tumor-derived mutant forms of p53 down-regulate p63 and p73 through a direct interaction with the p53 core domain. *Mol Cell Biol* (2001) 21:1874–87. doi:10.1128/ MCB.21.5.1874-1887.2001
- 131. Bensaad K, Le Bras M, Unsal K, Strano S, Blandino G, Tominaga O, et al. Change of conformation of the DNA-binding domain of p53 is the only key element for binding of and interference with p73. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:10546–55. doi:10.1074/jbc.M208233200
- 132. Hinds PW, Finlay CA, Frey AB, Levine AJ. Immunological evidence for the association of p53 with a heat shock protein, hsc70, in p53-plusras-transformed cell lines. *Mol Cell Biol* (1987) 7:2863–9. doi:10.1128/ MCB.7.8.2863
- Dittmer D, Pati S, Zambetti G, Chu S, Teresky AK, Moore M, et al. Gain of function mutations in p53. *Nat Genet* (1993) 4:42-6. doi:10.1038/ ng0593-42
- Frazier MW, He X, Wang J, Gu Z, Cleveland JL, Zambetti GP. Activation of c-myc gene expression by tumor-derived p53 mutants requires a discrete C-terminal domain. *Mol Cell Biol* (1998) 18:3735–43. doi:10.1128/ MCB.18.7.3735
- 135. Gualberto A, Aldape K, Kozakiewicz K, Tlsty TD. An oncogenic form of p53 confers a dominant, gain-of-function phenotype that disrupts spindle checkpoint control. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1998) **95**:5166–71. doi:10.1073/ pnas.95.9.5166
- Santini S, Di Agostino S, Coppari E, Bizzarri AR, Blandino G, Cannistraro S. Interaction of mutant p53 with p73: a surface plasmon resonance and atomic force spectroscopy study. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1840:1958–64. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2014.02.014
- Bizzarri AR, Cannistraro S. Atomic force spectroscopy in biological complex formation: strategies and perspectives. *J Phys Chem B* (2009) 113:16449–64. doi:10.1021/jp902421r
- Bizzarri AR, Cannistraro S. The application of atomic force spectroscopy to the study of biological complexes undergoing a biorecognition process. *Chem Soc Rev* (2010) 39:734–49. doi:10.1039/b811426a
- Cooper MA. Label-free screening of bio-molecular interactions. Anal Bioanal Chem (2003) 377:834–42. doi:10.1007/s00216-003-2111-y
- Homola J. Surface plasmon resonance sensors for detection of chemical and biological species. *Chem Rev* (2008) 108:462–93. doi:10.1021/cr068107d

- 141. Weissmueller S, Manchado E, Saborowski M, Morris, JPt, Wagenblast E, et al. Mutant p53 drives pancreatic cancer metastasis through cell-autonomous PDGF receptor beta signaling. *Cell* (2014) 157:382–94. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2014.01.066
- 142. Liu K, Ling S, Lin WC. TopBP1 mediates mutant p53 gain of function through NF-Y and p63/p73. *Mol Cell Biol* (2011) **31**:4464–81. doi:10.1128/ MCB.05574-11
- 143. Wang G, Fersht AR. Propagation of aggregated p53: cross-reaction and coaggregation vs. seeding. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112:2443–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1500262112
- 144. Stindt MH, Muller PA, Ludwig RL, Kehrloesser S, Dotsch V, Vousden KH. Functional interplay between MDM2, p63/p73 and mutant p53. Oncogene (2015) 34:4300–10. doi:10.1038/onc.2014.359
- 145. Donehower LA, Harvey M, Slagle BL, McArthur MJ, Montgomery CA Jr, Butel JS, et al. Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. *Nature* (1992) 356:215–21. doi:10.1038/356215a0
- 146. Celli J, Duijf P, Hamel BC, Bamshad M, Kramer B, Smits AP, et al. Heterozygous germline mutations in the p53 homolog p63 are the cause of EEC syndrome. *Cell* (1999) **99**:143–53. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81646-3
- Mills AA, Zheng B, Wang XJ, Vogel H, Roop DR, Bradley A. p63 is a p53 homologue required for limb and epidermal morphogenesis. *Nature* (1999) 398:708–13. doi:10.1038/19531
- 148. van Bokhoven H, Brunner HG. Splitting p63. Am J Hum Genet (2002) 71:1-13. doi:10.1086/341450
- 149. Fomenkov A, Zangen R, Huang YP, Osada M, Guo Z, Fomenkov T, et al. RACK1 and stratifin target DeltaNp63alpha for a proteasome degradation in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells upon DNA damage. *Cell Cycle* (2004) 3:1285–95. doi:10.4161/cc.3.10.1155
- Zangen R, Ratovitski E, Sidransky D. DeltaNp63alpha levels correlate with clinical tumor response to cisplatin. *Cell Cycle* (2005) 4:1313–5. doi:10.4161/ cc.4.10.2066
- 151. Davison TS, Vagner C, Kaghad M, Ayed A, Caput D, Arrowsmith CH. p73 and p63 are homotetramers capable of weak heterotypic interactions with each other but not with p53. *J Biol Chem* (1999) 274:18709–14. doi:10.1074/ jbc.274.26.18709
- DeYoung MP, Johannessen CM, Leong CO, Faquin W, Rocco JW, Ellisen LW. Tumor-specific p73 up-regulation mediates p63 dependence in squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:9362–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-06-1619
- 153. Di C, Sun C, Li H, Si J, Zhang H, Han L, et al. Diallyl disulfide enhances carbon ion beams-induced apoptotic cell death in cervical cancer cells through regulating Tap73/DeltaNp73. *Cell Cycle* (2015) 14:3725–33. doi:10.1080/153 84101.2015.1104438
- Gonfloni S, Caputo V, Iannizzotto V. P63 in health and cancer. Int J Dev Biol (2015) 59:87–93. doi:10.1387/ijdb.150045sg
- 155. Lucena-Araujo AR, Kim HT, Thome C, Jacomo RH, Melo RA, Bittencourt R, et al. High DeltaNp73/TAp73 ratio is associated with poor prognosis in acute promyelocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2015) **126**:2302–6. doi:10.1182/blood-2015-01-623330
- Strano S, Dell'Orso S, Mongiovi AM, Monti O, Lapi E, Di Agostino S, et al. Mutant p53 proteins: between loss and gain of function. *Head Neck* (2007) 29:488–96. doi:10.1002/hed.20531
- 157. Suzuki K, Matsubara H. Recent advances in p53 research and cancer treatment. J Biomed Biotechnol (2011) 2011:978312. doi:10.1155/2011/978312
- Mirzayans R, Andrais B, Scott A, Murray D. New insights into p53 signaling and cancer cell response to DNA damage: implications for cancer therapy. *J Biomed Biotechnol* (2012) 2012:170325. doi:10.1155/2012/170325
- Muller PA, Vousden KH. Mutant p53 in cancer: new functions and therapeutic opportunities. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 25:304–17. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2014.01.021
- 160. Irwin MS, Kondo K, Marin MC, Cheng LS, Hahn WC, Kaelin WG Jr. Chemosensitivity linked to p73 function. *Cancer Cell* (2003) 3:403–10. doi:10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00078-3
- Strano S, Blandino G. p73-mediated chemosensitivity: a preferential target of oncogenic mutant p53. *Cell Cycle* (2003) 2:348–9. doi:10.4161/cc.2.4.426
- 162. Irwin MS. Family feud in chemosensitvity: p73 and mutant p53. Cell Cycle (2004) 3:319–23. doi:10.4161/cc.3.3.768
- 163. Nakano K, Vousden KH. PUMA, a novel proapoptotic gene, is induced by p53. *Mol Cell* (2001) 7:683–94. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00214-3

- 164. Flores ER, Tsai KY, Crowley D, Sengupta S, Yang A, McKeon F, et al. p63 and p73 are required for p53-dependent apoptosis in response to DNA damage. *Nature* (2002) **416**:560–4. doi:10.1038/416560a
- 165. Adorno M, Cordenonsi M, Montagner M, Dupont S, Wong C, Hann B, et al. A Mutant-p53/Smad complex opposes p63 to empower TGFbeta-induced metastasis. *Cell* (2009) 137:87–98. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.039
- 166. Marine JC, Berx G. Transforming growth factor-beta and mutant p53 conspire to induce metastasis by antagonizing p63: a (ternary) complex affair. *Breast Cancer Res* (2009) 11:304. doi:10.1186/bcr2337
- 167. Neilsen PM, Noll JE, Suetani RJ, Schulz RB, Al-Ejeh F, Evdokiou A, et al. Mutant p53 uses p63 as a molecular chaperone to alter gene expression and induce a pro-invasive secretome. *Oncotarget* (2011) 2:1203–17. doi:10.18632/ oncotarget.382
- Bullock AN, Fersht AR. Rescuing the function of mutant p53. Nat Rev Cancer (2001) 1:68–76. doi:10.1038/35094077
- 169. Bykov VJ, Issaeva N, Shilov A, Hultcrantz M, Pugacheva E, Chumakov P, et al. Restoration of the tumor suppressor function to mutant p53 by a low-molecular-weight compound. *Nat Med* (2002) 8:282–8. doi:10.1038/nm0302-282
- 170. Bykov VJ, Zache N, Stridh H, Westman J, Bergman J, Selivanova G, et al. PRIMA-1(MET) synergizes with cisplatin to induce tumor cell apoptosis. Oncogene (2005) 24:3484–91. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208419
- 171. Lambert JM, Gorzov P, Veprintsev DB, Soderqvist M, Segerback D, Bergman J, et al. PRIMA-1 reactivates mutant p53 by covalent binding to the core domain. *Cancer Cell* (2009) 15:376–88. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.03.003
- 172. Saha MN, Chen Y, Chen MH, Chen G, Chang H. Small molecule MIRA-1 induces in vitro and in vivo anti-myeloma activity and synergizes with current anti-myeloma agents. *Br J Cancer* (2014) **110**:2224–31. doi:10.1038/ bjc.2014.164
- 173. Mandinova A, Lee SW. The p53 pathway as a target in cancer therapeutics: obstacles and promise. *Sci Transl Med* (2011) 3:64rv61. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3001366
- 174. Di Agostino S, Cortese G, Monti O, Dell'Orso S, Sacchi A, Eisenstein M, et al. The disruption of the protein complex mutantp53/p73 increases selectively the response of tumor cells to anticancer drugs. *Cell Cycle* (2008) 7:3440–7. doi:10.4161/cc.7.21.6995
- 175. Zache N, Lambert JM, Wiman KG, Bykov VJ. PRIMA-1MET inhibits growth of mouse tumors carrying mutant p53. *Cell Oncol* (2008) **30**:411–8.
- 176. Saha MN, Jiang H, Yang Y, Reece D, Chang H. PRIMA-1Met/APR-246 displays high antitumor activity in multiple myeloma by induction of p73 and Noxa. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2013) **12**:2331–41. doi:10.1158/1535-7163. MCT-12-1166
- 177. Sobhani M, Abdi J, Manujendra SN, Chen C, Chang H. PRIMA-1Met induces apoptosis in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia cells independent of p53. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2015) 16:799–806. doi:10.1080/15384047.2015.1026482
- 178. Piantino CB, Reis ST, Viana NI, Silva IA, Morais DR, Antunes AA, et al. Prima-1 induces apoptosis in bladder cancer cell lines by activating p53. *Clinics* (2013) 68:297–303. doi:10.6061/clinics/2013(03)OA03
- 179. Shalom-Feuerstein R, Serror L, Aberdam E, Muller FJ, van Bokhoven H, Wiman KG, et al. Impaired epithelial differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells from ectodermal dysplasia-related patients is rescued by the small compound APR-246/PRIMA-1MET. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:2152–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1201753109
- 180. Lehmann S, Bykov VJ, Ali D, Andren O, Cherif H, Tidefelt U, et al. Targeting p53 in vivo: a first-in-human study with p53-targeting compound APR-246 in refractory hematologic malignancies and prostate cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2012) 30:3633–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.40.7783
- 181. Zhang S, Zhou L, Hong B, van den Heuvel AP, Prabhu VV, Warfel NA, et al. Small-molecule NSC59984 restores p53 pathway signaling and antitumor effects against colorectal cancer via p73 activation and degradation of mutant p53. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75:3842–52. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-13-1079
- Leong CO, Vidnovic N, DeYoung MP, Sgroi D, Ellisen LW. The p63/p73 network mediates chemosensitivity to cisplatin in a biologically defined subset of primary breast cancers. *J Clin Invest* (2007) 117:1370–80. doi:10.1172/ JCI30866
- Maslon MM, Hupp TR. Drug discovery and mutant p53. Trends Cell Biol (2010) 20:542–55. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2010.06.005

184. Guida E, Bisso A, Fenollar-Ferrer C, Napoli M, Anselmi C, Girardini JE, et al. Peptide aptamers targeting mutant p53 induce apoptosis in tumor cells. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68:6550–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0137

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Ferraiuolo, Di Agostino, Blandino and Strano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mutant p53 Drives Cancer by Subverting Multiple Tumor Suppression Pathways

Sue Haupt^{1,2*}, Dinesh Raghu^{1,3} and Ygal Haupt^{1,2,3,4}

¹ Tumour Suppression Laboratory, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ²Department of Pathology, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ³Sir Peter MacCallum Department of Oncology, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ⁴Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Monash University, Clayton, VIC, Australia

The tumor suppressor p53 normally acts as a brake to halt damaged cells from perpetrating their genetic errors into future generations. If p53 is disrupted by mutation, it may not only lose these corrective powers, but counterproductively acquire new capacities that drive cancer. A newly emerging manner in which mutant p53 executes its cancer promoting functions is by harnessing key proteins, which normally partner with its wild type, tumor-inhibiting counterpart. In association with the subverted activities of these protein partners, mutant p53 is empowered to act across multiple fundamental cellular pathways (regulating cell division and metabolism) and corrupt them to become cancer promoting.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Carlotta Giorgi, University of Ferrara, Italy

Reviewed by:

Mariusz R. Wieckowski, Polish Academy of Sciences, Poland Geert Bultynck, KU Leuven, Belgium

> *Correspondence: Sue Haupt sue.haupt@petermac.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 18 November 2015 Accepted: 12 January 2016 Published: 27 January 2016

Citation:

Haupt S, Raghu D and Haupt Y (2016) Mutant p53 Drives Cancer by Subverting Multiple Tumor Suppression Pathways. Front. Oncol. 6:12. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00012 Keywords: p53 mutations, gain of function, metabolism, cell cycle, transcriptional regulation

INTRODUCTION

Reliance on the tumor suppressive capacity of p53 is profoundly emphasized by its near universal malfunction in all cancers. P53 is the most altered gene in cancer. More than 50% of human cancers are afflicted with a p53 mutation. Severe consequences of p53 mutation include the failure to protect against cancer stimuli, compounded by the acquisition of new cancer promoting, "neomorphic" properties, referred to as "Gain of function" (GOF), covered by other reviews in this series [reviewed in Ref. (1)].

A particularly sinister GOF constitutes the subversion by mutant p53, of molecular partners of wild type (wt) p53, and this strategy forms the focus of this review. Specifically, mutant p53 conscripts proteins that normally partner with wt p53. This new association divests them of their anticancer activities and in place, they are corrupted to act as promoters of tumorigenesis [e.g., Ref. (2)]. A number of fundamental cellular functions that are normally tumor suppressive under the directive of wt p53 become severely derailed under the influence of mutant p53 to promote cancer. Mutant p53 deregulates normally tightly controlled fundamental processes (including control of the mitotic cell cycle, glycolysis, nucleic acid, and lipid synthesis) to promote deregulated, proliferative cancer cell growth (**Figure 1**). Identifying the nature and the regulation of this mutant p53, GOF predicts therapeutic avenues for reining-in the impact of mutant p53 and fighting cancer.



SUBVERSION OF CELL CYCLE REGULATION

Promyelocytic Leukemia

Proper cell cycle regulation is vital for normal cell function. Equally critical is the capacity to sense DNA damage and to interrupt the cycle to instigate repair or eliminate cells with irreparable damage, as appropriate. Wt p53 is a key dictator of cellular fate in response to DNA damage resulting from cellular stresses. Partnership with the tumor suppressor promyelocytic leukemia (PML) protein facilitates p53 stress responses. Specifically, wt p53 stabilization and activation in response to stress is promoted by PML, through temporal co-recruitment of post-translational modifiers of p53 [kinases: CK1 (3), CK2 (4), HIPK2 (5); acetylases: CBP/p300 (6); MOZ (7)], to functional service depots, known as "PML nuclear bodies" (PML-NBs). PML-NBs facilitate the addition of post-translational modifications to p53, which relieve it from its normally labile state. Stabilized wt p53 accumulates, halts cell cycle progression, and initiates molecular responses to either repair DNA or direct the execution of incurable cells. PML in turn is a direct target of wt p53 transcriptional activation, which defines a positive regulatory loop (8). Further, PML-NBs associate with sites of active transcription and appear to facilitate gene expression (9). PML loss alone does not cause cancer [at least in mice (10)]; however, interference with its function may promote cancer, as consistent with its discovery in acute PML, where PML is fused with RAR-alpha to generate the oncogenic PML–RAR-alpha (11).

Significantly, mutant p53 enslavement of PML defines a paradigm for mutant p53 disruption of tumor suppressive partners of wt p53. We identified that when p53 is mutated in cancer cells, its association with PML is constitutive, unlike the transient association with its wt p53 counterpart in response to stress. Importantly, PML facilitates mutant p53 to aberrantly transcribe targets in the context of hijacked transcription factor NF-Y [(2), building on foundational NF-Y studies (12)].

More explicitly, wt p53 is a transcription factor that regulates its target genes (to control DNA repair, growth, and metabolic cascades), through direct engagement of its responsive elements. In stark contrast, mutant p53 is unable to directly engage these specific elements, but rather anchors onto other transcription factors and interferes with their transcription [including NF-Y (12)]. One transcriptional target of mutant p53 in association with NF-Y and PML is CDC25C, which triggers entry into mitosis (counteracting wt p53 activated growth arrest). Consistently, mutant p53 cancer cells may become growth dependent on PML, to the point where PML depletion leads to growth inhibition (2). Paradoxically, the capacity of PML to promote wt p53 as a tumor suppressor in healthy cells redefines PML as "oncogenic" when associated with mutant p53 in cancer cells [review in Ref. (13)].

At a higher level, cell cycle control is coordinated by the Circadian clock (14), and wt p53 defines a unique point of convergence between these two fundamental vital cellular regulatory systems. The Circadian clock is subject both to wt p53 (15) and PML (16) regulation and in turn regulates important cell cycle genes, including p21, independently of p53 (17) (**Figure 2**). While disruption of the diurnal periods of ~24 h appears insufficient alone to cause cancer, new findings suggest that it can exacerbate cancer progression [reviewed in Ref. (14)].

At a molecular level, the clock is comprised of at least nine interplaying proteins, and we will discuss only those pertinent to this review. The clock is positively activated in a cyclic fashion through the combined activities of the two transcription factors: CLOCK and BMAL1 (**Figure 2**). As heterodimers, they engage E-Box motifs in the promoters of their target genes and induce transcription. Important transcriptional target genes, Per and Cry, and their protein products relocate to the nucleus and negatively regulate CLOCK and BMAL1: forming a negative feedback loop. To restart the cycle, a stimulus such as light (or pertinently to our discussion DNA damage) must prompt elimination of Per and Cry, which is mediated through proteolysis [reviewed in Ref. (18)].

Wt p53 controls the clock through negative regulation of Per2 expression (**Figure 2**). Mechanistically, wt p53 competes for a promoter region of Per2 normally occupied by activating CLOCK/BMAL1 (15). In normal healthy cells, p53 levels oscillate temporally and Per2 levels inversely correspond. In cells undergoing stress, wt p53 accumulation inhibits Per2 transcription. On a background of mutant p53, cancer is exacerbated by mutation of either the clock regulatory gene Per2 (19), or PML loss (20). The capacity of PML to function as an upstream regulator of Per2 is consistent with a common regulatory pathway (16). In sum, interplaying regulatory loops between p53, PML, the circadian clock, and the cell cycle are emerging, and their disruption has been linked to cancer in mouse models (19, 20). Links to human cancers are also emerging, with the possibility of sleep hormone therapies being trialed [i.e., melatonin (21)].

Phosphatase and Tensin homolog

Phosphatase and Tensin homolog (PTEN) is also a vital cell cycle regulator that has achieved its reputation as a tumor suppressor in the context of wild type (wt) p53. Pten curbs cell cycle progression and cell survival by suppressing PI3K–AKT/PKB cell survival pathway (22). PTEN functions as a tumor suppressor by stabilizing p53 protein in an Mdm2-dependent and/or -independent mechanism. (23). PTEN also increases the transcriptional activity of wt p53 through physical interaction (24). Reciprocally, wt p53



FIGURE 2 | Wt p53 is a pivotal point of connection between the mitotic cell cycle and the circadian clock. P53 activation is promoted by its transcriptional target PML. Once activated, wt p53 intervenes in the cell cycle through expression of its target gene, the checkpoint inhibitor p21. Upon stimulation, wt p53 can also intervene to affect the circadian clock. In contrast, when p53 is mutated, its interaction with PML becomes constitutive. Cancer is exacerbated when Per is mutated on a background of p53 mutation.

increases the transcription of PTEN by binding to the promoter of PTEN (25) and forming a feedback loop. These mutual relationships between PTEN and p53 promote tumor suppression.

In the context of mutant p53, in a diametrically opposing function, Pten promotes tumor growth (24). PTEN, in a comparable manner to PML, becomes oncogenic in cells expressing mutant p53 (26). PTEN stabilizes mutant p53 protein by inhibiting Mdm2-mediated degradation, which results in the inhibition of cell death and also in enhancement of cell proliferation (24). Additionally, PTEN increases the transcriptional activity of the mutant p53/acetylase CBP/NF-Y complex. This complex activates the transcription of c-Myc and Bcl-XL, which promotes cell survival and proliferation (26).

Polo-Like kinase-2

Polo-like kinase-2 (PLK2) is also a wt p53 target that contributes to cell cycle control. PLK2 is transcriptionally induced by wt p53 in response to the stress of DNA damage (27). PLK2 in a wt p53 setting is tumor suppressive, as engagement of p53 response elements in the promoter of PLK2 induces cell cycle arrest at the G2 checkpoint. In contrast, in a mutant p53 context, PLK2 functions as an oncogene. Distinct, indirect interaction between mutant p53 and PLK2, mediated through the conscription of the transcription factor NF-Y (to the CCAAT box promoter sequences), increases cell proliferation. A reinforcing feed back loop is created by PLK2 in turn phosphorylating mutant p53 on a site not phosphorylated on wt p53. Phosphorylated mutant p53 interacts more efficiently with p300 and promotes transcriptional activities of cell cycle activators (28). This feedback loop involving PLK2 defines a prototype cycle of reinforcement of mutant p53 GOF (29).

DIVERSION OF FUNDAMENTAL CELLULAR PATHWAYS

Rapid cell proliferation inherent in cancer growth is utterly dependent on the ready supply of "molecular building blocks." Recent studies have identified that fundamental metabolic processes normally regulated by wt p53 are extensively disrupted by mutant p53 to facilitate the supply of these necessities.

Nucleotide Metabolism RRM2b

Proper repair of DNA damage is orchestrated by wt p53, which not only temporally halts cell cycle progression to allow repair, but also actively facilitates the supply of constituents for the repair. Specifically, in response to DNA damage, wt p53 transcriptionally activates the small subunit of the ribonucleotide reductase (RRM2b) in a temporary manner, to facilitate the catalytic conversion of ribonucleoside diphosphates to deoxyribonucleoside diphosphates, which is an essential step for DNA synthesis. In contrast, when p53 is mutated, it constitutively upregulates RRM2b expression. Importantly, the mechanism of transcriptional activation of RRM2b is dependent on the status of p53: where wt p53 engages its REs in the intronic region and in contrast mutant p53 localizes to the promoter. Further, it has emerged that mutant p53 transcriptionally drives additional nucleotide metabolic genes, both in the salvage and new synthesis pathways, through co-recruitment with the transcription factor ETS2, to its target gene promoters. ETS2 engagement by mutant p53 is a recurring theme, as we discuss below for epigenetic regulation. Overall, mutant p53 upregulates nucleotide biosynthesis, which contributes to meeting the voracious demands of rapidly proliferating and invading cancers (30).

Glucose Metabolism

Glucose Transporter 1

Regulated glucose metabolism is vital for maintaining healthy, normal cell homeostasis, in contrast to the voracious consumption of glucose that feeds cancer cell proliferation and is inherent in the "Warburg effect." Proper glucose regulation is then an important tumor suppressive capacity of wt p53. Wt p53 regulates glucose metabolism by restricting cellular glucose at three levels through (31): (1) suppression of the expression of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) and 4 (32); (2) transcriptional regulation of target genes, which inhibit glycolysis [TIGAR (33)] and gluconeogenesis in the liver (34); and (3) direct binding and inhibition of the rate-limiting enzyme (glucose-6-phophate dehydrogenase) in an alternative anabolic pathway [the pentose phosphate pathway (35)].

Profoundly, when p53 is mutated, not only are these points of regulating glucose metabolism lost but further glucose uptake is accentuated through a novel GOF. This disastrous mutant p53 GOF is the shunting of the glucose transporter, Glut1, to the cell membrane surface where it stokes glucose uptake by cancer cells (36). Elevated glucose levels feed into metabolic anabolism to provide the increased demand for the molecular building blocks required to support rapid cancer cell proliferation, inherent in the Warburg effect. Reciprocally, glucose maintains mutant p53 stability and promotes cancer cell growth (37), generating a positive regulatory loop.

Reliance on a mutant p53-dependent enhanced supply of glucose to foster cell proliferation defines a unique point of vulnerability in cancer cells. This appetite for glucose identifies a potential therapy target which is currently being extensively investigated [i.e., ketogenic diets (38) and repurposing of the widely used diabetic metformin (39)].

Lipid Metabolism

Sterol Regulatory Element-Binding Proteins

A controlled supply of lipids is vital for regulated cell division and maintenance. Nearly every enzyme in the fatty acid and cholesterol synthesis are subject to regulation by the transcription factor of sterol regulatory element-binding proteins [SREBPs (40)]. Specifically, SREBP-1 dictates expression of lipogenic enzymes including fatty acid synthase, while SREBP-2 regulates cholesterol synthesis [reviewed in Ref. (41)]. In response to stress, consistent with halting cell division, wt p53 restrains lipid accumulation by inhibiting expression of the transcription factor SREBP-1, and in turn triglyceride synthesis, and lipogenic genes (41). In contrast, mutant p53 engages the SREBPs (both SREBP-1 and -2) directly. Mutant p53 is recruited to SREBP target gene promoters (although co-recruitment remains to be directly demonstrated). Mutant p53 appears to upregulate transcription of key enzymes in the sterol pathway and fatty acid biosynthesis pathway. Mutant p53 correlates with increased expression of enzymes in both the mevalonate synthesis (cholesterol) pathway and fatty acid synthesis pathways. Mutant p53 upregulation of these vital pathways is consistent with meeting increased demand for membrane lipids in rapidly proliferating cancer cells (42).

Antioxidant Pathways

Nuclear Factor Erythroid-Related Factor-2

Reactive oxygen intermediates perform important cellular functions including signaling; however, they are seriously damaging to normal cells if not properly contained and are linked to cancer [review in Ref (43)]. A master redox regulator is the transcription factor, nuclear factor erythroid-related factor-2 (NRF2) (44). P53 acts as a stress-rheostat controller of Nrf2 levels. Specifically, in response to mild stress, p53 transcriptionally activates the vital cell cycle inhibitor, p21, which binds to Nrf2 and consequently relieves it from its normal restraint (45). Relocation of NRF2 from the cytoplasm to the nucleus permits it to regulate multiple antioxidant targets, where some ~200 genes have been reported (44). These include the NADH-quinone oxidoreductase1 (NQO1), which also has differential function in a wt (46) versus mutant p53 context (47) (but will not be further elaborated here). When stress insults are severe, however, p53 inhibits Nrf2 (45). This exquisite level of control is consistent with p53 instigating repair in response to mild stress insults while intervening to prevent remedial action in those that are irrevocably damaged.

A novel GOF of mutant p53 is its capacity to reduce Nrf2 protein levels (without impacting its mRNA), in response to oxidative stress. The consequence is low levels of Nrf2 target detoxifying genes and elevated levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Remarkably, in contrast to growth inhibition imposed on wt p53 cells subject to oxidative stress, those with mutant p53 tolerate elevated ROS, survive, and proliferate (48).

INTERFERENCE WITH TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION

When p53 is mutated, a radical shift in transcriptional activity occurs, which is conducive to cancer promotion. An altered repertoire of transcription factor engagement is emerging for mutant p53. While mutant p53 is not able to directly engage wt p53 response elements, it may instead directly bind its wt counterpart and impose a dominant negative effect over wt p53 functions, including depriving it of capacity to regulate transcription. Mutant p53 may also engage transcription factors that wt p53 does not, including the family members p63 and p73 and disrupt their functions. More specifically, the presence of arginine at codon 72 dictates the capacity of mutant p53 to sequester p73, where mutants with proline are incapable of this inactivation (49, 50).

Beyond this negative regulation of wt p53 and its family members, mutant p53 may hijack transcription factor partners and disrupt their normal transcriptional activity (as mentioned above). Mutant p53 has been reported to engage NF-Y, NF-kappa B, SP1, E2F1, ETS1, ETS2, and SREBP. The outcome may be altered target engagement, or a change in the rate of transcription relative to a wt p53 context. These features of mutant p53 have been comprehensively reviewed recently (51), so we will concentrate on new findings.

SWI/SNF

At a higher level, mutant p53 disruption of chromatin regulation is also now emerging. In order for wt p53 to access specific DNA responsive elements in the regulatory regions (upstream promoters or introns) of its target genes, it must coordinate with numerous chromatin regulators to expose appropriate regulatory elements and associated DNA to be transcribed (52). Wt p53 exercises this activity in the context of components of the ATPdependent nucleosomal remodeler SWI/SNF complex (53, 54). Mutant p53 has now also been identified to engage the SWI/SNF complex. However, in contrast to wt p53, mutant p53 is unable to directly engage wt p53 DNA response elements but rather localizes to distinct gene promoters through alternative transcription factors (as mentioned above). Through this co-recruitment, the SWI/SNF complex is predicted to facilitate more than 40% of all the genes transcribed by mutant p53 [where the primary example of altered regulation is the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2; VEGF2, which is vital for neoangiogenesis associated with oncogenesis (55)].

MLLs/MOZ

Mutant p53 can also alter transcriptional machinery, through distinct interactions from its wt counterpart. Wt p53 is able to physically interact through its core domain with the RNA polymerase II (POL II, large subunit) and limit target gene expression (56). In contrast, through engagement of the transcription factor ETS2 [as first demonstrated in Ref. (57)], mutant p53 is able to redirect POLII to transcribe the histone methyl transferases MLL1 and MLL2 and also acetyltransferase MOZ (58). This emphasizes the insidious capacity of mutant p53 to overpower fundamental transcriptional processes to support elevated proliferation. The newly emerging application of small molecule compounds to target chromatin regulators predicts application for cancers dependent on mutant p53. Specifically, cell growth inhibition of mutant p53 cancer has been demonstrated with prototoype inhibitors (58).

CONCLUSION

Corruption of the normal interactions between wt p53 and its molecular partners appears to lie at the heart of significant tumor promoting mutant p53 GOFs. Intriguingly, p53 mutations, which eliminate its function (e.g., deletion mutations), are rare, in contrast to the frequent activating missense mutations. To an extent, which appears unequaled by any other gene, mutation of p53 confers an exceptionally wide range of fundamental new properties that promote deregulated cell growth. These findings provide new insights directing innovative and rational approaches to therapeutically targeting cancers with mutant p53, which have proven particularly resistant to treatment. The polarized functions of these key p53 partners, would also caution that p53 status be an important criteria to consider prior to adoption of therapies directed toward these targets.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SH wrote the paper and prepared the figures. DR contributed to writing the paper and to preparing a figure. YH contributed to discussion and editing the paper.

REFERENCES

- Oren M, Rotter V. Mutant p53 gain-of-function in cancer. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2010) 2(2):a001107. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a001107
- Haupt S, di Agostino S, Mizrahi I, Alsheich-Bartok O, Voorhoeve M, Damalas A, et al. Promyelocytic leukemia protein is required for gain of function by mutant p53. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(11):4818–26. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-08-4010
- Alsheich-Bartok O, Haupt S, Alkalay-Snir I, Saito S, Appella E, Haupt Y. PML enhances the regulation of p53 by CK1 in response to DNA damage. *Oncogene* (2008) 27(26):3653–61. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1211036
- Louria-Hayon I, Grossman T, Sionov RV, Alsheich O, Pandolfi PP, Haupt Y. The promyelocytic leukemia protein protects p53 from Mdm2-mediated inhibition and degradation. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278(35):33134–41. doi:10.1074/jbc.M301264200
- Moller A, Sirma H, Hofmann TG, Rueffer S, Klimczak E, Droge W, et al. PML is required for homeodomain-interacting protein kinase 2 (HIPK2)-mediated p53 phosphorylation and cell cycle arrest but is dispensable for the formation of HIPK domains. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(15):4310–4.
- Pearson M, Carbone R, Sebastiani C, Cioce M, Fagioli M, Saito S, et al. PML regulates p53 acetylation and premature senescence induced by oncogenic Ras. *Nature* (2000) 406(6792):207–10. doi:10.1038/35018127
- Rokudai S, Laptenko O, Arnal SM, Taya Y, Kitabayashi I, Prives C. MOZ increases p53 acetylation and premature senescence through its complex formation with PML. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) **110**(10):3895–900. doi:10.1073/pnas.1300490110
- de Stanchina E, Querido E, Narita M, Davuluri RV, Pandolfi PP, Ferbeyre G, et al. PML is a direct p53 target that modulates p53 effector functions. *Mol Cell* (2004) 13(4):523–35. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(04)00062-0
- Kiesslich A, von Mikecz A, Hemmerich P. Cell cycle-dependent association of PML bodies with sites of active transcription in nuclei of mammalian cells. *J Struct Biol* (2002) 140(1–3):167–79. doi:10.1016/S1047-8477(02)00571-3
- Bernardi R, Pandolfi PP. Role of PML and the PML-nuclear body in the control of programmed cell death. *Oncogene* (2003) 22(56):9048–57. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1207106
- 11. Pandolfi PP, Alcalay M, Fagioli M, Zangrilli D, Mencarelli A, Diverio D, et al. Genomic variability and alternative splicing generate multiple PML/ RAR alpha transcripts that encode aberrant PML proteins and PML/ RAR alpha isoforms in acute promyelocytic leukaemia. *EMBO J* (1992) 11(4):1397–407.
- Di Agostino S, Strano S, Emiliozzi V, Zerbini V, Mottolese M, Sacchi A, et al. Gain of function of mutant p53: the mutant p53/NF-Y protein complex reveals an aberrant transcriptional mechanism of cell cycle regulation. *Cancer Cell* (2006) 10(3):191–202. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2006.08.013
- Di Agostino S, Strano S, Blandino G. Gender, mutant p53 and PML: a growing "affaire" in tumor suppression and oncogenesis. *Cell Cycle* (2013) 12(12):1824–5. doi:10.4161/cc.25174
- Tan XM, Ye H, Yang K, Chen D, Wang QQ, Tang H, et al. Circadian variations of clock gene Per2 and cell cycle genes in different stages of carcinogenesis in golden hamster buccal mucosa. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:9997. doi:10.1038/srep09997
- Miki T, Matsumoto T, Zhao Z, Lee CC. p53 regulates period2 expression and the circadian clock. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:2444. doi:10.1038/ncomms3444
- Miki T, Xu Z, Chen-Goodspeed M, Liu M, Van Oort-Jansen A, Rea MA, et al. PML regulates PER2 nuclear localization and circadian function. *EMBO J* (2012) 31(6):1427–39. doi:10.1038/emboj.2012.1
- Grechez-Cassiau A, Rayet B, Guillaumond F, Teboul M, Delaunay F. The circadian clock component BMAL1 is a critical regulator of p21WAF1/CIP1 expression and hepatocyte proliferation. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283(8):4535–42. doi:10.1074/jbc.M705576200
- Sahar S, Sassone-Corsi P. Metabolism and cancer: the circadian clock connection. Nat Rev Cancer (2009) 9(12):886–96. doi:10.1038/nrc2747

FUNDING

The work in the author lab is supported by NHMRC project grants (1049179 and 1063389), NHMRC Fellowship to YH (9628426), and by a grant from CCV (1085154).

- Gu X, Xing L, Shi G, Liu Z, Wang X, Qu Z, et al. The circadian mutation PER2(S662G) is linked to cell cycle progression and tumorigenesis. *Cell Death Differ* (2012) 19(3):397–405. doi:10.1038/cdd.2011.103
- Haupt S, Mitchell C, Corneille V, Shortt J, Fox S, Pandolfi PP, et al. Loss of PML cooperates with mutant p53 to drive more aggressive cancers in a gender-dependent manner. *Cell Cycle* (2013) 12(11):1722–31. doi:10.4161/cc.24805
- Jung-Hynes B, Huang W, Reiter RJ, Ahmad N. Melatonin resynchronizes dysregulated circadian rhythm circuitry in human prostate cancer cells. J Pineal Res (2010) 49(1):60–8. doi:10.1111/j.1600-079X.2010.00767.x
- Yin Y, Shen WH. PTEN: a new guardian of the genome. Oncogene (2008) 27(41):5443–53. doi:10.1038/onc.2008.241
- Freeman DJ, Li AG, Wei G, Li HH, Kertesz N, Lesche R, et al. PTEN tumor suppressor regulates p53 protein levels and activity through phosphatase-dependent and -independent mechanisms. *Cancer Cell* (2003) 3(2):117–30. doi:10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00021-7
- 24. Li Y, Guessous F, Kwon S, Kumar M, Ibidapo O, Fuller L, et al. PTEN has tumor-promoting properties in the setting of gain-of-function p53 mutations. *Cancer Res* (2008) **68**(6):1723–31. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1963
- Stambolic V, MacPherson D, Sas D, Lin Y, Snow B, Jang Y, et al. Regulation of PTEN transcription by p53. *Mol Cell* (2001) 8(2):317–25. doi:10.1016/ S1097-2765(01)00323-9
- Huang X, Zhang Y, Tang Y, Butler N, Kim J, Guessous F, et al. A novel PTEN/ mutant p53/c-Myc/Bcl-XL axis mediates context-dependent oncogenic effects of PTEN with implications for cancer prognosis and therapy. *Neoplasia* (2013) 15(8):952–65. doi:10.1593/neo.13376
- Burns TF, Fei P, Scata KA, Dicker DT, El-Deiry WS. Silencing of the novel p53 target gene Snk/Plk2 leads to mitotic catastrophe in paclitaxel (taxol)-exposed cells. *Mol Cell Biol* (2003) 23(16):5556–71. doi:10.1128/ MCB.23.16.5556-5571.2003
- Valenti F, Fausti F, Biagioni F, Shay T, Fontemaggi G, Domany E, et al. Mutant p53 oncogenic functions are sustained by Plk2 kinase through an autoregulatory feedback loop. *Cell Cycle* (2011) 10(24):4330–40. doi:10.4161/ cc.10.24.18682
- Haupt S, Haupt Y. Mutant p53 subverts PLK2 function in a novel, reinforced loop of corruption. Cell Cycle (2012) 11(2):217–8. doi:10.4161/cc.11.2.18977
- Kollareddy M, Dimitrova E, Vallabhaneni KC, Chan A, Le T, Chauhan KM, et al. Regulation of nucleotide metabolism by mutant p53 contributes to its gain-of-function activities. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:7389. doi:10.1038/ ncomms8389
- Gottlieb E, Vousden KH. p53 regulation of metabolic pathways. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2010) 2(4):a001040. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a001040
- Schwartzenberg-Bar-Yoseph F, Armoni M, Karnieli E. The tumor suppressor p53 down-regulates glucose transporters GLUT1 and GLUT4 gene expression. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(7):2627–33. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-0846
- Bensaad K, Tsuruta A, Selak MA, Vidal MN, Nakano K, Bartrons R, et al. TIGAR, a p53-inducible regulator of glycolysis and apoptosis. *Cell* (2006) 126(1):107–20. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.05.036
- Wang YC, Lee HS, Chen SK, Yang SC, Chen CY. Analysis of K-ras gene mutations in lung carcinomas: correlation with gender, histological subtypes, and clinical outcome. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol (1998) 124(9):517–22. doi:10.1007/ s004320050208
- Jiang P, Du W, Wang X, Mancuso A, Gao X, Wu M, et al. p53 regulates biosynthesis through direct inactivation of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase. *Nat Cell Biol* (2011) 13(3):310–6. doi:10.1038/ncb2172
- Zhang C, Liu J, Liang Y, Wu R, Zhao Y, Hong X, et al. Tumour-associated mutant p53 drives the Warburg effect. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:2935. doi:10.1038/ncomms3935
- Rodriguez OC, Choudhury S, Kolukula V, Vietsch EE, Catania J, Preet A, et al. Dietary downregulation of mutant p53 levels via glucose restriction: mechanisms and implications for tumor therapy. *Cell Cycle* (2012) 11(23):4436–46. doi:10.4161/cc.22778

- Paoli A, Rubini A, Volek JS, Grimaldi KA. Beyond weight loss: a review of the therapeutic uses of very-low-carbohydrate (ketogenic) diets. *Eur J Clin Nutr* (2013) 67(8):789–96. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2013.116
- Morales DR, Morris AD. Metformin in cancer treatment and prevention. *Annu Rev Med* (2015) 66:17–29. doi:10.1146/annurev-med-062613-093128
- Horton JD, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. SREBPs: activators of the complete program of cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis in the liver. *J Clin Invest* (2002) 109(9):1125–31. doi:10.1172/JCI15593
- Yahagi N, Shimano H, Matsuzaka T, Najima Y, Sekiya M, Nakagawa Y, et al. p53 activation in adipocytes of obese mice. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278(28):25395–400. doi:10.1074/jbc.M302364200
- Freed-Pastor WA, Mizuno H, Zhao X, Langerod A, Moon SH, Rodriguez-Barrueco R, et al. Mutant p53 disrupts mammary tissue architecture via the mevalonate pathway. *Cell* (2012) 148(1–2):244–58. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2011.12.017
- Costa A, Scholer-Dahirel A, Mechta-Grigoriou F. The role of reactive oxygen species and metabolism on cancer cells and their microenvironment. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2014) 25:23–32. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.12.007
- Camp ND, James RG, Dawson DW, Yan F, Davison JM, Houck SA, et al. Wilms tumor gene on X chromosome (WTX) inhibits degradation of NRF2 protein through competitive binding to KEAP1 protein. *J Biol Chem* (2012) 287(9):6539–50. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.316471
- Chen W, Sun Z, Wang XJ, Jiang T, Huang Z, Fang D, et al. Direct interaction between Nrf2 and p21(Cip1/WAF1) upregulates the Nrf2-mediated antioxidant response. *Mol Cell* (2009) 34(6):663–73. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2009.04.029
- Tsvetkov P, Reuven N, Shaul Y. Ubiquitin-independent p53 proteasomal degradation. Cell Death Differ (2010) 17(1):103-8. doi:10.1038/ cdd.2009.67
- Asher G, Lotem J, Tsvetkov P, Reiss V, Sachs L, Shaul Y. P53 hot-spot mutants are resistant to ubiquitin-independent degradation by increased binding to NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(25):15065–70. doi:10.1073/pnas.2436329100
- Kalo E, Kogan-Sakin I, Solomon H, Bar-Nathan E, Shay M, Shetzer Y, et al. Mutant p53R273H attenuates the expression of phase 2 detoxifying enzymes and promotes the survival of cells with high levels of reactive oxygen species. *J Cell Sci* (2012) 125(22):5578–86. doi:10.1242/jcs.106815
- Marin MC, Jost CA, Brooks LA, Irwin MS, O'Nions J, Tidy JA, et al. A common polymorphism acts as an intragenic modifier of mutant p53 behaviour. *Nat Genet* (2000) 25(1):47–54. doi:10.1038/75586

- Bergamaschi D, Gasco M, Hiller L, Sullivan A, Syed N, Trigiante G, et al. p53 polymorphism influences response in cancer chemotherapy via modulation of p73-dependent apoptosis. *Cancer Cell* (2003) 3(4):387–402. doi:10.1016/ S1535-6108(03)00079-5
- Muller PA, Vousden KH. p53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol (2013) 15(1):2-8. doi:10.1038/ncb2641
- Laptenko O, Prives C. Transcriptional regulation by p53: one protein, many possibilities. *Cell Death Differ* (2006) 13(6):951-61. doi:10.1038/ sj.cdd.4401916
- Lee D, Kim JW, Seo T, Hwang SG, Choi EJ, Choe J. SWI/SNF complex interacts with tumor suppressor p53 and is necessary for the activation of p53-mediated transcription. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(25):22330–7. doi:10.1074/jbc. M111987200
- Xu Y, Zhang J, Chen X. The activity of p53 is differentially regulated by Brmand Brg1-containing SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complexes. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282(52):37429–35. doi:10.1074/jbc.M706039200
- Pfister NT, Fomin V, Regunath K, Zhou JY, Zhou W, Silwal-Pandit L, et al. Mutant p53 cooperates with the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex to regulate VEGFR2 in breast cancer cells. *Genes Dev* (2015) 29(12):1298–315. doi:10.1101/gad.263202.115
- Kim S, Balakrishnan SK, Gross DS. p53 interacts with RNA polymerase II through its core domain and impairs Pol II processivity in vivo. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(8):e22183. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022183
- Do PM, Varanasi L, Fan S, Li C, Kubacka I, Newman V, et al. Mutant p53 cooperates with ETS2 to promote etoposide resistance. *Genes Dev* (2012) 26(8):830–45. doi:10.1101/gad.181685.111
- Zhu J, Sammons MA, Donahue G, Dou Z, Vedadi M, Getlik M, et al. Gainof-function p53 mutants co-opt chromatin pathways to drive cancer growth. *Nature* (2015) 525(7568):206–11. doi:10.1038/nature15251

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Haupt, Raghu and Haupt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mutant p53 and ETS2, a Tale of Reciprocity

Luis Alfonso Martinez*

Department of Pathology, Stony Brook Cancer Center, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, USA

TP53 is one of the most frequently inactivated tumor suppressor genes in human cancer. However, unlike other tumor suppressor genes whose expression is lost, TP53 is usually inactivated as a result of a single nucleotide change within the coding region. Typically, these single nucleotide mutations result in a codon change that creates an amino acid substitution. Thus, unlike other tumor suppressor genes whose expression is lost due to genetic or epigenetic changes, the p53 gene primarily suffers missense mutations, and therefore, the cells retain and express a mutant form of the p53 protein (mtp53). It is now well established that mtp53 contributes to tumor development through its gain-of-function (GOF) activities. These GOF activities can arise from novel protein–protein interactions that can either disable other tumor suppressors (e.g., p63 and p73) or enable oncogenes such as ETS2, an ETS family member. In this review, I will focus on the identification of the mtp53/ETS2 complex and outline the diverse activities that this transcriptional regulatory complex controls to promote cancer.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giovanni Blandino, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Italy

Reviewed by:

Takaomi Sanda, National University of Singapore, Singapore Giovanni Sorrentino, Laboratorio Nazionale del Consorzio Interuniversitario per le Biotecnologie, Italy

*Correspondence:

Luis Alfonso Martinez Luis.Martinez@ stonybrookmedicine.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 30 November 2015 Accepted: 02 February 2016 Published: 18 February 2016

Citation:

Martinez LA (2016) Mutant p53 and ETS2, a Tale of Reciprocity. Front. Oncol. 6:35. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00035 Keywords: p53, Ets2, cancer, tumor suppressor protein p53, transcription factors

SIMULTANEOUS INACTIVATION OF WILD-TYPE p53's TUMOR SUPPRESSOR ACTIVITY AND ACTIVATION OF MUTANT p53's GOF ACTIVITIES

The majority of mutations in the p53 gene cluster within the region that encodes the DNA-binding domain. Some of these mutations alter the overall conformation of the protein (referred to as structural mutants), while other mutations do not alter the structure but instead change an amino acid that is critical for DNA binding (referred to as DNA contact mutants) (1, 2). These mutations typically give rise to mtp53 proteins that have lost the capacity to bind to the wild-type p53 (WTp53) consensus binding site and are thus unable to associate with WTp53 response elements in the genome and therefore unable to regulate WTp53 target genes. However, mtp53 is present on the promoters of various genes and is able to regulate their expression (1, 2). These observations indicate that despite having lost its WTp53 sequence-specific DNA-binding activity, mtp53 is still capable of acting like a transcription factor.

Initial studies on mtp53 relied on the overexpression of its cDNA in cells that were p53 null (3). In these studies, it was shown that mtp53 functions in a manner that is diametrically opposed to the tumor suppressor functions of WTp53. Instead of suppressing cancer or simply acting like an inert protein (due to its mutational inactivation), the mtp53 protein exhibited GOF activities, which allowed it to promote growth and tumorigenesis (3). From these studies, it became apparent that mtp53 can function as an oncogene, and these GOF activities were most apparent when the mtp53 harboring cells were challenged, for example, with proapoptotic stimuli (1, 2). The advent of siRNA technology permitted endogenous mtp53 to be suppressed in cells, which resulted in apoptosis (4). These data argued that mtp53 is actively engaged in promoting cell survival, and thus, cells harboring these

60

mutant proteins exhibit an addiction to them. Addiction to mtp53 has since been demonstrated by various groups and has recently been genetically confirmed in mice (5, 6). It is important to note from these latter studies *in vivo* that early intervention delays the tumorigenesis process, which could indicate that mtp53 is required to drive the carcinogenic pathway early on and possibly that addiction to this oncogene is an early occurring event, even in cells that are not yet "transformed." This latter view is supported by the fact that siRNA knockdown of mtp53 in non-transformed/ non-tumorigenic Li–Fraumeni fibroblasts resulted in apoptosis, indicating that these cells exhibited oncogene addiction (4).

MECHANISTIC BASIS FOR MUTANT p53's TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATORY ONCOGENIC FUNCTIONS

To investigate the basis of its GOF activities, we and others have performed genome-wide analysis of mtp53 binding, and through bioinformatics and biochemical analysis have determined that mtp53 can be recruited to promoters via interactions with other transcription factors (7-11). Many of these transcription factors that bind to mtp53 have also been shown to interact with WTp53 (E2F1, NF-Y, VDR, ETS1, ETS2, and SP1), although there are some discrepancies among different studies (7-12). For example, one of the earliest studies to show that mtp53 regulates gene expression via the recruitment mechanism was on the regulation of the MDR1 promoter (13). In this study, it was reported that ETS1 can only interact with mtp53 and not with WTp53 (13). Other studies had shown that WTp53 can also interact with ETS1 (14, 15). ETS1 has been shown to be required for the transcriptional regulatory activity of WTp53 (16). Thus, it appears that both the oncogenic and tumor suppressor forms of p53 might rely on the ETS factors. We and others have reported that WTp53 at best poorly interacts with ETS1 (10, 11). What is the basis for the discrepancies between studies? It is possible that there might be tissue-specific or stress-dependent conditions that permit WTp53 to interact with ETS family members, although some studies were conducted in vitro. Additionally, WTp53 has been shown to undergo conformational changes during cell cycle progression. In this case, the protein can adapt mtp53-like conformational attributes (17-20). Does this reflect a conformational speciation of p53, where depending on cellular growth conditions or stress, p53 can adapt to different conformations that transiently increase its binding partners' repertoire. If this is the case, perhaps WTp53 can oscillate between different conformational species, a "minor" form of which is able to interact with ETS1. In contrast, mtp53 is locked in the minor form conformation that allows it to bind extensively to other protein partners including ETS1.

THE E26 TRANSFORMATION-SPECIFIC MOTIF IS OVERREPRESENTED IN MUTANT p53 OCCUPIED PROMOTERS

Chip-Chip and Chip-Seq data revealed that approximately 50% of the promoters occupied by mtp53 contain ETS-binding sites,

suggesting that the association with ETS proteins is a prominent mechanism by which mtp53 regulates gene expression (10, 11). Mtp53 has been shown to associate with promoter regions of genes in an ETS2-dependent manner (10, 11). Importantly, these mtp53-bound genomic regions do not have a WTp53 response element, indicating that the mtp53 protein is not associating with these targets through residual activity of its DNA-binding domain (10, 11). Additionally, these mtp53 target genes do not overlap with WTp53 target genes that are identified through a similar genome-wide analysis, further demonstrating that mtp53 associates with these promoters in a completely novel manner (10, 11). Although the interaction with ETS1 might be important for the regulation of some mtp53 target genes, side-by-side comparison using recombinant proteins revealed that mtp53 preferentially associates with ETS2, another ETS family member (10). Both the structural and DNA contact p53 mutants interacted with ETS1, albeit with seemingly less affinity (10). It was also noted that the structural mutant (R175H) bound ETS1 better than the DNA contact (R248W) mutant. Importantly, all structural and DNA contact p53 mutants that have been tested thus far interact with ETS2 (10, 11). Moreover, whereas ETS1 knockdown generally has no effect on mtp53 target gene expression, ETS2 knockdown recapitulates the changes in gene expression that occur upon mtp53 knockdown (10, 11, 21, 22). Nevertheless, the observation that ETS2 interacts with various mtp53 (R175H, R248Q, R248W, R249S, R273H, R273L, and R280K) suggests that by coupling with ETS2, different mtp53 proteins are able to exert oncogenic activities through a common platform. The mtp53 proteins that have been tested correspond to the "hot-spot" mutations. It will be of interest to determine if proteins generated by missense mutations that are outside the region encompassed by the cluster of hot-spot mutations also interact with ETS2. However, further analysis is required to determine if all cancer-associated p53 mutants interact with ETS2. This is an important analysis because it has long been established that there are differences in the oncogenic potency of distinct p53 mutants, which might be related to their affinity for ETS2 or even other ETS factors. In this regard, it will be important to determine if p53 mutants that are more active than WTp53 in transcriptional and cell killing assays also interact with ETS2 (23).

It is of particular interest to note that ETS2 binds to the tetramerization domain of p53, which is thought to be functionally intact in both WTp53 and mtp53 (10). The question of how ETS2 distinguishes between mtp53 and WTp53 is further highlighted by the fact that some p53 mutants are considered to have subtle changes in their structure but are otherwise conformationally similar to WTp53. Intriguingly, it has been suggested that because WTp53 is actively engaged in sampling DNA sequences throughout the genome, it might not be able to interact with ETS2 (24). A corollary of this model would be that when WTp53 is associated with DNA, it might alter its structure in a manner that is incompatible with binding to ETS2. However, both overexpression and in vitro studies using recombinant proteins failed to show a strong interaction between WTp53 and ETS2. In the overexpression experiments, it seems unlikely that all of the transfected WTp53 protein is bound to DNA and thus cannot bind ETS2. Furthermore, the observation that the WTp53

and ETS2 purified proteins do not interact *in vitro* casts doubt on, yet does not eliminate, the possibility that the structural changes due to DNA binding by WTp53 prevent its interaction with ETS2 (10).

DOMAIN REQUIREMENTS FOR MUTANT p53's TRANSCRIPTIONALLY DEPENDENT GOF

Since WTp53 has potent transactivation domains in its N-terminus, this raises the possibility that mtp53 can also utilize them to regulate gene expression. In support of this, mutation of the N-terminal transactivation domain of mtp53 eliminated its ability to activate the MDR-1 promoter and enhances tumorigenic potential (25). A similar conclusion was drawn in another study, in which the N-terminus was shown to be required for the transactivation activity of mtp53 (26). In contrast, it was observed that the C-terminus was required for mtp53 to promote tumorigenicity (26). Likewise, an intact transactivation domain appears to be required for mtp53 to promote chemotherapy resistance (27, 28). It appears that mtp53 may be able to mediate GOF activities using different domains. The precise mechanism(s) by which these mutations disable its oncogenic activity is not well understood; however, it has been reported that mutation of the transactivation domain in mtp53 disrupts its interaction with ETS1 (13).

An mtp53, in which the transactivation domain was mutated, was still capable of activating the promoter of one of its target genes, TDP2, in a luciferase assay (10). An mtp53 mutant lacking the C-terminus, which eliminates the interaction with ETS2, was unable to activate this promoter (10). However, p53 contains two transactivation domains, and mutation of both domains prevents mtp53 from disrupting mammary tissue architecture *in vitro* (29). These observations suggest that both transactivation domains may be required for mtp53 to exert its GOF. However, in the latter case, mtp53 was mediating its effects through an interaction with SREBP transcription factor, which raises the possibility that the domains required for GOF are dependent on the particular binding partner for mtp53.

MUTANT p53 TAKES CARE OF ITS PARTNER

If the transcriptional activation domain of mtp53 is not required for activation of gene expression, what is mtp53 contributing to this transcriptional regulatory complex? Importantly, mtp53 can protect ETS2 from ubiquitin-dependent degradation, which raises the possibility that by increasing ETS2 abundance, mtp53 disrupts the balance between activator/repressor ETS family members, favoring the presence of mtp53/ETS2 on promoter targets (**Figures 1** and **2**) (10, 30). Among the different mtp53 interacting proteins, ETS2 appears to be unique in that mtp53 protects it from degradation. There are various different proteins currently implicated in promoting ETS2 degradation including Cdh1/Fzr1, the adaptor protein for the APC/cyclosome complex; Cul4a, a subunit of the SCF ubiquitin ligase



FIGURE 1 | Mutant p53 protects ETS2 from degradation. ETS2 is a labile protein with a short half-life. An E3-ubiquitin ligase binds to ETS2 and promotes its ubiquitin-dependent degradation. In the presence of mtp53, ETS2 is not ubiquitinated and becomes stable, which increases its abundance allowing it to recruit mtp53 to ETS target genes.



ETS family of transcription factors share multiple target genes based on their ability to bind a common DNA motif. These shared targets can be regulated in a cooperative or opposing manner in order to maintain homeostatic control of gene expression. The presence of mtp53 causes ETS2 to accumulate and outcompete other ETS family members for binding to target genes, potentially altering their repression/activation by recruiting co-repressors (Co-R) or co-activators (Co-A).

complex; the E3-ubiquitin ligase, COP1/RFWD2; and CDK10 (31–34). Further work is required to establish how mtp53 interferes with the function of one or all of these proteins to stabilize ETS2.

MUTANT p53's PARTNERING WITH ETS2 CONFERS IT ACCESS TO A MULTITUDE OF ONCOGENIC AND TUMOR SUPPRESSIVE TRANSCRIPTIONAL TARGETS

The ETS family of winged helix-turn-helix transcription factors consists of 28 family members that share a highly conserved

DNA-binding domain, referred to as the ETS domain (30). The ETS domain permits all the family members to bind in a sequence-specific manner to a common core motif, GGAA [called the ETS-binding site (EBS)], and thus, they share many transcriptional targets (30). This overlapping set of targets raises the question of why there is such redundancy in gene regulation. The perplexing redundancy in gene targets is explained by the fact that ETS family members largely exhibit tissue-specific expression and that they can play both cooperative and/or opposing roles in regulating gene expression (30, 35). As such, only a subset of ETS family members are expressed in a given tissue, and the particular ETS family member that is occupying a particular binding site is dependent on extracellular cues (36). Ectopic expression of oncogenic ETS proteins can functionally substitute for activation of the Ras/MAPK pathway, implying that control of oncogenic ETS factor levels is imperative to prevent neoplastic transformation (37). The ETS family regulates diverse cellular activities including apoptosis, angiogenesis, cell growth, adhesion, migration/invasion, the extracellular matrix, and other transcription factors (30). Thus, by interacting with ETS2, mtp53 can hijack the ETS transcriptional repertoire and control many of these processes to promote cancer.

As can be surmised from the various cellular activities that the ETS family controls, the ETS family members can function as either oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes, and sometimes the context determines their role in promoting or suppressing cancer. For example, ELF3 is frequently mutated in cervical, mucinous ovarian, and biliary tract cancers (38-40). Ectopic expression of wild-type ELF3 suppresses cell growth of biliary tract and cervical cancer cells suggesting a tumor suppressor role in these cancers (38, 39). In contrast, ELF3 has been shown to function as an oncogene in colorectal and prostate cancer (41, 42). SPDEF, a prostate epithelium-specific ETS transcription factor, suppresses prostate cancer progression and metastasis (43-45). Knockdown of another ETS family member, ESE3/EHF, in normal prostate cells resulted in the acquisition of mesenchymal and stem-like characteristics (46). Chromosomal rearrangements have been shown to give rise to oncogenic gene fusions for multiple ETS family members including ERG, ETV1, ETV4, ETV5, ETV6, ELK4, and FLI1 (47). Importantly, ETS2 itself has been shown to be deleted in a subset of prostate cancers and to have a growth inhibitory function, suggesting that it is a tumor suppressor gene in this tissue. In addition, a transgenic mouse overexpressing ETS2 in the thymus had increased p53-dependent apoptosis (48). Previously, it has been shown that Ets2 dosage can impact tumor development in the APC^{Min} mouse model (49). Mice carrying extra copies of ETS2 were protected from tumor development, whereas ETS2 heterozygous mice exhibited higher cancer frequency (49). It is interesting to note that in the context of mutant p53 harboring cells, ETS2 abundance is increased yet it appears to function as an oncogene. Given that ETS2 has been shown to activate p53-dependent apoptosis, it is possible that the loss of wild-type p53 provides a permissive environment for ETS2 to have oncogenic functions. Taken together, the ability of mutant p53 to stabilize ETS2 and to utilize it to regulate gene expression constitutes a novel mechanism by which an ETS family member promotes cancer.

ALTERED TARGET SELECTION VS. AMPLIFIED REGULATION

There are various aspects of the mtp53/ETS2 regulatory complex that remain to be explored. For example, are the genes regulated by mtp53/ETS2 different from the ones regulated by ETS2 alone? Additionally, does the mtp53/ETS2 interaction alter the regulation (i.e., activation or repression) of these target genes? Since ETS2 is induced by growth factor receptor pathways, does mtp53 unlink it from mitogenic signaling and thereby produce a constitutively active ETS2. A clue comes from the observation that many of the mtp53/ETS2 target genes are controlled by ETS2 in cells lacking p53 (21, 22). This suggests that mtp53 is not altering the spectrum of genes that ETS2 controls but rather further enhancing their expression. For example, mtp53 was shown to upregulate nucleotide metabolism genes (NMG) expression by associating with their promoters, and suppression of mtp53 or ETS2 reduced their expression (22). In cells lacking mtp53 (i.e., either containing WTp53 or lacking p53 altogether), ETS2 knockdown reduced the expression of these target genes (22). Introduction of mtp53 increased ETS2 protein and NMG expression to levels higher than in cells lacking mtp53 (22). These data reinforce the notion that the mtp53/ETS2 complex upregulates NMG expression. Again, in this situation, ETS2 knockdown in cells ectopically expressing mtp53 reduced NMG expression, despite the fact that it did not affect mtp53 levels (22). These data suggest that the mtp53-mediated aberrant accumulation of ETS2 can enhance the expression of ETS2 target genes. In addition, removal of mitogens (via serum deprivation) results in reduced expression of the NMG in cells lacking mtp53, yet has no effect in cells expressing mtp53 (22). This observation raises the possibility that mtp53 is capable of superseding the mitogenic control of ETS2 function. Whether mtp53 is obviating intrinsic ETS2 auto-inhibitory activity or simply increasing its abundance, or both, to enhance ETS2 function requires further investigation (50).

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The cooperation between mtp53 and ETS2 to regulate gene expression is well established *in vitro*, but the extent to which these two work together to promote tumorigenesis *in vivo* is still not known. Furthermore, there is circumstantial evidence that mtp53's GOF depends on several domains, and thus, it will be important to dissect these different domains *in vivo* to determine if one of these is dominant or whether the GOF is mediated by the action of multiple domains in mtp53.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by NCI grant CA166974-01A1.

REFERENCES

- Freed-Pastor WA, Prives C. Mutant p53: one name, many proteins. *Genes Dev* (2012) 26(12):1268–86. doi:10.1101/gad.190678.112
- Muller PA, Vousden KH. Mutant p53 in cancer: new functions and therapeutic opportunities. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 25(3):304–17. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2014.01.021
- Dittmer D, Pati S, Zambetti G, Chu S, Teresky AK, Moore M, et al. Gain of function mutations in p53. *Nat Genet* (1993) 4(1):42–6. doi: doi:10.1038/ ng0593-42
- Martinez LA, Naguibneva I, Lehrmann H, Vervisch A, Tchénio T, Lozano G, et al. Synthetic small inhibiting RNAs: efficient tools to inactivate oncogenic mutations and restore p53 pathways. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99(23):14849–54. doi:10.1073/pnas.222406899
- Bossi G, Lapi E, Strano S, Rinaldo C, Blandino G, Sacchi A. Mutant p53 gain of function: reduction of tumor malignancy of human cancer cell lines through abrogation of mutant p53 expression. *Oncogene* (2006) 25(2):304–9.
- Alexandrova EM, Yallowitz AR, Li D, Xu S, Schulz R, Proia DA, et al. Improving survival by exploiting tumour dependence on stabilized mutant p53 for treatment. *Nature* (2015) 523(7560):352–6. doi:10.1038/ nature14430
- Di Agostino S, Strano S, Emiliozzi V, Zerbini V, Mottolese M, Sacchi A, et al. Gain of function of mutant p53: the mutant p53/NF-Y protein complex reveals an aberrant transcriptional mechanism of cell cycle regulation. *Cancer Cell* (2006) 10(3):191–202. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2006.08.013
- Fontemaggi G, Dell'Orso S, Trisciuoglio D, Shay T, Melucci E, Fazi F, et al. The execution of the transcriptional axis mutant p53, E2F1 and ID4 promotes tumor neo-angiogenesis. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2009) 16(10):1086–93. doi:10.1038/nsmb.1669
- Stambolsky P, Tabach Y, Fontemaggi G, Weisz L, Maor-Aloni R, Siegfried Z, et al. Modulation of the vitamin D3 response by cancer-associated mutant p53. *Cancer Cell* (2010) 17(3):273–85. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.11.025
- Do PM, Varanasi L, Fan S, Li C, Kubacka I, Newman V, et al. Mutant p53 cooperates with ETS2 to promote etoposide resistance. *Genes Dev* (2012) 26(8):830–45. doi:10.1101/gad.181685.111
- Zhu J, Sammons MA, Donahue G, Dou Z, Vedadi M, Getlik M, et al. Gainof-function p53 mutants co-opt chromatin pathways to drive cancer growth. *Nature* (2015) 525(7568):206–11. doi:10.1038/nature15251
- Borellini F, Glazer RI. Induction of Sp1-p53 DNA-binding heterocomplexes during granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor-dependent proliferation in human erythroleukemia cell line TF-1. *J Biol Chem* (1993) 268(11):7923–8.
- Sampath J, Sun D, Kidd VJ, Grenet J, Gandhi A, Shapiro LH, et al. Mutant p53 cooperates with ETS and selectively up-regulates human MDR1 not MRP1. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276(42):39359–67. doi:10.1074/jbc.M103429200
- Kim E, Günther W, Yoshizato K, Meissner H, Zapf S, Nüsing RM, et al. Tumor suppressor p53 inhibits transcriptional activation of invasion gene thromboxane synthase mediated by the proto-oncogenic factor ets-1. *Oncogene* (2003) 22(49):7716–27. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1207155
- Gu L, Zhu N, Findley HW, Woods WG, Zhou M. Identification and characterization of the IKKalpha promoter: positive and negative regulation by ETS-1 and p53, respectively. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279(50):52141–9. doi:10.1074/jbc. M407915200
- Xu D, Wilson TJ, Chan D, De Luca E, Zhou J, Hertzog PJ, et al. Ets1 is required for p53 transcriptional activity in UV-induced apoptosis in embryonic stem cells. *EMBO J* (2002) 21(15):4081–93. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdf413
- Milner J, Watson JV. Addition of fresh medium induces cell cycle and conformation changes in p53, a tumour suppressor protein. *Oncogene* (1990) 5(11):1683–90.
- Milner J. A conformation hypothesis for the suppressor and promoter functions of p53 in cell growth control and in cancer. *Proc Biol Sci* (1991) 245(1313):139–45. doi:10.1098/rspb.1991.0100
- Cook A, Milner J. Evidence for allosteric variants of wild-type p53, a tumour suppressor protein. Br J Cancer (1990) 61(4):548–52. doi:10.1038/bjc.1990.123
- Milner J, Cook A. The cellular tumour antigen p53: evidence for transformation-related, immunological variants of p53. *Virology* (1986) 154(1):21–30. doi:10.1016/0042-6822(86)90426-5
- Xiong S, Tu H, Kollareddy M, Pant V, Li Q, Zhang Y, et al. Pla2g16 phospholipase mediates gain-of-function activities of mutant p53. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(30):11145–50. doi:10.1073/pnas.1404139111

- Kollareddy M, Dimitrova E, Vallabhaneni KC, Chan A, Le T, Chauhan KM, et al. Regulation of nucleotide metabolism by mutant p53 contributes to its gainof-function activities. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:7389. doi:10.1038/ncomms8389
- Menendez D, Inga A, Resnick MA. The biological impact of the human master regulator p53 can be altered by mutations that change the spectrum and expression of its target genes. *Mol Cell Biol* (2006) 26(6):2297–308. doi:10.1128/MCB.26.6.2297-2308.2006
- 24. Prives C, Lowe SW. Cancer: mutant p53 and chromatin regulation. *Nature* (2015) **525**(7568):199–200. doi:10.1038/nature15212
- Lin J, Teresky AK, Levine AJ. Two critical hydrophobic amino acids in the N-terminal domain of the p53 protein are required for the gain of function phenotypes of human p53 mutants. *Oncogene* (1995) 10(12):2387–90.
- Lányi A, Deb D, Seymour RC, Ludes-Meyers JH, Subler MA, Deb S. 'Gain of function' phenotype of tumor-derived mutant p53 requires the oligomerization/nonsequence-specific nucleic acid-binding domain. Oncogene (1998) 16(24):3169–76. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1201857
- Matas D, Sigal A, Stambolsky P, Milyavsky M, Weisz L, Schwartz D, et al. Integrity of the N-terminal transcription domain of p53 is required for mutant p53 interference with drug-induced apoptosis. *EMBO J* (2001) 20(15):4163–72. doi:10.1093/emboj/20.15.4163
- Yan W, Chen X. Characterization of functional domains necessary for mutant p53 gain of function. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285(19):14229–38. doi:10.1074/jbc. M109.097253
- Freed-Pastor WA, Mizuno H, Zhao X, Langerød A, Moon SH, Rodriguez-Barrueco R, et al. Mutant p53 disrupts mammary tissue architecture via the mevalonate pathway. *Cell* (2012) 148(1–2):244–58. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2011.12.017
- Turner DP, Watson DK. ETS transcription factors: oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes as therapeutic targets for prostate cancer. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* (2008) 8(1):33–42. doi:10.1586/14737140.8.1.33
- Li M, Shin YH, Hou L, Huang X, Wei Z, Klann E, et al. The adaptor protein of the anaphase promoting complex Cdh1 is essential in maintaining replicative lifespan and in learning and memory. *Nat Cell Biol* (2008) 10(9):1083–9. doi:10.1038/ncb1768
- Lu G, Zhang Q, Huang Y, Song J, Tomaino R, Ehrenberger T, et al. Phosphorylation of ETS1 by Src family kinases prevents its recognition by the COP1 tumor suppressor. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 26(2):222–34. doi:10.1016/j. ccr.2014.06.026
- Emanuele MJ, Elia AE, Xu Q, Thoma CR, Izhar L, Leng Y, et al. Global identification of modular cullin-RING ligase substrates. *Cell* (2011) 147(2):459–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.09.019
- 34. Guen VJ, Gamble C, Flajolet M, Unger S, Thollet A, Ferandin Y, et al. CDK10/ cyclin M is a protein kinase that controls ETS2 degradation and is deficient in STAR syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) **110**(48):19525–30. doi:10.1073/pnas.1306814110
- Hollenhorst PC, Jones DA, Graves BJ. Expression profiles frame the promoter specificity dilemma of the ETS family of transcription factors. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2004) 32(18):5693–702. doi:10.1093/nar/gkh906
- Hollenhorst PC. RAS/ERK pathway transcriptional regulation through ETS/ AP-1 binding sites. Small GTPases (2012) 3(3):154–8. doi:10.4161/sgtp.19630
- Hollenhorst PC, Ferris MW, Hull MA, Chae H, Kim S, Graves BJ. Oncogenic ETS proteins mimic activated RAS/MAPK signaling in prostate cells. *Genes* Dev (2011) 25(20):2147–57. doi:10.1101/gad.17546311
- Nakamura H, Arai Y, Totoki Y, Shirota T, Elzawahry A, Kato M, et al. Genomic spectra of biliary tract cancer. *Nat Genet* (2015) 47(9):1003–10. doi:10.1038/ ng.3375
- Ojesina AI, Lichtenstein L, Freeman SS, Pedamallu CS, Imaz-Rosshandler I, Pugh TJ, et al. Landscape of genomic alterations in cervical carcinomas. *Nature* (2014) 506(7488):371–5. doi:10.1038/nature12881
- Ryland GL, Hunter SM, Doyle MA, Caramia F, Li J, Rowley SM, et al. Mutational landscape of mucinous ovarian carcinoma and its neoplastic precursors. *Genome Med* (2015) 7(1):87. doi:10.1186/s13073-015-0210-y
- Longoni N, Sarti M, Albino D, Civenni G, Malek A, Ortelli E, et al. ETS transcription factor ESE1/ELF3 orchestrates a positive feedback loop that constitutively activates NF-kappaB and drives prostate cancer progression. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(14):4533–47. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4537
- 42. Wang JL, Chen ZF, Chen HM, Wang MY, Kong X, Wang YC, et al. Elf3 drives beta-catenin transactivation and associates with poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. *Cell Death Dis* (2014) 5:e1263. doi:10.1038/cddis.2014.206

- Steffan JJ, Koul HK. Prostate derived ETS factor (PDEF): a putative tumor metastasis suppressor. *Cancer Lett* (2011) 310(1):109–17. doi:10.1016/j. canlet.2011.06.011
- 44. Cheng XH, Black M, Ustiyan V, Le T, Fulford L, Sridharan A, et al. SPDEF inhibits prostate carcinogenesis by disrupting a positive feedback loop in regulation of the Foxm1 oncogene. *PLoS Genet* (2014) **10**(9):e1004656. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1004656
- Noah TK, Lo YH, Price A, Chen G, King E, Washington MK, et al. SPDEF functions as a colorectal tumor suppressor by inhibiting beta-catenin activity. *Gastroenterology* (2013) 144(5):1012–23.e6. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2013.01.043
- Albino D, Longoni N, Curti L, Mello-Grand M, Pinton S, Civenni G, et al. ESE3/EHF controls epithelial cell differentiation and its loss leads to prostate tumors with mesenchymal and stem-like features. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(11):2889–900. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0212
- Kumar-Sinha C, Kalyana-Sundaram S, Chinnaiyan AM. Landscape of gene fusions in epithelial cancers: seq and ye shall find. *Genome Med* (2015) 7(1):129. doi:10.1186/s13073-015-0252-1
- Wolvetang EJ, Wilson TJ, Sanij E, Busciglio J, Hatzistavrou T, Seth A, et al. ETS2 overexpression in transgenic models and in Down syndrome predisposes

to apoptosis via the p53 pathway. Hum Mol Genet (2003) $12(3){:}247{-}55.$ doi:10.1093/hmg/ddg015

- Sussan TE, Yang A, Li F, Ostrowski MC, Reeves RH. Trisomy represses Apc(Min)-mediated tumours in mouse models of Down's syndrome. *Nature* (2008) 451(7174):73–5. doi:10.1038/nature06446
- Newman JA, Cooper CD, Aitkenhead H, Gileadi O. Structural insights into the autoregulation and cooperativity of the human transcription factor Ets-2. *J Biol Chem* (2015) 290(13):8539–49. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.619270

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Martinez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Che-1/AATF: A Critical Cofactor for **Both Wild-Type- and Mutant-p53 Proteins**

Tiziana Bruno, Simona lezzi and Maurizio Fanciulli*

SAFU Laboratory, Department of Research, Advanced Diagnostic, and Technological Innovation, Regina Elena Cancer Institute, Rome, Italy

The p53 protein is a key player in a wide range of protein networks that allow the state of "good health" of the cell. Not surprisingly, mutations of the TP53 gene are one of the most common alterations associated to cancer cells. Mutated forms of p53 (mtp53) not only lose the ability to protect the integrity of the genetic heritage of the cell but also acquire pro-oncogenic functions, behaving like dangerous accelerators of transformation and tumor progression. In recent years, many studies focused on investigating possible strategies aiming to counteract this mutant p53 "gain of function" but the results have not always been satisfactory. Che-1/AATF is a nuclear protein that binds to RNA polymerase II and plays a role in multiple fundamental processes, including control of transcription, cell cycle regulation, DNA damage response, and apoptosis. Several studies showed Che-1/AATF as an important endogenous regulator of p53 expression and activity in a variety of biological processes. Notably, this same regulation was more recently observed also on mtp53. The depletion of Che-1/AATF strongly reduces the expression of mutant p53 in several tumors in vitro and in vivo, making the cells an easier target for chemotherapy treatments. In this mini review, we report an overview of Che-1/AATF functions and discuss a possible role of Che-1/AATF in cancer therapy, with particular regard to its action on p53/mtp53.

Keywords: Che-1/AATF, p53, apoptosis, survival

The TP53 gene is a tumor suppressor capable of detecting oncogenic events in tumor cells and eliminating them through using several different mechanisms. It is the most frequently mutated gene in human cancers, and p53 mutant forms (mtp53), in addition to losing the function of the wild-type p53 as "guardian of the genome," acquire specific properties that contribute to the aggressiveness and chemoresistance of cancer (1). The activity of wild-type p53 is modulated through various mechanisms, which contribute to its full functionality, regulating both its stability and its specificity of action. Notably, these same mechanisms also operate on mtp53, sustaining its oncogenic functions (2-4). Che-1/AATF was recently identified among the proteins that can not only regulate p53 functions but also support the activity of oncogenic mtp53. In this mini review, we provide an updated overview of Che-1/AATF activities, detailing its intimate connection with p53.

Che-1/AATF

Che-1/AATF was identified in the early years of this decade by different groups both as a protein involved in the control of transcription and apoptosis, and a gene downregulated upon $TGF\beta$

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ygal Haupt, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Australia

Reviewed by:

Afshin Samali, National University of Ireland, Ireland Takaomi Sanda. National University of Singapore, Singapore

> *Correspondence: Maurizio Fanciulli fanciulli@ifo.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 07 October 2015 Accepted: 01 February 2016 Published: 15 February 2016

Citation:

Bruno T, lezzi S and Fanciulli M (2016) Che-1/AATF: A Critical Cofactor for Both Wild-Type- and Mutant-p53 Proteins. Front. Oncol. 6:34. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00034

induced differentiation (5-8). This protein is able to connect specific transcription factors to the general transcriptional machinery through its interaction with the subunit 11 of RNA polymerase II (hRPB11) (6). In particular, Che-1/AATF has been shown to interact and modulate the activity of several nuclear hormone receptors (9) and transcription factors, including the retinoblastoma protein (pRb), p65 and STAT3 (10-12). These interactions are mostly regulated by post-translational modifications, which provide a rapid and reversible manner to modulate Che-1/AATF co-transcriptional activity in response to different stimuli. Moreover, Che-1/AATF action on transcription may also be modulated by its binding to different forms of hRPB11. Indeed, this subunit is the product of a multigene family, which encodes specific proteins differently expressed in several tissues and showing different binding capacities (13, 14). Che-1/AATF protein is found expressed in all tissues (6, 7), and its expression is required for proliferation and survival. Indeed, Traube (Che-1/ AATF mouse orthologous) knock out mice halt the development at the compacted morula stage and are embryonically lethal. Furthermore, mutant embryos exhibit a reduction in cellular proliferation (15), indicating Che-1/AATF's involvement in cell cycle regulation. Consistent with these observations, Che-1/AATF has been shown to be involved in cell cycle progression through its ability to affect pRb protein's growth suppression functions (10, 16). Moreover, it was demonstrated that Che-1/AATF localizes at interphase centrosomes and regulates centrosome duplication and spindle formation indicating a role for Che-1/AATF in the control of mitotic entry (17). Che-1/AATF not only regulates cellular proliferation but also has a significant role in controlling the apoptotic process. To date, most of the information regarding the antiapoptotic function of Che-1/AATF derives from studies performed in the neural tissue, where this protein appears to take part in regulating apoptotic activation in both physiological and pathological conditions (18-21). Moreover, Che-1/AATF interacts with cytoplasmic Tau in rat cerebellar granule neurons, and this interaction is modulated during neuronal apoptosis (22). A protective role of Che-1/AATF has also been described in human kidney proximal tubule cells, where this protein antagonizes apoptotic cell death by preserving mitochondrial function and reducing oxidative damage (23). Alternatively, Che-1/AATF has also been reported to have a pro-apoptotic role. Indeed, Che-1/AATF overexpression increases UV-induced apoptosis by promoting phosphorylation and transcriptional activity of the apoptotic gene c-Jun, in a p53 independent way. Moreover, UV damage induces Che-1/AATF redistribution from the nucleolus to the nucleoplasm, thus allowing Che-1/AATF and c-Jun to directly interact (24).

Che-1/AATF WITHIN WT-p53 TUMOR SUPPRESSOR ACTIVITIES

The tumor suppressor p53 is one of the main effector of the DNA damage response (DDR), a complex network of pathways responsible for maintaining genome integrity and preventing tumorigenesis (25, 26). DDR coordinates several pathways that cooperate together to detect DNA lesions, arrest cell cycle in order to allow repair, and induce apoptosis or senescence if damage is

too severe (27). p53 is a key signal integrator of these pathways, capable of regulating the transcription of a large variety of target genes, and for this reason, its levels and activities are tightly regulated inside the cell. Upon DNA damage, p53 expression can be enhanced at both transcriptional (28) and translational level (29). However, its functions are largely modulated by posttranslational modifications and protein-protein interactions (30). In the last past years, several studies have identified Che-1/ AATF as an important component of DDR and an endogenous p53 regulator (8). In response to genotoxic stress, Che-1/AATF is extensively modified by post-translational modifications affecting its localization, half-life, and interactions (8). Among these modifications, phosphorylation by checkpoint kinases ATM and Chk2 has a pivotal role in the context of Che-1/AATF-p53 connection. Indeed, this modification greatly affects Che-1/AATF functions, acting as a molecular switch that moves this protein from the pathways promoting cell cycle progression to the ones involved in cell cycle arrest and survival. In particular, (ATM-Chk2) phosphorylated-Che-1/AATF interacts with NF-kB p65 subunit, and this interaction moves Che-1/AATF from E2F1-dependent promoters to the TP53 promoter, thus increasing transcription of this gene and contributing to the increase of p53 protein levels after genotoxic stress (11). Notably, phosphorylated-Che-1/ AATF activates p53 transcription also in the absence of genotoxic stress, probably as a consequence of an intrinsic DNA damage occurring during DNA replication (11). This observation leads to hypothesize a model in which Che-1/AATF is already required for the basal state of p53 expression, and this activity is reinforced in response to DNA damage. Moreover, Che-1/AATF plays an important role in the maintenance of the G2/M checkpoint, and this effect depends on the activation of p53. Consistent with these findings, Che-1/AATF depletion was found to sensitize cancer but not normal cells to antineoplastic drugs (11).

In addition to sustaining *TP53* transcription, Che-1/AATF phosphorylation also promotes the binding of Che-1/AATF to p53, regulating in such way p53 activities (31). Of interest, Che-1/AATF is a component of a ternary complex with p53 and Brca1, and p53 is required for these interactions. This complex is observed at the early stage of the DDR, and when DNA damage is too extensive and cells undergo apoptosis, p53 modifications produced by Pin1 induce the detachment of the proteins. Notably, the interaction between Che-1/AATF-p53 specifically directs p53 toward the transcription of genes involved in growth arrest over its pro-apoptotic target genes. Indeed, a Chip-Seq analysis revealed a strong enrichment of p53 target genes involved in apoptosis in Che-1/AATF depleted cells, with a concomitant decrease in genes regulating growth arrest (31).

Höpker et al. have described another mechanism by which Che-1/AATF modulates p53 activity. They highlighted a cytoplasmic localization of Che-1/AATF in absence of DNA damage, and demonstrate that in response to genotoxic stress, this protein translocates from the cytoplasm to the nucleus, as a consequence of a phosphorylation by the checkpoint kinase MK2 (32). Remarkably, nuclear Che-1/AATF regulates the cellular outcome of the p53 response by competing with this protein for the binding to the promoter of several apoptotic genes, inhibiting in such way their activation (32).



Consistent with all these findings, Che-1/AATF^{+/-} mice exhibited a greater apoptosis in response to genotoxic stress when compared to wild-type littermates. Furthermore, thy-mocytes from Che-1/AATF^{+/-} mice showed an increase of p53 protein on pro-apoptotic gene promoters (31), thus confirming that Che-1/AATF controls p53 activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

A further indication of the intimate relationship between Che-1/AATF and p53 arises from the observation that p53 binds the promoter of Che-1/AATF gene in response to DNA damage, leaving to assume the existence of a regulatory feedback loop between the two proteins (31). Moreover, there have been numerous findings that showed how many pathways operating on p53 are actually involved in Che-1/AATF regulation. In fact, the proapoptotic kinase HIPK2 phosphorylates Che-1/AATF at residue T144 in response to apoptotic DNA damage. This modification permits the prolyl isomerase Pin1 to produce a conformational change, facilitating the interaction with ubiquitin ligase HDM2, thereby inducing Che-1/AATF ubiquitylation and proteasomal degradation (33, 34). Notably, not only does Che-1/AATF activate the transcription of p53 and regulate its functions but also it is able to strengthen p53 functions through parallel pathways. For instance, p53 inhibits the kinase mTOR, in response to DNA damage through sestrin1 and 2 activation (35). A recent study has shown that Che-1/AATF inhibits mTOR activity in a p53 independent way, by increasing the transcription of the mTOR inhibitor Redd1 and Deptor in response to different types of cellular stress (36).

Che-1/AATF ENHANCES THE ONCOGENIC POTENTIAL OF MUTANT p53 PROTEINS

As previously described, Che-1/AATF regulates p53 functions in response to DNA damage by increasing its expression and regulating p53 promoter selection. However, very often the proteins involved in p53 activation are also able to sustain and amplify the "gain-of-function" of mtp53 in tumors containing mutated forms of this protein (1). In this regard, Che-1/AATF has shown to play an important role on the activity of the mutant forms of p53. In several breast carcinoma cell lines carrying different forms of mtp53, Che-1/AATF was found accumulated and recruited onto the TP53 promoter, whereas it was almost undetectable in primary breast epithelial cells (37). According to these findings, Che-1/AATF is required in sustaining mtp53 expression, and its depletion strongly decreases mtp53 expression both at mRNA and protein level, inducing apoptosis without involving any other stimuli. In addition, depletion of Che-1/AATF significantly reduces the expression of important genes involved in DNA repair in cells expressing mtp53, such as BLM and Rad17, inducing in such way endogenous DNA damage and triggering p73

expression as well as its target apoptotic genes *Noxa* and *Puma* (37). It is important to note that, Che-1/AATF depletion did not activate apoptosis in normal cells or in tumor cells carrying either WT-p53 or lacking p53 expression, thereby suggesting that these phenomena require mtp53 downregulation.

It has been widely shown that a major oncogenic ability of the mtp53 proteins is their ability to activate an aberrant transcription of selected target genes involved in cell proliferation by interacting with several transcription factors and being recruited on regulatory regions of chromatin (38). Therefore, it is possible to assume that similar to wild-type p53, this interaction may contribute to aberrant gene regulation conducted by mtp53.

Che-1/AATF AS A PUTATIVE THERAPEUTIC TARGET IN CANCER

All the observations described above indicate that Che-1/AATF plays a prominent role in many aspects of cancer biology. Even though mutations of Che-1/AATF have not been described so far (39), several studies reported an increase of Che-1/AATF levels in some types in cancer. In particular, elevated levels of this protein have been found in several leukemia cell lines (40) and in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia (41) or multiple myeloma (36). In addition, Che-1/AATF gene was found amplified in neuroblastoma patients most of whom expressing wild-type p53, and high levels of Che-1/AATF were found correlated with poor prognosis and reduced survival (32). Importantly, not only this protein is involved in cell cycle progression and in protecting cancer cells from apoptosis induction but also able to control p53 activity (11, 32), inhibiting p53 mediated transcription of apoptotic genes (31, 32). Moreover, Che-1/AATF strongly supports

REFERENCES

- Muller PA, Vousden KH. p53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol (2013) 15(1):2–8. doi:10.1038/ncb2641
- Valenti F, Fausti F, Biagioni F, Shay T, Fontemaggi G, Domany E, et al. Mutant p53 oncogenic functions are sustained by Plk2 kinase through an autoregulatory feedback loop. *Cell Cycle* (2011) 10(24):4330–40. doi:10.4161/ cc.10.24.18682
- Zerbini LF, Wang Y, Correa RG, Cho JY, Libermann TA. Blockage of NF-kappaB induces serine 15 phosphorylation of mutant p53 by JNK kinase in prostate cancer cells. *Cell Cycle* (2005) 4(9):1247–53. doi:10.4161/ cc.4.9.1966
- Girardini JE, Napoli M, Piazza S, Rustighi A, Marotta C, Radaelli E, et al. A Pin1/mutant p53 axis promotes aggressiveness in breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* (2011) 20(1):79–91. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.06.004
- Page G, Lödige I, Kögel D, Scheidtmann KH. AATF, a novel transcription factor that interacts with Dlk/ZIP kinase and interferes with apoptosis. *FEBS Lett* (1999) 462(1–2):187–91. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(99)01529-X
- Fanciulli M, Bruno T, Di Padova M, De Angelis R, Iezzi S, Iacobini C, et al. Identification of a novel partner of RNA polymerase II subunit 11, Che-1, which interacts with and affects the growth suppression function of Rb. *FASEB* J. (2000) 14(7):904–12.
- Lindfors K, Halttunen T, Huotari P, Nupponen N, Vihinen M, Visakorpi T, et al. Identification of novel transcription factor-like gene from human intestinal cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2000) 276(2):660–6. doi:10.1006/ bbrc.2000.3480
- Iezzi S, Fanciulli M. Discovering Che-1/AATF: a new attractive target for cancer therapy. Front Genet (2015) 6:141. doi:10.3389/fgene.2015.00141

the "gain of function" of the mutated forms of this oncosuppressor (Figure 1) (37). Altogether, these observations indicate that dysregulation of Che-1/AATF expression level could be relevant for the transformation process, and strengthen the notion that Che-1/AATF could be considered a valid target for novel anticancer therapeutic approaches either in tumors expressing wild-type p53, or in cancers carrying its mutated forms. In agreement, Che-1/AATF depletion was shown to increase sensitivity to anticancer agents both in vitro and in vivo (11, 32, 42), and to activate the apoptotic process in cancer cells carrying mtp53 (37). Unfortunately, no compounds capable of inhibiting Che-1/ AATF activity have been identified so far. However, future studies focusing on understanding the mechanisms of action of Che-1/ AATF and the characterization of the pathways implicated in its regulation will provide useful indications toward developing specific inhibitors for this protein.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TB, SI, and MF equally contributed to write this mini review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the members of our laboratory for critically reading of the manuscript and Mrs. T. Merlino for editing the English language.

FUNDING

MF is supported by the Italian Association for Cancer Research (A.I.R.C., 15255).

- Leister P, Burgdorf S, Scheidtmann KH. Apoptosis antagonizing transcription factor AATF is a novel coactivator of nuclear hormone receptors. *Signal Trasduction* (2003) 1-2:17–25. doi:10.1002/sita.200300020
- Bruno T, De Angelis R, De Nicola F, Barbato C, Di Padova M, Corbi N, et al. Che-1 affects cell growth by interfering with the recruitment of HDAC1 by Rb. *Cancer Cell* (2002) 2(5):387–99. doi:10.1016/S1535-6108(02)00182-4
- Bruno T, De Nicola F, Iezzi S, Lecis D, D'Angelo C, Di Padova M, et al. Che-1 phosphorylation by ATM/ATR and Chk2 kinases activates p53 transcription and the G₂/M checkpoint. *Cancer Cell* (2006) **10**(6):473–86. doi:10.1016/j. ccr.2006.10.012
- Ishigaki S, Fonseca SG, Oslowski CM, Jurczyk A, Shearstone JR, Zhu LJ, et al. AATF mediates an antiapoptotic effect of the unfolded protein response through transcriptional regulation of AKT1. *Cell Death Differ* (2010) 17(5):774–86. doi:10.1038/cdd.2009.175
- Grandemange S, Schaller S, Yamano S, Du Manoir S, Shpakovski GV, Mattei MG, et al. A human RNA polymerase II subunit is encoded by a recently generated multigene family. *BMC Mol Biol* (2001) 2:14. doi:10.1186/1471-2199-2-14
- Benga WJ, Grandemange S, Shpakovski GV, Shematorova EK, Kedinger C, Vigneron M. Distinct regions of RPB11 are required for heterodimerization with RPB3 in human and yeast RNA polymerase II. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2005) 33(11):3582–90. doi:10.1093/nar/gki672
- Thomas T, Voss AK, Petrou P, Gruss P. The murine gene, Traube, is essential for the growth of preimplantation embryos. *Dev Biol.* (2000) 227(2):324–42. doi:10.1006/dbio.2000.9915
- Robert A, Margall-Ducos G, Guidotti JE, Brégerie O, Celati C, Bréchot C, et al. The intraflagellar transport component IFT88/polaris is a centrosomal protein regulating G1-S transition in non-ciliated cells. *J Cell Sci* (2007) 120(4):628–37. doi:10.1242/jcs.03422

- Sorino C, Bruno T, Desantis A, Di Certo MG, Iezzi S, De Nicola F, et al. Centrosomal Che-1 protein is involved in the regulation of mitosis and DNA damage response by mediating pericentrin (PCNT)-dependent Chk1 protein localization. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288(32):23348–57. doi:10.1074/jbc. M113.465302
- Di Certo MG, Corbi N, Bruno T, Iezzi S, De Nicola F, Desantis A, et al. NRAGE associates with the anti-apoptotic factor Che-1 and regulates its degradation to induce cell death. J Cell Sci (2007) 120(11):1852–8. doi:10.1242/jcs.03454
- Guo Q, Xie J. AATF inhibits aberrant production of amyloid beta peptide 1-42 by interacting directly with Par-4. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279(6):4596–603. doi:10.1074/jbc.M309811200
- Xie J, Guo Q. AATF protects neural cells against oxidative damage induced by amyloid beta-peptide. *Neurobiol Dis* (2004) 16(1):150-7. doi:10.1016/j. nbd.2004.02.003
- Buontempo S, Barbato C, Bruno T, Corbi N, Ciotti MT, Floridi A, et al. Che-1 enhances cyclin-dependent kinase 5 expression and interacts with the active kinase-complex. *Neuroreport* (2008) 19(5):531–5. doi:10.1097/ WNR.0b013e3282f85c1b
- Barbato C, Corbi N, Canu N, Fanciulli M, Serafino A, Ciotti M, et al. Rb binding protein Che-1 interacts with Tau in cerebellar granule neurons. Modulation during neuronal apoptosis. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* (2003) 24(4):1038–50. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2003.08.002
- Xie J, Guo Q. Apoptosis antagonizing transcription factor protects renal tubule cells against oxidative damage and apoptosis induced by ischemia-reperfusion. J Am Soc Nephrol (2006) 17(12):3336–46. doi:10.1681/ASN.2006040311
- Ferraris SE, Isoniemi K, Torvaldson E, Anckar J, Westermarck J, Eriksson JE. Nucleolar AATF regulates c-Jun-mediated apoptosis. *Mol Biol Cell* (2012) 23(21):4323–32. doi:10.1091/mbc.E12-05-0419
- Jackson SP, Bartek J. The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease. *Nature* (2009) 461(7267):1071–8. doi:10.1038/nature08467
- Lord CJ, Ashworth A. The DNA damage response and cancer therapy. Nature (2012) 481(7381):287–94. doi:10.1038/nature10760
- Ciccia A, Elledge SJ. The DNA damage response: making it safe to play with knives. *Mol Cell* (2010) 40(2):179–204. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.019
- Wang S, El-Deiry WS. p73 or p53 directly regulates human p53 transcription to maintain cell cycle checkpoints. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(14):6982–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-0511
- Takagi M, Absalon MJ, McLure KG, Kastan MB. Regulation of p53 translation and induction after DNA damage by ribosomal protein L26 and nucleolin. *Cell* (2005) 123(1):49–63. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.07.034
- Vousden KH, Lu X. Live or let die: the cell's response to p53. Nat Rev Cancer (2002) 8:594–604. doi:10.1038/nrc864
- Desantis A, Bruno T, Catena V, De Nicola F, Iezzi S, Sorino C, et al. Che-1 modulates the decision between cell cycle arrest and apoptosis by its binding to p53. *Cell Death Dis.* (2015) 6:e1764. doi:10.1038/cddis.2015.117
- 32. Höpker K, Hagmann H, Khurshid S, Chen S, Hasskamp P, Seeger-Nukpezah T, et al. AATF/Che-1 acts as a phosphorylation-dependent molecular modulator

to repress p53-driven apoptosis. *EMBO J* (2012) **31**(20):3961–75. doi:10.1038/ emboj.2012.236

- De Nicola F, Bruno T, Iezzi S, Di Padova M, Floridi A, Passananti C, et al. The prolyl isomerase Pin1 affects Che-1 stability in response to apoptotic DNA damage. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282(27):19685–91. doi:10.1074/jbc. M610282200
- 34. De Nicola F, Catena V, Rinaldo C, Bruno T, Iezzi S, Sorino C, et al. HIPK2 sustains apoptotic response by phosphorylating Che-1/AATF and promoting its degradation. *Cell Death Dis.* (2014) 5:e1414. doi:10.1038/ cddis.2014.381
- Budanov AV, Karin M. p53 target genes sestrin1 and sestrin2 connect genotoxic stress and mTOR signaling. *Cell* (2008) 134(3):451–60. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2008.06.028
- Desantis A, Bruno T, Catena V, De Nicola F, Goeman F, Iezzi S, et al. Che-1-induced inhibition of mTOR pathway enables stress-induced autophagy. *EMBO J* (2015) 34(9):1214–30. doi:10.15252/embj.201489920
- Bruno T, Desantis A, Bossi G, Di Agostino S, Sorino C, De Nicola F, et al. Che-1 promotes tumor cell survival by sustaining mutant p53 transcription and inhibiting DNA damage response activation. *Cancer Cell* (2010) 18(2):122–34. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2010.05.027
- Santoro R, Strano S, Blandino G. Transcriptional regulation by mutant p53 and oncogenesis. *Subcell Biochem* (2014) 85:91-103. doi:10.1007/978-94-017-9211-0_5
- Haanpää M, Reiman M, Nikkilä J, Erkko H, Pylkäs K, Winqvist R. Mutation analysis of the AATF gene in breast cancer families. *BMC Cancer* (2009) 9:457. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-9-457
- Kaul D, Mehrotra A. Functional characterization of AATF transcriptome in human leukemic cells. *Mol Cell Biochem* (2007) 297(1–2):215–20. doi:10.1007/ s11010-006-9317-1
- Bacalini MG, Tavolaro S, Peragine N, Marinelli M, Santangelo S, Del Giudice I, et al. A subset of chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients display reduced levels of PARP1 expression coupled with a defective irradiation-induced apoptosis. *Exp Hematol* (2012) 40(3):197–206. doi:10.1016/j.exphem.2011.11.005
- Bruno T, Iezzi S, De Nicola F, Di Padova M, Desantis A, Scarsella M, et al. Che-1 activates XIAP expression in response to DNA damage. *Cell Death Differ* (2008) 15(3):515–20.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Bruno, Iezzi and Fanciulli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Targeting Oncogenic Mutant p53 for Cancer Therapy

Alejandro Parrales and Tomoo Iwakuma*

Department of Cancer Biology, University of Kansas Medical Center, Kansas City, KS, USA

Among genetic alterations in human cancers, mutations in the tumor suppressor p53 gene are the most common, occurring in over 50% of human cancers. The majority of p53 mutations are missense mutations and result in the accumulation of dysfunctional p53 protein in tumors. These mutants frequently have oncogenic gain-of-function activities and exacerbate malignant properties of cancer cells, such as metastasis and drug resistance. Increasing evidence reveals that stabilization of mutant p53 in tumors is crucial for its oncogenic activities, while depletion of mutant p53 attenuates malignant properties of cancer cells. Thus, mutant p53 is an attractive druggable target for cancer therapy. Different approaches have been taken to develop small-molecule compounds that specifically target mutant p53. These include compounds that restore wild-type conformation and transcriptional activity of mutant p53, induce depletion of mutant p53, inhibit downstream pathways of oncogenic mutant p53, and induce synthetic lethality to mutant p53. In this review article, we comprehensively discuss the current strategies targeting oncogenic mutant p53 in cancers, with special focus on compounds that restore wild-type p53 transcriptional activity of mutant p53 and those reducing mutant p53 levels.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ygal Haupt, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Australia

Reviewed by:

Robert Friis, University of Bern, Switzerland Sonia Lain, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden

*Correspondence:

Tomoo lwakuma tiwakuma@kumc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 01 October 2015 Accepted: 07 December 2015 Published: 21 December 2015

Citation:

Parrales A and Iwakuma T (2015) Targeting Oncogenic Mutant p53 for Cancer Therapy. Front. Oncol. 5:288. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00288 Keywords: mutant p53, depletion, compounds, reactivation, cancer therapy, gain of function, dominant negative, oncogenes

INTRODUCTION

The tumor suppressor p53 exerts its biological function by regulating transcription of numerous downstream target genes involved in cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, DNA repair, senescence, and metabolism as a transcription factor (1, 2). p53 is also directly recruited to the mitochondria and induces apoptosis independent of its function as a transcription factor (3). Under unstressed physiological conditions, p53 expression is maintained at a low level, mainly by being degraded by its E3 ubiquitin ligases, MDM2, Pirh2, and COP1 (4). Once cells are exposed to genotoxic stresses, p53 is posttranslationally modified through phosphorylation and acetylation, becomes stabilized, and induces cell cycle arrest and/or cell death. When p53 activity is lost by gene deletion or mutations, normal cells lose the abilities to control their growth and death, leading to immortalization and ultimately cancer (5). The observation that over 50% of human cancers have mutations in the *p53* gene indicates the indispensability of intact p53 activity for suppressing tumor development (6).

Mutations in the *p53* gene occur mainly in the DNA-binding domain, the majority of which are missense mutations, resulting in loss of function as a transcription factor and accumulation of dysfunctional p53 protein in tumors (7). Mutant p53 can be categorized roughly into two types:
DNA contact (class I) mutant where mutations are present on amino acids directly binding to the p53-responsive element in DNA (e.g., p53^{R273H} and p53^{R280K}) and conformational (class II) mutant in which mutations alter structure of p53 to abolish its DNA-binding ability (e.g., p53^{R175H} and p53^{V143A}) (8). Both the mutant types not only lose the transcriptional activity, but also have the dominant-negative (DN) activity by heterooligomerizing with wild-type p53. Moreover, mutant p53 shows oncogenic gain-of-function (GOF) activities, such as enhanced tumor progression, metastatic potential, and drug resistance, when overexpressed even in cells lacking wild-type p53 (7). These findings are supported by the fact that p53 was originally appreciated as an oncogene, since researchers unknowingly used plasmids encoding mutations in the p53 gene. Thus, mutant p53 functions as an oncogene and greatly contributes to malignant properties of cancer cells.

Disrupting specific mechanisms which cancer cells develop for their survival and growth is a rational approach to selectively kill cancer cells with minimal effects on normal cells. In this regard, mutant p53 is one of the best druggable targets, since over half of human cancers have p53 mutations, while normal cells mostly do not have mutations in the p53 gene (9). To exploit the frequent presence of mutant p53 in tumors and target mutant p53 in cancer therapy, two strategies including restoration of wild-type p53 transcriptional activity and depletion of mutant p53 have been extensively undertaken, in addition to inhibition of downstream target pathways involved in mutant p53 GOF and induction of synthetic lethality to mutant p53. Since mutant p53 is generally accumulated in tumors (10), reactivating p53 activity can efficiently induce proliferation arrest and/or cell death of cancer cell. Specifically, in the late stage of tumor development, cancer cells express only mutant p53 with loss of heterozygosity of the other wild-type p53 allele (11, 12). Such cells often have high metastatic and chemotherapy resistant properties. Hence, this p53 reactivation strategy is powerful to treat cancers expressing mutant p53. The other strategy to specifically deplete oncogenic mutant p53 in cancer cells should have minimal impact on wild-type p53, since depletion of wild-type p53 in normal and cancer cells can accelerate tumorigenesis or tumor progression. Accumulating studies suggest that knockdown of mutant p53 significantly reduces oncogenic potential of cancer cells expressing only mutant p53 (13-16), suggesting that malignant properties of cancer cells are, at least partially, dependent on the presence of mutant p53. This could be simply due to the loss of oncogenic activity of mutant p53 or possibly because cancer cells are addicted to mutant p53 for their survival and proliferation. This strategy would work even better when cancer cells retain the wild-type p53 allele with the mutant p53 allele (heterozygous), since it can also restore wild-type p53 activity which is suppressed by the DN activity of mutant p53. Thus, depletion of mutant p53 is also an effective strategy to suppress tumor progression.

In this article, toward developing precision cancer medicine, we summarize updated information about compounds which can restore wild-type p53 activity, as well as those depleting mutant p53.

DRUGS/COMPOUNDS THAT RESTORE WILD-TYPE p53 ACTIVITY

Most p53 mutants lose their ability to bind with p53-response elements in DNA, thereby losing transcriptional activity and tumor suppressive function (17). However, the following evidence suggests that sequence-specific p53 transcriptional activities can be restored from mutant p53: (1) many p53 mutants are temperature sensitive and restore the p53 activity at the permissive temperature (18, 19), (2) synthetic peptides, CDB3 and Peptide 46 which are derived from 53BP2 and C-terminal domain of p53, respectively, restore the sequence-specific DNA binding and transcriptional activity of p53 (20, 21), and (3) insertion of second-site mutations or a N-terminal deletion in several p53 mutants restore the p53 transcriptional activities (22-24). Since the first p53-reactivating compound, CP-31398, was identified (17), investigators have made tremendous efforts to identify compounds that restore p53 transcriptional activity. Major compounds related to mutant p53 reactivation are listed in Table 1 and explained below.

CP-31398

CP-31398 (styrylquinazoline) was identified through a structurebased screening as a compound which could restore native wildtype p53 conformation from a denatured conformation in the DNA-binding domain, using a conformation specific antibody PAb1620. CP-31398 leads to increase in p21 mRNA expression in Saos-2 (p53-null) cells expressing p53^{V173A} and p53^{R249S} mutants, and inhibits tumor growth of A375.S2 (p53R249S) and DLD1 (p53^{S241F}) cells (17). CP-31398 increases mRNA expression of MDM2 and p21 in multiple cancer cell lines (46). CP-31398 also induces mitochondrial translocation of mutant $p53^{\ensuremath{\text{R273H}}}$ in A431 skin carcinoma cell line, leading to cytochrome c release and apoptosis (25). Intriguingly, CP-31398 cannot refold already misfolded mutant p53 proteins, since cycloheximide prevents the effect of CP-31398 on p53 restoration (23, 26). It also induces cell death in a p53-independent manner through free radical formation (27).

STIMA-1 (SH Group-Targeting Compound That Induces Massive Apoptosis)

STIMA-1 [2-vinylquinazolin-4-(3H)-one] was identified as one of the CP-31398 derivatives, which induced mutant p53 ($p53^{R175H}$ and $p53^{R273H}$)-dependent growth suppression (28). Both CP-31398 and STIMA-1 bind to the cysteine residues in the core domain of mutant p53, leading to stabilization of wild-type p53 conformation and subsequent restoration of transcriptional activity (28). STIMA-1 increases the DNA-binding ability of mutant p53, resulting in upregulation mRNA expression of *p21, PUMA*, and *BAX*, and leading to mutant p53-dependent apoptosis (28).

PRIMA-1 and PRIMA-1MET/APR-246

PRIMA-1 [2,2-bis (hydroxymethyl)-3-quinuclidinone] was identified through a screening as a compound that suppressed proliferation of Saos-2 osteosarcoma cell line expressing $p53^{R273H}$ (Saos-2- $p53^{R273H}$) with little effect on the parental Saos-2 cells.

TABLE 1 | Compounds that induce reactivation of mutant p53.

Compound	Type of mutant	Mechanism	Reference	Structure
CP-31398	V173A, S241F, R249S, R273H	Stabilize the DNA-binding core domain and induce conformational change	(17, 25–27)	HN N CH ₃ · 2HCi · xH ₂ O OCH ₃
STIMA-1, structural similarity to CP-31398	R175H, R273H	Bind to the cysteine residues in the core domain and stabilize wild-type p53 conformation	(28)	N OH
PRIMA-1 and the methylated analog (APR-246/PRIMA-1 ^{MET})	R175H, R273H	Bind to thiol groups in the core domain and restore wild-type conformation	(23, 29, 30)	РВІМА-1
MIRA-1 (NSC19630), and its analogs MIRA-2 and -3	R175H, R248Q, R273H	Prevent unfolding of wild-type and mutant p53 and restore native wild-type p53 conformation	(31)	MIRA-1
RITA (NSC652287)	R175H, R248W, R273H, R280K	Restore p53 transcriptional activity and induce apoptosis	(32, 33)	но в от в он
NSC319726/ ZMC 1 (zinc metallochaperone-1)	R175H, R172H (mouse)	Restore wild-type p53 conformation and activity with MDM2-dependent degradation	(34–36)	
Chetomin (CTM)	R175H	Increase Hsp40 (DNAJB1) levels and Hsp40-p53 ^{R176H} binding, restoring wild-type p53 conformation, activity, and MDM2-dependent degradation	(37)	
PK7088	Y220C	Bind to a $p53^{\text{Y220C}}\text{-specific surface cavity and stabilize }p53^{\text{Y220C}}$ with restored wild-type p53 conformation	(38)	
Stictic acid (NSC87511)	R175H, G245S	Target cysteine 124 at the p53 core domain and restore wild-type p53 activity	(39)	
p53R3	R175H, M237I, R273H	Restore sequence-specific DNA binding and p53 transcriptional activities	(40)	$(\mathcal{A}_{N}^{H,C},\mathcal{A}_{$
SCH529074	R175H, L194F, R248W, R249S, R273H	Restore sequence-specific DNA binding and p53 transcriptional activities	(41)	
WR-1065	V272M	Restore DNA binding and transcriptional activities of $p53^{\mbox{\tiny V272M}}$	(42–45)	H ₂ N N SH · 2HCl

PRIMA-1 and its methylated analog PRIMA-1^{MET} (also known as APR-246) not only enhance stability of wild-type p53 at 37°C, but also induce conformational change of p53^{R175H}, leading to

restoration of DNA-binding activity of $p53^{R175H}$ with increased *MDM2* and *p21* mRNA expression (23). Notably, PRIMA-1 refolds previously accumulated unfolded mutant p53 (23). The

mechanisms underlying refolding of mutant p53 by PRIMA-1 and PRIMA-1^{MET} involve the conversion of these compounds to products which form adducts with thiol groups in the mutant p53 core domain, leading to restoration of wild-type conformation and induction of apoptosis in tumor cells (29, 30). Several studies have successfully validated their tumor suppressive effects in mouse models of multiple types of cancer (47–50). Importantly, PRIMA-1^{MET} is currently in clinical trials (51, 52).

MIRA-1 and Its Structural Analogs

Using the same screening strategy as PRIMA-1, MIRA-1 (NSC19630) was identified as a compound that suppressed proliferation of Saos-2-p53^{R273H} cells (31). MIRA-1 and its structural analogs MIRA-2 and MIRA-3 from the NCI repository inhibit proliferation of cancer cells expressing p53^{R175H} and p53^{R273H} (31). Both MIRA-1 and MIRA-3 also induce cell death in cancer cells expressing mutant p53 (31). Furthermore, MIRA analogs prevent unfolding of wild-type and mutant p53, and also restored native wild-type p53 conformation, leading to enhanced DNA-binding activity of mutant p53 (p53^{R175H} and p53^{R248Q}) and increase in mRNA expression of p53 downstream target genes, *MDM2* and *p21*, in several mutant p53-carrying cancer cell lines (31). *In vivo* effects of MIRA analogs have also been confirmed in mouse models (31, 53).

RITA (NSC652287)

NSC652287 [2,5-bis(5-hydroxymethyl-2-thienyl) Furan] is one of a series of thiophene derivatives and is known to inhibit tumor growth of renal cell carcinoma cells with DNA-protein cross-linking and upregulation of wild-type p53 and p21 (54, 55). NSC652287 (RITA: reactivation of p53 and induction of tumor cell apoptosis) is also identified through cell proliferation assaybased screening using isogenic cell lines of HCT116 (wild-type p53 and p53-null) as a compound that suppresses the growth of HCT116 (wild-type p53) cells in a dose-dependent manner with minimum effects on HCT116 (p53-null) cells (56). Later, NSC652287/RITA was found to suppress the growth of cancer cell lines carrying various p53 mutants (p53^{R175H}, p53^{R213Q/Y234H}, p53^{R248W}, p53^{R248Q}, p53^{I254D}, p53^{R273H}, and p53^{R280K}) by restoration of p53 transcriptional activity (p21, NOXA, PUMA, and GADD45) and induction of apoptosis through upregulation of pro-apoptotic proteins and downregulation of several oncogenes or anti-apoptotic proteins (32, 33, 57). However, the exact mechanism by which RITA activates both wild-type and mutant p53 to induce apoptosis remains unclear.

NSC319726/ZMC1 (Zinc Metallochaperone-1)

Zinc is required for proper folding of p53 protein, while lack of zinc in the central core domain of p53 leads to unfolding (23, 58, 59). Also, addition of zinc to cells or its administration to mice carrying tumors are known to restore DNA-binding activity of mutant p53 (p53^{R175H} and p53^{R273H}) in cells and tumors, leading to tumor suppression (60). Thus, facilitating the binding of mutant p53 to zinc can be used to restore the proper folding and

transcriptional activity of mutant p53 (34). Indeed, NSC319726 [zinc metallochaperone-1 (ZMC1)], a thiosemicarbazone derivative, was identified in a screen of the NCI60 panel of human tumor cell lines as a compound that exhibited selective toxicity to cells carrying p53^{R175H} with minimum effects on cells expressing wild-type p53 and other p53 mutants (p53^{R248Q} and p53^{R273H}) (35). NSC319726 restores the wild-type-like conformation of mutant p53 and upregulates p53 downstream target genes (p21, PUMA, and MDM2) through increasing ROS levels (35, 36). It also reduces p53^{R175H} levels, which is rescued by Nutlin-3a (35). Importantly, its administration induces greater toxicity in p53^{R172H/R172H} (equivalent to human p53^{R175H}) mice than in wildtype mice in a dose-dependent manner (35). NSC319726 also suppresses tumor growth of TOV112D (p53^{R175H}) cells in vivo (35). Other thiosemicarbazone family members (NSC319726 and NSC328784) also preferentially reduce cell viability of p53 mutant cell lines (35).

Chetomin

Hiraki et al. (37) performed high-throughput chemical library screening using a luciferase reporter with the p53 response element of the PUMA promoter in H1299 (p53-null) cells carrying p53^{R175H}, which identified chetomin (CTM) as a compound that increased luciferase activity dose-dependently. CTM suppresses cancer cell growth in vitro and in vivo more efficiently in cells expressing p53^{R175H} with upregulation of MDM2, p21, and PUMA than those expressing wild-type p53 and p53^{R273H}, as well as null for p53 (37). The effects of CTM on reduced p53^{R175H} levels are dependent on MDM2 (37). Interestingly, CTM increases protein levels of Hsp40 (DNAJB1) and the binding of p53^{R175H} to Hsp40, leading to restoration of wild-type p53 conformation and tumor suppression of cancer cells carrying p53^{R175H} (37). However, CTM is also known to inhibit the hypoxia-inducible factor pathway by blocking the interaction of HIF proteins and their cofactor p300. Moreover, it suppresses in vivo tumor growth of HCT116 (wild-type p53) cells and enhances radiosensitivity of cancer cells regardless of the p53 status (61-63). Thus, CTM has other function than mutant p53 reactivation.

PK7088

PK7088 [1-methyl-4-phenyl-3-(1H-pyrrol-1-yl)-1H-pyrazole] was identified as a compound that binds to a p53^{Y220C}-specific surface cavity destabilizing this protein through proteinobserved NMR screening (38, 64). PK7088 stabilizes p53^{Y220C} and restores wild-type p53 conformation. It is biologically active in cancer cells carrying p53^{Y220C} mutant and induces G2/M arrest of the cell cycle and apoptosis with upregulation of NOXA and p21, as well as relocation of BAX to the mitochondria (38). PK7088 and Nutlin-3a cooperatively upregulate protein expression of p21 and NOXA (38). Crystal structure of p53-Y220C core domain with PK7242, a more soluble PK7088 analog, is also presented (38).

Stictic Acid (NSC87511)

A computational analysis of p53 structural models suggests that cysteine 124 of p53 is located at the center of a transiently open

binding pocket between loop L1 and sheet S3 of the p53 core domain (39). Based on the finding that additional mutation at cysteine 124 to alanine on p53^{R175H} (p53^{C124A/R175H}) abolished the effects of PRIMA-1 on the reactivation of p53^{R175H}, Wassman et al. (39) performed an Ensemble-based virtual screening against this pocket and identified stictic acid as a p53 reactivation compound (39). Stictic acid stabilizes p53 *in vitro* and induces expression of p21 and PUMA in Saos2 (p53-null) cells expressing mutant p53 (p53^{R175H} and p53^{G245S}) (39).

P53R3

The p53 reactivator (P53R3) is a compound identified through a screening using an *in vitro* DNA-binding assay (40). P53R3 restores sequence-specific DNA binding of several p53 mutants ($p53^{R175H}$, $p53^{M237I}$, and $p53^{R273H}$) and induces p53-dependent antiproliferative effects with increase in mRNA expression of many p53 target genes, such as *p21*, *GADD45*, *BAX*, *PUMA*, *PIG3*, and *MDM2* (40). It should be noted that P53R3 also increases mRNA expression of several p53 target genes (*p21*, *GADD45*, *PUMA*, and *MDM2*) in cancer cells expressing wild-type p53 (40).

SCH529074

The small molecule SCH529074 was identified by a DNA-binding assay-based screening as a compound that enabled $p53^{R273H}$ to bind to a consensus p53 DNA-binding site (41). SCH529074 restores the PAb1620 epitope by acting as a chaperone and enhances DNA-binding activity of several p53 mutants ($p53^{R175H}$, $p53^{S241F}$, $p53^{R248W}$, $p53^{R248Y}$, and $p53^{R273H}$), leading to upregulation of p53 downstream target genes (*p21, BAX, NOXA, cyclin G1,* and *PUMA*), induction of proliferation arrest or apoptosis, and inhibition of *in vivo* tumor growth of mutant p53-expressing cell lines (41). Additionally, SCH529074 binds to DNA-binding domain of p53 and inhibits ubiquitination and degradation of wild-type p53 by MDM2 (41).

WR-1065

WR1065 is an active form of amifostine and is used to protect tissues against the damaging effects of radiation and chemotherapeutic drugs (42). WR-1065 increases wild-type p53 activity through a JNK-dependent signaling pathway, but not through genotoxic mechanisms (42–44). It is also reported that WR-1065 restores wild-type p53 conformation of a temperature-sensitive p53^{V272M}, leading to increase in the DNA-binding activity, transactivation of several p53 target genes (*p21, GADD45*, and *MDM2*), and cell cycle arrest in G1 phase (45).

COMPOUNDS THAT DEPLETE MUTANT p53

Although many p53-reactivating compounds seem to target more than one p53 mutant, it remains unclear if these compounds can reactivate all p53 mutants or specific mutant types. Also, PRIMA-1^{MET} is the only drug currently under clinical trials. Thus, the development of p53-reactivating compounds remains challenging. Another approach to target oncogenic mutant p53 is to discover compounds that specifically deplete mutant p53 with little effect on wild-type p53. Rationale to develop mutant p53-depleting compounds is based on the following observations: (1) mutant p53 is inherently unstable, but once stabilized, it can accelerate tumor progression (10) and (2) knockdown of mutant p53 by small interference RNAs (siRNAs) or shRNAs reduces malignant properties of cancer cells (13-16), thus indicating that oncogenic potential of cancer cells are, at least partially, dependent on the presence of accumulated oncogenic mutant p53. Although the mechanisms behind stabilization or degradation of mutant p53 are not necessarily the same as those of wild-type p53 and remain elusive (5, 65), several compounds that induce mutant p53 degradation without altering wild-type p53 have been found. These compounds can be used as effective therapeutic strategies for both cancers carrying only mutant p53 and those retaining wild-type p53 with mutant p53 as mentioned in the Introduction. Thus, compounds that specifically deplete mutant p53 are valuable for cancer therapy and also for elucidating the mechanisms of stabilization or degradation of mutant p53. Major compounds which deplete mutant p53 are listed in Table 2 and explained below.

Hsp90 Inhibitors: Geldanamycin, 17-AAG, Ganetespib

Blocking the function of heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90) leads to depletion of several oncogenic proteins, such as Raf-1, ErbB2, and mutant p53 (66, 67), because Hsp90 contributes to accumulation of mutant p53 by inactivating p53 ubiquitin ligases, MDM2, and CHIP (68, 69). Treatment of cancer cells with 17-AAG, a Hsp90 inhibitor and an analog of geldanamycin, promotes degradation of varieties of p53 mutants (p53^{R175H}, p53^{L194F}, p53^{R273H}, and p53^{R280K}) and decreases viability of cells carrying mutant p53 (69). Importantly, another Hsp90 inhibitor, ganestespib, which is 50-fold more potent than 17-AAG in destabilizing mutant p53 with little effect on wild-type p53 levels, induces mutant p53^{R248Q} Hupki (human p53 knock-in) and p53^{R172H} knock-in mouse models (13). Ganetespib is currently under evaluation in clinical trials, including phase III for lung cancer (81–83).

Histone Deacetylase Inhibitors: Vorinostat/ SAHA, Romidepsin/Depsipeptide

The effects of histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACi) on mutant p53 (p53^{R175H}, p53^{R280K}, and p53^{V274F/P223L}) were first reported by Blagosklonny et al. (70). Later, two mechanisms describing the inhibition of HDAC8-mediated mutant p53 transcription (84) and mutant p53 destabilization through inhibition of HDAC6 by HDACi are proposed (71). Specifically, suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA, also known as vorinostat), a FDAapproved HDACi that inhibits class I, II, and IV HDACs, induces degradation of mutant p53 by inhibiting HDAC6 activity, an essential positive regulator of Hsp90, and subsequent disruption of the HDAC6/Hsp90/mutant p53 complex, leading to mutant p53 ubiquitination by MDM2 and CHIP (71, 72). SAHA shows higher cytotoxic effects on cancer cells carrying mutant p53 than those having wild type or null for p53 (72). SAHA also sensitizes cancer cells to a topoisomerase inhibitor camptothecin in a mutant p53-dependent manner (71).

TABLE 2 | Compounds that deplete mutant p53.

Compound	Type of mutant	Mechanism	Reference	Structure
Hsp90 inhibitors: 17-AAG, geldanamycin, ganetespib	R175H, L194F, R248Q, R273H, R280K, R172H (mouse)	Reverse the Hsp90's function to inactivate MDM2 and CHIP	(13, 66–69)	
HDAC inhibitors: vorinostat/ SAHA, romidepsin/ depsipeptide	R175H, R280K, V247F/P223L	Inhibit HDAC6 and disrupt the HDAC6/ Hsp90/mutant p53 complex	(70–72)	J. J. J. J. O.H.
				SAHA
Arsenic compounds	R175H, R248W, H179Y/R282W, R273H	Increase transcripts of Pirh2 and induce degradation of mutant p53	(73, 74)	As O As
				Arsenic trioxide
Gambogic acid	R175H, G266E, R273H, R280K	Inhibit the mutant p53-Hsp90 complex and induce CHIP-dependent degradation	(75)	$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}$ \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array}
Spautin-1	R158InF, R175H, S241F, R248Q, G266Q, R280L, R273H	Induce mutant p53 degradation via the CMA pathway activated by the suppression of macroautophagy under glucose-free and confluent conditions	(76, 77)	
YK-3-237	V157F, M237I, R249S, R273H, R280K	Decrease mutant p53 levels through deacetylation at lysine 382 by activating SIRT1	(78)	O O O O O
NSC59984	R175L, R175H, S241F, R273H/ P309F	Induce MDM2-mediated mutant p53 degradation and activate p73	(79)	¢.
Disulfiram (DSF)	R273H	Induce degradation of both wild-type p53 and p53 ^{P273H} via the 26S proteasome pathway	(80)	H ₃ C N S N CH ₃

Arsenic Compounds

Arsenic trioxide (ATO), which is used to treat patients with acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL), binds to thiol groups in cysteine residues and induces degradation of proteins, such as promyelocytic leukemia protein (PML) and PML-retinoic acid receptor α (PML-RAR α) fusion protein (85). It also activates wild-type p53 and upregulates p53 downstream target genes with induction of apoptosis (86). Yan et al. (73) asked the possibility of using arsenic compounds to target mutant p53 for degradation and found that ATO or sodium arsenite induced proteasomal-dependent degradation of several p53 mutants (p53^{R175H}, p53^{H179Y/R282W}, p53^{R248W}, and p53^{R273H}). ATO also increases transcripts of an E3 ubiquitin ligase Pirh2, leading to ubiquitination and degradation of several mutant p53 (74).

However, it should be noted that arsenic compounds have carcinogenic effects and are known to induce several types of cancer (87).

Gambogic Acid

Gambogic acid (GA), a natural product derived from Garcinia hanburyi tree, induces apoptosis and inhibits tumor growth *in vivo* by upregulating wild-type p53 at protein levels (88). On the other hand, GA induces nuclear exports of mutant p53 (p53^{R175H}, p53^{G266E}, p53^{R273H}, and p53^{R280K}) for degradation by CHIP ubiquitin ligase (75). GA prevents the mutant p53-Hsp90 complex formation but enhances the mutant p53-Hsp70 interaction (75). Biologically, GA reduces viability of mutant p53-expressing cancer cells and also increases cytotoxic effects of several chemotherapy drugs in human breast cancer MDA-MB-435 ($p53^{G266E}$) cell line (75).

Spautin-1

Spautin-1 is a derivative of MBCQ (4-((3,4-methylenedioxybenzyl)amino)-6-chloroquinazoline) which was identified as a small molecule that inhibited autophagy through an imaging-based screen using LC3-GFP as a marker (89). When cancer cells are placed in the nutrient-deficient environment, cells start autophagy to generate an alternative energy source to survive by degrading cellular proteins and organelles in the lysosome. Spautin-1 inhibits ubiquitin-specific peptidases, USP10 and USP13, and promotes the degradation of Vps34-PI3 kinase complexes, key regulators of autophagy, leading to inhibition of autophagy (89). Since USP10 also deubiquitinates wild-type p53, Spautin-1 promotes degradation of wild-type p53 (89, 90). Moreover, suppression of macroautophagy by Spautin-1 under glucose-free and confluent conditions is found to induce degradation of several p53 mutants (p53^{R158InF}, p53R175H, p53^{R248Q}, p53^{S241F}, p53^{G266E}, p53^{R280L}, and p53^{R273H}) through the chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA) pathway (76). Spautin-1 also induces cell death under nonproliferating condition only when cancer cells express mutant p53. This effect of Spautin-1 is independent of MDM2 and the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway, but is dependent on nuclear export of mutant p53 and the presence of Hsc70 (76, 77).

YK-3-237

YK-3-237 was originally identified as a compound that showed antiproliferative effects in different cancer cell lines, but its mechanism of action was unknown (91). Yi et al. (78) investigated the effects of this compound on the proliferation of breast cancer cell lines carrying different p53 status and found that YK-3-237 preferentially inhibited the proliferation of breast cancer cell lines carrying mutant p53. YK-3-237 also decreased the levels of mutant p53 (p53^{V157F}, p53^{M237I}, p53^{R249S}, p53^{R273H}, and p53^{R280K}) through reduction in acetylation at lysine 382 (K382) of mutant p53, a target site of a NAD+-dependent protein deacetylase SIRT1 (also known as sirtuin 1) (78). Indeed, YK-3-237 activates SIRT1 enzyme activity (78). Furthermore, treatment of triple-negative breast cancer cell lines with YK-3-237 results in induction of apoptosis and G2/M arrest of the cell cycle with increase in mRNA expression of NOXA and PUMA (78). However, the underlying mechanism remains unclear.

NSC59984

The small molecule NSC59984 was recently identified as a compound that increased luciferase activity in SW480 (p53^{R273H/P309S}) and DLD-1 (p53^{S24IF}) cells carrying a p53-responsive luciferase reporter construct (PG13) (79). NSC59984 increases mRNA and protein levels of several p53 targets, such as p21, PUMA, and NOXA, with increase in apoptosis. It should be noted that NSC59984 also induces apoptosis in cancer cells having wild type and null for p53, suggesting it has p53-independent effects on cell death (79). Moreover, NSC59984 induces degradation of several p53 mutants (p53^{R175L}, p53^{R175H}, p53^{S241F}, and p53^{R273H/P309S}) through MDM2-mediated ubiquitination, whereas it rather increases wild-type p53 levels (79). Importantly, the effects of NSC59984 on p53 target gene expression and apoptosis are caused by activation of p73, rather than conformational changes of mutant p53 (79). In *in vivo* xenograft mouse models, NSC59984 suppresses tumor growth of DLD-1 in a p73-dependent manner (79).

Disulfiram

Disulfiram (DSF) is used for the treatment of chronic alcoholism by inhibiting acetaldehyde dehydrogenase. DSF has also been under clinical trials for some types of cancer including glioblastoma multiforme and metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (92, 93). DSF and its metabolites which are strong ROS inducers contain a reactive disulfide bond and readily mediate thiol-conjugating reactions, leading to S-glutathionylation of cysteine residues in proteins (94, 95). Protein S-glutathionylation in response to oxidative stress can affect function and stability of target proteins (80, 96). Interestingly, p53 is found to be S-glutathionylated at cysteine residues 124 and 141 (97, 98). Paranjpe et al. (80) reported that DSF and its derivative copper-chelated disulfiram (CuDSF) induced degradation of both wild-type p53 and p53^{R273H} through the 26S proteasome pathway. However, DSF-induced protein degradation is not p53-specific, because it also induces degradation of other redox-regulated proteins, such as NF-KB subunit p50 and UBE1 (80).

OTHER STRATEGIES TO TARGET MUTANT p53 AND ITS RELATED GOF ACTIVITY

Compounds That Induce Readthrough of Premature Termination Codons

About 8% of all the p53 mutations in human cancers are nonsense mutations, which results in the presence of premature termination codons (PTCs) (99). PTC leads to the mRNA degradation by the nonsense-mediated mRNA decay pathway or potential production of truncated proteins. However, aminoglycoside antibiotics (gentamicin, G418, and amikamicin) bind with the ribosomal RNA and promote readthrough of PTCs, leading to partial restoration of full-length protein production (100). Specifically, gentamicin, G418, and NMDI14 induce production of full-length functional p53 from p53^{Q192X}, p53^{R213X}, and p53^{E298X}, leading to apoptosis induction in cancer cells carrying nonsense p53 mutations (101, 102).

Knockdown with Small Interference RNA

Knocking down specific protein expression by siRNAs or shRNAs can be a specific and potent strategy to target cancers if methodologies of efficient *in vivo* delivery are established (103). Indeed, downregulation of mutant p53 in T47D (p53^{L194F}), MDA-MB-231 (p53^{R280K}), and MDA-MB-468 (p53^{R273H}) breast cancer cell lines induces PARP-dependent apoptosis (104, 105). In DU145 (p53^{P223L/V274F}) prostate cancer cell line, downregulation of p53^{P223L/V274F} by siRNA induces cell cycle arrest at G1 and G2/M phases, as well as apoptosis in a PI3K/Akt-dependent manner (106). Also, silencing of mutant p53 in 5637 (p53^{R280T}) and T24 (in-frame deletion of Y126) bladder cancer cell lines by *p53* siRNA induces G2 arrest of the cell cycle and apoptosis, and increases sensitivity to cisplatin (107). Thus, accumulated studies reveal that knockdown of mutant p53 by siRNAs or shRNAs reduces malignant properties of cancer cells. However, siRNAs for p53 used in aforementioned publications can also knockdown wild-type p53. Matinez et al. (108) first developed a $p53^{R248W}$ specific siRNA which did not affect wild-type p53. Recently, our laboratory also developed siRNAs specific for p53^{R175H} and p53^{R273H}, which did not alter wild-type p53 expression levels (unpublished). We successfully showed reactivation of wild-type p53 and reduced cell proliferation and migration, following transfection of these mutant-specific siRNAs in genetically engineered *p53* heterozygous cancer cell lines (HCT116^{+/R248W}, SW48^{+/R273H}) (unpublished). Thus, the extraordinary sequence specificity of siRNA makes it an attractive tool for targeted cancer therapies.

Compounds That Affect Downstream Targets of Mutant p53

Another way to target oncogenic activity of mutant p53 is to reactivate tumor suppressive pathways that are inhibited by mutant p53 or to inhibit tumor-promoting pathways that are activated by mutant p53.

Reactivate transcriptional activity (RETRA) was identified as a compound that increased β -galactosidase activity in A431 (p53^{R273H}) human epidermal carcinoma cells expressing a p53-resonsive promoter-driven β -galactosidase construct, through high-throughput screening of a chemical library comprising of 46,250 compounds (109). RETRA increases β -galactosidase activity only in cancer cells carrying mutant p53 (p53^{R248Q}, p53^{R280L}, and p53^{G266E}) with increased mRNA expression of *p21* and *PUMA*, but fails to do so in cells wild type or null for p53. Interestingly, the effects of RETRA are nullified by knockdown of p73, but not knockdown of p53 and p63 (109). Indeed, RETRA inhibits the binding of p53^{R273H} with p73. RETRA also reduces A431 cell viability in a p73-dependent manner and reduces tumor growth in a xenograft model (109).

Statins are a class of compounds that inhibit 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase in the mevalonate pathway and have been used in the clinic to treat hypercholesterolemia. HMG-CoA reductase is the rate-limiting step in cholesterol synthesis and also regulates prenylation/ lipidation (farnesylation and geranyl-geranylation) of proteins. Prenylation facilitates attachment of target proteins to cell membranes which are involved in cellular adhesion, migration, and proliferation signaling (e.g., Rho, Rac, Cdc42, Ras) (110). Interestingly, knockdown of p53^{R273H} significantly reduces mRNA expression of multiple enzymes involved in the mevalonate pathway (16). Both knockdown of mutant p53 and inhibition of protein prenylation by statins or other compounds result in impaired growth of breast cancer cells in 3D culture (16). Mechanistically, mutant p53 binds to and activates SREBP, crucial transcription factors that regulate transcription of several enzymes involved in the mevalonate pathway, leading to enhanced prenylation of proteins associated with cancer progression and activation of prenylated proteins in breast cancer cells; hence, inhibition of protein prenylation by statins leads to reduced malignancy of human breast cancer cells (16). Importantly, the presence of p53

mutation correlates with high expression of sterol biosynthesis genes in human breast tumors (16). Additionally, since nuclear localization and activation of the YAP and TAZ proto-oncogenes are regulated by prenylation and activation of Rho GTPases, statins could also suppress progression of mutant p53-expressing tumors by inhibiting YAP/TAZ activation by reducing protein prenylation of Rho GTPases, which is promoted by SREBP and its cofactor mutant p53 (111).

Compounds That Induce Synthetic Lethality

Synthetic lethality is generally used for the condition where a mutation in a gene is not lethal by itself, but its combination with a drug or other gene mutations leads to cell death (112). Since over 50% of human cancers have mutations in the p53 gene, p53 mutations become attractive targets for inducing synthetic lethality in tumors. In this regard, compounds that induce synthetic lethality to mutant p53 should selectively kill cancer cells expressing mutant p53 without affecting normal cells carrying wild-type p53. One compound that induces synthetic lethality to mutant p53 is UCN01, a protein kinase C inhibitor and a potent blocker of G2/M checkpoint of the cell cycle. Treatment of CA46 (p53^{R248Q}) and HT29 (p53R273H) with UNO01 abrogates γ -irradiationinduced G2/M arrest of the cell cycle and increases cytotoxicity (113). UCN01 also enhances cisplatin-induced cell death in MCF7-expressing human papillomavirus type-16 E6 (MCF7/E6) with little effect on parental MCF7 cells having functional p53 (113). Another compound that is synthetic lethal to mutant p53 is BI-2536, an inhibiter of polo-like kinase 1 (PLK1), an enzyme that controls G2/M checkpoint. Inhibition of PLK1 by BI-2536 significantly enhances cytotoxic effect of ionizing radiation in DLD-1 (p53^{S241F}) and p53^{R248W}-overexpressing HCT116 cells, but it does not do so in parental HCT116 (wild-type p53) cells (114). Similar effects are observed with PD0166285, an inhibitor of Wee1 kinase that regulates G2/M checkpoint. PD0166285 sensitizes cancer cells (HT29: p53R273H and E6-overexpressing PA-1: wild-type p53) to radiation-induced death, whereas this effect is not detected in parental PA-1 cells (115). However, the observed synthetic lethality to mutant p53 is likely not dependent on oncogenic GOF activity of mutant p53, but rather dependent on loss of wild-type p53 activity. Identification of synthetic lethality to mutant p53 alone, but not p53-null, could improve our understanding of oncogenic GOF activity of mutant p53 and contribute to the development of new compounds that target cancer cells carrying mutant p53.

SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Accumulated evidence has proven that small-molecule compounds can restore the transcriptional activity of mutant p53 or specifically deplete mutant p53. These compounds are expected to efficiently inhibit tumor growth with minimal effects on normal tissues. Several compounds listed in **Tables 1** and **2** are already in clinical trials. Within p53 reactivators, PRIMA-1^{MET} (also known as APR-246) is the only drug under clinical trials (51, 52). On the other hand, amongst the compounds that deplete mutant p53, Hsp90 inhibitors (81–83), HDAC inhibitors (116–118), ATO (119–121), and DSF (92, 93, 122) are under clinical trials for cancer therapy. However, it is not completely understood whether these p53 reactivators and mutant p53-depleting compounds have mechanisms of action on proteins or pathways other than mutant p53, if they have an impact on all p53 mutants or specific mutant types and their underlying mechanisms. Also, it would be important to determine any synergistic or additive effects of these compounds with conventional chemotherapy drugs on cancer cell survival and proliferation. Further studies to solve these concerns would help improving the efficacy and specificity of these compounds.

In order to better understand the mechanisms of action of compounds that target mutant p53, it is important to determine whether they can directly bind with mutant p53 or proteins involved in the process of mutant p53 reactivation or depletion. There are several *in vitro* methodologies to determine compound–protein interaction, including Biacore assays, mass spectrometry-based approaches, and drug affinity responsive target stability (DARTS) assays (123–125). On the other hand, *in vivo* analysis is limited. Recently, Jafari et al. (126) reported a cell-based drug–protein interaction assay, called cellular thermal shift assay (CETSA). Investigating interactions between a compound and a specific protein in cells would significantly improve our understanding of how efficiently and specifically the compound alters intracellular activity.

Biological effects of compounds that restore p53 activity are robust, since mutant p53 is usually accumulated in cancer cells, and hence these compounds have ample substrates to restore the p53 activity. On the other hand, compounds that deplete mutant p53 may not be as robust as those restoring the p53 activity; however, as mentioned in Section "Introduction," survival and growth of cancer cells are frequently dependent on mutant p53 (oncogene addiction) (13, 14). Thus, simply depleting mutant p53 in tumors is likely sufficient to reduce tumor malignancy. Especially, when tumor cells retain the wild-type p53 allele, compounds depleting mutant p53 alone may be even more effective, since they could reactivate wild-type p53 by releasing from DN activity of mutant p53. These mutant p53-depleting compounds could also be used for prevention of tumorigenesis when patients inherently carry mutant p53, such as in the case of human tumor-prone disease Li-Fraumeni syndrome (LFS). Over 70% of LFS patients have p53 mutations in their germlines (127), but mutant p53 is not always stable and accumulates mainly in tumors (10). A compound that depletes only accumulated mutant p53 in tumors could reduce risk of tumor development in LFS patients. The approach of

REFERENCES

- Lane D, Levine A. p53 Research: the past thirty years and the next thirty years. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2010) 2:a000893. doi:10.1101/cshperspect. a000893
- Levav-Cohen Y, Goldberg Z, Tan KH, Alsheich-Bartok O, Zuckerman V, Haupt S, et al. The p53-Mdm2 loop: a critical juncture of stress response. *Subcell Biochem* (2014) 85:161–86. doi:10.1007/978-94-017-9211-0_9
- Vaseva AV, Moll UM. The mitochondrial p53 pathway. Biochim Biophys Acta (2009) 1787:414–20. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2008.10.005
- Pant V, Lozano G. Limiting the power of p53 through the ubiquitin proteasome pathway. *Genes Dev* (2014) 28:1739–51. doi:10.1101/ gad.247452.114

mutant p53-specific knockdown by siRNAs or DNA oligomers could cause similar outcomes to those by mutant p53-depleting compounds. However, the major hurdle of this approach is efficient delivery of these oligomers to all cancer cells, which need to be addressed prior to their consideration for clinical trials (103).

Other than compounds summarized in this review article, compounds that target inhibitors of p53, such as MDM2 and MDM4, are also powerful to reactivate p53 and are summarized in other review articles (128, 129). Also, induction of synthetic lethality for mutant p53 is another specific approach for cancer cells expressing mutant p53 (128, 130–132). Inhibitors of proteins associated with G2/M arrest of the cell cycle and mitotic checkpoint appear to cause mitotic catastrophe in cancer cells lacking wild-type p53 activity.

In summary, discovering efficient and safe compounds that specifically target mutant p53 remains challenging. Hence, it is crucial to further understand how mutant p53 induces oncogenic function, to elucidate the exact mechanisms of mutant p53 stabilization or degradation in tumors, and to identify mutant p53-specific downstream signaling pathways or binding partners. The battle with cancer is unexpectedly taking longer, with cancers being wily enough to escape from current available treatments and develop novel ways of surviving. Given that several mutant p53-targeting drugs are already undergoing clinical trials, the goal toward establishment of therapies to cure mutant p53-carrying cancers may be just on the horizon.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AP and TI wrote the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize to our colleagues for the exclusion of other important contributions to the field and their references, mainly due to space limitations. We thank Swathi V. Iyer, Atul Ranjan, and Kaustav Bera for helpful discussions and editing the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the NIH 1-R01-CA174735-01A1 (TI) and 5-P30-CA168524-04 (PI: Roy A. Jensen) KU Cancer Center grants.

- Muller PA, Vousden KH. p53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol (2013) 15:2–8. doi:10.1038/ncb2641
- Rivlin N, Brosh R, Oren M, Rotter V. Mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene: important milestones at the various steps of tumorigenesis. *Genes Cancer* (2011) 2:466–74. doi:10.1177/1947601911408889
- Rivlin N, Koifman G, Rotter V. p53 orchestrates between normal differentiation and cancer. Semin Cancer Biol (2015) 32:10–7. doi:10.1016/j. semcancer.2013.12.006
- Joerger AC, Fersht AR. Structural biology of the tumor suppressor p53. Annu Rev Biochem (2008) 77:557–82. doi:10.1146/annurev. biochem.77.060806.091238
- 9. Goldstein I, Marcel V, Olivier M, Oren M, Rotter V, Hainaut P. Understanding wild-type and mutant p53 activities in human cancer: new landmarks on the

way to targeted therapies. Cancer Gene Ther (2011) 18:2-11. doi:10.1038/cgt.2010.63

- Terzian T, Suh YA, Iwakuma T, Post SM, Neumann M, Lang GA, et al. The inherent instability of mutant p53 is alleviated by Mdm2 or p16INK4a loss. *Genes Dev* (2008) 22:1337–44. doi:10.1101/gad.1662908
- Cavenee WK, Scrable HJ, James CD. Molecular genetics of human cancer predisposition and progression. *Mutat Res* (1991) 247:199–202. doi:10.1016/0027-5107(91)90015-G
- Gonzalez MV, Pello MF, Lopez-Larrea C, Suarez C, Menendez MJ, Coto E. Loss of heterozygosity and mutation analysis of the p16 (9p21) and p53 (17p13) genes in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Clin Cancer Res* (1995) 1:1043–9.
- Alexandrova EM, Yallowitz AR, Li D, Xu S, Schulz R, Proia DA, et al. Improving survival by exploiting tumour dependence on stabilized mutant p53 for treatment. *Nature* (2015) 523:352–6. doi:10.1038/nature14430
- Masciarelli S, Fontemaggi G, Di Agostino S, Donzelli S, Carcarino E, Strano S, et al. Gain-of-function mutant p53 downregulates miR-223 contributing to chemoresistance of cultured tumor cells. *Oncogene* (2014) 33:1601–8. doi:10.1038/onc.2013.106
- Weisz L, Oren M, Rotter V. Transcription regulation by mutant p53. Oncogene (2007) 26:2202–11. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210294
- Freed-Pastor WA, Mizuno H, Zhao X, Langerod A, Moon SH, Rodriguez-Barrueco R, et al. Mutant p53 disrupts mammary tissue architecture via the mevalonate pathway. *Cell* (2012) 148:244–58. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.12.017
- Foster BA, Coffey HA, Morin MJ, Rastinejad F. Pharmacological rescue of mutant p53 conformation and function. *Science* (1999) 286:2507–10. doi:10.1126/science.286.5449.2507
- Zhang W, Guo XY, Hu GY, Liu WB, Shay JW, Deisseroth AB. A temperature-sensitive mutant of human p53. *EMBO J* (1994) 13:2535–44.
- Selivanova G, Kawasaki T, Ryabchenko L, Wiman KG. Reactivation of mutant p53: a new strategy for cancer therapy. *Semin Cancer Biol* (1998) 8:369–78. doi:10.1006/scbi.1998.0099
- Friedler A, Hansson LO, Veprintsev DB, Freund SM, Rippin TM, Nikolova PV, et al. A peptide that binds and stabilizes p53 core domain: chaperone strategy for rescue of oncogenic mutants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99:937–42. doi:10.1073/pnas.241629998
- Selivanova G, Iotsova V, Okan I, Fritsche M, Strom M, Groner B, et al. Restoration of the growth suppression function of mutant p53 by a synthetic peptide derived from the p53 C-terminal domain. *Nat Med* (1997) 3:632–8. doi:10.1038/nm0697-632
- Nikolova PV, Wong KB, DeDecker B, Henckel J, Fersht AR. Mechanism of rescue of common p53 cancer mutations by second-site suppressor mutations. *EMBO J* (2000) 19:370–8. doi:10.1093/emboj/19.3.370
- Bykov VJ, Issaeva N, Shilov A, Hultcrantz M, Pugacheva E, Chumakov P, et al. Restoration of the tumor suppressor function to mutant p53 by a low-molecular-weight compound. *Nat Med* (2002) 8:282–8. doi:10.1038/nm0302-282
- 24. Liu WL, Midgley C, Stephen C, Saville M, Lane DP. Biological significance of a small highly conserved region in the N terminus of the p53 tumour suppressor protein. *J Mol Biol* (2001) **313**:711–31. doi:10.1006/jmbi.2001.5082
- Tang X, Zhu Y, Han L, Kim AL, Kopelovich L, Bickers DR, et al. CP-31398 restores mutant p53 tumor suppressor function and inhibits UVB-induced skin carcinogenesis in mice. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:3753–64. doi:10.1172/ JCI32481
- Tanner S, Barberis A. CP-31398, a putative p53-stabilizing molecule tested in mammalian cells and in yeast for its effects on p53 transcriptional activity. *J Negat Results Biomed* (2004) 3:5. doi:10.1186/1477-5751-3-5
- Rippin TM, Bykov VJ, Freund SM, Selivanova G, Wiman KG, Fersht AR. Characterization of the p53-rescue drug CP-31398 in vitro and in living cells. Oncogene (2002) 21:2119–29. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1205362
- Zache N, Lambert JM, Rokaeus N, Shen J, Hainaut P, Bergman J, et al. Mutant p53 targeting by the low molecular weight compound STIMA-1. *Mol Oncol* (2008) 2:70–80. doi:10.1016/j.molonc.2008.02.004
- Lambert JM, Gorzov P, Veprintsev DB, Soderqvist M, Segerback D, Bergman J, et al. PRIMA-1 reactivates mutant p53 by covalent binding to the core domain. *Cancer Cell* (2009) 15:376–88. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.03.003
- Lambert JM, Moshfegh A, Hainaut P, Wiman KG, Bykov VJ. Mutant p53 reactivation by PRIMA-1MET induces multiple signaling pathways converging on apoptosis. *Oncogene* (2010) 29:1329–38. doi:10.1038/onc.2009.425

- Bykov VJ, Issaeva N, Zache N, Shilov A, Hultcrantz M, Bergman J, et al. Reactivation of mutant p53 and induction of apoptosis in human tumor cells by maleimide analogs. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:30384–91. doi:10.1074/jbc. M501664200
- Zhao CY, Grinkevich VV, Nikulenkov F, Bao W, Selivanova G. Rescue of the apoptotic-inducing function of mutant p53 by small molecule RITA. *Cell Cycle* (2010) 9:1847–55. doi:10.4161/cc.9.9.11545
- 33. Burmakin M, Shi Y, Hedstrom E, Kogner P, Selivanova G. Dual targeting of wild-type and mutant p53 by small molecule RITA results in the inhibition of N-Myc and key survival oncogenes and kills neuroblastoma cells in vivo and in vitro. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:5092–103. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-12-2211
- Blanden AR, Yu X, Wolfe AJ, Gilleran JA, Augeri DJ, O'Dell RS, et al. Synthetic metallochaperone ZMC1 rescues mutant p53 conformation by transporting zinc into cells as an ionophore. *Mol Pharmacol* (2015) 87:825–31. doi:10.1124/ mol.114.097550
- Yu X, Vazquez A, Levine AJ, Carpizo DR. Allele-specific p53 mutant reactivation. Cancer Cell (2012) 21:614–25. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2012.03.042
- Yu X, Blanden AR, Narayanan S, Jayakumar L, Lubin D, Augeri D, et al. Small molecule restoration of wildtype structure and function of mutant p53 using a novel zinc-metallochaperone based mechanism. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5:8879–92. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2432
- Hiraki M, Hwang SY, Cao S, Ramadhar TR, Byun S, Yoon KW, et al. Smallmolecule reactivation of mutant p53 to wild-type-like p53 through the p53-Hsp40 regulatory axis. *Chem Biol* (2015) 22:1206–16. doi:10.1016/j. chembiol.2015.07.016
- Liu X, Wilcken R, Joerger AC, Chuckowree IS, Amin J, Spencer J, et al. Small molecule induced reactivation of mutant p53 in cancer cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2013) 41:6034–44. doi:10.1093/nar/gkt305
- Wassman CD, Baronio R, Demir O, Wallentine BD, Chen CK, Hall LV, et al. Computational identification of a transiently open L1/S3 pocket for reactivation of mutant p53. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:1407. doi:10.1038/ncomms2361
- Weinmann L, Wischhusen J, Demma MJ, Naumann U, Roth P, Dasmahapatra B, et al. A novel p53 rescue compound induces p53-dependent growth arrest and sensitises glioma cells to Apo2L/TRAIL-induced apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ* (2008) 15:718–29. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402301
- Demma M, Maxwell E, Ramos R, Liang L, Li C, Hesk D, et al. SCH529074, a small molecule activator of mutant p53, which binds p53 DNA binding domain (DBD), restores growth-suppressive function to mutant p53 and interrupts HDM2-mediated ubiquitination of wild type p53. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285:10198–212. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.083469
- 42. Pluquet O, North S, Richard MJ, Hainaut P. Activation of p53 by the cytoprotective aminothiol WR1065: DNA-damage-independent pathway and redox-dependent modulation of p53 DNA-binding activity. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2003) **65**:1129–37. doi:10.1016/S0006-2952(02)01655-6
- Pluquet O, North S, Bhoumik A, Dimas K, Ronai Z, Hainaut P. The cytoprotective aminothiol WR1065 activates p53 through a non-genotoxic signaling pathway involving c-Jun N-terminal kinase. J Biol Chem (2003) 278:11879–87. doi:10.1074/jbc.M207396200
- Shen H, Chen ZJ, Zilfou JT, Hopper E, Murphy M, Tew KD. Binding of the aminothiol WR-1065 to transcription factors influences cellular response to anticancer drugs. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* (2001) **297**:1067–73.
- North S, Pluquet O, Maurici D, El-Ghissassi F, Hainaut P. Restoration of wild-type conformation and activity of a temperature-sensitive mutant of p53 (p53(V272M)) by the cytoprotective aminothiol WR1065 in the esophageal cancer cell line TE-1. *Mol Carcinog* (2002) **33**:181–8. doi:10.1002/ mc.10038
- Wischhusen J, Naumann U, Ohgaki H, Rastinejad F, Weller M. CP-31398, a novel p53-stabilizing agent, induces p53-dependent and p53-independent glioma cell death. Oncogene (2003) 22:8233-45. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1207198
- Rao CV, Patlolla JM, Qian L, Zhang Y, Brewer M, Mohammed A, et al. Chemopreventive effects of the p53-modulating agents CP-31398 and Prima-1 in tobacco carcinogen-induced lung tumorigenesis in A/J mice. *Neoplasia* (2013) 15:1018–27. doi:10.1593/neo.131256
- Zandi R, Selivanova G, Christensen CL, Gerds TA, Willumsen BM, Poulsen HS. PRIMA-1Met/APR-246 induces apoptosis and tumor growth delay in small cell lung cancer expressing mutant p53. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:2830–41. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3168

- Liang Y, Besch-Williford C, Hyder SM. PRIMA-1 inhibits growth of breast cancer cells by re-activating mutant p53 protein. *Int J Oncol* (2009) 35:1015–23. doi:10.3892/ijo_00000416
- Zache N, Lambert JM, Wiman KG, Bykov VJ. PRIMA-1MET inhibits growth of mouse tumors carrying mutant p53. *Cell Oncol* (2008) 30:411–8. doi:10.3233/CLO-2008-0440
- Bykov VJ, Wiman KG. Mutant p53 reactivation by small molecules makes its way to the clinic. *FEBS Lett* (2014) 588:2622-7. doi:10.1016/j. febslet.2014.04.017
- Duffy MJ, Synnott NC, McGowan PM, Crown J, O'Connor D, Gallagher WM. p53 as a target for the treatment of cancer. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2014) 40:1153–60. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv.2014.10.004
- Saha MN, Chen Y, Chen MH, Chen G, Chang H. Small molecule MIRA-1 induces in vitro and in vivo anti-myeloma activity and synergizes with current anti-myeloma agents. *Br J Cancer* (2014) 110:2224–31. doi:10.1038/ bjc.2014.164
- Rivera MI, Stinson SF, Vistica DT, Jorden JL, Kenney S, Sausville EA. Selective toxicity of the tricyclic thiophene NSC 652287 in renal carcinoma cell lines: differential accumulation and metabolism. *Biochem Pharmacol* (1999) 57:1283–95. doi:10.1016/S0006-2952(99)00046-5
- Nieves-Neira W, Rivera MI, Kohlhagen G, Hursey ML, Pourquier P, Sausville EA, et al. DNA protein cross-links produced by NSC 652287, a novel thiophene derivative active against human renal cancer cells. *Mol Pharmacol* (1999) 56:478–84.
- Issaeva N, Bozko P, Enge M, Protopopova M, Verhoef LG, Masucci M, et al. Small molecule RITA binds to p53, blocks p53-HDM-2 interaction and activates p53 function in tumors. *Nat Med* (2004) 10:1321–8. doi:10.1038/ nm1146
- Grinkevich VV, Nikulenkov F, Shi Y, Enge M, Bao W, Maljukova A, et al. Ablation of key oncogenic pathways by RITA-reactivated p53 is required for efficient apoptosis. *Cancer Cell* (2009) 15:441–53. doi:10.1016/j. ccr.2009.03.021
- Margalit O, Simon AJ, Yakubov E, Puca R, Yosepovich A, Avivi C, et al. Zinc supplementation augments in vivo antitumor effect of chemotherapy by restoring p53 function. *Int J cancer* (2012) 131:E562–8. doi:10.1002/ ijc.26441
- Pintus SS, Ivanisenko NV, Demenkov PS, Ivanisenko TV, Ramachandran S, Kolchanov NA, et al. The substitutions G245C and G245D in the Zn(2+)binding pocket of the p53 protein result in differences of conformational flexibility of the DNA-binding domain. *J Biomol Struct Dyn* (2013) **31**:78–86. doi:10.1080/07391102.2012.691364
- Puca R, Nardinocchi L, Porru M, Simon AJ, Rechavi G, Leonetti C, et al. Restoring p53 active conformation by zinc increases the response of mutant p53 tumor cells to anticancer drugs. *Cell Cycle* (2011) 10:1679–89. doi:10.4161/cc.10.10.15642
- Kung AL, Zabludoff SD, France DS, Freedman SJ, Tanner EA, Vieira A, et al. Small molecule blockade of transcriptional coactivation of the hypoxia-inducible factor pathway. *Cancer Cell* (2004) 6:33–43. doi:10.1016/j. ccr.2004.06.009
- Staab A, Loeffler J, Said HM, Diehlmann D, Katzer A, Beyer M, et al. Effects of HIF-1 inhibition by chetomin on hypoxia-related transcription and radiosensitivity in HT 1080 human fibrosarcoma cells. *BMC Cancer* (2007) 7:213. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-7-213
- 63. Kessler J, Hahnel A, Wichmann H, Rot S, Kappler M, Bache M, et al. HIF-1alpha inhibition by siRNA or chetomin in human malignant glioma cells: effects on hypoxic radioresistance and monitoring via CA9 expression. *BMC Cancer* (2010) 10:605. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-10-605
- Boeckler FM, Joerger AC, Jaggi G, Rutherford TJ, Veprintsev DB, Fersht AR. Targeted rescue of a destabilized mutant of p53 by an in silico screened drug. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:10360–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0805326105
- Lukashchuk N, Vousden KH. Ubiquitination and degradation of mutant p53. Mol Cell Biol (2007) 27:8284–95. doi:10.1128/MCB.00050-07
- Blagosklonny MV, Toretsky J, Neckers L. Geldanamycin selectively destabilizes and conformationally alters mutated p53. Oncogene (1995) 11:933–9.
- Egorin MJ, Rosen DM, Wolff JH, Callery PS, Musser SM, Eiseman JL. Metabolism of 17-(allylamino)-17-demethoxygeldanamycin (NSC 330507) by murine and human hepatic preparations. *Cancer Res* (1998) 58:2385–96.

- Wang C, Chen J. Phosphorylation and hsp90 binding mediate heat shock stabilization of p53. J Biol Chem (2003) 278:2066–71. doi:10.1074/jbc. M206697200
- Li D, Marchenko ND, Schulz R, Fischer V, Velasco-Hernandez T, Talos F, et al. Functional inactivation of endogenous MDM2 and CHIP by HSP90 causes aberrant stabilization of mutant p53 in human cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Res* (2011) 9:577–88. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-10-0534
- Blagosklonny MV. Why therapeutic response may not prolong the life of a cancer patient: selection for oncogenic resistance. *Cell Cycle* (2005) 4:1693–8. doi:10.4161/cc.4.12.2259
- Li D, Marchenko ND, Moll UM. SAHA shows preferential cytotoxicity in mutant p53 cancer cells by destabilizing mutant p53 through inhibition of the HDAC6-Hsp90 chaperone axis. *Cell Death Differ* (2011) 18:1904–13. doi:10.1038/cdd.2011.71
- Marks PA. Discovery and development of SAHA as an anticancer agent. Oncogene (2007) 26:1351–6. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210204
- Yan W, Zhang Y, Zhang J, Liu S, Cho SJ, Chen X. Mutant p53 protein is targeted by arsenic for degradation and plays a role in arsenic-mediated growth suppression. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:17478–86. doi:10.1074/jbc. M111.231639
- 74. Yan W, Jung YS, Zhang Y, Chen X. Arsenic trioxide reactivates proteasome-dependent degradation of mutant p53 protein in cancer cells in part via enhanced expression of Pirh2 E3 ligase. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e103497. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0103497
- Wang J, Zhao Q, Qi Q, Gu HY, Rong JJ, Mu R, et al. Gambogic acid-induced degradation of mutant p53 is mediated by proteasome and related to CHIP. *J Cell Biochem* (2011) 112:509–19. doi:10.1002/jcb.22941
- Vakifahmetoglu-Norberg H, Kim M, Xia HG, Iwanicki MP, Ofengeim D, Coloff JL, et al. Chaperone-mediated autophagy degrades mutant p53. *Genes Dev* (2013) 27:1718–30. doi:10.1101/gad.220897.113
- Vakifahmetoglu-Norberg H, Yuan J. A degradative detour for mutant TP53. Autophagy (2013) 9:2158–60. doi:10.4161/auto.26338
- Yi YW, Kang HJ, Kim HJ, Kong Y, Brown ML, Bae I. Targeting mutant p53 by a SIRT1 activator YK-3-237 inhibits the proliferation of triple-negative breast cancer cells. *Oncotarget* (2013) 4:984–94. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.1070
- Zhang S, Zhou L, Hong B, van den Heuvel AP, Prabhu VV, Warfel NA, et al. Small-molecule NSC59984 restores p53 pathway signaling and antitumor effects against colorectal cancer via p73 activation and degradation of mutant p53. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75:3842–52. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1079
- Paranjpe A, Srivenugopal KS. Degradation of NF-kappaB, p53 and other regulatory redox-sensitive proteins by thiol-conjugating and -nitrosylating drugs in human tumor cells. *Carcinogenesis* (2013) 34:990–1000. doi:10.1093/ carcin/bgt032
- Ramalingam S, Goss G, Rosell R, Schmid-Bindert G, Zaric B, Andric Z, et al. A randomized phase II study of ganetespib, a heat shock protein 90 inhibitor, in combination with docetaxel in second-line therapy of advanced non-small cell lung cancer (GALAXY-1). Ann Oncol (2015) 26:1741–8. doi:10.1093/ annonc/mdv220
- Goyal L, Wadlow RC, Blaszkowsky LS, Wolpin BM, Abrams TA, McCleary NJ, et al. A phase I and pharmacokinetic study of ganetespib (STA-9090) in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Invest New Drugs* (2015) 33:128–37. doi:10.1007/s10637-014-0164-8
- Jhaveri K, Chandarlapaty S, Lake D, Gilewski T, Robson M, Goldfarb S, et al. A phase II open-label study of ganetespib, a novel heat shock protein 90 inhibitor for patients with metastatic breast cancer. *Clin Breast Cancer* (2014) 14:154–60. doi:10.1016/j.clbc.2013.12.012
- Yan W, Liu S, Xu E, Zhang J, Zhang Y, Chen X, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors suppress mutant p53 transcription via histone deacetylase 8. Oncogene (2013) 32:599–609. doi:10.1038/onc.2012.81
- Beauchamp EM, Uren A. A new era for an ancient drug: arsenic trioxide and Hedgehog signaling. *Vitam Horm* (2012) 88:333–54. doi:10.1016/ B978-0-12-394622-5.00015-8
- 86. Jiang W, Wang XW, Unger T, Forgues M, Kim JW, Hussain SP, et al. Cooperation of tumor-derived HBx mutants and p53-249(ser) mutant in regulating cell proliferation, anchorage-independent growth and aneuploidy in a telomerase-immortalized normal human hepatocyte-derived cell line. *Int J Cancer* (2010) **127**:1011–20. doi:10.1002/ijc.25118

- Hughes MF, Beck BD, Chen Y, Lewis AS, Thomas DJ. Arsenic exposure and toxicology: a historical perspective. *Toxicol Sci* (2011) 123:305–32. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfr184
- Gu H, Wang X, Rao S, Wang J, Zhao J, Ren FL, et al. Gambogic acid mediates apoptosis as a p53 inducer through down-regulation of mdm2 in wild-type p53-expressing cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2008) 7:3298–305. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-08-0212
- Liu J, Xia H, Kim M, Xu L, Li Y, Zhang L, et al. Beclin1 controls the levels of p53 by regulating the deubiquitination activity of USP10 and USP13. *Cell* (2011) 147:223–34. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.08.037
- Yuan J, Luo K, Zhang L, Cheville JC, Lou Z. USP10 regulates p53 localization and stability by deubiquitinating p53. *Cell* (2010) 140:384–96. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2009.12.032
- Kong Y, Wang K, Edler MC, Hamel E, Mooberry SL, Paige MA, et al. A boronic acid chalcone analog of combretastatin A-4 as a potent anti-proliferation agent. *Bioorg Med Chem* (2010) 18:971–7. doi:10.1016/j. bmc.2009.11.003
- Kona FR, Buac D, Burger A M. Disulfiram, and disulfiram derivatives as novel potential anticancer drugs targeting the ubiquitin-proteasome system in both preclinical and clinical studies. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* (2011) 11:338–46. doi:10.2174/156800911794519798
- Nechushtan H, Hamamreh Y, Nidal S, Gotfried M, Baron A, Shalev YI, et al. A phase IIb trial assessing the addition of disulfiram to chemotherapy for the treatment of metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncologist* (2015) 20:366–7. doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2014-0424
- Petersen EN. The pharmacology and toxicology of disulfiram and its metabolites. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl (1992) 369:7–13. doi:10.111 1/j.1600-0447.1992.tb03309.x
- Mathieu C, Duval R, Xu X, Rodrigues-Lima F, Dupret JM. Effects of pesticide chemicals on the activity of metabolic enzymes: focus on thiocarbamates. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol* (2015) 11:81–94. doi:10.1517/17425255.2 015.975691
- 96. Davies KJ. Degradation of oxidized proteins by the 20S proteasome. *Biochimie* (2001) **83**:301–10. doi:10.1016/S0300-9084(01)01250-0
- Velu CS, Niture SK, Doneanu CE, Pattabiraman N, Srivenugopal KS. Human p53 is inhibited by glutathionylation of cysteines present in the proximal DNA-binding domain during oxidative stress. *Biochemistry* (2007) 46:7765–80. doi:10.1021/bi700425y
- Yusuf MA, Chuang T, Bhat GJ, Srivenugopal KS. Cys-141 glutathionylation of human p53: studies using specific polyclonal antibodies in cancer samples and cell lines. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2010) 49:908–17. doi:10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2010.06.020
- Olivier M, Hollstein M, Hainaut P. TP53 mutations in human cancers: origins, consequences, and clinical use. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2010) 2:a001008. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a001008
- 100. Micale L, Augello B, Maffeo C, Selicorni A, Zucchetti F, Fusco C, et al. Molecular analysis, pathogenic mechanisms, and readthrough therapy on a large cohort of Kabuki syndrome patients. *Hum Mutat* (2014) 35:841–50. doi:10.1002/humu.22547
- Floquet C, Deforges J, Rousset JP, Bidou L. Rescue of non-sense mutated p53 tumor suppressor gene by aminoglycosides. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2011) 39:3350–62. doi:10.1093/nar/gkq1277
- 102. Martin L, Grigoryan A, Wang D, Wang J, Breda L, Rivella S, et al. Identification and characterization of small molecules that inhibit nonsense-mediated RNA decay and suppress nonsense p53 mutations. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74:3104–13. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2235
- Kanasty R, Dorkin JR, Vegas A, Anderson D. Delivery materials for siRNA therapeutics. *Nat Mater* (2013) 12:967–77. doi:10.1038/nmat3765
- Lim LY, Vidnovic N, Ellisen LW, Leong CO. Mutant p53 mediates survival of breast cancer cells. Br J Cancer (2009) 101:1606–12. doi:10.1038/ sj.bjc.6605335
- 105. Hui L, Zheng Y, Yan Y, Bargonetti J, Foster DA. Mutant p53 in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells is stabilized by elevated phospholipase D activity and contributes to survival signals generated by phospholipase D. Oncogene (2006) 25:7305–10. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209735
- 106. Zhu H, Mao Q, Lin Y, Yang K, Xie L. RNA interference targeting mutant p53 inhibits growth and induces apoptosis in DU145 human prostate cancer cells. *Med Oncol* (2011) 28(Suppl 1):S381–7. doi:10.1007/ s12032-010-9679-9

- 107. Zhu HB, Yang K, Xie YQ, Lin YW, Mao QQ, Xie LP. Silencing of mutant p53 by siRNA induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in human bladder cancer cells. *World J Surg Oncol* (2013) 11:22. doi:10.1186/1477-7819-11-22
- Martinez LA, Naguibneva I, Lehrmann H, Vervisch A, Tchenio T, Lozano G, et al. Synthetic small inhibiting RNAs: efficient tools to inactivate oncogenic mutations and restore p53 pathways. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99:14849–54. doi:10.1073/pnas.222406899
- 109. Kravchenko JE, Ilyinskaya GV, Komarov PG, Agapova LS, Kochetkov DV, Strom E, et al. Small-molecule RETRA suppresses mutant p53-bearing cancer cells through a p73-dependent salvage pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2008) 105:6302–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0802091105
- 110. Shimoyama S. Statins are logical candidates for overcoming limitations of targeting therapies on malignancy: their potential application to gastrointestinal cancers. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2011) **67**:729–39. doi:10.1007/ s00280-011-1583-2
- 111. Sorrentino G, Ruggeri N, Specchia V, Cordenonsi M, Mano M, Dupont S, et al. Metabolic control of YAP and TAZ by the mevalonate pathway. *Nat Cell Biol* (2014) 16:357–66. doi:10.1038/ncb2936
- 112. Kaelin WG Jr. The concept of synthetic lethality in the context of anticancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2005) 5:689–98. doi:10.1038/nrc1691
- 113. Wang Q, Fan S, Eastman A, Worland PJ, Sausville EA, O'Connor PM. UCN-01: a potent abrogator of G2 checkpoint function in cancer cells with disrupted p53. J Natl Cancer Inst (1996) 88:956–65. doi:10.1093/ jnci/88.14.956
- 114. Sur S, Pagliarini R, Bunz F, Rago C, Diaz LA Jr, Kinzler KW, et al. A panel of isogenic human cancer cells suggests a therapeutic approach for cancers with inactivated p53. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2009) 106:3964–9. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0813333106
- 115. Wang Y, Li J, Booher RN, Kraker A, Lawrence T, Leopold WR, et al. Radiosensitization of p53 mutant cells by PD0166285, a novel G(2) checkpoint abrogator. *Cancer Res* (2001) **61**:8211–7.
- 116. Reguart N, Rosell R, Cardenal F, Cardona AF, Isla D, Palmero R, et al. Phase I/II trial of vorinostat (SAHA) and erlotinib for non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients with epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations after erlotinib progression. *Lung Cancer* (2014) 84:161–7. doi:10.1016/j. lungcan.2014.02.011
- 117. Krug LM, Kindler HL, Calvert H, Manegold C, Tsao AS, Fennell D, et al. Vorinostat in patients with advanced malignant pleural mesothelioma who have progressed on previous chemotherapy (VANTAGE-014): a phase 3, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2015) 16:447–56. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(15)70056-2
- Yoo C, Ryu MH, Na YS, Ryoo BY, Lee CW, Maeng J, et al. Phase I and pharmacodynamic study of vorinostat combined with capecitabine and cisplatin as first-line chemotherapy in advanced gastric cancer. *Invest New Drugs* (2014) 32:271–8. doi:10.1007/s10637-013-9983-2
- 119. Yanada M, Tsuzuki M, Fujita H, Fujimaki K, Fujisawa S, Sunami K, et al. Phase 2 study of arsenic trioxide followed by autologous hematopoietic cell transplantation for relapsed acute promyelocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2013) 121:3095–102. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-11-466862
- 120. Efficace F, Mandelli F, Avvisati G, Cottone F, Ferrara F, Di Bona E, et al. Randomized phase III trial of retinoic acid and arsenic trioxide versus retinoic acid and chemotherapy in patients with acute promyelocytic leukemia: health-related quality-of-life outcomes. *J Clin Oncol* (2014) **32**:3406–12. doi:10.1200/JCO.2014.55.3453
- 121. Qu FL, Hao XZ, Qin SK, Liu JW, Sui GJ, Chen Q, et al. [Multicenter phase II clinical trial of arsenic trioxide injection in the treatment of primary hepatocarcinoma]. *Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi* (2011) 33:697–701.
- Verma S, Stewart DJ, Maroun JA, Nair RC. A randomized phase II study of cisplatin alone versus cisplatin plus disulfiram. *Am J Clin Oncol* (1990) 13:119–24. doi:10.1097/0000421-199004000-00007
- 123. Karlsson R, Kullman-Magnusson M, Hamalainen MD, Remaeus A, Andersson K, Borg P, et al. Biosensor analysis of drug-target interactions: direct and competitive binding assays for investigation of interactions between thrombin and thrombin inhibitors. *Anal Biochem* (2000) 278:1–13. doi:10.1006/abio.1999.4406
- 124. Lamos SM, Krusemark CJ, McGee CJ, Scalf M, Smith LM, Belshaw PJ. Mixed isotope photoaffinity reagents for identification of small-molecule targets by mass spectrometry. *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl* (2006) 45:4329–33. doi:10.1002/ anie.200600743

- 125. Lomenick B, Hao R, Jonai N, Chin RM, Aghajan M, Warburton S, et al. Target identification using drug affinity responsive target stability (DARTS). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) **106**:21984–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0910040106
- 126. Jafari R, Almqvist H, Axelsson H, Ignatushchenko M, Lundback T, Nordlund P, et al. The cellular thermal shift assay for evaluating drug target interactions in cells. *Nat Protoc* (2014) 9:2100–22. doi:10.1038/nprot.2014.138
- 127. Lammens CR, Bleiker EM, Aaronson NK, Wagner A, Sijmons RH, Ausems MG, et al. Regular surveillance for Li-Fraumeni syndrome: advice, adherence and perceived benefits. *Fam Cancer* (2010) **9**:647–54. doi:10.1007/s10689-010-9368-z
- 128. Wang Z, Sun Y. Targeting p53 for novel anticancer therapy. *Transl Oncol* (2010) 3:1–12. doi:10.1593/tlo.09250
- Khoo KH, Verma CS, Lane DP. Drugging the p53 pathway: understanding the route to clinical efficacy. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2014) 13:217–36. doi:10.1038/ nrd4236
- Tongyang L, Haiqiang G, Meiyan Z, Yingze H, Shuting J, Ying L, et al. [Synthetic lethal genes to mutant p53]. Yi Chuan (2015) 37:321–6. doi:10.16288/j.yczz.14-277

- Shaheen M, Allen C, Nickoloff JA, Hromas R. Synthetic lethality: exploiting the addiction of cancer to DNA repair. *Blood* (2011) 117:6074–82. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-313734
- Wang X, Simon R. Identification of potential synthetic lethal genes to p53 using a computational biology approach. BMC Med Genomics (2013) 6:30. doi:10.1186/1755-8794-6-30

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Parrales and Iwakuma. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Targeting of Mutant p53 and the Cellular Redox Balance by APR-246 as a Strategy for Efficient Cancer Therapy

Vladimir J. N. Bykov¹, Qiang Zhang¹, Meiqiongzi Zhang¹, Sophia Ceder¹, Lars Abrahmsen² and Klas G. Wiman^{1*}

¹ Department of Oncology-Pathology, Cancer Center Karolinska (CCK), Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden, ² Aprea AB, Solna, Sweden

TP53 is the most frequently mutated gene in cancer. The p53 protein activates transcrip-

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giovanni Blandino, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Italy

Reviewed by:

Tomoo lwakuma, University of Kansas Medical Center, USA Gabriella D'Orazi, Università degli Studi "G. d'Annunzio" Chieti – Pescara, Italy

> ***Correspondence:** Klas G. Wiman klas.wiman@ki.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 22 December 2015 Accepted: 19 January 2016 Published: 03 February 2016

Citation:

Bykov VJN, Zhang Q, Zhang M, Ceder S, Abrahmsen L and Wiman KG (2016) Targeting of Mutant p53 and the Cellular Redox Balance by APR-246 as a Strategy for Efficient Cancer Therapy. Front. Oncol. 6:21. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00021 tion of genes that promote cell cycle arrest or apoptosis, or regulate cell metabolism, and other processes. Missense mutations in TP53 abolish specific DNA binding of p53 and allow evasion of apoptosis and accelerated tumor progression. Mutant p53 often accumulates at high levels in tumor cells. Pharmacological reactivation of mutant p53 has emerged as a promising strategy for improved cancer therapy. Small molecules that restore wild type activity of mutant p53 have been identified using various approaches. One of these molecules, APR-246, is a prodrug that is converted to the Michael acceptor methylene quinuclidinone (MQ) that binds covalently to cysteines in p53, leading to refolding and restoration of wild type p53 function. MQ also targets the cellular redox balance by inhibiting thioredoxin reductase (TrxR1) and depleting glutathione. This dual mechanism of action may account for the striking synergy between APR-246 and platinum compounds. APR-246 is the only mutant p53-targeting compound in clinical development. A phase I/IIa clinical trial in hematological malignancies and prostate cancer showed good safety profile and clinical effects in some patients. APR-246 is currently tested in a phase Ib/II trial in patients with high-grade serous ovarian cancer.

Keywords: APR-246, mutant p53, apoptosis, thioredoxin reductase, glutathione, redox balance, clinical trial, cancer therapy

INTRODUCTION

Recent DNA sequencing of 3281 human tumors within The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) has confirmed the high frequency of TP53 mutations in cancer. At least 42% of the cases of 12 common human tumor types carry mutant TP53 (1). In high-grade serous (HGS) ovarian cancer, the fraction of tumors with mutant TP53 is almost 95%. No other gene is mutated at such high frequency in cancer. See also TP53 databases p53.iarc.fr and p53.free.fr. The second and third most frequently mutated genes are PIK3CA that encodes the p110 alpha catalytic subunit of PI3 kinase and PTEN, a lipid phosphatase that regulates Akt kinase activation, which are mutated in 17.8 and 9.7% of the cases of the 12 common tumor types, respectively (1).

Wild type p53 protein induces cell cycle arrest, senescence, and apoptosis in response to cellular stress by upregulating target genes such as p21, Bax, Puma, and Noxa (2). p53 can also regulate cell

metabolism and redox status through target genes such as TIGAR and GLS2 (3–5). It remains unclear exactly how p53 mediates potent tumor suppression. *In vivo* studies in mice have shown that certain engineered p53 mutants that fail to transactivate pro-arrest and pro-apoptosis target genes can still prevent tumor development (6, 7). Similarly, mice lacking the p53 target genes p21 that mediates p53-dependent cell cycle arrest and Puma and Noxa that mediate p53-dependent apoptosis do not show increased tumor incidence (8). These findings argue that other p53 transcriptional targets, for instance those involved in regulation of metabolism, are critical for p53-mediated tumor suppression.

Oncogenic stress as a result of oncogene activation or loss of cell cycle control characterizes early stages of tumor evolution. This leads to aberrant DNA replication, which triggers a DNA damage response (DDR) involving activation of ATM, Chk1 and Chk2 kinases, and p53, and induction of senescence or apoptosis (9). Activation of DDR and p53 upon oncogenic stress serves to eliminate incipient tumor cells and forms a critical barrier against tumor development. DDR inactivation by mutation in ATM or TP53 allows cell survival and tumor progression. Many TP53 mutations are missense mutations resulting in amino acid substitutions in the DNA-binding core domain and disruption of p53-specific DNA binding and transcriptional transactivation (10). Loss of wild type p53 is associated with increased resistance to chemotherapy.

The high frequency of missense TP53 mutations in human tumors and the fact that mutant p53 often accumulates at high levels in tumor cells make mutant p53 a potential target for improved cancer therapy. Pharmacological reactivation of mutant p53 would restore p53-dependent senescence and apoptosis, and presumably also p53-mediated regulation of metabolism and other processes, and thus eliminate tumors *in vivo*. Indeed, studies in various mouse models have demonstrated that restoration of wild type p53 expression *in vivo* leads to rapid tumor elimination (11–13). This suggests that restoration of functional p53 can trigger tumor cell death and lead to tumor clearance even if a tumor carries multiple genetic alterations that drive tumor growth.

PHARMACOLOGICAL REACTIVATION OF MUTANT p53

A growing number of small molecules that can reactivate mutant p53 have been identified over the past 15 years, using either chemical library screening or rational drug design. These include CP31398, PRIMA-1Met/APR-246, PK-083, PK-5174, SCH529074, and NSC319726 (ZMC1). We have previously reviewed this field (14). This review is focused on PRIMA-1 (APR-017) and the structural analog PRIMA-1Met, now named APR-246, both of which were identified in our laboratory. As will be discussed below, both compounds are prodrugs that form the active moiety MQ. We will also highlight the clinical development of APR-246.

We identified PRIMA-1 in a screen of a small structurally diversified chemical library from NCI (Diversity set) for compounds that could induce cell cycle arrest or cell death preferentially in cells expressing mutant p53 (15). Cell growth and viability were assessed by the WST1 assay. PRIMA-1 showed the strongest preference for mutant p53-expressing cells and was selected for further studies. Experiments with antibodies specific for correctly folded wild type p53 (PAb1620) or unfolded mutant p53 (PAb240) revealed that PRIMA-1 could induce refolding of mutant p53 and enhance mutant p53 DNA binding in gel shift assays. PRIMA-1 treatment of tumor cells carrying various mutant p53 resulted in upregulation of p53 target genes such as p21, Bax, and Mdm2, and induction of cell death by apoptosis. Systemic administration of PRIMA-1 in mice carrying Saos-2-His273 tumor xenografts demonstrated significant inhibition of xenograft tumor growth in vivo (15). In parallel, our analysis of available data in the NCI database confirmed that PRIMA-1 preferentially targets tumors cells carrying mutant p53 and has an activity profile that is entirely distinct from those of commonly used chemotherapeutic drugs such as cisplatin and 5-FU (16). Subsequently, the structural analog PRIMA-1Met or APR-246 that has superior permeability properties was identified. APR-246 was shown to synergize with chemotherapeutic drugs, e.g., adriamycin and cisplatin (17).

TARGETING MUTANT p53 BY MICHAEL ADDITION

Our data clearly showed that PRIMA-1 and APR-246 were able to reactivate various forms of mutant p53 and trigger tumor cell apoptosis, but their molecular mechanism of action remained obscure. However, we found that both compounds are converted to methylene quinuclidinone, MQ, a Michael acceptor that can react with soft nucleophiles such as thiols in proteins (Figure 1). The p53 core domain has 10 cysteine residues. Mass spectrometry demonstrated that MQ binds covalently to the p53 core domain (18). Several findings support the notion that MQ binding to p53 is critical for the effect of PRIMA-1 and APR-246. N-acetylcysteine (NAC), a thiol group donor, blocks PRIMA-1induced apoptosis and PRIMA-D (APR-320), a structural analog that cannot be converted to MQ, has no effect on tumor cells at concentrations corresponding to those used for PRIMA-1 and APR-246. Moreover, transfer of MQ-modified mutant p53 protein into p53 null tumor cells induces expression of p53 target genes and cell death by apoptosis (18). These results demonstrate that MQ is the active compound and that MQ-modification of mutant p53 per se is sufficient to induce tumor cell death. Thus, PRIMA-1 and APR-246 are prodrugs that form the biologically active compound MQ (Figure 1). This conversion is spontaneous and occurs over a time frame of a few hours at physiological pH (18). Since MQ is reactive, its administration as a prodrug is probably critical in order to avoid adduct formation with various extracellular targets.

It is interesting to note that MIRA-1, another compound identified in our screen of the NCI Diversity set, is a maleimide with known Michael acceptor activity. Moreover, Kaar and Fersht and their colleagues identified a series of Michael acceptors that bind covalently to both wild type and mutant p53 core domains, resulting in increased protein melting temperature. Analysis of the reactivity of the cysteines in p53 by mass spectrometry



FIGURE 1 | Chemical structures of PRIMA-1 and APR-246 (PRIMA-1Met). Both compounds form the Michael acceptor methylene quinuclidinone (MQ), which is the active moiety. MQ binds covalently to thiols in mutant p53. MQ also targets thioredoxin reductase (TrxR) and glutathione (GSH). MQ binding to TrxR converts the enzyme to an active oxidase, which generates ROS, and MQ binding to glutathione depletes intracellular free glutathione, which also induces ROS.

revealed preferential reaction with C124 and C141, followed by C135, C182, and C277, and then C176 and C275 (19). These results further support the idea that adduct formation at cysteines can stabilize the native conformation of p53.

Among the 10 cysteine residues in p53's core domain, four – Cys182, Cys229, Cys242, and Cys277 – are exposed on the surface of the protein and accessible for modification in correctly folded p53 (20, 21). Presumably, additional cysteines are exposed in unfolded mutant (or wild type) p53, allowing more extensive thiol modification (18). Computational analysis of structural p53 models identified a binding pocket between the L1 loop and S3 sheet in the p53 core domain, containing cysteines C124, C135, and C141 (22). Docking analysis indicated that MQ, as well as other thiol-targeting compounds including MIRA-1, can bind to the L1/S3 pocket. These results were validated in living cells by introduction of a C124A substitution in R175H mutant p53. Indeed, C124A substitution abolished the apoptotic effect of PRIMA-1 in Saos-2 osteosarcoma cells expressing R175H mutant p53. Thus, APR-246/MQ, MIRA-1 and the compounds identified by Kaar et al. (19) share a common chemical property and presumably promote refolding of mutant p53 by a similar mechanism. The ability to modify cysteines in mutant p53 distinguishes APR-246/MQ from compounds like PK-083 and PK-7088 that bind to a crevice in the Y220C mutant p53 protein and raise its melting temperature (23). APR-246 also has a different mechanism of action than the compound NSC319726 (ZMC1), a zinc chelator that refolds His175 mutant p53 as well as several other mutant p53 proteins (24). Clearly, mutant p53 refolding and reactivation can be achieved by various molecular strategies. Some strategies work for specific mutant forms of p53, whereas other strategies are applicable to a range of mutant p53 proteins.

APR-246 REACTIVATES MUTANT FORMS OF p53 FAMILY MEMBERS p63 AND p73

p53 is a member of a protein family with two other members, p63 and p73 (25). In contrast to TP53, neither the TP63 nor TP73 genes are mutated at any significant frequency in human tumors. However, TP63 missense mutations occur in certain developmental syndromes such as the Ectrodactyly-ectodermal dysplasia-cleft (EEC) syndrome (26). All three proteins share a high degree of sequence similarity in the DNA-binding core domain (25). The 10 cysteines in the p53 core domain are all conserved in both p63 and p73. This raises the question as to whether APR-246 can affect mutant p63 and/or p73 folding and activity. We first examined the effect of APR-246 on human tumor cells carrying exogenous temperature-sensitive missense mutant TP63 and TP73. APR-246 induced the expression of p53/p63/p73 target genes, cell cycle arrest, and cell death by apoptosis in these cells (27). To assess the effect of APR-246 on mutant p63 in a more physiological context, we used human keratinocytes derived from EEC patients carrying R204W or R304W mutant TP63. These two TP63 mutants correspond to the tumor-associated hot spot TP53 R175H and R273H mutants. Treatment with APR-246 led to increased expression of p63 target genes and at least a partial rescue of keratinocyte differentiation (28). Similarly, APR-246 rescued corneal differentiation in iPS cells from EEC individuals (29). Thus, the targeting of mutant versions of the two structurally related transcription factors p63 and p73 by APR-246 leads to entirely different biological responses that recapitulate the normal functions of each protein. These results argue convincingly that the biological effects of APR-246 are mediated by direct binding to mutant p53 or p63 and refolding the mutant proteins into an active conformation.

APR-246/MQ TARGETS COMPONENTS OF THE CELLULAR REDOX SYSTEM

The observation that MQ can bind to thiols suggested that it might also target thiol-containing redox regulators such as glutathione and thioredoxin. Indeed, we found that APR-246 is a potent inhibitor of thioredoxin reductase (TrxR1), a selenocysteinecontaining enzyme that catalyzes the reduction of thioredoxin (30). APR-246 inhibits the activity of TrxR1 both *in vitro* and in living cells. This effect is presumably mediated through modification of the selenocysteine residue in TrxR1 by MQ. MQ binding converts TrxR1 into an NADPH oxidase that contributes to ROS production and cell death induced by APR-246 (30).

Methylene quinuclidinone has also been shown to bind to cysteines in glutathione (GSH), leading to a decrease in free intracellular glutathione concentrations and increased ROS levels (31, 32). Since glutathione can mediate resistance to platinum drugs by conjugation and export, this effect of MQ may at least in part account for the strong synergy between APR-246 and platinum drugs (see below). APR-246 did not inhibit GCLM (regulatory subunit of γ -glutamyl cysteine-synthase) or GSS (glutathione synthetase) in the GSH synthesis pathway, indicating that the observed GSH depletion is not caused by decreased synthesis (32).

Thus, accumulating data on the effects of PRIMA-1/APR-246 on the cellular redox balance demonstrate that these compounds have a dual mechanism of action that targets two Achille's heels of tumor cells: mutant p53 and the redox balance (**Figure 2**). The targeting of these two pathways may allow more efficient elimination of tumor cells and lower the probability of resistance development. This dual mechanism provides an explanation for reported mutant p53-independent effects of APR-246.

EFFECTS ON MUTANT AND WILD TYPE p53

Methylene quinuclidinone can bind to both wild type and mutant p53 (18), and it is conceivable that MQ binding can induce refolding of misfolded wild type p53 in tumor cells. However, available data so far indicate that APR-246/MQ has little toxicity in normal cells. Wild type p53 is expressed at low levels in most normal cells and tissues in the absence of stress, whereas many tumor cells express high levels of unfolded mutant p53. Also, normal cells have a higher capacity to cope with oxidative stress as compared to tumor cells (33). While MQ binding to mutant p53 can restore p53-dependent apoptosis (18), MQ binding to other cellular proteins may not necessarily have major effects on cell growth and survival, except for binding to TrxR and GSH and possibly other anti-oxidative proteins, as discussed above. The benign safety profile of APR-246 observed in the first clinical study (34) is consistent with the lack of major toxicity in normal cells.

Interestingly, the response of wild type and mutant TP53carrying tumor cells to MQ is enhanced by hypoxia (35). Hypoxia (\leq 1% oxygen) increased the sensitivity of SKBR3 cells (R175H mutant TP53) to PRIMA-1 treatment. In MCF-7 cells (wild type TP53), chemical hypoxia induced by CoCl₂ led to accumulation of unfolded wild type p53, as assessed with the monoclonal antibody PAb240, and enhanced sensitivity to PRIMA-1. Presumably, this is due to MQ binding and refolding of unfolded "mutantlike" wild type p53 into an active conformation. The finding that hypoxia can potentiate the efficacy of PRIMA-1 has important clinical implications. Due to insufficient blood supply, rapidly growing tumors *in vivo* are often hypoxic, and it is conceivable that this could enhance the therapeutic efficacy of APR-246, both in wild type and mutant TP53-carrying tumors.

SYNERGY WITH CONVENTIONAL CHEMOTHERAPEUTIC DRUGS AND NOVEL EXPERIMENTAL DRUGS

A major hurdle for achieving efficient elimination of tumors and long-term cancer cure is the rapid development of therapy resistance. There are numerous mechanisms for such resistance, including enhanced DNA repair and increased efflux of chemotherapeutic drugs from the tumor cell (36). The problem of resistance is relevant not only for conventional chemotherapeutic drugs but also for targeted drugs, as exemplified by resistance development in CML upon treatment with the novel drug imatinib (Gleevec) that inhibits the BCR-ABL kinase (37). Therefore, it is important to explore possible synergies between APR-246 and conventional anticancer agents, novel targeted drugs, and experimental drugs.

The DNA damage caused by chemotherapeutic drugs such as cisplatin and doxorubicin induces tumor cell death to a large extent via wild type p53 activation and p53-induced apoptosis. Accordingly, tumor cells carrying mutant p53 or completely lacking p53 are often more resistant to conventional chemotherapy. This suggests that restoration of wild type p53 function by APR-246 might synergize with, for example, cisplatin. Indeed, we and others have demonstrated strong synergy between APR-246 and chemotherapeutic drugs such as cisplatin, 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), and doxorubicin in mutant p53-carrying lung, ovarian, and esophageal cancer cells (17, 31, 38, 39). Synergistic effects have also been observed *in vivo* upon systemic administration (17, 39).

There are several possible reasons for the observed synergy (Figure 2). First, as alluded to above, restoration of wild type function to mutant p53 by APR-246 might increase sensitivity to chemotherapeutic drugs that depend on wild type p53 for induction of efficient tumor cell apoptosis. Second, treatment with cisplatin, adriamycin, or 5-FU leads to accumulation of mutant p53 (17, 39), which is expected to enhance the effect of APR-246. Third, we and others found that APR-246, via MQ, depletes intracellular GSH levels (31, 32). Since formation of adducts with GSH and extracellular export is one mechanism of cisplatin resistance, MQ-mediated GSH depletion is likely to sensitize tumor cells to cisplatin. Fourth, MQ-mediated inhibition of TrxR and conversion of the enzyme to an active oxidase (30) should induce ROS levels, which will further enhance DNA damage and p53-dependent cell death. Inhibition of TrxR will also negatively affect the activity of ribonucleotide reductase, needed for providing deoxyribonucleotides for DNA replication and repair (40).

In contrast to the mutant p53-dependent synergy of APR-246 with cisplatin and 5-FU, the synergy between APP-246 and epirubicin was p53-independent in esophageal cancer cells (39). This could be due to the redox effects of APR-246, including inhibition of TrxR and/or GSH depletion. Cisplatin and 5-FU, but not epirubicin, induced the expression of mutant p53 (39). Synergy has also been observed between APR-246 and the experimental compound RITA in AML cells. This synergy could arise from increased levels of mutant p53 upon induction of DNA damage by RITA (41).



In addition, APR-246 synergized with daunorubicin in AML cells carrying wild type p53 (41). Synergy in the absence of mutant p53 may be due to APR-246-mediated redox effects. However, as discussed above, MQ can also bind to wild type p53 and restore an active conformation under hypoxic conditions. There is evidence suggesting that wild type p53 may occur in a misfolded conformation in some tumors, e.g., B-CLL (42) and AML (43). This raises the possibility that refolding of wild type p53 by APR-246 may be responsible for synergy with chemotherapeutic agents in AML cells.

PRIMA-1 at 50 μ M induced G2/M phase accumulation of parental mouse L1210 leukemia cells carrying mutant p53 but had only a minor effect on the cell cycle distribution of Y8 cells, a subline of L1210 that lacks p53. A striking synergistic induction of necrosis was observed in L1210 cells upon combination treatment with PRIMA-1 and the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor flavopiridol. However, in Y8 p53 null cells, combination of PRIMA-1 and flavopiridol caused a synergistic increase in apoptosis (44). Thus, combination treatment with PRIMA-1 (or presumably APR-246) can lead to cell death through alternative routes, depending on the presence or absence of mutant p53.

Mutant p53 reactivation by APR-246 leads to induction of the p53 target and antagonist Mdm2 (15), which promotes p53 degradation by the proteasome. Therefore, it is conceivable that inhibition of Mdm2-p53 binding and Mdm2-mediated p53 degradation might potentiate the effect of APR-246. Indeed, strong synergy was observed between PRIMA-1 and the Mdm2 inhibitor Nutlin-3 in pancreatic cancer cells (45). Moreover, gene therapy with the tumor suppressor gene FHIT (fragile histidine triad), whose gene product has been shown to inactivate Mdm2 (46), resulted in synergistic inhibition of tumor growth in combination with APR-246 (47). Since several compounds that disrupt p53-Mdm2 binding are now being tested in the clinic, these results may have profound implications for the future clinical use of both APR-246 and inhibitors of p53-Mdm2 binding.

CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT

APR-246 has been tested in a first-in-man phase I/IIa clinical trial in patients with hematological malignancies or hormone-refractory prostate cancer (34). The main aim was to determine maximum tolerated dose (MTD) of APR-246 and to assess safety and pharmacokinetic properties. Patients were not preselected based on TP53 mutation status. The treatment regimen was 2-h infusion of APR-246 for 4 days. Overall, the study showed that APR-246 is well tolerated and only relatively minor and transient side effects were observed, including dizziness, fatigue,

headache, nausea, and confusion. MTD was defined as 60 mg/ kg. Plasma concentrations of APR-246 reached 250 µM, well above concentrations required for robust induction of tumor cell apoptosis in cell culture experiments. Analysis of isolated patient leukemic cells by FACS revealed induction of p53 targets Bax and Puma upon APR-246 treatment, and microarray analysis showed substantial alterations in gene expression, including genes associated with cell cycle regulation and cell death, consistent with the proposed mechanism of action. Furthermore, one AML patient carrying V173M mutant TP53 showed a significant reduction in bone marrow blasts, and one patient with a TP53 splice site mutation had a minor response according to CT scan. Thus, APR-246 is safe and shows signs of clinical activity. APR-246 is currently being tested in combination with carboplatin and pegylated doxorubicin in a phase Ib/II clinical study in HGS ovarian cancer, a tumor type with a 95% frequency of TP53 mutations (see www. clinicaltrials.gov).

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The development of efficient mutant p53-reactivating anticancer drugs is expected to have a major impact on public health globally, given the high frequency of TP53 mutations in a wide range of human tumors. In certain tumor types, TP53 is mutated in the great majority of the cases. In general, clinical studies have shown that mutant TP53-carrying tumors respond less well to conventional chemotherapeutic drugs and have worse prognosis than

REFERENCES

- Kandoth C, McLellan MD, Vandin F, Ye K, Niu B, Lu C, et al. Mutational landscape and significance across 12 major cancer types. *Nature* (2013) 502(7471):333–9. doi:10.1038/nature12634
- Vousden KH, Prives C. Blinded by the light: the growing complexity of p53. Cell (2009) 137(3):413–31. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.037
- Bensaad K, Tsuruta A, Selak MA, Vidal MN, Nakano K, Bartrons R, et al. TIGAR, a p53-inducible regulator of glycolysis and apoptosis. *Cell* (2006) 126(1):107–20. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.05.036
- Hu W, Zhang C, Wu R, Sun Y, Levine A, Feng Z. Glutaminase 2, a novel p53 target gene regulating energy metabolism and antioxidant function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(16):7455–60. doi:10.1073/pnas.1001006107
- Suzuki S, Tanaka T, Poyurovsky MV, Nagano H, Mayama T, Ohkubo S, et al. Phosphate-activated glutaminase (GLS2), a p53-inducible regulator of glutamine metabolism and reactive oxygen species. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(16):7461–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1002459107
- Bieging KT, Mello SS, Attardi LD. Unravelling mechanisms of p53-mediated tumour suppression. Nat Rev Cancer (2014) 14(5):359–70. doi:10.1038/nrc3711
- Li T, Kon N, Jiang L, Tan M, Ludwig T, Zhao Y, et al. Tumor suppression in the absence of p53-mediated cell-cycle arrest, apoptosis, and senescence. *Cell* (2012) 149(6):1269–83. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.04.026
- Valente LJ, Gray DH, Michalak EM, Pinon-Hofbauer J, Egle A, Scott CL, et al. p53 efficiently suppresses tumor development in the complete absence of its cell-cycle inhibitory and proapoptotic effectors p21, Puma, and Noxa. *Cell Rep* (2013) 3(5):1339–45. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.04.012
- Halazonetis TD, Gorgoulis VG, Bartek J. An oncogene-induced DNA damage model for cancer development. *Science* (2008) 319(5868):1352–5. doi:10.1126/ science.1140735
- Soussi T, Wiman KG. Shaping genetic alterations in human cancer: the p53 mutation paradigm. *Cancer Cell* (2007) 12(4):303–12. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2007.10.001
- Martins CP, Brown-Swigart L, Evan GI. Modeling the therapeutic efficacy of p53 restoration in tumors. *Cell* (2006) **127**(7):1323–34. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2006.12.007

wild type TP53-carrying tumors. The ongoing phase Ib/II clinical study with APR-246 will provide solid data on clinical efficacy in combination with standard chemotherapy. Importantly, the mechanism of action of APR-246 – i.e., dual targeting of both mutant p53 and the cellular redox system – suggests that APR-246 will synergize with many DNA-damaging chemotherapeutic drugs, and such synergy has been confirmed in a number of published studies. An important goal for further studies is to assess clinical efficacy in combination with relevant chemotherapeutic and targeted drugs in various tumor types. Ultimately, APR-246 may allow greatly improved therapy of a wide range of tumors that carry mutant TP53.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KW contributed to writing the manuscript and preparing the figures, communicated with the journal editor, and submitted the manuscript. VB, QZ, MZ, SC, and LA contributed to writing the manuscript and preparing the figures.

FUNDING

We thank the Swedish Cancer Fund (Cancerfonden), The Swedish Research Council (Vetenskapsrådet), Radiumhemmets Forskningsfonder and Karolinska Institutet for generous support. KW is a recipient of a Distinguished Professor Award (DPA) from Karolinska Institutet.

- Ventura A, Kirsch DG, McLaughlin ME, Tuveson DA, Grimm J, Lintault L, et al. Restoration of p53 function leads to tumour regression in vivo. *Nature* (2007) 445(7128):661–5. doi:10.1038/nature05541
- Xue W, Zender L, Miething C, Dickins RA, Hernando E, Krizhanovsky V, et al. Senescence and tumour clearance is triggered by p53 restoration in murine liver carcinomas. *Nature* (2007) 445(7128):656–60. doi:10.1038/nature05529
- Bykov VJ, Wiman KG. Mutant p53 reactivation by small molecules makes its way to the clinic. *FEBS Lett* (2014) 588(16):2622–7. doi:10.1016/j. febslet.2014.04.017
- Bykov VJ, Issaeva N, Shilov A, Hultcrantz M, Pugacheva E, Chumakov P, et al. Restoration of the tumor suppressor function to mutant p53 by a low-molecular-weight compound. *Nat Med* (2002) 8(3):282–8. doi:10.1038/nm0302-282
- Bykov VJ, Issaeva N, Selivanova G, Wiman KG. Mutant p53-dependent growth suppression distinguishes PRIMA-1 from known anticancer drugs: a statistical analysis of information in the National Cancer Institute database. *Carcinogenesis* (2002) 23(12):2011–8. doi:10.1093/carcin/23.12.2011
- Bykov VJ, Zache N, Stridh H, Westman J, Bergman J, Selivanova G, et al. PRIMA-1(MET) synergizes with cisplatin to induce tumor cell apoptosis. Oncogene (2005) 24(21):3484–91. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208419
- Lambert JM, Gorzov P, Veprintsev DB, Soderqvist M, Segerback D, Bergman J, et al. PRIMA-1 reactivates mutant p53 by covalent binding to the core domain. *Cancer Cell* (2009) 15(5):376–88. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.03.003
- Kaar JL, Basse N, Joerger AC, Stephens E, Rutherford TJ, Fersht AR. Stabilization of mutant p53 via alkylation of cysteines and effects on DNA binding. *Protein Sci* (2010) 19(12):2267–78. doi:10.1002/pro.507
- Sun XZ, Vinci C, Makmura L, Han S, Tran D, Nguyen J, et al. Formation of disulfide bond in p53 correlates with inhibition of DNA binding and tetramerization. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2003) 5(5):655–65. doi:10.1089/152308603770310338
- Cho Y, Gorina S, Jeffrey PD, Pavletich NP. Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations. *Science* (1994) 265(5170):346–55. doi:10.1126/science.8023157
- Wassman CD, Baronio R, Demir O, Wallentine BD, Chen CK, Hall LV, et al. Computational identification of a transiently open L1/S3 pocket for reactivation of mutant p53. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:1407. doi:10.1038/ncomms2361

- Liu X, Wilcken R, Joerger AC, Chuckowree IS, Amin J, Spencer J, et al. Small molecule induced reactivation of mutant p53 in cancer cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2013) 41(12):6034–44. doi:10.1093/nar/gkt305
- Yu X, Blanden AR, Narayanan S, Jayakumar L, Lubin D, Augeri D, et al. Small molecule restoration of wildtype structure and function of mutant p53 using a novel zinc-metallochaperone based mechanism. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5(19):8879–92. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2432
- Levrero M, De Laurenzi V, Costanzo A, Gong J, Wang JY, Melino G. The p53/ p63/p73 family of transcription factors: overlapping and distinct functions. *J Cell Sci* (2000) 113(Pt 10):1661–70.
- 26. Rinne T, Brunner HG, van Bokhoven H. p63-associated disorders. *Cell Cycle* (2007) **6**(3):262–8. doi:10.4161/cc.6.3.3796
- Rokaeus N, Shen J, Eckhardt I, Bykov VJ, Wiman KG, Wilhelm MT. PRIMA-1(MET)/APR-246 targets mutant forms of p53 family members p63 and p73. *Oncogene* (2010) 29(49):6442–51. doi:10.1038/onc.2010.382
- Shen J, van den Bogaard EH, Kouwenhoven EN, Bykov VJ, Rinne T, Zhang Q, et al. APR-246/PRIMA-1(MET) rescues epidermal differentiation in skin keratinocytes derived from EEC syndrome patients with p63 mutations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(6):2157–62. doi:10.1073/pnas.1201993110
- 29. Shalom-Feuerstein R, Serror L, Aberdam E, Muller FJ, van Bokhoven H, Wiman KG, et al. Impaired epithelial differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells from ectodermal dysplasia-related patients is rescued by the small compound APR-246/PRIMA-1MET. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(6):2152–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1201753109
- Peng X, Zhang MQ, Conserva F, Hosny G, Selivanova G, Bykov VJ, et al. APR-246/PRIMA-1MET inhibits thioredoxin reductase 1 and converts the enzyme to a dedicated NADPH oxidase. *Cell Death Dis* (2013) 4:e881. doi:10.1038/ cddis.2013.417
- Mohell N, Alfredsson J, Fransson A, Uustalu M, Bystrom S, Gullbo J, et al. APR-246 overcomes resistance to cisplatin and doxorubicin in ovarian cancer cells. *Cell Death Dis* (2015) 6:e1794. doi:10.1038/cddis.2015.143
- Tessoulin B, Descamps G, Moreau P, Maiga S, Lode L, Godon C, et al. PRIMA-1Met induces myeloma cell death independent of p53 by impairing the GSH/ROS balance. *Blood* (2014) **124**(10):1626–36. doi:10.1182/ blood-2014-01-548800
- Gorrini C, Harris IS, Mak TW. Modulation of oxidative stress as an anticancer strategy. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2013) 12(12):931–47. doi:10.1038/nrd4002
- Lehmann S, Bykov VJ, Ali D, Andren O, Cherif H, Tidefelt U, et al. Targeting p53 in vivo: a first-in-human study with p53-targeting compound APR-246 in refractory hematologic malignancies and prostate cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2012) 30(29):3633–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.40.7783
- Rieber M, Strasberg-Rieber M. Hypoxia, Mn-SOD and H(2)O(2) regulate p53 reactivation and PRIMA-1 toxicity irrespective of p53 status in human breast cancer cells. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2012) 84(12):1563–70. doi:10.1016/j. bcp.2012.09.003
- Rabik CA, Dolan ME. Molecular mechanisms of resistance and toxicity associated with platinating agents. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2007) 33(1):9–23. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv.2006.09.006
- Milojkovic D, Apperley J. Mechanisms of resistance to imatinib and second-generation tyrosine inhibitors in chronic myeloid leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(24):7519–27. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1068

- Kobayashi N, Abedini M, Sakuragi N, Tsang BK. PRIMA-1 increases cisplatin sensitivity in chemoresistant ovarian cancer cells with p53 mutation: a requirement for Akt down-regulation. J Ovarian Res (2013) 6:7. doi:10.1186/1757-2215-6-7
- Liu DS, Read M, Cullinane C, Azar WJ, Fennell CM, Montgomery KG, et al. APR-246 potently inhibits tumour growth and overcomes chemoresistance in preclinical models of oesophageal adenocarcinoma. *Gut* (2015) 64(10): 1506–16. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309770
- Zahedi Avval F, Holmgren A. Molecular mechanisms of thioredoxin and glutaredoxin as hydrogen donors for Mammalian s phase ribonucleotide reductase. J Biol Chem (2009) 284(13):8233–40. doi:10.1074/jbc.M809338200
- Ali D, Jonsson-Videsater K, Deneberg S, Bengtzen S, Nahi H, Paul C, et al. APR-246 exhibits anti-leukemic activity and synergism with conventional chemotherapeutic drugs in acute myeloid leukemia cells. *Eur J Haematol* (2011) 86(3):206–15. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0609.2010.01557.x
- Aguilar-Santelises M, Magnusson KP, Wiman KG, Mellstedt H, Jondal M. Progressive B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia frequently exhibits aberrant p53 expression. *Int J Cancer* (1994) 58(4):474–9. doi:10.1002/ijc.2910580403
- Zheng A, Castren K, Saily M, Savolainen ER, Koistinen P, Vahakangas K. p53 status of newly established acute myeloid leukaemia cell lines. *Br J Cancer* (1999) **79**(3–4):407–15. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6690064
- Cory AH, Chen J, Cory JG. Effects of PRIMA-1 on wild-type L1210 cells expressing mutant p53 and drug-resistant L1210 cells lacking expression of p53: necrosis vs. apoptosis. *Anticancer Res* (2006) 26(2A):1289–95.
- Izetti P, Hautefeuille A, Abujamra AL, de Farias CB, Giacomazzi J, Alemar B, et al. PRIMA-1, a mutant p53 reactivator, induces apoptosis and enhances chemotherapeutic cytotoxicity in pancreatic cancer cell lines. *Invest New Drugs* (2014) 32(5):783–94. doi:10.1007/s10637-014-0090-9
- Nishizaki M, Sasaki J, Fang B, Atkinson EN, Minna JD, Roth JA, et al. Synergistic tumor suppression by coexpression of FHIT and p53 coincides with FHITmediated MDM2 inactivation and p53 stabilization in human non-small cell lung cancer cells. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(16):5745–52. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-04-0195
- Zandi R, Xu K, Poulsen HS, Roth JA, Ji L. The effect of adenovirus-mediated gene expression of FHIT in small cell lung cancer cells. *Cancer Invest* (2011) 29(10):683–91. doi:10.3109/07357907.2011.626475

Conflict of Interest Statement: Vladimir J. N. Bykov and Klas G. Wiman are co-founders and shareholders of Aprea AB, a company that develops p53-based cancer therapy, including APR-246. Klas G. Wiman is a member of its board. Lars Abrahmsen is employed by Aprea AB. The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Bykov, Zhang, Zhang, Ceder, Abrahmsen and Wiman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Clinical Overview of MDM2/X-Targeted Therapies

Andrew Burgess^{1,2†}, Kee Ming Chia^{1†}, Sue Haupt³, David Thomas^{1,2}, Ygal Haupt³ and Elgene Lim^{1,2*}

¹ The Kinghorn Cancer Centre, Garvan Institute of Medical Research, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ² Faculty of Medicine, St. Vincent's Clinical School, UNSW Australia, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ³ The Sir Peter MacCallum Department of Oncology, the University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

MDM2 and MDMX are the primary negative regulators of p53, which under normal conditions maintain low intracellular levels of p53 by targeting it to the proteasome for rapid degradation and inhibiting its transcriptional activity. Both MDM2 and MDMX function as powerful oncogenes and are commonly over-expressed in some cancers, including sarcoma (~20%) and breast cancer (~15%). In contrast to tumors that are p53 mutant, whereby the current therapeutic strategy restores the normal active conformation of p53, MDM2 and MDMX represent logical therapeutic targets in cancer for increasing wildtype (WT) p53 expression and activities. Recent preclinical studies suggest that there may also be situations that MDM2/X inhibitors could be used in p53 mutant tumors. Since the discovery of nutlin-3a, the first in a class of small molecule MDM2 inhibitors that binds to the hydrophobic cleft in the N-terminus of MDM2, preventing its association with p53, there is now an extensive list of related compounds. In addition, a new class of stapled peptides that can target both MDM2 and MDMX have also been developed. Importantly, preclinical modeling, which has demonstrated effective in vitro and in vivo killing of WT p53 cancer cells, has now been translated into early clinical trials allowing better assessment of their biological effects and toxicities in patients. In this overview, we will review the current MDM2- and MDMX-targeted therapies in development, focusing particularly on compounds that have entered into early phase clinical trials. We will highlight the challenges pertaining to predictive biomarkers for and toxicities associated with these compounds, as well as identify potential combinatorial strategies to enhance its anti-cancer efficacy.

Keywords: p53, MDM2, MDMX, cancer therapy, nutlin

INTRODUCTION: RATIONALE FOR TARGETING THE p53 PATHWAY

The tumor suppressor protein p53, nominated "the guardian of the genome," is mutated in ~50% of all human cancers. However, the incidence of p53 mutations differs significantly between cancer types, ranging from near universal mutation (~96%) in serous ovarian cancer to rare occurrence (<10%) in thyroid cancer (**Figure 1A**). This disparity provides therapeutic opportunities for targeting cancers with p53 wild-type (WT), in a distinct manner from those with p53 mutant cancers. Several preclinical studies have demonstrated that reconfiguration of mutant, to its normal,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Haining Yang, University of Hawaii Cancer Center, USA

Reviewed by:

Takaomi Sanda, National University of Singapore, Singapore Giovanni Gaudino, University of Hawaii Cancer Center, USA

*Correspondence:

Elgene Lim e.lim@garvan.org.au

[†]Andrew Burgess and Kee Ming Chia contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 03 December 2015 Accepted: 11 January 2016 Published: 27 January 2016

Citation:

Burgess A, Chia KM, Haupt S, Thomas D, Haupt Y and Lim E (2016) Clinical Overview of MDM2/X-Targeted Therapies. Front. Oncol. 6:7. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00007

91

active WT p53 conformation, restores apoptosis and promotes tumor regression (1–3). Therapeutic targeting of mutant p53, using small molecule drugs, is in the most advanced state for PRIMA-1, and its derivative PRIMA-1MET, an approach which restores the normal, active conformation of p53, which has been

previously explored in depth by Wiman and coworkers (4). In the current review, we focus on therapies that target MDM2 and MDMX as a means of increase the stability of WT p53 and the consequences for patients with either WT p53 or mutant cancer cells.



Regulation of p53 Stability by MDM2 and MDMX

The primary response to a variety of cellular insults and stresses is to concurrently activate and stabilize p53 within the cell. Activated p53 then drives a vast transcriptional program that arrests the cell cycle, promotes repair pathways, and in response to severe stress initiates apoptosis. Therefore, under normal conditions, it is critical that intracellular levels of p53 are kept low, which is achieved by the rapid degradation of p53 by the proteasome. This degradation occurs in both ubiquitin-dependent (6) and ubiquitinindependent mechanisms (7) and can be modulated by various signaling pathways including sumoylation, phosphorylation, acetylation, methylation, and glycosylation (8). Of these, ubiquitination is the most important (6, 9) and the E3 ligase MDM2 is the primary negative regulator of p53 (10, 11), although several other E3 and E4 ligases of p53 also exist (8, 9). Mechanistically, engagement of the p53 N-terminal transactivation domain by the N-terminal of MDM2, facilitates its C-terminal RING finger E3 ligase activity to transfer ubiquitin to multiple lysine residues of p53, located in central DNA-binding and C-terminal regulatory regions (8, 9). MDM2 ubiquitination of p53 (either mono- or poly-ubiquitination) negatively regulates its transcriptional activity. Mono-ubiquitin triggers nuclear export, while poly-ubiquitin targets nuclear p53 for degradation by the proteasome (12). Notably, the C-terminal of MDM2 is also able to bind with the C-terminal of the highly related protein MDMX (also known as HDMX and MDM4). Although MDMX does not possess E3 ligase activity, the MDM2-MDMX heterodimer ubiquitinates p53 with higher efficiency than MDM2 homodimers (13). MDMX, via its N-terminus, is able to bind p53 and efficiently inhibit its transcriptional activity (14). Furthermore, MDM2 is transcriptionally up regulated by p53 and this negative-feedback loop associated with cyclical modulation of levels of both proteins, ensures that p53 levels remain low under normal conditions (15).

Targeting MDM2 and MDMX

Given the importance of both MDM2 and MDMX in regulating WT p53, it is unsurprising that they are commonly over-expressed in some cancers, including sarcoma (~20%) and breast (~15%) (Figure 1A). In this context, they function as powerful oncogenes and represent logical therapeutic targets for increasing WT p53 expression and activities. The concept of MDM2 targeting was supported by the discovery of p14^{ARF} (p19^{ARF} in mice), an alternate reading frame protein produced from the CDKN2A locus (16, 17). P14^{ARF} binds to MDM2, sequestering it in the nucleolus and preventing it from targeting p53 for degradation (18, 19). More precisely, the capacity to bind and sequester MDM2 to the nucleus was assigned to a 22 amino acid fragment from the N-terminus of p14^{ARF}, revealing a potential method for targeting MDM2 with small peptide inhibitors (20). The first successful realization of this potential came in 2004, when nutlin-3a was discovered by Vassilev et al. (21). Nutlin-3a potently binds to the hydrophobic cleft in the N-terminus of MDM2, preventing its association with p53. Importantly, it is highly effective killing of WT p53 cancer cells, both in vitro and in vivo in preclinical models, provided validation for its use. However, its poor bioavailability, high toxicity

(discussed in greater detail below), and its limited effects on MDMX overexpressing cells (22-24) has prevented its translation to the clinic. Recent interest has switched to compounds that have better bioavailability and can target both MDM2 and MDMX. These new compounds can be broadly segregated according to their mode of action. The vast majority of preclinical and clinical small molecule inhibitors work similarly to nutlin-3a, binding to the N-terminal pocket of MDM2, inhibiting association with p53 (Figure 1B). Despite the similarity in the N-terminal p53-binding domain of MDM2 and MDMX, most of these small molecule inhibitors bind with significantly less avidity to MDMX and are therefore primarily MDM2 specific (12). However, there are now several new peptide-based inhibitors that are capable of binding to the N-terminal of both MDM2 and MDMX (Table 1). In addition, several small molecule inhibitors, which bind specifically to the N-terminus of MDMX, have recently been developed and are currently undergoing preclinical testing (25, 26). In addition, there are now a growing number of new MDM2/X inhibitors that bind outside the N-terminus (Figure 1B). These include small molecules that inhibit the ubiquitin ligase activity of MDM2 (27); disruptors of MDM2-MDMX heterodimerization (28); transcriptional inhibitors of both MDM2 (29, 30) and MDMX (31); MDM2 auto-ubiquitination activators (32, 33); inhibitors of HSP90 to disrupt MDMX protein folding; and molecules that directly engage p53 and prevent association with MDM2/X (34).

Cellular Responses to Increased p53

Increased cellular p53 protein levels, resulting from MDM2/X inhibition, lead to a number of effects that can be simplified into the broad categories of cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. The decision between these two pathways is governed by the level and duration of p53 induction. Lower and cyclical levels of p53 induce arrest, while sustained levels of elevated p53 expression promotes death (35). Cell cycle arrest is primarily achieved through transcriptional activation of p53 target genes, primarily p21 and GADD45, which block the activity of cyclin-dependent kinases (Cdk) and cause arrest in G1/S (36) and G2 phases, respectively (37). Interestingly, upregulation of p53 during mitosis does not delay mitotic progression, but it is an important requirement for arresting and eliminating aberrant polyploid cells in the subsequent G1 phase (38, 39). Continued p53 expression occurs when the damage or stress incurred cannot be repaired or resolved. These stresses continue to generate a signaling cascade (e.g., ATM/ ATR, Chk1/2) that leads to the continued stabilization of p53, and subsequently allows the accumulation of pro-apoptotic p53 targets, including PUMA, Noxa, and Bim within the cell (40, 41). Once these proteins accumulate to sufficient levels, they trigger apoptosis (42, 43).

MDM2/X INHIBITORS IN CLINICAL TRIALS

The majority of MDM2-targeted therapies currently in clinical development are small molecule inhibitors (**Table 1**). These have been crystallographically resolved and comprise derivatives that bind to MDM2 by mimicking Phe19, Trp23, and Leu26,

TABLE 1 | MDM2 and MDMX inhibitors in clinical development.

MDM2 inhibitors in clinical development									
Class and specificity	Nature of compound	Compound	Status	p53	NCT identifier	Company			
Small molecule MDM2 antagonists	Cis-imidazoline	RG7112	Phase I in advanced solid and hematological cancers, and liposarcoma (completed)	n/a	NCT00559533				
		RG7112 with cytarabine	Phase I in acute myelogenous leukemia (completed)	n/a	NCT01635296				
		RG7112 with doxorubicin	Phase I in soft tissue sarcoma (completed)	n/a	NCT01605526	Roche			
		RO5503781	Phase I in advanced solid cancers (completed)	n/a	NCT01462175				
		RO5503781 with cytarabine	Phase I in acute myelogenous leukemia (active but not recruiting)	n/a	NCT01773408				
		RO5503781 with abiraierone	Phase I/II in advanced prostate cancer (recruiting)	n/a	CRUKE/12/032				
	Spiro-oxindole	SAR405838	Phase I in advanced solid cancers (active but not recruiting)	n/a	NCT01636479	Sanofi-Aventis			
		SAR405838 with pimasertib	Phase I in advanced solid cancers (recruiting)	n/a	NCT01985191				
	Imidazothiazole	DS-3032b	Phase I in advanced solid cancers (recruiting)	n/a	NCT01877382	Daiichi Sanky			
	Dihydroisoquinolinone	CGM-097	Phase I in advanced solid tumors (recruiting)	wtp53	NCT01760525				
	n/a	HDM201	Phase I in advanced solid and hematological cancers (recruiting)	wtp53	NCT02143635	Novartis			
		HDM201 with ribociclib	Phase Ib/II in liposarcoma (recruiting)	wtp53	NCT02343172				
	Piperidines	MK4828 with cytarabine	Phase I in acute myelogenous leukemia (terminated)	n/a	NCT01451437	Merck			
	Piperidinone	AMG232	Phase I in advanced solid cancers and multiple myeloma (recruiting)	n/a	NCT01723020	Amgen			
		AMG 232 with trametinib and dabrafenib	Phase lb/lla in metastatic melanoma (recruiting)	n/a	NCT02110355				
	Pyrrolidine	RG7388	Phase 1 in polycythemia vera and essential ihrombocythemia (recruiting)	n/a	NCT02407080	Pegasys			
Stapled peptide MDM2/X inhibitor	Peptide	ALRN-6924	Phase I in advanced solid cancers (recruiting)	wtp53	NCT02264613	Aileron			

Data extracted from http://www.clinicaltrials.gov, accessed 1st December 2015.

which are key residues engaged by p53. ALRN-6924 (Aileron Therapeutics) belongs to a different class of therapeutics, which are stapled peptides designed to disrupt p53 interaction with both MDM2 and MDMX. A number of these compounds are also being evaluated clinically in combination with cytotoxics (doxorubicin and cytarabine), and also molecular-targeted therapies, including ribociclib (CDK4/6 inhibitor), dabrafenib (BRAF inhibitor), trametinib, and pimasertinib (MEK1/2 inhibitors). A number of these trials have excluded patients with p53 mutant tumors; however, the majority have not defined a clear biomarker for selection criteria, in keeping with the primary end points of safety and tolerability. It is of interest that a number of these phase 1 trials have yet to be reported even though accrual was started over 3 years ago, which is unusually long in a phase 1 setting.

RG7112 is the most developed in this class of compounds, and preclinical studies demonstrate strong binding to MDM2, and effective apoptosis, particularly in MDM2-amplified tumors (44). One of first clinical trials reported was in patients with liposarcoma, a tumor characterized by a high proportion of MDM2 gene amplification and wild-type p53 (45). The primary end point in this small neoadjuvant study of 20 patients was to assess tumor biomarkers of p53 pathway activation and cell proliferation. The results demonstrated an increase in intratumoral p53, p21, and macrophage-inhibitory cytokine 1 (MIC1, a secreted protein product of p53) concentrations, an increase in MDM2 mRNA expression and a small decrease in Ki-67 positive cells in the treated compared to the pretreated samples. Clinically, the results were modest, with one partial response and stable disease in 70% of the cohort. Importantly, there were serious adverse events (grade 3 or 4) experienced by 40% of the patients, the majority of which were hematological in nature.

RG7112 has also been evaluated in a phase 1 trial of patients with relapsed/refractory leukemia, such as AML, ALL, CML, and CLL (46). The most common toxicities were gastrointestinal and hematological in nature, 22% of patients experiencing grade 3 and 4 febrile neutropenia. There was clinical activity, particularly in the AML cohort, whereby 5 out of 30 evaluable patients achieved either a complete or partial response, and another 9 patients had stable disease. These numbers suggest useful single agent clinical activity, given the refractory nature of their disease to other therapies. MDM2 inhibition resulted in p53 stabilization and transcriptional activation of p53 target genes. Interestingly, two patients who had p53 mutations (G266E and R181L) also responded to RG7112 in this trial. The G266E is a gain-offunction (GOF) p53 mutation that upregulates CXC-chemokine expression and enhances cell migration (47), while R181L is capable of inducing MDM2 and instigating a cell cycle arrest, but not apoptosis (48). Consequently, these mutants (G266E and R181L) may still be sensitive to MDM2/X inhibitors, and hence patients with these mutations may benefit from these inhibitors.

Assessing the effects that MDM2/X inhibitors in the context of the various GOF p53 mutants will be of significant importance, as MDM2/X inhibition has the potential to increase the levels of GOF p53 mutants. Several GOF mutants have been shown to increase cell proliferation, metabolism, invasion, and chemoresistance in cancer cells (49-53). Consequently, inhibition of MDM2/X could place selective pressure on cancer cells with GOF p53 mutations, driving the clonal evolution of more aggressive cancer cells and exacerbating tumor growth and metastasis in patients. Alternatively, a recent preclinical study demonstrated that the novel small molecule NSC59984 activates p73, resulting in an MDM2-dependent degradation of GOF p53 and subsequent inhibition of tumor growth (54). Other possible explanations for the varied patient response include multiple clones being present with the tumor (only some of which are mutant), a retention of one wild-type allele, certain p53 mutations may still have functional p53 activity (55). Taken together, it is clear that much more work needs to be done to clearly identify biomarkers to improve patient selection for clinical trials of MDM2/X inhibitors. Furthermore, understanding the heterogeneity of p53 expression and the specific mutations within a patient's tumor prior, during and post treatment will also be of considerable importance for determining the suitability of treatment with MDM2/X inhibitors.

The clinical effect of MDM2 inhibitors on p53 reactivation, range from cytostasis to apoptosis, and a combination strategy may be more efficacious in certain contexts. Preclincal modeling with nutlin-3a has demonstrated improved anti-cancer activity in combination with cytotoxic- and molecular-targeted therapies, in different tumor types (45); however, the toxicity profile of the combination partner is a critical determinant of the success of such an approach clinically. The high incidence of hematological toxicities in the clinical trials of RG7112 would suggest that therapies with an overlapping side effect profile would not be suitable as combination partners (45, 46). A number of clinical trials combining MDM2 inhibitors with cytotoxics have completed accrual but have yet to be reported (**Table 1**).

TOXICITIES

A concern of p53 reactivating therapies is its effect on normal cells. These include the stabilization of p53 resulting in increased apoptosis in these cells. This was reflected in the clinical trial of RG7112 in lipoma, whereby the most common toxicity was hematological in nature, with a reported 30% of patients experiencing grade 4 neutropenia, and 15% experiencing sometimes prolonged grade 4 thrombocytopenia (45, 46). Whether hematologic toxicity correlates with prior exposure to genotoxic therapies is not known. There are also reports of an increased incidence of p53 mutations following prolonged nutlin-3a exposure (56), and concerns about this effect on the development of new cancers (57). Other potential off-target effects on MDM2 inhibitors include the loss of its ability to ubiquitinate other proteins, such as the steroid hormone receptors [estrogen receptor (ER) and androgen receptor (AR)] and Rb, as well as interference with MDM2's role in DNA repair and modifying chromatin structure (58). The clinical relevance of these potential long-term toxicities have not been reported in the current early phase trials.

CONCLUSION/PERSPECTIVE

Protein-protein interactions, once considered to be a major hurdle to p53 therapeutic development, can now be targeted with a growing number of small molecule inhibitors and stapled peptides. The strategies to overcome this Achilles heel in many cancers are increasingly varied, and build upon an understanding of the crystallographic structure of p53 and its interactions with its major inhibitors. Most of the major pharmaceutical companies have one or more lead compounds targeting MDM2/X, and many of these have only recently progressed from preclinical development into early phase clinical trials.

The effect of MDM2/X-targeting therapies range from cytostasis to apoptosis, and combinatory approaches with other cytotoxic therapies or therapies that target other major oncogenic pathways are logical approaches, and may allow for lower and better tolerated doses of both drugs to be administered. For example, in p53 mutant tumors, protection of normal cells can be achieved by triggering p53-dependent cytostatic effects with short, pulsed exposure to MDM2 inhibitors. This cyclotherapy can reduce the toxic side effect of chemotherapy in these p53 mutant patients (59). Alternatively, recent preclinical evidence has demonstrated that inhibition of MDM2 with nutlin-3a prevents repair of DNA damage, providing synthetic lethality with genotoxic agents, such as cisplatin (60). Importantly, this effect was independent of p53 status and could provide a rational for examining MDM2 combination therapy in p53 mutant patients. Getting the therapeutic index right is critical in patients. It is not surprising that hematological toxicities have been the most commonly reported and dose-limiting toxicities in the trials reported so far (45, 46). Long-term follow-up is also critical to evaluate for the clinical relevance of the potential effects of an increase in p53 mutations and other off-target effects of this class of compounds.

The three major biomarkers that have been used to evaluate therapeutic responses to MDM2/X inhibitors are p53 status, MDM2, and MDMX levels. Interestingly, the over expression of MDM2, MDMX, or mutation of p53 are often mutually exclusive. For example, liposarcoma, which is one of the first tumors in which MDM2 inhibitors have been evaluated (45), shows highly significant tendency toward mutual exclusivity (p-value <0.001) between overexpression of MDM2 (19%) and p53 mutation (12%) (Figure 1A) (5). Other tumors with similar trends of exclusivity include glioblastoma multiforme, melanoma, bladder, lung andenocarcioma, prostate, and ER-positive breast cancers. These tumors present an obvious starting point for trialing MDM2/X inhibitors in patients. The high rate of MDM2 overexpression in prostate and ER-positive breast cancers, and the ability of MDM2 inhibitors to ubiquitinate steroid hormone receptors, has led to the evaluation of this class of drugs in combination with endocrine therapies (CRUKE/12/032). It has also been shown that estradiol modulates a subset of p53 and ER target genes that can predict the relapse-free survival of patients with ER-positive

breast cancer, and that p53 activation with nutlin in combination with fulvestrant, a selective ER degrader, led to a greater degree of apoptosis *in vitro* (61).

Given the risk of mutations in p53 driving resistance to MDM2/X inhibitors, additional biomarkers need to be identified to maximize the chances of clinical success. This is highlighted by evidence that p53 mutation status as currently measured clinically, may not be an accurate representation of functional p53 activity (46). In support, the recent discovery that MDM2 inhibitor sensitivity could be predicted by a panel of 13 p53 transcriptional target genes (62) was subsequently shown to be based on a significant number of miss-classified p53 mutant cell lines (63). Removal of these lines unfortunately abolished the predicative power of the gene signature. An alternative approach would be to select for tumors with MDM2 amplification given the mutual exclusivity of p53 mutations and MDM2 amplification (64). However, MDM2 and MDMX have different and cooperative inhibitory effects on p53 activity, and therefore inhibitors of one may not be as effective in the setting

REFERENCES

- Ventura A, Kirsch DG, McLaughlin ME, Tuveson DA, Grimm J, Lintault L, et al. Restoration of p53 function leads to tumour regression in vivo. *Nature* (2007) 445:661–5. doi:10.1038/nature05541
- Martins CP, Brown-Swigart L, Evan GI. Modeling the therapeutic efficacy of p53 restoration in tumors. *Cell* (2006) 127:1323–34. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2006.12.007
- Xue W, Zender L, Miething C, Dickins RA, Hernando E, Krizhanovsky V, et al. Senescence and tumour clearance is triggered by p53 restoration in murine liver carcinomas. *Nature* (2007) 445:656–60. doi:10.1038/nature05529
- Bykov VJN, Wiman KG. Mutant p53 reactivation by small molecules makes its way to the clinic. *FEBS Lett* (2014) 588:2622–7. doi:10.1016/j. febslet.2014.04.017
- Gao J, Aksoy BA, Dogrusoz U, Dresdner G, Gross B, Sumer SO, et al. Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cBioPortal. *Sci Signal* (2013) 6:11. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2004088
- Pant V, Lozano G. Limiting the power of p53 through the ubiquitin proteasome pathway. *Genes Dev* (2014) 28:1739–51. doi:10.1101/ gad.247452.114
- Tsvetkov P, Reuven N, Shaul Y. Ubiquitin-independent p53 proteasomal degradation. *Cell Death Differ* (2009) 17:103–8. doi:10.1038/cdd.2009.67
- Meek DW, Anderson CW. Posttranslational modification of p53: cooperative integrators of function. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2009) 1:a000950. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a000950
- Brooks CL, Gu W. p53 regulation by ubiquitin. FEBS Lett (2011) 585:2803–9. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2011.05.022
- Kubbutat MH, Jones SN, Vousden KH. Regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. Nature (1997) 387:299–303. doi:10.1038/387299a0
- Haupt Y, Maya R, Kazaz A, Oren M. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. Nature (1997) 387:296–9. doi:10.1038/387296a0
- Li M, Brooks CL, Wu-Baer F, Chen D, Baer R, Gu W. Mono- versus polyubiquitination: differential control of p53 fate by Mdm2. *Science* (2003) 302:1972–5. doi:10.1126/science.1091362
- Leslie PL, Ke H, Zhang Y. The MDM2 RING domain and central acidic domain play distinct roles in MDM2 protein homodimerization and MDM2-MDMX protein heterodimerization. *J Biol Chem* (2015) 290:12941–50. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M115.644435
- Brooks CL, Gu W. p53 ubiquitination: Mdm2 and beyond. *Mol Cell* (2006) 21:307–15. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2006.01.020
- Shadfan M, Lopez-Pajares V, Yuan Z-M. MDM2 and MDMX: alone and together in regulation of p53. *Transl Cancer Res* (2012) 1:88–9.
- Mao L, Merlo A, Bedi G, Shapiro GI, Edwards CD, Rollins BJ, et al. A novel p16INK4A transcript. *Cancer Res* (1995) 55:2995–7.

of raised levels of the other protein (23). Thus, these biomarkers, while logical in their choice, unless further improved upon, may potentially exclude patients who may benefit from these therapies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the preparation and writing of the manuscript.

FUNDING

AB is a CINSW FRL fellow (10/FRL/3-02). KC is an NHMRC Dora Lush Scholar. DT and YH are NHMRC principal research fellows (APP1104364 and APP9628426, respectively). EL is an NBCF/VCA practitioner fellow (PRAC14-002). This work was supported by the Patricia Helen Guest fellowship and Love Your Sister foundation. The funders had no role in analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

- Stone S, Jiang P, Dayananth P, Tavtigian SV, Katcher H, Parry D, et al. Complex structure and regulation of the P16 (MTS1) locus. *Cancer Res* (1995) 55:2988–94.
- Stott FJ, Bates S, James MC, McConnell BB, Starborg M, Brookes S, et al. The alternative product from the human CDKN2A locus, p14ARF, participates in a regulatory feedback loop with p53 and MDM2. *EMBO J* (1998) 17:5001–14. doi:10.1093/emboj/17.17.5001
- Honda R, Yasuda H. Association of p19ARF with Mdm2 inhibits ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 for tumor suppressor p53. *EMBO J* (1999) 18:22–7. doi:10.1093/emboj/18.1.22
- Lohrum MA, Ashcroft M, Kubbutat MH, Vousden KH. Contribution of two independent MDM2-binding domains in p14(ARF) to p53 stabilization. *Curr Biol* (2000) 10:539–42. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00472-3
- Vassilev LT, Vu BT, Graves B, Carvajal D, Podlaski F, Filipovic Z, et al. In vivo activation of the p53 pathway by small-molecule antagonists of MDM2. *Science* (2004) 303:844–8. doi:10.1126/science.1092472
- Patton JT, Mayo LD, Singhi AD, Gudkov AV, Stark GR, Jackson MW. Levels of HdmX expression dictate the sensitivity of normal and transformed cells to Nutlin-3. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:3169–76. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3832
- Hu B, Gilkes DM, Farooqi B, Sebti SM, Chen J. MDMX overexpression prevents p53 activation by the MDM2 inhibitor Nutlin. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281:33030–5. doi:10.1074/jbc.C600147200
- Wade M, Wong ET, Tang M, Stommel JM, Wahl GM. Hdmx modulates the outcome of p53 activation in human tumor cells. J Biol Chem (2006) 281:33036–44. doi:10.1074/jbc.M605405200
- Reed D, Shen Y, Shelat AA, Arnold LA, Ferreira AM, Zhu F, et al. Identification and characterization of the first small molecule inhibitor of MDMX. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285:10786–96. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.056747
- Popowicz GM, Czarna A, Wolf S, Wang K, Wang W, Dömling A, et al. Structures of low molecular weight inhibitors bound to MDMX and MDM2 reveal new approaches for p53-MDMX/MDM2 antagonist drug discovery. *Cell Cycle* (2010) 9:1104–11. doi:10.4161/cc.9.6.10956
- Herman AG, Hayano M, Poyurovsky MV, Shimada K, Skouta R, Prives C, et al. Discovery of Mdm2-MdmX E3 ligase inhibitors using a cell-based ubiquitination assay. *Cancer Discov* (2011) 1:312–25. doi:10.1158/2159-8290. CD-11-0104
- Pellegrino M, Mancini F, Lucà R, Coletti A, Giacchè N, Manni I, et al. Targeting the MDM2/MDM4 interaction interface as a promising approach for p53 reactivation therapy. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75:4560–72. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-15-0439
- Huang M, Zhang H, Liu T, Tian D, Gu L, Zhou M. Triptolide inhibits MDM2 and induces apoptosis in acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells through a p53independent pathway. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2013) 12:184–94. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-0425

- Qin J-J, Wang W, Voruganti S, Wang H, Zhang W-D, Zhang R. Inhibiting NFAT1 for breast cancer therapy: new insights into the mechanism of action of MDM2 inhibitor JapA. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:33106–19. doi:10.18632/ oncotarget.5851
- Wang H, Ma X, Ren S, Buolamwini JK, Yan C. A small-molecule inhibitor of MDMX activates p53 and induces apoptosis. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2011) 10:69–79. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-10-0581
- Seo S-K, Hwang C-S, Choe T-B, Hong S-I, Yi JY, Hwang S-G, et al. Selective inhibition of histone deacetylase 2 induces p53-dependent survivin downregulation through MDM2 proteasomal degradation. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:26528–40. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.3100
- Zhang H, Gu L, Liu T, Chiang K-Y, Zhou M. Inhibition of MDM2 by nilotinib contributes to cytotoxicity in both Philadelphia-positive and negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *PLoS One* (2014) **9**:e100960. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0100960
- Issaeva N, Bozko P, Enge M, Protopopova M, Verhoef LGGC, Masucci M, et al. Small molecule RITA binds to p53, blocks p53-HDM-2 interaction and activates p53 function in tumors. *Nat Med* (2004) 10:1321–8. doi:10.1038/ nm1146
- Zhang X-P, Liu F, Wang W. Two-phase dynamics of p53 in the DNA damage response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2011) 108:8990–5. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1100600108
- Reisman D, Takahashi P, Polson A, Boggs K. Transcriptional regulation of the p53 tumor suppressor gene in S-phase of the cell-cycle and the cellular response to DNA damage. *Biochem Res Int* (2012) 2012:808934–5. doi:10.1155/2012/808934
- Fischer M, Quaas M, Steiner L, Engeland K. The p53-p21-DREAM-CDE/ CHR pathway regulates G2/M cell cycle genes. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2016) 44(1):164–74. doi:10.1093/nar/gkv927
- Andreassen PR, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB, Margolis RL. Tetraploid state induces p53-dependent arrest of nontransformed mammalian cells in G1. *Mol Biol Cell* (2001) 12:1315–28. doi:10.1091/mbc.12.5.1315
- Thompson SL, Compton DA. Proliferation of aneuploid human cells is limited by a p53-dependent mechanism. J Cell Biol (2010) 188:369–81. doi:10.1083/ jcb.200905057
- Kuribayashi K, Finnberg N, Jeffers JR, Zambetti GP, El-Deiry WS. The relative contribution of pro-apoptotic p53-target genes in the triggering of apoptosis following DNA damage in vitro and in vivo. *Cell Cycle* (2011) 10:2380–9. doi:10.4161/cc.10.14.16588
- Haupt S, Berger M, Goldberg Z, Haupt Y. Apoptosis the p53 network. J Cell Sci (2003) 116:4077–85. doi:10.1242/jcs.00739
- Kracikova M, Akiri G, George A, Sachidanandam R, Aaronson SA. A threshold mechanism mediates p53 cell fate decision between growth arrest and apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ* (2013) 20:576–88. doi:10.1038/cdd.2012.155
- Khoo KH, Hoe KK, Verma CS, Lane DP. Drugging the p53 pathway: understanding the route to clinical efficacy. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2014) 13:217–36. doi:10.1038/nrd4236
- 44. Tovar C, Graves B, Packman K, Filipovic Z, Higgins B, Xia M, et al. MDM2 small-molecule antagonist RG7112 activates p53 signaling and regresses human tumors in preclinical cancer models. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:2587–97. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2807
- Ray-Coquard I, Blay J-Y, Italiano A, Le Cesne A, Penel N, Zhi J, et al. Effect of the MDM2 antagonist RG7112 on the P53 pathway in patients with MDM2amplified, well-differentiated or dedifferentiated liposarcoma: an exploratory proof-of-mechanism study. *Lancet Oncol* (2012) 13:1133–40. doi:10.1016/ S1470-2045(12)70474-6
- Andreeff M, Kelly KR, Yee KW, Assouline SE, Strair R, Popplewell L, et al. Results of the phase 1 trial of RG7112, a small-molecule MDM2 antagonist in leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015). doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0481
- Yeudall WA, Vaughan CA, Miyazaki H, Ramamoorthy M, Choi M-Y, Chapman CG, et al. Gain-of-function mutant p53 upregulates CXC chemokines and enhances cell migration. *Carcinogenesis* (2012) 33:442–51. doi:10.1093/ carcin/bgr270
- Ludwig RL, Bates S, Vousden KH. Differential activation of target cellular promoters by p53 mutants with impaired apoptotic function. *Mol Cell Biol* (1996) 16:4952–60. doi:10.1128/MCB.16.9.4952

- Dong P, Karaayvaz M, Jia N, Kaneuchi M, Hamada J, Watari H, et al. Mutant p53 gain-of-function induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition through modulation of the miR-130b-ZEB1 axis. *Oncogene* (2013) 32:3286–95. doi:10.1038/onc.2012.334
- Zhou G, Wang J, Zhao M, Xie T-X, Tanaka N, Sano D, et al. Gain-offunction mutant p53 promotes cell growth and cancer cell metabolism via inhibition of AMPK activation. *Mol Cell* (2014) 54:960–74. doi:10.1016/j. molcel.2014.04.024
- Zhu J, Sammons MA, Donahue G, Dou Z, Vedadi M, Getlik M, et al. Gainof-function p53 mutants co-opt chromatin pathways to drive cancer growth. *Nature* (2015) 525:206–11. doi:10.1038/nature15251
- Fiorini C, Cordani M, Padroni C, Blandino G, Di Agostino S, Donadelli M. Mutant p53 stimulates chemoresistance of pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells to gemcitabine. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2015) 1853:89–100. doi:10.1016/j. bbamcr.2014.10.003
- Chee JLY, Saidin S, Lane DP, Leong SM, Noll JE, Neilsen PM, et al. Wildtype and mutant p53 mediate cisplatin resistance through interaction and inhibition of active caspase-9. *Cell Cycle* (2013) 12:278–88. doi:10.4161/ cc.23054
- 54. Zhang S, Zhou L, Hong B, van den Heuvel APJ, Prabhu VV, Warfel NA, et al. Small-molecule NSC59984 restores p53 pathway signaling and antitumor effects against colorectal cancer via p73 activation and degradation of mutant p53. *Cancer Res* (2015) **75**:3842–52. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-13-1079
- Mello SS, Attardi LD. Not all p53 gain-of-function mutants are created equal. Cell Death Differ (2013) 20:855–7. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.53
- Aziz MH, Shen H, Maki CG. Acquisition of p53 mutations in response to the non-genotoxic p53 activator Nutlin-3. Oncogene (2011) 30:4678–86. doi:10.1038/onc.2011.185
- Francoz S, Froment P, Bogaerts S, De Clercq S, Maetens M, Doumont G, et al. Mdm4 and Mdm2 cooperate to inhibit p53 activity in proliferating and quiescent cells in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103:3232–7. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0508476103
- Wade M, Li Y-C, Wahl GM. MDM2, MDMX and p53 in oncogenesis and cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2013) 13:83–96. doi:10.1038/nrc3430
- Rao B, Lain S, Thompson AM. p53-based cyclotherapy: exploiting the "guardian of the genome" to protect normal cells from cytotoxic therapy. *Br J Cancer* (2013) 109:2954–8. doi:10.1038/bjc.2013.702
- Carrillo AM, Hicks M, Khabele D, Eischen CM. Pharmacologically increasing Mdm2 inhibits DNA repair and cooperates with genotoxic agents to kill p53-inactivated ovarian cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Res* (2015) 13:1197–205. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-15-0089
- Bailey ST, Shin H, Westerling T, Liu XS, Brown M. Estrogen receptor prevents p53-dependent apoptosis in breast cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109:18060–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1018858109
- Jeay S, Gaulis S, Ferretti S, Bitter H, Ito M, Valat T, et al. A distinct p53 target gene set predicts for response to the selective p53-HDM2 inhibitor NVP-CGM097. *Elife* (2015) 4:12985. doi:10.7554/eLife.06498
- Sonkin D. Expression signature based on TP53 target genes doesn't predict response to TP53-MDM2 inhibitor in wild type TP53 tumors. *Elife* (2015) 4:e10279. doi:10.7554/eLife.10279
- Saiki AY, Caenepeel S, Cosgrove E, Su C, Boedigheimer M, Oliner JD. Identifying the determinants of response to MDM2 inhibition. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:7701–12. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.3116

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Burgess, Chia, Haupt, Thomas, Haupt and Lim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

